
 Page 1 
 

AGENDA 
CITY COUNCIL MEETING 

September 1, 2022 | 6:35 PM  
Council Chambers 

City Hall | 665 Country Club Road, Lucas, Texas 
 

 
Notice is hereby given that a meeting of the Lucas City Council will be held on Thursday, September 1, 2022, beginning at 
6:35 pm (or immediately following the Lucas Fire Control, Prevention, and EMS District Board Meeting) at Lucas City Hall, 
665 Country Club Road, Lucas, Texas 75002-7651, at which time the following agenda will be discussed. As authorized by 
Section 551.071 of the Texas Government Code, the City Council may convene into closed Executive Session for the purpose 
of seeking confidential legal advice from the City Attorney on any item on the agenda at any time during the meeting. 
Pursuant to Texas Government Code 551.127, one or more members of the governing body may appear via videoconference 
call. The presiding officer and a quorum of the City Council will be physically present at this meeting.  
 
If you would like to watch the meeting live, you may go to the City’s live streaming link at 
https://www.lucastexas.us/live-streaming-videos/. 
 
How to Provide Input at a Meeting:  
 
Speak In Person: Request to Speak forms will be available at the meeting. Please fill out the form and 
give to the City Secretary prior to the start of the meeting. This form will also allow a place for 
comments.  
 
Submit Written Comments: If you are unable to attend a meeting and would like to submit written 
comments regarding a specific agenda item, email Management Analyst Kevin Becker at 
kbecker@lucastexas.us by no later than 3:30 pm the day of the meeting. The email must contain the 
person’s name, address, phone number, and the agenda item(s) for which comments will be made. Any 
requests received after 3:30 pm will not be included at the meeting. 
 
Call to Order  
 
• Roll Call 
• Determination of Quorum 
• Reminder to turn off or silence cell phones 
• Pledge of Allegiance 
 
Citizen Input 
 
1. Citizen Input. 
 
Community Interest 
Pursuant to Section 5510415 of the Texas Government Code, the City Council may report on the following items: 1) 
expression of thanks, congratulations or condolences; 2) information about holiday schedules; 3) recognition of individuals; 
4) reminders about upcoming City Council events; 5) information about community events; and 6) announcements involving 
imminent threat to public health and safety. 
 
2. Items of Community Interest. 

https://www.lucastexas.us/live-streaming-videos/
mailto:kbecker@lucastexas.us


 Page 2 
 

Consent Agenda 
All items listed under the consent agenda are considered routine and are recommended to the City Council for a single vote 
approval. If discussion is desired, an item may be removed from the consent agenda for a separate vote. 
 
3. Consent Agenda:  
 

A. Approval of the minutes of the August 18, 2022, City Council meeting. (Assistant to the 
City Manager/Interim City Secretary Kent Souriyasak) 

 
B. Authorize the Mayor Pro Tem to enter into an interlocal agreement between the City of 

Lucas and Collin County for jail services for a one-year period beginning October 1, 
2022 through September 30, 2023. (Assistant to the City Manager/Interim City Secretary Kent 
Souriyasak) 

 
C. Authorize the Mayor Pro Tem to enter into an interlocal agreement between the City of 

Lucas and Collin County for On-Site Sewage Facility (OSSF) regulations for a period of 
four years beginning October 1, 2022 through September 30, 2026. (Assistant to the City 
Manager/Interim City Secretary Kent Souriyasak) 

 
D. Adopt Ordinance 2022-08-00535 approving amendments to the City of Lucas Code of 

Ordinances, Chapter 14, Zoning relating to building setbacks, lot line definition, building 
line definition, lot width requirements, and area regulations. (Development Services Director 
Joe Hilbourn) 

 
E. Adopt Ordinance 2022-08-00957 approving amendments to the City of Lucas Code of 

Ordinances to clarify provision relating to accumulations of combustible debris, weeds, 
grass or brush on real property, including adjacent right-of-way easements and expanding 
certain exceptions to include cultivated trees and shrubs and wildflowers through seed 
maturity, but no later than July 1, and to clarify requirements for pruning or removal of 
trees on private property encroaching the public right-of-way. (Development Services 
Director Joe Hilbourn) 

 
Public Hearing Agenda  
 
4. Public hearing to consider the budget for Fiscal Year 2022-2023. (Finance Director Liz Exum) 
 
5. Public hearing to consider the tax rate for Fiscal Year 2022-2023. (Finance Director Liz Exum) 
 
Regular Agenda  
 
6. Presentation by the Friends of Lucas Fire-Rescue to donate a barn quilt for the City of Lucas. 

(Councilmember Tim Johnson) 
 
7. Consider adopting Ordinance 2022-09-00958 approving the budget for the fiscal year beginning 

October 1, 2022 and ending September 30, 2023. (Finance Director Liz Exum) 
 
8. Consider adopting Ordinance 2022-09-00959 of the City of Lucas, Texas, levying Ad Valorem 

Taxes for the Tax Year 2022 (Fiscal Year 2022-2023) at a rate of $0.268016 per one hundred 
($100) assessed valuation on all taxable property within the corporate limits of the City of Lucas 
as of January 1, 2022. (Finance Director Liz Exum) 

 
 



 Page 3 
 

 
Executive Session 
 
9. Executive Session: An Executive Session is not scheduled for this meeting.  
 

As authorized by Section 551.071 of the Texas Government Code, the City Council may 
convene into closed Executive Session for the purpose of seeking confidential legal advice from 
the City Attorney regarding any item on the agenda at any time during the meeting. This meeting 
is closed to the public as provided in the Texas Government Code.  

 
10. Reconvene from Executive Session and take any action necessary as a result of the Executive 

Session. 
 
11. Adjournment. 
 
Certification 
I do hereby certify that the above notice was posted in accordance with the Texas Open Meetings Act on the bulletin board 
at Lucas City Hall, 665 Country Club Road, Lucas, TX 75002 and on the City’s website at www.lucastexas.us on or before 
5:00 p.m. on August 26, 2022. 
 

_______________________________________ 
Kent Souriyasak, Assistant to the City Manager/Interim City Secretary  

 
In compliance with the American with Disabilities Act, the City of Lucas will provide for reasonable accommodations for persons 
attending public meetings at City Hall. Requests for accommodations or interpretive services should be directed to Interim City 
Secretary Kent Souriyasak at 972.912.1213 or by email at kent@lucastexas.us at least 48 hours prior to the meeting. 

http://www.lucastexas.us/
mailto:kent@lucastexas.us


Item No. 01 City of Lucas 
City Council Agenda Request 

September 1, 2022 

Requester: Mayor Pro Tem Kathleen Peele

Agenda Item Request 

Citizen Input 

Background Information 

NA 

Attachments/Supporting Documentation 

NA 

Budget/Financial Impact 

NA 

Recommendation 

NA 

Motion 

NA 



Item No. 02 City of Lucas 
City Council Agenda Request 

September 1, 2022 
Requester: Mayor Pro Tem Kathleen Peele

Agenda Item Request 

Items of Community Interest. 

Background Information 

NA 

Attachments/Supporting Documentation 

NA 

Budget/Financial Impact 

NA 

Recommendation 

NA 

Motion 

NA 



Item No. 03 
 

 
 

 

City of Lucas 
City Council Agenda Request 

September 1, 2022 
 
 

 

 
Requester: Assistant to the City Manager/Interim City Secretary Kent Souriyasak 
  Development Services Director Joe Hilbourn 
 
Agenda Item Request  
 
Consent Agenda:  
 

A. Approval of the minutes of the August 18, 2022, City Council meeting. 
 

B. Authorize the Mayor Pro Tem to enter into an interlocal agreement between the 
City of Lucas and Collin County for jail services for a one-year period beginning 
October 1, 2022 through September 30, 2023. 

 
C. Authorize the Mayor Pro Tem to enter into an interlocal agreement between the 

City of Lucas and Collin County for On-Site Sewage Facility (OSSF) regulations 
for a period of four years beginning October 1, 2022 through September 30, 2026. 

 
D. Adopt Ordinance 2022-08-00535 approving amendments to the City of Lucas 

Code of Ordinances, Chapter 14, Zoning relating to building setbacks, lot line 
definition, building line definition, lot width requirements, and area regulations. 

 
E. Adopt Ordinance 2022-08-00957 approving amendments to the City of Lucas 

Code of Ordinances to clarify provision relating to accumulations of combustible 
debris, weeds, grass or brush on real property, including adjacent right-of-way 
easements and expanding certain exceptions to include cultivated trees and shrubs 
and wildflowers through seed maturity, but no later than July 1, and to clarify 
requirements for pruning or removal of trees on private property encroaching the 
public right-of-way. 

 
Background Information  
 
Agenda Item B:  
 
For Fiscal Year 2022-23, the proposed daily rate per inmate will be $76.54. This is $17.74 per 
day more than Fiscal Year 2021-22. Collin County indicated this increase is due to expenditures 
returning to normal after CARES Act funding was used in Fiscal Year 2020-21 to cover a 
portion of public safety salaries. 
 
Agenda Item C:  
 
On September 6, 2018, City Council approved entering into an interlocal agreement between the 
City of Lucas and Collin County for On-Site Sewage Facility (OSSF) regulations for a period of 
four years beginning October 1, 2018. This interlocal agreement will expire on September 30, 
2022. Collin County has requested to extend this interlocal agreement with the City for a period 
of four years beginning October 1, 2022 through September 30, 2026. 
 



Item No. 03 
 

 
 

 

City of Lucas 
City Council Agenda Request 

September 1, 2022 
 
 

 

 
Agenda Item D:   
 
At the City Council meeting on August 4, 2022, City Council requested revisions to Ordinance 
2022-08-00535 in regard to Chapter 14, Zoning relating to building setbacks, lot line definition, 
building line definition, lot width requirements, and area regulations. City Council requested an 
illustration and description of the side yard adjacent to a neighbor’s yard, as well as fixing 
typographical errors. Staff has made the requested revisions to the ordinance. 
 
Agenda Item E:   
 
At the City Council meeting on August 18, 2022, City Council requested revisions to Ordinance 
2022-08-00957 in regard to Chapter 5, Fire Prevention and Protection relating to accumulations 
of combustible debris, weeds, grass or brush; Chapter 6, Health and Sanitation relating to grass 
and weeds; and Chapter 8, Offenses and Nuisances relating to obstructions in right-of-way. City 
Council provided staff with recommendations to the proposed amendments. The City Attorney 
and staff have made the requested revisions to the ordinance to provide better clarity. 
 
Attachments/Supporting Documentation  
 
1. Minutes of the August 18, 2022, City Council meeting 
2. Collin County Jail Services Interlocal Agreement 
3. Proposed Inmate per day Expense Entity Impact 
4. Collin County On-Site Sewage Facility (OSSF) Interlocal Agreement 
5. Ordinance 2022-08-00535 Amending Chapter 14, Zoning 
6. Redlined Copy of Ordinance 2022-08-00535 Amending Chapter 14, Zoning 
7. Redlined Copy of Ordinance 2022-08-00957 Amending Chapter 5, Fire Prevention and 

Protection; Chapter 6, Health and Sanitation; and Chapter 8, Offenses and Nuisances 
 
Budget/Financial Impact  
 
NA 
 
Recommendation  
  
City staff recommends approval of the Consent Agenda. 
 
Motion  
 
I make a motion to approve the Consent Agenda as presented. 
 



1 | P a g e   C i t y  C o u n c i l  M e e t i n g  
  A u g u s t  1 8 ,  2 0 2 2  

MINUTES 
CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING 

August 18, 2022 | 6:30 PM  
Council Chambers | Video Conference 

City Hall | 665 Country Club Road, Lucas, Texas 
 

 
City Councilmembers Present: 
Mayor Jim Olk 
Mayor Pro Tem Kathleen Peele 
Councilmember Tim Johnson 
Councilmember David Keer 
Councilmember Tim Baney 
Councilmember Phil Lawrence (remote)  
Councilmember Debbie Fisher  
 
 

City Staff Present: 
City Manager Joni Clarke  
Assistant to the City Manager Kent Souriyasak 
Finance Director Liz Exum 
Development Services Director Joe Hilbourn 
Fire Chief Ted Stephens 
Public Works Supervisor Jeremy Bogle 
Management Analyst Patrick Hubbard 
Engineering Consultant Joe Grajewski 

The regular City Council meeting was called to order at 6:00 pm.  
 

Citizen Input 
 
1. Citizen Input 
 
There was no citizen input at this meeting. 
 
Community Interest 
 
2. Items of Community Interest 
 
Mayor Olk introduced Boy Scout Sutton Griffin who was in attendance at the meeting. 
 
Mayor Olk announced the following items of community interests: 
 

• The City is transitioning to a new telephone system at City Hall and the Fire Station. 
• There is a mandatory water conservation in effect. 
• The Lucas Farmers Market on August 13, 2022, featured a dunk booth raising money for All 

Community Outreach, Representative Candy Noble presented a state resolution recognizing 
the farmers market, and Councilmember Debbie Fisher prepared a historical display 
celebrating the farmers market. 

• The next Lucas Farmers Market will be on August 27, 2022, and Councilmember Fisher will 
be showing a historical display focused on Lucas landmarks. 

• The Public Lands Trail Cleanup will be on September 17, 2022, at the Highland Park 
Trailhead and volunteers can register on the City’s website. 
 

  



2 | P a g e   C i t y  C o u n c i l  M e e t i n g  
  A u g u s t  1 8 ,  2 0 2 2  

Consent Agenda 
 
3. Consent Agenda:  
 

A. Approval of the minutes of the July 28, 2022, City Council special meeting. 
 

B. Approval of the minutes of the August 4, 2022, City Council meeting. 
 
C. Authorize the City Manager to execute a Cooperative Purchasing Interlocal 

Agreement between the City of Lucas and the City of Grand Prairie. 
 
D. Authorize the Mayor to enter into an interlocal agreement between the City of Lucas 

and Collin County for animal control services for a one-year period beginning 
October 1, 2022, through September 30, 2023, in an amount not to exceed $19,030. 

 
E. Authorize the Mayor to enter into an interlocal agreement between the City of Lucas 

and Collin County for animal sheltering services for a one-year period beginning 
October 1, 2022, through September 30, 2023, in an amount not to exceed $14,970. 

 
MOTION: A motion was made by Councilmember Keer, seconded by Councilmember Baney 

to approve the Consent Agenda as presented. The motion passed unanimously by a 
7 to 0 vote.  

 
Regular Agenda 
 
4. Presentation by Birkhoff, Hendricks & Carter, LLP regarding project updates to 

address immediate needs, build-out and pressure boundary divides for the Water 
Master Plan. 

 
Development Services Director Joe Hilbourn introduced Gary Hendricks, Alternate Managing 
Partner at Birkhoff, Hendricks & Carter (BHC) to present updates regarding the Water Master Plan. 
 
Mr. Hendricks gave a presentation regarding this agenda item. 
 
City Council discussed information from the presentation and provided the following suggestions: 
 

• Look at multiple locations potentially for a water tank as that would require purchasing 
property. 

• Show a cloud over an area as possible locations for an elevated storage tank so the plan does 
not show a tank in a backyard. 

• As this moves forward, the City may want to go with a slightly larger water tank after looking 
at impact fees and the fee structure. 

 
City Council agreed that BHC should finalize the report to be added as a future agenda item for 
discussion along with impact fees. Mr. Hendricks indicated that BHC will prepare an impact fee 
schedule for City Council to review at a future meeting. 
 
This agenda item was for discussion purposes only, no action was taken. 
 



3 | P a g e   C i t y  C o u n c i l  M e e t i n g  
  A u g u s t  1 8 ,  2 0 2 2  

5. Discuss establishing a drainage policy to effectively manage the stormwater 
system, evaluate options for future activity, and provide direction to the City 
Manager. 

 
Management Analyst Patrick Hubbard gave a presentation regarding this agenda item. 
 
Mr. Hubbard discussed the following objectives: 
 

• Create GIS database to include all publicly maintained facilities (culverts and bridges), 
approximate flow lines and condition ratings for each facility 

• Establish inspection and maintenance schedule for all public facilities 
• Define capital projects and forecast future financial needs of the public system 
• Establish a process for addressing drainage complaints on private properties 
• Create a formal system for tracking and prioritizing properties with drainage concerns 
• Optimize ordinances and design criteria 
• Continue to meet regulatory compliance requirements 
• Integrate compliance requirements with operations and planning to ensure cohesion with 

overall policy 
• Keep ordinances up to date with regulatory standards 
• Brainstorm funding strategy for operations and capital projects for drainage 
• Complete research needed to determine optimal funding strategies 
• Select funding strategy or strategies 
• Execute required policies to implement funding strategy 

 
City Council discussed information from the presentation and are not in favor of imposing a fee 
on all residents. City Council supported the idea of PIDs (Public Improvement Districts) as an 
option for a neighborhood to decide if that’s what they want to do. 
 
This agenda item was for discussion purposes only, no action was taken. 
 
City Council went into break at 8:10 pm and returned from the break at 8:15 pm. 
 
6. Consider adopting Ordinance 2022-08-00957 approving amendments to Chapter 5, 

Fire Prevention and Protection relating to accumulations of combustible debris, 
weeds, grass or brush; Chapter 6, Health and Sanitation relating to grass and 
weeds; and Chapter 8, Offenses and Nuisances relating to obstructions in right-of-
way. 

 
Development Services Director Joe Hilbourn gave a presentation regarding this agenda item. 
 
City Council made the following recommendations to the ordinance: 
 

• In the first paragraph of Section 5.05.001 Prohibited Conditions, the term “or” should be 
added to clarify “including adjacent right-of-way or easements.” 

• In the fourth paragraph of Section 5.05.001 Prohibited Conditions, Subsection (4), the 
language should include “encroaching into a public street, right-of-way, or easement” and 
“trimming or removal.” 



4 | P a g e   C i t y  C o u n c i l  M e e t i n g  
  A u g u s t  1 8 ,  2 0 2 2  

• In the third paragraph of Section 6.03.001 Prohibited, Subsection (4), the language should 
include “encroaching into a public street, right-of-way, or easement” and “trimming and 
removal.” 

• In the first paragraph of Section 6.03.005 Penalty, the term “offenses” should be changed 
to “offense.” 

• Remove exemptions for homeowners from not maintaining right-of-way related to 
obstruction free zone. 

• In the seventh paragraph of Section 8.01.001 Obstructions in right-of-way, Subsection 
(b), the administrative fee should be referred to the master fee schedule. 

 
City Council directed staff to revise the ordinance and add it on the consent agenda for the next 
meeting. 
 
There was no action was taken. 
 
7. Consider canceling the City Council meeting on October 6, 2022. 
 
Assistant to the City Manager Kent Souriyasak indicated the City has been selected as a Silver 
Award Recipient for the Scenic City Certification Program from 2022 to 2027. Mr. Souriyasak 
indicated Scenic Texas will be publicly recognizing the City at an awards reception during the 
Texas Municipal League Conference in San Antonio on October 6, 2022. The City Council 
meeting is also scheduled during the same date as the Scenic Texas awards reception. 
 
City Council discussed canceling the City Council meeting and to inform staff who would be able 
to travel to the conference and awards reception.  
 
MOTION: A motion was made by Mayor Pro Tem Peele, seconded by Councilmember Baney 

to cancel the City Council meeting on October 6, 2022. The motion passed 
unanimously by a 7 to 0 vote. 

 
Executive Agenda 
 
8. Executive Session.  
 

As authorized by Section 551.076 of the Texas Government Code, the City Council 
may convene into closed Executive Session for the purpose of deliberating the 
deployment, or specific occasions for implementation, of security personnel or 
devices. This meeting is closed to the public as provided in the Texas Government 
Code.  
 

The City Council went into an Executive Session to deliberate the deployment, or specific occasions 
for implementation, of security personnel or devices at 8:39 pm.  
 
9. Reconvene from Executive Session and take any action necessary as a result of the 

Executive Session. 
 
The City Council reconvened from Executive Session at 9:07 pm and took no action as a result of 
the Executive Session. 
 



5 | P a g e   C i t y  C o u n c i l  M e e t i n g  
  A u g u s t  1 8 ,  2 0 2 2  

Regular Agenda 
 
10. Consider the proposed City of Lucas Property Tax Rate for Fiscal Year 2022-2023: 
 

A. Discuss tax rate and take record vote for publication in the Allen American 
Newspaper. 
 

B. Schedule public hearing for tax rate if the proposed tax rate exceeds the lower 
of the “No-New-Revenue” or “Voter Approval” rate for September 1, 2022. 

 
Finance Director Liz Exum presented the following property tax rate options for fiscal year 2022-23: 
 

• No-New-Revenue Tax Rate - $0.255432 ($0.183237 M&O and $0.072195 Debt) 
• Voter Approval Tax Rate - $0.248823 ($0.176628 M&O and $.072195 Debt) 
• De Minimis Tax Rate - $0.268016 ($0.195821 M&O and $0.072195 Debt) 
• No-New-Revenue M&O (plus 8 %) Tax Rate - $0.250999 ($0.178804 M&O and $0.072195 

Debt) 
 
City Council discussed the property tax rate options. Ms. Exum indicated the City Council will need 
to vote on a property tax rate option which will be published and advertised as the proposed tax rate 
following tax notice requirements in the Allen American newspaper. 
 
MOTION: A motion was made by Councilmember Baney, seconded by Councilmember 

Johnson to approve the De Minimis Tax Rate of $0.268016 to be published in the 
Allen American newspaper for the 2022 tax year.  

 
The following record vote was recorded and passed by a 6 to 1 vote:  
 
Mayor Jim Olk:    Yes 
Mayor Pro Tem Kathleen Peele  Yes 
Councilmember Tim Johnson   Yes 
Councilmember Debbie Fisher:  No 
Councilmember Tim Baney:   Yes 
Councilmember David Keer:   Yes 
Councilmember Phil Lawrence Yes 
 
MOTION: A motion was made by Councilmember Baney, seconded by Councilmember 

Johnson to approve setting the public hearing date regarding the City of Lucas Fiscal 
Year 2022-2023 tax rate for September 1, 2022. 

 
11. Discuss the Fiscal Year 2022-2023 Proposed Budget. 
 
Finance Director Liz Exum indicated the proposed budget will need to be recalculated based on 
changes for the selected property tax rate option. City Council agreed to fund the ambulance out of 
the general fund reserves. Mayor Olk indicated the De Minimis Tax Rate option was selected due to 
additional funding that is necessary to fund additional deputies. 
 
This agenda item was for discussion purposes only, no action was taken. 
  



6 | P a g e   C i t y  C o u n c i l  M e e t i n g  
  A u g u s t  1 8 ,  2 0 2 2  

11. Adjournment. 
 
MOTION: A motion was made by Councilmember Johnson, seconded by Councilmember 

Lawrence to adjourn the meeting at 9:28 pm. The motion passed unanimously by 
a 7 to 0 vote.  

 
 

APPROVED:      ATTEST: 
 
 
             
Mayor Pro Tem Kathleen Peele   Management Analyst Kevin Becker 



1

Office of the Purchasing Agent
Collin County Administration Building

Contract Modification Document 2300 Bloomdale Rd, Ste 3160
McKinney, TX 75071

972-548-4165 

Vendor: Contract No.
Contract:

Item #1 The agreement will be renewed for a period of one (1) year, beginning October 1, 2022, through and including
September 30, 2023, at the rate below. 

Item #2 Charges for fiscal year 2023: $76.54 per day, per inmate

Amendment No. 2 has been accepted and authorized by authority of Collin County Commissioners Court
by Court Order No.______________________ effective on 10/1/2022.

ACCEPTED BY:

SIGNATURE SIGNATURE

Michelle Charnoski, NIGP-CPP, CPPB
(Print Name) (Print Name)

TITLE: TITLE:
DATE: DATE: 

City of Lucas
665 Country Club 
Lucas, TX 75002

2020-363
Jail Services, City of Lucas

Purchasing Agent

 YOU ARE DIRECTED TO MAKE THE FOLLOWING MODIFICATION TO THIS CONTRACT

Except as provided herein, all terms and conditions of the contract remain in full force and effect and may only be modified in 
writing signed by both parties.



2

Amendment  No. 1 Court Order No. Summary
Amendment  No. 2 Court Order No. Summary

2020-692-08-03Awarded by Court Order No. 

HISTORICAL INFORMATION

2021-606-06-28 Renewal 1
Agreement extended and fees



Proposed Inmate per day Expense Entity Impact

Entity
FY 2016 

Actual Paid
FY 2017 

Actual Paid
FY 2018 

Actual Paid
FY 2019 

Actual Paid
FY 2020

Actual Paid
FY 2021

Actual Paid

FY 2021 Inmate 
Days Utilizing FY 
2023 Adopted 

Rate
Anna  3,489.50$              3,768.66$              4,606.14$                 4,395.09$             4,543.88$                4,296.27$              3,597.61$             
Anna ISD ‐$                        ‐$                        ‐$                          ‐$                       ‐$                         ‐$                        ‐$                       
Baylor Scott & White ‐                          ‐                          ‐                             ‐                         ‐                            ‐                          ‐$                       
Celina 1,674.96                 3,210.34                 1,674.96                   3,589.86               2,271.94                  822.69                    688.90$                
Collin Co. Community 
College ‐                          ‐                          139.58                      ‐                         ‐                            274.23                    229.63$                
Community ISD ‐                          ‐                          ‐                             ‐                         ‐                            ‐                          ‐$                       
DART ‐                          ‐                          209.37                      ‐                         188.94                     ‐                          ‐$                       
Fairview 1,186.43                 1,326.01                 1,256.22                   188.94                   98.78                       639.87                    535.81$                
Farmersville 5,443.62                 3,140.55                 3,000.97                   3,873.27               1,284.14                  1,462.56                1,224.72$             
Farmersville ISD ‐                          ‐                          ‐                             ‐                         ‐                            ‐                          ‐$                       
Josephine 69.79                      209.37                    ‐                             ‐                         98.78                       ‐                          ‐$                       
Lavon 907.27                    348.95                    837.48                      1,133.64               790.24                     ‐                          ‐$                       
Lucas 348.95                    ‐                          ‐                             94.47                     ‐                            ‐                          ‐$                       
McKinney 88,005.19              73,349.29              63,090.16                 70,285.68             36,977.85                33,090.42              27,709.22$           
Melissa 5,024.88                 2,512.44                 3,768.66                   3,495.39               3,457.30                  5,119.06                4,286.59$             
Murphy 2,652.02                 4,885.30                 3,419.71                   3,400.92               4,642.66                  1,279.74                1,071.63$             
Parker 139.58                    209.37                    418.74                      ‐                         395.12                     ‐                          ‐$                       
Princeton 5,652.99                 12,283.04              5,304.04                   7,935.48               5,926.80                  4,753.32                3,980.33$             
Prosper 1,884.33                 1,954.12                 2,372.86                   3,684.33               4,247.54                  914.10                    765.45$                
Prosper ISD ‐                          ‐                          ‐                             ‐                         ‐                            ‐                          ‐$                       
St Paul ‐                          ‐                          ‐                             ‐                         ‐                            ‐                          ‐$                       
Westminister ‐                          ‐                          ‐                            ‐                          ‐$                       
Wylie ‐                          2,931.18                 3,978.03                   7,179.72               2,271.94                  91.41                      76.54$                   

116,479.51$          110,128.62$          94,076.92$              109,256.79$         67,195.91$             52,743.67$            44,166.43$           

Rates 69.79$                    69.79$                    69.79$                      94.47$                   98.78$                     91.41$                    76.54$                   
# City Days 1,669                      1,578                      1,348                        1,157                     680                           577                        

Federal Inmate Housing 905,525.25$          919,901.99$          821,360.10$            952,492.33$         1,179,869.74$        510,154.19$          510,154.19$         
# Federal Days 12,975                    13,181                    11,769                      13,648                   11,944                     4,859                     

Facility Utilization
% County 95.54% 95.99% 96.41% 96.16% 96.39% 98.41%
% City 0.51% 0.43% 0.37% 0.30% 0.19% 0.17%
% Federal 3.95% 3.58% 3.22% 3.54% 3.41% 1.42%

NOTE:  CARES Act funding was used in FY 2020 to cover a portion of Public Safety salaries. This savings has translated into a lower daily rate for FY 
2022.  We expect the expenditures to return to normal over the course of FY 2021 and FY 2022.  



1 
 

 
INTERLOCAL COOPERATION AGREEMENT 

 
THIS AGREEMENT, (the “Agreement”), is made and entered into by and 
between Collin County, Texas, a general law municipal corporation located in 
Collin County, Texas (hereinafter referred to as “Collin County”), and the City of 
Lucas, Texas (hereinafter referred to as “Lucas”). 

 
WHEREAS, this Agreement is being entered into pursuant to the Interlocal 
Cooperation Act, V.T.C.A., Government Code, Section 791, 001, et seq. (the 
“Act”), and, 

 
WHEREAS, Collin County and Lucas are both units of local governments a 
defined by Section 791.003(a) of the Act engaged in the provision of 
governmental functions and services to their citizens which includes on-site 
environmental health inspections: and, 

 
WHEREAS, Collin County has agreed to perform all duties related to On-Site 
Sewage Facility (hereinafter referred to as “OSSF”) regulations for Lucas, and, 

 
WHEREAS, these functions and services serve the public health, safety and 
welfare, promote efficiency and effectiveness of local government and are of 
mutual concern to the parties; and 

 
WHEREAS, Collin County has the staff to perform all duties related to OSSF 
regulations, and Lucas has a need for such services; and 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, for mutual consideration hereinafter stated, Collin County 
and Lucas agree as follows: 

 
I. 

Collin County agrees to provide all services related to OSSF regulation to meet 
the State of Texas requirements set forth in Title 30, Texas Administrative Code, 
Chapter 285. 

II. 
 Lucas will not be required to reimburse Collin County to perform any OSSF 
related function within their city limits.  All remuneration is collected directly from 
permit applicants in the form of permit fees.  

 
III. 

To the fullest extent allowed by law, each party hereto agrees to defend 
and indemnify the other from any claims, demands, costs or judgments 
arising out of any negligent act or omission of their respective employees 



2 
 

or agents in the performance of the governmental functions and/or services 
under this Agreement. 
 
Failure of a Party to exercise any right or remedy in the event of default by any other 
Party shall not constitute a waiver of such right or remedy for any subsequent breach 
or default.  

Should any provision of this Agreement or the application thereof be held invalid or 
unenforceable to any extent, the remainder of this Agreement and the application 
thereof shall not be affected thereby and shall continue to be valid and enforceable to 
the fullest extent, consistent with the intent of the Parties as evidenced by this 
Agreement.  

 
IV. 

 This Agreement shall be effective October 1, 2022, or from the passage of 
enabling resolutions or orders by the governing bodies of the parties hereto 
and the execution hereof by each of the authorized representatives of the 
political subdivision who are parties hereto and shall remain in effect through 
September 30, 2026 unless terminated by either party upon giving thirty (30) 
days written notice to the other party of its intent to terminate the agreement. 
 
 

V. 
Notices, correspondence, and all other communications shall be addressed as 
follows; However, the Parties hereto shall have the right from time to time to change 
their respective addresses by giving at least fifteen (15) days’ written notice to the 
other Party. 
 

 
If to Collin County: 
 
Purchasing    Administration 
Gina Zimmel   Bill Bilyeu 
2300 Bloomdale Rd., #3160 2300 Bloomdale Rd., #4192 
McKinney, TX 75071  McKinney, TX 75071 
972-548-4119   972-548-4698 
gzimmel@co.collin.tx.us   bbilyeu@co.collin.tx.us 
 

 
 
 
 
 

mailto:gzimmel@co.collin.tx.us
mailto:bbilyeu@co.collin.tx.us


3 
 

If to City:  
 
Name 
Address 
City, State, Zip 
Phone 
email 

 
 

VI. 
Dispute Resolution 
 
Notice & Conference 
If a party believes that the other party has not met, or is not meeting, an obligation 
under this agreement, the party will contact the other’s representative to discuss 
the issue. If the aggrieved party does not believe that this informal contact, 
discussion, and ensuing efforts have fixed the issue, then the party will notify the 
other party’s representative in writing of the party’s belief or complaint with 
reasonable detail to permit the other party to address the issue. The other party 
will then have a reasonable time to address the issue and improve its 
performance. This initial process will take no more than 14 calendar days, unless 
the parties agree otherwise. 
 
If discussions between the parties’ representatives do not resolve the issue, then 
the County Judge, or County Administrator from Collin County and the Mayor, 
City Manager, from the City of Lucas will meet in person to discuss and try to 
resolve the issue. This process will take no more than five (5) business days, 
unless the parties agree otherwise. 
 
Prerequisites to Filing for ADR or a Lawsuit 
Neither party may file a claim or lawsuit in any forum before the parties are 
finished using the cooperation procedures set forth above. 
 
Expenses for Enforcement. In the event either Party hereto is required to employ an 
attorney to enforce the provisions of this Agreement or is required to commence legal 
proceedings to enforce the provisions hereof, the prevailing Party shall be entitled to 
recover from the other, reasonable attorney's fees and court costs incurred in 
connection with such enforcement, including collection.  

This agreement will be governed and construed according to the laws of the State of 
Texas. This agreement is performable in Collin County, TX.  

 
 
 

mailto:pbrooks@cityofjosephinetx.com


4 
 

VII. 
By entering into this Agreement, the parties do not intend to create any  
obligations, express or implied, other than those specifically set out in this 
Agreement.   
 
The Parties represent that the individuals signing this Agreement on their behalf 
possess full power and authority to enter into this Agreement from their respective 
governing boards in compliance with the laws of the State of Texas.  

By signing this agreement, no party waives any immunity or defense that would 
otherwise be available to it against claims arising in the exercise of governmental 
powers and functions.  
 
Nothing in this Agreement shall create any rights or obligations as to any party 
who is not a signatory to this Agreement. This agreement does not confer any 
rights or remedies upon any person or entity other than the Parties. 
 
Should any provision of this Agreement or the application thereof be held invalid or 
unenforceable to any extent, the remainder of this Agreement and the application 
thereof shall not be affected thereby and shall continue to be valid and enforceable to 
the fullest extent, consistent with the intent of the Parties as evidenced by this 
Agreement.  

A party will not assign its rights or obligations under this agreement, in whole or 
in part, to another person or entity without first obtaining the other party’s written 
consent.  
 
This Agreement is the entire agreement of the Parties. This Agreement may not be 
altered or amended except by mutual written agreement as provided herein. 
 
If the Parties desire to modify this Agreement during or after the initial term, any 
modifications may be either incorporated herein by written amendment or set forth in 
a new written agreement.  

This Agreement may be executed in one or more identical counterparts, each of which 
will be deemed an original for all purposes. 

 
 
       COLLIN COUNTY, TEXAS 
 
Date: _________________   By: ______________________ 
 
       Title: County Judge 
 
 



5 
 

CITY OF LUCAS 
 
Date: _________________   By: ______________________ 
 
       Title: _____________________ 
 
 
 

 



City of Lucas 
Ordinance # 2022-08-00535 Amending Chapter 14 “Zoning” 
Approved:  September 1, 2022  -1- 

 
ORDINANCE # 2022-08-00535 

[AMENDING CODE OF ORDINANCES, AMENDING CHAPTER 14 “ZONING”, BY 
AMENDING PROVISIONS FOR BUILDING SETBACKS, LOT LINES, BUILDING 
LINES AND LOT WIDTH REQUIREMENTS; AMENDING AREA REGULATIONS 

FOR FRONT, SIDE AND REAR YARDS IN R2, R1.5 AND R1 SINGLE-FAMILY 
DISTRICTS] 

 
AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF LUCAS, 
TEXAS, AMENDING THE LUCAS CODE OF ORDINANCES BY 
AMENDING CHAPTER 14 TITLED “ZONING”, ARTICLE 14.01 TITLED 
“GENERAL PROVISIONS”, DIVISION 1. TITLED GENERALLY, 
SECTION 14.01.004 TITLED DEFINITIONS BY AMENDING THE 
DEFINITIONS OF “BUILDING LINE (SETBACK LINE),” AND “LOT 
WIDTH,” “LOT DEPTH,” AND “LOT FLAG,” AMENDING THE 
DEFINITION OF “YARD,” “YARD, FRONT,” “YARD, REAR,” “YARD, 
SIDE,” AND AMENDING THE ILLUSTRATIONS ACCORDINGLY; 
AMENDING CHAPTER 14 TITLED “ZONING, ARTICLE 14.01 TITLED 
GENERAL PROVISIONS, DIVISION 1 TITLED “GENERALLY,” 
SECTION 14.01.005 TITLED “COMPLIANCE WITH REGULATIONS” BY 
ADDING SUBPARAGRAPH 9 REQUIRING ALL LOTS TO FRONT ON A 
STREET; AMENDING ARTICLE 14.03 TITLED “DISTRICTS,” DIVISION 
3 TITLED “R2 SINGLE-FAMILY RESIDENTIAL DISTRICTS,” SECTION 
14.03.113 TITLED “AREA REGULATIONS,” REGARDING FRONT, SIDE 
AND REAR YARDS; AMENDING ARTICLE 14.03 TITLED “DISTRICTS,” 
DIVISION 4 TITLED “R1.5 SINGLE-FAMILY RESIDENTIAL 
DISTRICTS,” SECTION 14.03.113 TITLED “AREA REGULATIONS,” 
REGARDING FRONT, SIDE AND REAR YARDS; AMENDING ARTICLE 
14.03 TITLED “DISTRICTS,” DIVISION 5 TITLED “R1 SINGLE-FAMILY 
RESIDENTIAL DISTRICTS,” SECTION 14.03.113 TITLED “AREA 
REGULATIONS,” REGARDING FRONT, SIDE AND REAR YARDS; 
PROVIDING A CONFLICTS CLAUSE; PROVIDING A REPEALING 
CLAUSE; PROVIDING A SEVERABILITY CLAUSE; PROVIDING A 
SAVINGS CLAUSE; PROVIDING A PENALTY OF FINE NOT TO 
EXCEED THE SUM OF TWO THOUSAND DOLLARS ($2,000) FOR EACH 
OFFENSE AND PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

  
 WHEREAS, the Planning and Zoning Commission of the City of Lucas, Texas and the City 
Council of the City of Lucas, Texas, in compliance with the laws of the State of Texas with reference 
to the granting of zoning classifications and changes, have given the requisite notices by publication 
and otherwise, and have held due hearings and afforded a full and fair hearing to all property owners 
generally and to all persons interested and situated in the affected area and in the vicinity thereof, and 



City of Lucas 
Ordinance # 2022-08-00535 Amending Chapter 14 “Zoning” 
Approved:  September 1, 2022  -2- 

the City Council of the City of Lucas, Texas is of the opinion and finds that said zoning change should 
be granted and that the Comprehensive Zoning Ordinance and Map should be amended;  
 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 
OF LUCAS, TEXAS, THAT: 
 
Section 1. The Code of Ordinances of the City of Lucas, Texas, is hereby amended by 
amending Chapter 14 titled “Zoning” by amending Article 14.01 titled “General Provisions,” 
Division 1 titled “Generally,” Section 14.01.004 “Definitions” to read as follows: 
 
Sec. 14.01.004  Definitions 
 
Accessory building or use. Is: 
 

(1)     Subordinate to and serves a principal building or principal use; 
 
(2)     Subordinate in area, extent, or purpose to the principal building or principal use 
served; 
 
(3)     Contributes to the comfort, convenience, and necessity of occupants of the 
principal building or principal use served; and 
 
(4)     Located on the same building lot as the principal use served. “Accessory” when 
used in the text shall have the same meaning as accessory use. 
 

Alley. A public space or thoroughfare which may afford secondary means of access to property 
abutting thereon. 
 
Area of the lot. Shall be the net area of the lot and shall not include portions of public streets or 
alleys. 
 
Automobile repair. 
 

(1)     Collision services. Body, frame, and fender straightening or repair; customizing; 
painting. 
 
(2)     Major. Major repair, rebuilding or reconditioning of engines, radiators, or 
transmissions; undercoating and rust proofing; any operation requiring dismantling or 
removal of head, crankcases, engines or other major parts; and recapping or re-
grooving of tires; any use of a welder or cutting torch; any repair of heavy load vehicles; 
and other operations not listed as minor repair, but not collision services. 
 
(3)     Minor. Minor repair or replacement of parts, tires, batteries, and accessories; 
diagnostic services; minor motor services such as grease, oil, spark plug and filter 
changes; tune-ups; replacement of starters, alternators, hoses, brake parts, mufflers, 



City of Lucas 
Ordinance # 2022-08-00535 Amending Chapter 14 “Zoning” 
Approved:  September 1, 2022  -3- 

water or fuel pumps; state inspections; steam cleaning and detailing; servicing of air-
conditioning systems; for vehicles, but not heavy load vehicles and not including any 
operation listed as major repair or collision service. 
 

Block. An area enclosed by streets and occupied by or intended for buildings; or, if said word is 
used as a term of measurement, it shall mean the distance along a side of a street between the 
nearest two streets which intersect said street on the said side. 
 
Building. Any structure built for the support, shelter, and enclosure of persons, animals, chattels, 
or movable property of any kind. When subdivided in a manner sufficient to prevent the spread of 
fire, each portion so subdivided may be deemed a separate building. 
 
Building height. The number of stories contained in a building and/or the number of feet above the 
average level of the adjoining ground. 
 
Building line (setback line). A line parallel or approximately parallel to the centerline of a street 
or to a property line when not adjacent to a street and having a specific minimum distance as 
established by this code based on the zoning district in which the property is located delineating 
where a building may be erected.  
 
Building lot. A single tract of land located within a single block which (at the time of filing for a 
building permit) is designed by its owner or developer as a tract to be used, developed, or built 
upon as a unit, under single ownership or control. It shall front upon a street or approved place. 
Therefore, a “building lot” may be subsequently subdivided into two or more “building lots” or a 
number of “building lots,” subject to the provisions of this chapter and the subdivision ordinance. 
 
Building official. The building inspector or administrative official charged with the responsibility 
for issuing permits and enforcing the zoning ordinance, subdivision ordinance, and building code. 
 
Certificate of occupancy or compliance. An official certificate issued by the city through the 
building official which indicates conformance with or approval of a conditional waiver from the 
zoning regulations and authorizes legal use of the premises for which it was issued. 
 
Child care center. A facility licensed, certified or registered by the Texas Department of Family 
and Protective Services (“TDFPS”) to provide assessment, care, training, education, custody, 
treatment, or supervision for a child who is not related by blood, marriage, or adoption to the owner 
or operator of the facility, for all or part of the 24-hour day, whether or not the facility is operated 
for profit or charges for the services it offers. 
 
Church or rectory. A place of assembly and worship by a recognized religion including 
synagogues, temples, churches, instruction rooms, and the place of residence for the ministers, 
priests, rabbis, teachers, and directors of the premises. 
 
City. The word “city” shall mean the City of Lucas. 
 



City of Lucas 
Ordinance # 2022-08-00535 Amending Chapter 14 “Zoning” 
Approved:  September 1, 2022  -4- 

Clinic. A group of offices for one or more physicians, surgeons, dentists or similar members of the 
medical profession to treat sick or injured outpatients or animals. 
 
College or university. An institution established for educational purposes and offering a curriculum 
similar to the public schools or an accredited college or university, but excluding trade and 
commercial schools. 
 
Commission and/or planning commission. The planning and zoning commission of the city. 
 
Community home. A place meeting the requirements established under section 123.004 of the 
Texas Human Resources Code and where no more than six (6) persons with disabilities and up to 
two (2) supervisors reside at the same time to provide services to persons with disabilities including 
food, shelter, personal guidance, care, habilitation and supervision. 
 
Conditional use. A use which shall be permitted in a particular district only upon fulfillment of the 
conditions as set forth for that use in the use regulations for the appropriate district. 
 
Council. The word “council” shall mean the city council. 
 
Courtyard. An open, occupied space bounded on more than two (2) sides by the walls of a building. 
An inner courtyard is entirely surrounded by the exterior walls of a building. An outer courtyard 
is a court having one side open to a street, alley, yard, or other permanent open space. 
 
Depth of lot. The mean horizontal distance between the front and rear lot lines. 
 
Design review committee (DRC). The DRC is comprised of staff members representing the various 
departments and divisions involved in the review and approval process (administration, planning, 
engineering, building inspection, public works, fire, parks and health). DRC is responsible for 
review of development and building plans, subdivision plats and zoning applications. It offers 
reports and recommendations to both P&Z and city council pertaining to applications and 
proposals requiring actions by these bodies. DRC has final approval authority for certain plats such 
as amending plats, replats and minor plats in compliance with Texas Local Government Code, 
section 212.0065 and section 212.016. 
 
Development or to develop. A “development” includes the construction of new buildings or 
structures on a building lot, the relocation of an existing building on another building lot, or the 
use of open land for a new use. To “develop” is to create a development. 
 
District. A section of the city for which the regulations of this chapter, such as the area, height, 
use, etc., of the land and buildings, are uniform.  
 
Drive-through, drive-thru, drive-in, or drive-up. A product or service provided by a business that 
allows customers to purchase a product or service without leaving their cars. For the purposes of 
this definition, any product or service that is provided to a customer without the need for the 
customer to leave their vehicle is a drive-through, drive-thru, drive-in or drive-up.  
 

http://www.statutes.legis.state.tx.us/Docs/LG/htm/LG.212.htm#212.0065
http://www.statutes.legis.state.tx.us/Docs/LG/htm/LG.212.htm#212.0065
http://www.statutes.legis.state.tx.us/Docs/LG/htm/LG.212.htm#212.016


City of Lucas 
Ordinance # 2022-08-00535 Amending Chapter 14 “Zoning” 
Approved:  September 1, 2022  -5- 

Dwelling, multiple family. Any building or portion thereof which is designed, rented, leased, or let 
to be occupied as two or more dwelling units or apartments of [or] which is occupied as a home or 
residence of two or more families. 
 
Dwelling, single-family. A detached building, but not a mobile home, manufactured housing or 
RV, having accommodations for and occupied by not more than one family, located on a lot or 
separate building tract, and having no physical connection to a building located on any other 
separate lot or tract. 
 
Dwelling unit. A building or portion of a building which is arranged, occupied, or intended to be 
occupied as living quarters of a family and including facilities for food preparation and sleeping. 
 
Equestrian boarding. A business consisting of a minimum of two (2) acres and up to five (5) acres 
for the boarding of a maximum of two (2) horses per acre regardless of ownership, that receives 
compensation through the boarding of horses. On lots greater than five (5) acres no such limit shall 
be imposed. 
 
Equestrian facilities. A facility or place used for horse boarding, including equestrian pasture 
boarding, horse training, riding lessons, horse breeding, horse rescue or horse shows. The facility 
may contain a riding arena provided the arena does not exceed 10% of the total lot size or a 
maximum of 20,000 square feet regardless of the size of the lot.  
 
Family. One or more persons related by blood, marriage, or adoption; or a group not to exceed 
four (4) persons not all related by blood or marriage, adoption or guardianship, occupying a 
dwelling unit. 
 
Farm or ranch. An area which is used for growing of usual farm products, vegetables, fruits, trees, 
and grain and for the raising thereon of the usual farm poultry and farm animals such as horses, 
cattle, and sheep and including the necessary accessory uses for raising, treating, and storing 
products raised on said premises, but not including the commercial feeding or the feeding of 
garbage to swine or other animals and not including any type of agricultural or husbandry 
specifically prohibited by ordinance or law. 
 
Farmer's market. The retail sale of farm produce by individual vendors for the primary purpose of 
selling fruits, vegetables, herbs, spices, edible seeds, nuts, live plants, flowers and honey, where 
such produce, or its portion, is not grown on the premises. 
 
Floor area. The total square feet of floor space within the outside dimensions of a building 
including each floor level, but excluding porches, carports, garages or unfinished cellars. 
 
Garage, auto repair. A building or portion thereof whose principal use is for the repair, servicing, 
equipping, or maintenance of motor vehicles or motor vehicle components, including engines, 
radiators, starters, transmissions, brakes, tires and wheels, seats, and similar components. 
 
Halfway house. A residence for former mental patients, convicts, or recovering drug users or 
alcoholics that serves as a transitional environment between confinement and the return to society. 



City of Lucas 
Ordinance # 2022-08-00535 Amending Chapter 14 “Zoning” 
Approved:  September 1, 2022  -6- 

 
Home occupation. A business, occupation, or profession conducted wholly within an allowable 
residential building and dwelling unit by only the residents thereof, and which shall have the 
following characteristics: 
 

(1)     The activity shall employ only members of the immediate family of the resident 
of the dwelling unit. 
 
(2)     There shall be no external evidence of the occupation detectable at any lot line, 
said evidence to include, advertising signs, or displays, smoke, dust, noise, fumes, 
glare, vibration, electrical disturbance, storage of materials or equipment, or traffic or 
parking of vehicles in a manner evidencing the conduct of a business or that creates a 
nuisance to persons of ordinary sensibilities that occupy surrounding properties. 
 

Hospital. A legally authorized institution in which there are complete facilities for diagnosis, 
treatment, surgery, laboratory, X-ray, and the prolonged care of bed patients. Clinics may have 
some but not all of these facilities. 
 
HUD-code manufactured home. A structure, constructed on or after June 15, 1976, according to 
the rules of the United States Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD), 
transportable in one or more sections, which, in the traveling mode, is eight (8) body feet or more 
in width or forty (40) body feet or more in length, or, when erected on site, is three hundred twenty 
(320) or more square feet, and which is built on a permanent chassis and designed to be used as a 
dwelling with or without a permanent foundation when connected to the required utilities, and 
includes the plumbing, heating, air-conditioning, and electrical systems. The term does not include 
a recreational vehicle as that term is defined by 24 CFR section 3282.8(g). 
 
Kennel. Any business or establishment other than a veterinary hospital, whether operated 
separately or in connection with another business or establishment, that keeps, breeds and/or 
boards and/or trains dogs and/or cats for profit. Veterinary hospitals shall not be considered a 
kennel, unless such hospitals contain pens or facilities for housing, boarding, breeding, training, 
harboring, or keeping dogs, cats or other domesticated animals, swine, equine, or other livestock 
or animals other than, or in addition to, short-term care incidental to the hospital use. Kennels must 
be established, maintained and operated in compliance with all applicable zoning and land use 
regulations of the city. 
 
Livestock. Any horses, mules, donkeys, ponies, cattle, sheep, goats, hogs, pigs, of any and all kinds 
regardless of sex. 
 
Lot. Land occupied or to be occupied by a building and its accessory building including such open 
spaces as are required under this chapter and having its principal frontage upon a public street or 
officially approved place. 
 
Lot depth. The distance, measured in a straight line, between the front lot line and the rear lot line 
measured at the respective midpoints of the front lot line and the rear lot line. 
 



City of Lucas 
Ordinance # 2022-08-00535 Amending Chapter 14 “Zoning” 
Approved:  September 1, 2022 -7- 

Lot Depth Illustration 

Lot flag. A lot of irregular shape with reduced frontage along a public or private street with 
dimensions that are otherwise adequate at the building lines. 

Property Line



City of Lucas 
Ordinance # 2022-08-00535 Amending Chapter 14 “Zoning” 
Approved:  September 1, 2022  -8- 

 
Lot lines. The lines bounding a lot as defined herein. 
 

(1)     Lot line, front. A “front lot line” is that boundary of a building lot which is the 
line of an existing or dedicated street. Upon corner lots, either street line may be 
selected as the front lot line providing that a front and rear yard are provided adjacent 
and opposite, respectively, to the front lot line. 
 
(2)     Lot line, rear. The “rear lot line” is that boundary of a building lot which is the 
most distant from and is, or is most nearly, parallel to the front lot line. 
 
(3)     Lot line, side. A “side lot line” is that boundary of a building lot which is not a 
front lot line or a rear lot line. 
 

Lot of record. A lot which is part of a subdivision, the plat of which has been recorded in the office 
of the county clerk prior to the adoption of this chapter. 
 
Lot width. The width of a lot, measured in a line generally parallel to the front property line at the 
front building line setback line. 
 
 

Lot Width Illustration 
 
 

 
 
 
Main building. The building or buildings on a lot which are occupied by the primary user. 
 
Major retail development. A singular retail establishment or shopping center that involves any 
one, or a combination of the following and as defined herein: 
 

(1)     New construction of a singular retails sales establishment that is greater than 
20,000 gross square feet in size; 



City of Lucas 
Ordinance # 2022-08-00535 Amending Chapter 14 “Zoning” 
Approved:  September 1, 2022  -9- 

 
(2)     New construction of a shopping center on a parcel or combination of parcels 
comprising ten acres or larger; or 
 
(3)     Expansion to a singular retail sales establishment or shopping center existing as 
of the effective date of adoption of this chapter and which said expansion will increase 
the square footage of a singular retail sales establishment to become more than 20,000 
gross square feet in area or increase the size of a shopping center to more than ten acres. 

 
Masonry. An exterior building material which includes: brick of a minimum three and one-half 
inch (3-1/2") nominal thickness, stone with a minimum average thickness of two inches (2") or 
stucco. 
 
Mobile home. A structure that was constructed before June 15, 1976, transportable in one or more 
sections, which, in the traveling mode, is eight (8) body feet or more in width or forty (40) body 
feet or more in length, or, when erected on site, is three hundred twenty (320) or more square feet, 
and which is built on a permanent chassis and designed to be used as a dwelling with or without a 
permanent foundation when connected to the required utilities, and includes the plumbing, heating, 
air-conditioning, and electrical systems. 
 
Mobile home park. Any premises on which one or more mobile homes are parked or situated and 
used for living or sleeping purposes, or any premises used or held out for the purpose of supplying 
to the public a parking space for one or more mobile homes whether such vehicles stand on wheels 
or on rigid supports. A trailer park is a mobile home park. 
 
Museum, library or art gallery (public). An institution for the collection, display and distribution 
of books and objects of art, or science and sponsored by a public or quasipublic agency and open 
to the general public. 
 
Nonconforming. A building, structure, or use of land lawfully occupied at the time of the effective 
date of this chapter or amendments thereto, and which does not conform to the use of the 
regulations of the district in which it is situated. 
 
Noxious matter. A material which is capable of causing injury to living organisms by chemical 
reaction or is capable of causing detrimental effects upon the physical or economic well-being or 
comfort of humans. 
 
Nursing home facility (also termed skilled nursing facility, convalescent home, assisted living, 
memory care facility or long-term care facility). A facility providing primarily in-patient health 
care, personal care or rehabilitative services over a long period of time to persons chronically ill, 
aged, or disabled who need ongoing health supervision and such facilities comply with the required 
state licensing, if any. 
 
Occupancy. The use or intended use of the land or building by proprietors or tenants. 
 



City of Lucas 
Ordinance # 2022-08-00535 Amending Chapter 14 “Zoning” 
Approved:  September 1, 2022  -10- 

Office, general business or professional. An establishment providing administrative, business, 
executive, management or professional services, but not involving medical or dental services or 
the sale of merchandise, except as incidental to a permitted use. 
 
Office, medical or dental. An office or group of offices for one or more physicians, surgeons, 
dentists or other health-care professionals to treat sick or injured patients who do not remain 
overnight. 
 
Open space or open areas. Area included in any side, rear, or front yard or any unoccupied space 
on the lot that is open and unobstructed to the sky except for the ordinary projections of cornices, 
eaves, or porches. 
 
Open storage. The storage of any equipment, machinery, commodities, raw or semi-finished 
materials, and building materials, not accessory to a residential use, which is visible from any point 
on the building lot line when viewed from ground level to six feet above ground level. 
 
Park, playground, community center. An open recreation facility or park owned and operated by 
a general public agency and available to the general public. 
 
Parking space. A surface area, enclosed or unenclosed, sufficient in size to store one automobile 
together with a surface driveway connecting the parking space with the street or alley and 
permitting ingress or egress of an automobile. 
 
Pet. A domesticated animal kept for companionship or pleasure that includes any dogs, cats, birds, 
rodents, of any and all kinds regardless of sex, and those similar in nature and function. 
 
Pet boarding. Commercial establishment which provides accommodations, feeding and general 
care for pets. 
 
Plat. A plan of a subdivision of land creating building lots or tracts and showing all essential 
dimensions and other information essential to comply with the subdivision standards of the city 
and subject to approval by the planning and zoning commission. Reference to a plat in this chapter 
means an official plat of record which has been approved by the planning and zoning commission 
and filed in the plat records of the county. 
 
Premises. Land together with any buildings or structures occupying it. 
 
Public park. Any publicly owned park, playground, parkway, greenbelt, or roadway within the 
jurisdiction and control of the city. 
Recreation area. A privately owned park, playground, or open space maintained by a community 
club, property owners' association, or similar organization. 
 
Refueling station. Any building or premises used for the dispensing, sale, or offering for sale at 
retail any automobile fuels, oils, propane, natural gas, or electrical recharging. If the dispensing, 
sale, or offering for sale is incidental to a public garage, the premises shall be classified as a public 
garage. 



City of Lucas 
Ordinance # 2022-08-00535 Amending Chapter 14 “Zoning” 
Approved:  September 1, 2022  -11- 

 
Registered family home. 
 

(1)     A home that is registered with the Texas Department of Family Protective 
Services (“TDFPS”) and that provides regular care in the caretaker's own residence for 
not more than six children under 14 years of age, excluding children who are related to 
the caretaker, and that provides care after school hours for not more than six additional 
elementary school children, but the total number of children, including children who 
are related to the caretaker, does not exceed 12 at any given time. 
 
(2)     The term does not include a home that provides care exclusively for any number 
of children who are related to the caretaker. For purposes of this definition regular care 
means care that is provided at least: 
 

(A)     Four hours a day, three or more days a week, for three or more consecutive 
weeks; or 
(B)     Four hours a day for 40 or more days in a period of 12 months. 
 

Residence. Same as a dwelling; also, when used with “district,” an area of residential regulations. 
 
Restaurant or cafeteria. An eating establishment where service is provided to customers at tables 
and not involving service of food to customers in automobiles. 
 
Retail sales establishment. An establishment or place of business primarily engaged in selling 
goods directly to the consumer, where such goods are generally available for immediate purchase 
and removal from the premises by the purchaser. 
 
Retirement home/senior independent living facility. A multifamily dwelling complex or similar 
living arrangements that is age restricted for senior citizens but which is not an assisted-living 
center or long-term care facility. (Ordinance 2016-03-0832 adopted 3/3/16) 
 
School, private. A school under the sponsorship of a private agency or corporation other than a 
public agency. 
 
School, public or parochial. A school under the sponsorship of a public or religious agency having 
a curriculum generally equivalent to public elementary or secondary schools, but not including 
private, trade, or commercial schools. 
 
Schools, trade and commercial. Establishments, other than public or parochial schools, private 
primary or secondary schools, or colleges, offering training or instruction in a trade, art, or 
occupation. 
 
Screening device. A barrier of stone, brick, pierced brick or block, uniformly colored wood, or 
other permanent material of equal character, density, and acceptable design at least four (4) feet in 
height, where the solid area equals at least sixty-five percent (65%) of the wall surface, including 
an entrance gate or gates; or foliage of an acceptable type with a density that will not permit 



City of Lucas 
Ordinance # 2022-08-00535 Amending Chapter 14 “Zoning” 
Approved:  September 1, 2022  -12- 

through passage; or an acceptable combination of these materials. Such screening device shall be 
continuously maintained. 
 
Servant's quarters. An accessory building or portion of a main residential building located on the 
same lot as the principal residential building, occupied only by such persons and their families as 
are employed fulltime by the occupants of the principal residence. 
 
Shopping center. A grouping of two (2) or more commercial units built primarily for retailing 
purposes on common property planned, developed, owned or managed as a unit with common off-
street parking provided on the same site. For purposes of this chapter, a neighborhood shopping 
center shall be considered to be a shopping center primarily serving adjacent residential area. 
 
Specific use. A means for developing certain designated uses in a manner in which the specific use 
will be compatible with the adjacent property and consistent with the character of the 
neighborhood. 
 
Stadium or playfield, public. An athletic field or stadium owned and operated by a public agency 
for the general public including a baseball field, football field or stadium. 
 
Street. An area for vehicular traffic whether designated as a street, highway, thoroughfare, 
parkway, throughway, road, avenue, boulevard, lane, place or otherwise designated. 
 
Street line. A dividing line between a lot, tract, or parcel of land and contiguous street. 
 
Structural alterations. Any change in the supporting member of a building, such as a bearing wall, 
column, beams, or girders. 
 
Toxic materials. Those materials which are capable of causing injury to living organisms by 
chemical means when present in relatively small amounts. 
 
Use. The purpose or activity for which the land, or building thereon, is designed, arranged, or 
intended, or for which it is occupied and maintained, and shall include any manner of such activity 
with respect to the standards of this chapter. 
 
Use, principal. The main use of land or buildings as distinguished from a subordinate or accessory 
use. 
 
Utility facilities, private or franchised. A nonpublic utility requiring specific facilities in residential 
areas or on public property such as heating, cooling, or communications not customarily provided 
by the municipality or the normal franchised utilities. 
 
Yard. An open space other than a courtyard, on the lot on which a building is situated and which 
is open and unobstructed from a point forty (40) inches above the general ground level of the 
graded lot to the sky, except as provided for roof overhang, similar special building features and 
other accessory structures as provided for in this code. 
 



City of Lucas 
Ordinance # 2022-08-00535 Amending Chapter 14 “Zoning” 
Approved:  September 1, 2022  -13- 

Yard, front. An open, unoccupied space on a lot facing a street extending across the lot between 
the side lot lines and from the front building line to the street. 
 
Yard, rear. An open, unoccupied space from the rear building line extending across the rear of a 
lot from one side lot line to the other side lot line to the rear property line.  
 
Yard, side. An open, unoccupied space or spaces between the property line and the side building 
line that would not be consider front yard or rear yard that extends between the front building line 
and the rear building line. 
 

Yard & Building Line Illustrations 
 

 
 



City of Lucas 
Ordinance # 2022-08-00535 Amending Chapter 14 “Zoning” 
Approved:  September 1, 2022  -14- 

Zoning district map. The official certified map upon which the boundaries of the various districts 
are drawn and which is an integral part of the zoning ordinance. 
 
Section 2. The Code of Ordinances of the City of Lucas, Texas, is hereby amended by 
amending Chapter 14 titled, “Zoning,” Article 14.01 titled “General Provisions,” Division 1 titled 
“Generally” by amending Section 14.01.005, titled “Compliance with regulations” to add the 
following: 
 
Except as herein specifically provided: 
 

(1)     No land shall be used except for a purpose permitted in the district in which it is 
located. 
 
(2)     No building shall be erected, converted, enlarged, reconstructed, moved, or 
structurally altered, nor shall any building be used, except for a use permitted in the 
district in which such building is located. 
 
(3)     No building shall be erected, converted, enlarged, reconstructed, or structurally 
altered to exceed the height limit herein established for the district in which such 
building is located. 
 
(4)     No building shall be erected, converted, enlarged, reconstructed, or structurally 
altered except in conformity with the area regulations of the district in which such 
building is located. 
 
(5)     No building shall be erected, converted, enlarged, reconstructed, or structurally 
altered to the extent specifically provided herein except in conformity with the off-
street parking and loading regulations provided herein for the use for which the building 
is intended. 
 
(6)     The minimum yards, parking spaces, and open area, including lot area per 
dwelling unit, required by this chapter for each and every building existing at the time 
of passage of this chapter or for any building hereafter erected, shall not be encroached 
upon or considered as part of the yard or parking, nor shall any lot area be reduced 
below the requirements of this chapter for the district in which such lot is located. 
 
(7)     Every building hereafter erected or structurally altered shall be located on a 
building lot as herein defined and, except as specifically provided herein, there shall 
not be more than one main building on one (1) lot. 
 
(8)     No construction of any sewer system, sanitary landfill, public utility, or facility 
for the treatment of wastewater in any part of the city or its extraterritorial jurisdiction 
and within 2,000 feet (2000') of Lake Lavon shall be permitted. 
 
(9)     All lots shall front on a street and all lots shall have street frontage of not less 
than 50% of the required width at the front building line.  No lot shall be landlocked. 



City of Lucas 
Ordinance # 2022-08-00535 Amending Chapter 14 “Zoning” 
Approved:  September 1, 2022  -15- 

 
Section 3. The Code of Ordinances of the City of Lucas, Texas, is hereby amended by 
amending Chapter 14 titled, “Zoning,” Article 14.03, titled “Districts,” Division 3, titled, “R2 
Single-Family Residential District” by amending Section 14.03.113, titled “Area regulations” to 
read as follows: 
 
Sec. 14.03.113  Area Regulations 
 
(a) Size of yards. 
 

(1)      Front yard. The building line adjacent to a street shall be established at seventy-five 
feet (75’) from the centerline of the street right-of-way or street reflected as type C or D 
roadway on the Master Thoroughfare Plan. (85’ for type B, and 110’ for Type A). Where 
a building line is established on a plat, which is not consistent with this ordinance, the 
building line that is a greater distance from the front property line shall be observed. No 
required parking shall be allowed within the required front yard. 

 
(2)     Side yard. The building line adjacent to the side property line(s) there shall be not 
less than ten percent (10%) of the lot width, [or] twenty feet (20'), whichever is less. No 
side yard for allowable nonresidential uses shall be less than twenty-five feet (25'). 

 
(3)     Rear yard. The building line adjacent to the rear property line shall be of not less 
than fifty feet (50'). 

 
(b) Size of lot. 
 

(1)     Lot area. No building shall be constructed on any lot of less than two (2) acres (87,120 
square feet). 

 
(2)      Lot width. The width of the lot shall be not less than two hundred feet (200') at the 
front building line, nor shall its average width be less than two hundred feet (200'). The 
minimum width of a lot on a cul-de-sac shall be not less than forty feet (40') at the property 
line, nor shall its average width be less than two hundred feet (200'). The minimum width 
of a lot on a curve exceeding thirty degrees shall be not less than one hundred feet (100') 
at the property line, nor shall its average width be less than two hundred feet (200'). 

 
(3)     Lot depth. The average depth of the lot shall not be less than one hundred eighty feet 
(180'). 

 
(4)    Where a lot having less area, width, and/or depth than herein required exists in 
separate ownership upon the effective date of this chapter, the above regulations shall not 
prohibit the erection of a one-family dwelling thereon. 

 
(c)     Minimum dwelling size. The minimum floor area of any dwelling shall be two thousand 
square feet (2,000 sq. ft.), exclusive of garages, breezeways, and porches. Dwellings shall have a 
minimum seventy-five percent (75%) of the exterior walls of masonry construction or the 



City of Lucas 
Ordinance # 2022-08-00535 Amending Chapter 14 “Zoning” 
Approved:  September 1, 2022  -16- 

heartwood of a natural decay resistance wood, cementitious siding, stucco, cultured stone exterior 
or combination of these materials. Alternate materials may be approved by the DRC so as to 
maintain the architectural compatibility with existing structures. 
 
(d)     Lot coverage. In no case shall more than thirty percent (30%) of the total lot area be covered 
by the combined area of the main buildings and accessory buildings. 
 
(e)     Roof pitch. Residential dwelling structures shall have a roof pitch of not less than 6" vertical 
for each 12" horizontal (6:12). Alternative roof design and roof pitches may be considered and 
approved by the design review committee (DRC). 
 
(f)     Exterior walls and foundation. The exterior walls of residential dwellings shall be supported 
on a continuous solid concrete beam or slab; or on a fully grouted masonry foundation designed 
to carry the imposed loads. Exterior and load bearing walls shall be secured to the foundation as 
required by the adopted residential building code. 
 
(g)     A specific use permit shall be required when the total square footage of the main building 
and/or any accessory buildings exceeds 50,000 square feet. 
 
Section 4. The Code of Ordinances of the City of Lucas, Texas, is hereby amended by 
amending Chapter 14 titled, “Zoning,” Article 14.03 titled “Districts,” Division 4, titled, “R1.5 
Single-Family Residential District” by amending Section 14.03.173, titled “Area regulations” to 
read as follows: 
 
Sec. 14.03.173  Area Regulations 
 
(a) Size of yards. 
 

(1)      Front yard. The building line adjacent to a street shall be established at seventy-five 
feet (75’) from the centerline of the street right-of-way or street reflected as type C or D 
roadway on the Master Thoroughfare Plan. (85’ for type B, and 110’ for Type A). Where 
a building line is established on a plat, which is not consistent with this ordinance, the 
building line is a greater distance from the front property line shall be observed. No 
required parking shall be allowed within the required front yard. 

 
(2)      Side yard. The building line adjacent to the side property line(s) shall be not less 
than ten percent (10%) of the lot width, [or] twenty feet (20'), whichever is less. No side 
yard for allowable nonresidential uses shall be less than twenty-five feet (25'). 

 
(3)      Rear yard. The building line adjacent to the rear property line shall be not less than 
fifty feet (50'). 

 
(b) Size of lot. 
 

(1)     Lot area. No building shall be constructed on any lot of less than one and one-half 
(1-1/2) acres (65,340 square feet). 



City of Lucas 
Ordinance # 2022-08-00535 Amending Chapter 14 “Zoning” 
Approved:  September 1, 2022  -17- 

 
(2)     Lot width. The width of the lot shall be not less than one hundred sixty feet (160') at 
the front building line, nor shall its average width be less than one hundred seventy-five 
feet (175'). The minimum width of a lot on a cul-de-sac shall be not less than thirty-five 
feet (35') at the property line, nor shall its average width be less than one hundred seventy-
five feet (175'). The minimum width of a lot on curve exceeding thirty degrees shall be not 
less than thirty-five feet (35') at the property line, nor shall its average width be less than 
one hundred seventy-five feet (175'). 

 
(3)     Lot depth. The average depth of the lot shall not be less one hundred eighty feet 
(180'). 

 
(4)     Where a lot having less area, width, and/or depth than herein required exists in 
separate ownership upon the effective date of this chapter, the above regulations shall not 
prohibit the erection of a one-family dwelling thereon. 

 
(c)     Minimum dwelling size. The minimum floor area of any dwelling shall be eighteen hundred 
square feet (1,800 sq. ft.), exclusive of garages, breezeways, and porches. Dwellings shall have a 
minimum seventy-five percent (75%) of the exterior walls of masonry construction or the 
heartwood of a natural decay resistance wood, cementitious siding, stucco, cultured stone exterior 
or combination of these materials. Alternate materials may be approved by the DRC so as to 
maintain the architectural compatibility with existing structures. 
 
(d)     Lot coverage. In no case shall more than thirty percent (30%) of the total lot area be covered 
by the combined area of the main buildings and accessory buildings. 
 
(e)     A specific use permit shall be required when the total square footage of the main building 
and/or any accessory buildings exceeds 50,000 square feet. 
 
(f)     Accessory building and structures shall comply with article 14.04, division 8, of this chapter. 
 
(g)     Roof pitch. Residential dwelling structures shall have a roof pitch of not less than 6" vertical 
for each 12" horizontal (6:12). Alternative roof design and roof pitches may be considered and 
approved by the design review committee (DRC). 
 
(h)     Exterior walls and foundation. The exterior walls of residential dwellings shall be supported 
on a continuous solid concrete beam or slab; or on a fully grouted masonry foundation designed 
to carry the imposed loads. Exterior and load bearing walls shall be secured to the foundation as 
required by the adopted residential building code. 
 
Section 5. The Code of Ordinances of the City of Lucas, Texas, is hereby amended by 
amending Chapter 14 titled, “Zoning,” Article 14.03 titled “Districts,” Division 5, titled, “R1 
Single-Family Residential District” by amending Section 14.03.233, titled “Area regulations” to 
read as follows: 
 
 

https://z2codes.franklinlegal.net/franklin/DocViewer.jsp?doccode=z20000081&z2collection=lucas#JD_14.04%20Div%208


City of Lucas 
Ordinance # 2022-08-00535 Amending Chapter 14 “Zoning” 
Approved:  September 1, 2022  -18- 

Sec. 14.03.233  Area Regulations 
 
(a) Size of yards. 
 

(1)     Front yard. The building line adjacent to a street shall be established at seventy-five 
feet (75’) from the centerline of the street right-of-way or street reflected as type C or D 
roadway on the Master Thoroughfare Plan. (85’ for type B, and 110’ for Type A). Where 
a building line is established on a plat, which is not consistent with this ordinance, the 
building line is a greater distance from the front property line shall be observed. No 
required parking shall be allowed within the required front yard. 

 
(2)     Side yard. The building line adjacent to the side property line(s) shall be not less than 
ten percent (10%) of the lot width, [or] twenty feet (20'), whichever is less. No side yard 
for allowable nonresidential uses shall be less than twenty-five feet (25'). 

 
(3)     Rear yard. The building line adjacent to the rear property line shall be not less than 
fifty feet (50'). 

 
 
(b) Size of lot. 
 

(1)     Lot area. No building shall be constructed on any lot of less than one (1) acre (43,560 
square feet). 

 
(2)     Lot width. The width of the lot shall be not less than one hundred forty feet (140') at 
the front building line, nor shall its average width be less than one hundred sixty feet (160'). 
The minimum width of a lot on a cul-de-sac shall be not less than thirty feet (30') at the 
property line, nor shall its average width be less than one hundred sixty feet (160'). The 
minimum width of a lot on a curve exceeding 30 degrees shall be not less than thirty feet 
(30') at the property line, nor shall its average width be less than one hundred sixty feet 
(160'). 

 
(3)     Lot depth. The average depth of the lot shall not be less than one hundred eighty feet 
(180'). 
 
(4)    Where a lot having less area, width, and/or depth than herein required exists in 
separate ownership upon the effective date of this chapter, the above regulations shall not 
prohibit the erection of a one-family dwelling thereon. 

 
 

(c)     Minimum dwelling size. The minimum floor area of any dwelling shall be eighteen hundred 
square feet (1,800 sq. ft.), exclusive of garages, breezeways, and porches. Dwellings shall have a 
minimum eighty-five percent (85%) of the exterior walls of masonry construction, stucco, cultured 
stone exterior or combination of these materials. Alternate materials may be approved by the DRC 
so as to maintain the architectural compatibility with existing structures.  
 



City of Lucas 
Ordinance # 2022-08-00535 Amending Chapter 14 “Zoning” 
Approved:  September 1, 2022  -19- 

(d)     Lot coverage. In no case shall more than thirty percent (30%) of the total lot area be covered 
by the combined area of the main buildings and accessory buildings. 
 
(e)     A specific use permit shall be required when the total square footage of the main building 
and/or any accessory buildings exceeds 50,000 square feet. 
 
(f)     Accessory building and structures shall comply with article 14.04, division 8, of this chapter. 
 
(g)     Roof pitch. Residential dwelling structures shall have a roof pitch of not less than 6" vertical 
for each 12" horizontal (6:12). Alternative roof design and roof pitches may be considered and 
approved by the design review committee (DRC). 
 
(h)     Exterior walls and foundation. The exterior walls of residential dwellings shall be supported 
on a continuous solid concrete beam or slab; or on a fully grouted masonry foundation designed 
to carry the imposed loads. Exterior and load bearing walls shall be secured to the foundation as 
required by the adopted residential building code. 
 
Section 6. To the extent of any irreconcilable conflict with the provisions of this ordinance 
and other ordinances of the City of Lucas governing the use and development of the Property and 
which are not expressly amended by this ordinance, the provisions of this ordinance shall be 
controlling.  
 
Section 7. That all ordinances of the City of Lucas in conflict with the provisions of this 
Ordinance shall be, and same are hereby, repealed, provided, however, that all other provisions of 
said Ordinances are not in conflict herewith shall remain in full force and effect. 
 
Section 8. That should any word, sentence, paragraph, subdivision, clause, phrase or section 
of this Ordinance or of the City of Lucas Code of Ordinances, as amended hereby, be adjudged or 
held to be voided or unconstitutional, the same shall not affect the validity of the remaining 
portions of said Ordinances or the City of Lucas Code of Ordinances, as amended hereby, which 
shall remain in full force and effect. 
 
Section 9. An offense committed before the effective date of the Ordinance is governed by 
prior law and the provisions of the City of Lucas Code of Ordinances in effect when the offense 
was committed and the former law is continued in effect for this purpose. 
 
Section 10. Any person violating any of the provisions of this ordinance shall be deemed guilty 
of a misdemeanor and upon conviction thereof shall be fined in a sum not to exceed Two Thousand 
Dollars ($2,000) and a separate offense shall be deemed committed upon each day during or on 
which a violation occurs or continues. 
 
Section 11. That this Ordinance shall take effect immediately from and after its passage and 
publication in accordance with the provisions of the Charter of the City of Lucas, and it is 
accordingly so ordained 
 

https://z2codes.franklinlegal.net/franklin/DocViewer.jsp?doccode=z20000081&z2collection=lucas#JD_14.04%20Div%208


City of Lucas 
Ordinance # 2022-08-00535 Amending Chapter 14 “Zoning” 
Approved:  September 1, 2022  -20- 

DULY PASSED AND APPROVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF LUCAS, 
COLLIN COUNTY, TEXAS, ON THIS 1ST DAY OF SEPTEMBER, 2022. 
 

APPROVED: 
 
 
      __________________________________________ 
      Kathleen Peele, Mayor Pro Tem  
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM:   ATTEST: 
 
 
______________________________ __________________________________________ 
Joseph J. Gorfida, Jr., City Attorney  Kevin Becker, Management Analyst 



City of Lucas 
Ordinance # 2022-08-00535 Amending Chapter 14 “Zoning” 
Approved:  September 1, 2022  -1- 

 
ORDINANCE # 2022-08-00535 

[AMENDING CODE OF ORDINANCES, AMENDING CHAPTER 14 “ZONING”, BY 
AMENDING PROVISIONS FOR BUILDING SETBACKS, LOT LINES, BUILDING 
LINES AND LOT WIDTH REQUIREMENTS; AMENDING AREA REGULATIONS 

FOR FRONT, SIDE AND REAR YARDS IN R2, R1.5 AND R1 SINGLE-FAMILY 
DISTRICTS] 

 
AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF LUCAS, 
TEXAS, AMENDING THE LUCAS CODE OF ORDINANCES BY 
AMENDING CHAPTER 14 TITLED “ZONING”, ARTICLE 14.01 TITLED 
“GENERAL PROVISIONS”, DIVISION 1. TITLED GENERALLY, 
SECTION 14.01.004 TITLED DEFINITIONS BY AMENDING THE 
DEFINITIONS OF “BUILDING LINE (SETBACK LINE),” AND “LOT 
WIDTH,” “LOT DEPTH,” AND “LOT FLAG,” AMENDING THE 
DEFINITION OF “YARD,” “YARD, FRONT,” “YARD, REAR,” “YARD, 
SIDE,” AND AMENDING THE ILLUSTRATIONS ACCORDINGLY; 
AMENDING CHAPTER 14 TITLED “ZONING, ARTICLE 14.01 TITLED 
GENERAL PROVISIONS, DIVISION 1 TITLED “GENERALLY,” 
SECTION 14.01.005 TITLED “COMPLIANCE WITH REGULATIONS” BY 
ADDING SUBPARAGRAPH 9 REQUIRING ALL LOTS TO FRONT ON A 
STREET; AMENDING ARTICLE 14.03 TITLED “DISTRICTS,” DIVISION 
3 TITLED “R2 SINGLE-FAMILY RESIDENTIAL DISTRICTS,” SECTION 
14.03.113 TITLED “AREA REGULATIONS,” REGARDING FRONT, SIDE 
AND REAR YARDS; AMENDING ARTICLE 14.03 TITLED “DISTRICTS,” 
DIVISION 4 TITLED “R1.5 SINGLE-FAMILY RESIDENTIAL 
DISTRICTS,” SECTION 14.03.113 TITLED “AREA REGULATIONS,” 
REGARDING FRONT, SIDE AND REAR YARDS; AMENDING ARTICLE 
14.03 TITLED “DISTRICTS,” DIVISION 5 TITLED “R1 SINGLE-FAMILY 
RESIDENTIAL DISTRICTS,” SECTION 14.03.113 TITLED “AREA 
REGULATIONS,” REGARDING FRONT, SIDE AND REAR YARDS; 
PROVIDING A CONFLICTS CLAUSE; PROVIDING A REPEALING 
CLAUSE; PROVIDING A SEVERABILITY CLAUSE; PROVIDING A 
SAVINGS CLAUSE; PROVIDING A PENALTY OF FINE NOT TO 
EXCEED THE SUM OF TWO THOUSAND DOLLARS ($2,000) FOR EACH 
OFFENSE AND PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

  
 WHEREAS, the Planning and Zoning Commission of the City of Lucas, Texas and the City 
Council of the City of Lucas, Texas, in compliance with the laws of the State of Texas with reference 
to the granting of zoning classifications and changes, have given the requisite notices by publication 
and otherwise, and have held due hearings and afforded a full and fair hearing to all property owners 
generally and to all persons interested and situated in the affected area and in the vicinity thereof, and 



City of Lucas 
Ordinance # 2022-08-00535 Amending Chapter 14 “Zoning” 
Approved:  September 1, 2022  -2- 

the City Council of the City of Lucas, Texas is of the opinion and finds that said zoning change should 
be granted and that the Comprehensive Zoning Ordinance and Map should be amended;  
 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 
OF LUCAS, TEXAS, THAT: 
 
Section 1. The Code of Ordinances of the City of Lucas, Texas, is hereby amended by 
amending Chapter 14 titled “Zoning” by amending Article 14.01 titled “General Provisions,” 
Division 1 titled “Generally,” Section 14.01.004 “Definitions” to read as follows: 
 
Sec. 14.01.004  Definitions 
 
Accessory building or use. Is: 
 

(1)     Subordinate to and serves a principal building or principal use; 
 
(2)     Subordinate in area, extent, or purpose to the principal building or principal use 
served; 
 
(3)     Contributes to the comfort, convenience, and necessity of occupants of the 
principal building or principal use served; and 
 
(4)     Located on the same building lot as the principal use served. “Accessory” when 
used in the text shall have the same meaning as accessory use. 
 

Alley. A public space or thoroughfare which may afford secondary means of access to property 
abutting thereon. 
 
Area of the lot. Shall be the net area of the lot and shall not include portions of public streets or 
alleys. 
 
Automobile repair. 
 

(1)     Collision services. Body, frame, and fender straightening or repair; customizing; 
painting. 
 
(2)     Major. Major repair, rebuilding or reconditioning of engines, radiators, or 
transmissions; undercoating and rust proofing; any operation requiring dismantling or 
removal of head, crankcases, engines or other major parts; and recapping or re-
grooving of tires; any use of a welder or cutting torch; any repair of heavy load vehicles; 
and other operations not listed as minor repair, but not collision services. 
 
(3)     Minor. Minor repair or replacement of parts, tires, batteries, and accessories; 
diagnostic services; minor motor services such as grease, oil, spark plug and filter 
changes; tune-ups; replacement of starters, alternators, hoses, brake parts, mufflers, 



City of Lucas 
Ordinance # 2022-08-00535 Amending Chapter 14 “Zoning” 
Approved:  September 1, 2022  -3- 

water or fuel pumps; state inspections; steam cleaning and detailing; servicing of air-
conditioning systems; for vehicles, but not heavy load vehicles and not including any 
operation listed as major repair or collision service. 
 

Block. An area enclosed by streets and occupied by or intended for buildings; or, if said word is 
used as a term of measurement, it shall mean the distance along a side of a street between the 
nearest two streets which intersect said street on the said side. 
 
Building. Any structure built for the support, shelter, and enclosure of persons, animals, chattels, 
or movable property of any kind. When subdivided in a manner sufficient to prevent the spread of 
fire, each portion so subdivided may be deemed a separate building. 
 
Building height. The number of stories contained in a building and/or the number of feet above the 
average level of the adjoining ground. 
 
Building line (setback line). A line parallel or approximately parallel to the centerline of a street 
or to a property line when not adjacent to a street and having the street line or property line at a 
specific minimum distance as established by this code based on the zoning district in which the 
property is located delineating where therefrom marking the minimum distance from the street line 
or property line that a building may be erected.  
 
Building lot. A single tract of land located within a single block which (at the time of filing for a 
building permit) is designed by its owner or developer as a tract to be used, developed, or built 
upon as a unit, under single ownership or control. It shall front upon a street or approved place. 
Therefore, a “building lot” may be subsequently subdivided into two or more “building lots” or a 
number of “building lots,” subject to the provisions of this chapter and the subdivision ordinance. 
 
Building official. The building inspector or administrative official charged with the responsibility 
for issuing permits and enforcing the zoning ordinance, subdivision ordinance, and building code. 
 
Certificate of occupancy or compliance. An official certificate issued by the city through the 
building official which indicates conformance with or approval of a conditional waiver from the 
zoning regulations and authorizes legal use of the premises for which it was issued. 
 
Child care center. A facility licensed, certified or registered by the Texas Department of Family 
and Protective Services (“TDFPS”) to provide assessment, care, training, education, custody, 
treatment, or supervision for a child who is not related by blood, marriage, or adoption to the owner 
or operator of the facility, for all or part of the 24-hour day, whether or not the facility is operated 
for profit or charges for the services it offers. 
 
Church or rectory. A place of assembly and worship by a recognized religion including 
synagogues, temples, churches, instruction rooms, and the place of residence for the ministers, 
priests, rabbis, teachers, and directors of the premises. 
 
City. The word “city” shall mean the City of Lucas. 
 



City of Lucas 
Ordinance # 2022-08-00535 Amending Chapter 14 “Zoning” 
Approved:  September 1, 2022  -4- 

Clinic. A group of offices for one or more physicians, surgeons, dentists or similar members of the 
medical profession to treat sick or injured outpatients or animals. 
 
College or university. An institution established for educational purposes and offering a curriculum 
similar to the public schools or an accredited college or university, but excluding trade and 
commercial schools. 
 
Commission and/or planning commission. The planning and zoning commission of the city. 
 
Community home. A place meeting the requirements established under section 123.004 of the 
Texas Human Resources Code and where no more than six (6) persons with disabilities and up to 
two (2) supervisors reside at the same time to provide services to persons with disabilities including 
food, shelter, personal guidance, care, habilitation and supervision. 
 
Conditional use. A use which shall be permitted in a particular district only upon fulfillment of the 
conditions as set forth for that use in the use regulations for the appropriate district. 
 
Council. The word “council” shall mean the city council. 
 
Courtyard. An open, occupied space bounded on more than two (2) sides by the walls of a building. 
An inner courtyard is entirely surrounded by the exterior walls of a building. An outer courtyard 
is a court having one side open to a street, alley, yard, or other permanent open space. 
 
Depth of lot. The mean horizontal distance between the front and rear lot lines. 
 
Design review committee (DRC). The DRC is comprised of staff members representing the various 
departments and divisions involved in the review and approval process (administration, planning, 
engineering, building inspection, public works, fire, parks and health). DRC is responsible for 
review of development and building plans, subdivision plats and zoning applications. It offers 
reports and recommendations to both P&Z and city council pertaining to applications and 
proposals requiring actions by these bodies. DRC has final approval authority for certain plats such 
as amending plats, replats and minor plats in compliance with Texas Local Government Code, 
section 212.0065 and section 212.016. 
 
Development or to develop. A “development” includes the construction of new buildings or 
structures on a building lot, the relocation of an existing building on another building lot, or the 
use of open land for a new use. To “develop” is to create a development. 
 
District. A section of the city for which the regulations of this chapter, such as the area, height, 
use, etc., of the land and buildings, are uniform.  
 
Drive-through, drive-thru, drive-in, or drive-up. A product or service provided by a business that 
allows customers to purchase a product or service without leaving their cars. For the purposes of 
this definition, any product or service that is provided to a customer without the need for the 
customer to leave their vehicle is a drive-through, drive-thru, drive-in or drive-up.  
 

http://www.statutes.legis.state.tx.us/Docs/LG/htm/LG.212.htm#212.0065
http://www.statutes.legis.state.tx.us/Docs/LG/htm/LG.212.htm#212.0065
http://www.statutes.legis.state.tx.us/Docs/LG/htm/LG.212.htm#212.016


City of Lucas 
Ordinance # 2022-08-00535 Amending Chapter 14 “Zoning” 
Approved:  September 1, 2022  -5- 

Dwelling, multiple family. Any building or portion thereof which is designed, rented, leased, or let 
to be occupied as two or more dwelling units or apartments of [or] which is occupied as a home or 
residence of two or more families. 
 
Dwelling, single-family. A detached building, but not a mobile home, manufactured housing or 
RV, having accommodations for and occupied by not more than one family, located on a lot or 
separate building tract, and having no physical connection to a building located on any other 
separate lot or tract. 
 
Dwelling unit. A building or portion of a building which is arranged, occupied, or intended to be 
occupied as living quarters of a family and including facilities for food preparation and sleeping. 
 
Equestrian boarding. A business consisting of a minimum of two (2) acres and up to five (5) acres 
for the boarding of a maximum of two (2) horses per acre regardless of ownership, that receives 
compensation through the boarding of horses. On lots greater than five (5) acres no such limit shall 
be imposed. 
 
Equestrian facilities. A facility or place used for horse boarding, including equestrian pasture 
boarding, horse training, riding lessons, horse breeding, horse rescue or horse shows. The facility 
may contain a riding arena provided the arena does not exceed 10% of the total lot size or a 
maximum of 20,000 square feet regardless of the size of the lot.  
 
Family. One or more persons related by blood, marriage, or adoption; or a group not to exceed 
four (4) persons not all related by blood or marriage, adoption or guardianship, occupying a 
dwelling unit. 
 
Farm or ranch. An area which is used for growing of usual farm products, vegetables, fruits, trees, 
and grain and for the raising thereon of the usual farm poultry and farm animals such as horses, 
cattle, and sheep and including the necessary accessory uses for raising, treating, and storing 
products raised on said premises, but not including the commercial feeding or the feeding of 
garbage to swine or other animals and not including any type of agricultural or husbandry 
specifically prohibited by ordinance or law. 
 
Farmer's market. The retail sale of farm produce by individual vendors for the primary purpose of 
selling fruits, vegetables, herbs, spices, edible seeds, nuts, live plants, flowers and honey, where 
such produce, or its portion, is not grown on the premises. 
 
Floor area. The total square feet of floor space within the outside dimensions of a building 
including each floor level, but excluding porches, carports, garages or unfinished cellars. 
 
Garage, auto repair. A building or portion thereof whose principal use is for the repair, servicing, 
equipping, or maintenance of motor vehicles or motor vehicle components, including engines, 
radiators, starters, transmissions, brakes, tires and wheels, seats, and similar components. 
 
Halfway house. A residence for former mental patients, convicts, or recovering drug users or 
alcoholics that serves as a transitional environment between confinement and the return to society. 



City of Lucas 
Ordinance # 2022-08-00535 Amending Chapter 14 “Zoning” 
Approved:  September 1, 2022  -6- 

 
Home occupation. A business, occupation, or profession conducted wholly within an allowable 
residential building and dwelling unit by only the residents thereof, and which shall have the 
following characteristics: 
 

(1)     The activity shall employ only members of the immediate family of the resident 
of the dwelling unit. 
 
(2)     There shall be no external evidence of the occupation detectable at any lot line, 
said evidence to include, advertising signs, or displays, smoke, dust, noise, fumes, 
glare, vibration, electrical disturbance, storage of materials or equipment, or traffic or 
parking of vehicles in a manner evidencing the conduct of a business or that creates a 
nuisance to persons of ordinary sensibilities that occupy surrounding properties. 
 

Hospital. A legally authorized institution in which there are complete facilities for diagnosis, 
treatment, surgery, laboratory, X-ray, and the prolonged care of bed patients. Clinics may have 
some but not all of these facilities. 
 
HUD-code manufactured home. A structure, constructed on or after June 15, 1976, according to 
the rules of the United States Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD), 
transportable in one or more sections, which, in the traveling mode, is eight (8) body feet or more 
in width or forty (40) body feet or more in length, or, when erected on site, is three hundred twenty 
(320) or more square feet, and which is built on a permanent chassis and designed to be used as a 
dwelling with or without a permanent foundation when connected to the required utilities, and 
includes the plumbing, heating, air-conditioning, and electrical systems. The term does not include 
a recreational vehicle as that term is defined by 24 CFR section 3282.8(g). 
 
Kennel. Any business or establishment other than a veterinary hospital, whether operated 
separately or in connection with another business or establishment, that keeps, breeds and/or 
boards and/or trains dogs and/or cats for profit. Veterinary hospitals shall not be considered a 
kennel, unless such hospitals contain pens or facilities for housing, boarding, breeding, training, 
harboring, or keeping dogs, cats or other domesticated animals, swine, equine, or other livestock 
or animals other than, or in addition to, short-term care incidental to the hospital use. Kennels must 
be established, maintained and operated in compliance with all applicable zoning and land use 
regulations of the city. 
 
Livestock. Any horses, mules, donkeys, ponies, cattle, sheep, goats, hogs, pigs, of any and all kinds 
regardless of sex. 
 
Lot. Land occupied or to be occupied by a building and its accessory building including such open 
spaces as are required under this chapter and having its principal frontage upon a public street or 
officially approved place. 
 
Lot depth. The distance, measured in a straight line, between the front lot line and the rear lot line 
measured at the respective midpoints of the front lot line and the rear lot line. 
 



City of Lucas 
Ordinance # 2022-08-00535 Amending Chapter 14 “Zoning” 
Approved:  September 1, 2022 -7- 

Lot Depth Illustration 

Lot flag. A lot of irregular shape with reduced frontage along a public or private street with 
dimensions that are otherwise adequate at the building lines. 

Property Line



City of Lucas 
Ordinance # 2022-08-00535 Amending Chapter 14 “Zoning” 
Approved:  September 1, 2022  -8- 

Lot lines. The lines bounding a lot as defined herein. 
 

(1)     Lot line, front. A “front lot line” is that boundary of a building lot which is the 
line of an existing or dedicated street. Upon corner lots, either street line may be 
selected as the front lot line providing that a front and rear yard are provided adjacent 
and opposite, respectively, to the front lot line. 
 
(2)     Lot line, rear. The “rear lot line” is that boundary of a building lot which is the 
most distant from and is, or is most nearly, parallel to the front lot line. 
 
(3)     Lot line, side. A “side lot line” is that boundary of a building lot which is not a 
front lot line or a rear lot line. 
 

Lot of record. A lot which is part of a subdivision, the plat of which has been recorded in the office 
of the county clerk prior to the adoption of this chapter. 
 
Lot width. The width of a lot, measured in a line generally parallel to the front property line at the 
front building line/or setback line. 
 
 

Lot Width Illustration 
 
 

 
 
 



City of Lucas 
Ordinance # 2022-08-00535 Amending Chapter 14 “Zoning” 
Approved:  September 1, 2022  -9- 

 
 
Main building. The building or buildings on a lot which are occupied by the primary user. 
 
Major retail development. A singular retail establishment or shopping center that involves any 
one, or a combination of the following and as defined herein: 
 

(1)     New construction of a singular retails sales establishment that is greater than 
20,000 gross square feet in size; 
 
(2)     New construction of a shopping center on a parcel or combination of parcels 
comprising ten acres or larger; or 
 
(3)     Expansion to a singular retail sales establishment or shopping center existing as 
of the effective date of adoption of this chapter and which said expansion will increase 
the square footage of a singular retail sales establishment to become more than 20,000 
gross square feet in area or increase the size of a shopping center to more than ten acres. 



City of Lucas 
Ordinance # 2022-08-00535 Amending Chapter 14 “Zoning” 
Approved:  September 1, 2022  -10- 

 
Masonry. An exterior building material which includes: brick of a minimum three and one-half 
inch (3-1/2") nominal thickness, stone with a minimum average thickness of two inches (2") or 
stucco. 
 
Mobile home. A structure that was constructed before June 15, 1976, transportable in one or more 
sections, which, in the traveling mode, is eight (8) body feet or more in width or forty (40) body 
feet or more in length, or, when erected on site, is three hundred twenty (320) or more square feet, 
and which is built on a permanent chassis and designed to be used as a dwelling with or without a 
permanent foundation when connected to the required utilities, and includes the plumbing, heating, 
air-conditioning, and electrical systems. 
 
Mobile home park. Any premises on which one or more mobile homes are parked or situated and 
used for living or sleeping purposes, or any premises used or held out for the purpose of supplying 
to the public a parking space for one or more mobile homes whether such vehicles stand on wheels 
or on rigid supports. A trailer park is a mobile home park. 
 
Museum, library or art gallery (public). An institution for the collection, display and distribution 
of books and objects of art, or science and sponsored by a public or quasipublic agency and open 
to the general public. 
 
Nonconforming. A building, structure, or use of land lawfully occupied at the time of the effective 
date of this chapter or amendments thereto, and which does not conform to the use of the 
regulations of the district in which it is situated. 
 
Noxious matter. A material which is capable of causing injury to living organisms by chemical 
reaction or is capable of causing detrimental effects upon the physical or economic well-being or 
comfort of humans. 
 
Nursing home facility (also termed skilled nursing facility, convalescent home, assisted living, 
memory care facility or long-term care facility). A facility providing primarily in-patient health 
care, personal care or rehabilitative services over a long period of time to persons chronically ill, 
aged, or disabled who need ongoing health supervision and such facilities comply with the required 
state licensing, if any. 
 
Occupancy. The use or intended use of the land or building by proprietors or tenants. 
 
Office, general business or professional. An establishment providing administrative, business, 
executive, management or professional services, but not involving medical or dental services or 
the sale of merchandise, except as incidental to a permitted use. 
 
Office, medical or dental. An office or group of offices for one or more physicians, surgeons, 
dentists or other health-care professionals to treat sick or injured patients who do not remain 
overnight. 
 



City of Lucas 
Ordinance # 2022-08-00535 Amending Chapter 14 “Zoning” 
Approved:  September 1, 2022  -11- 

Open space or open areas. Area included in any side, rear, or front yard or any unoccupied space 
on the lot that is open and unobstructed to the sky except for the ordinary projections of cornices, 
eaves, or porches. 
 
Open storage. The storage of any equipment, machinery, commodities, raw or semi-finished 
materials, and building materials, not accessory to a residential use, which is visible from any point 
on the building lot line when viewed from ground level to six feet above ground level. 
 
Park, playground, community center. An open recreation facility or park owned and operated by 
a general public agency and available to the general public. 
 
Parking space. A surface area, enclosed or unenclosed, sufficient in size to store one automobile 
together with a surface driveway connecting the parking space with the street or alley and 
permitting ingress or egress of an automobile. 
 
Pet. A domesticated animal kept for companionship or pleasure that includes any dogs, cats, birds, 
rodents, of any and all kinds regardless of sex, and those similar in nature and function. 
 
Pet boarding. Commercial establishment which provides accommodations, feeding and general 
care for pets. 
 
Plat. A plan of a subdivision of land creating building lots or tracts and showing all essential 
dimensions and other information essential to comply with the subdivision standards of the city 
and subject to approval by the planning and zoning commission. Reference to a plat in this chapter 
means an official plat of record which has been approved by the planning and zoning commission 
and filed in the plat records of the county. 
 
Premises. Land together with any buildings or structures occupying it. 
 
Public park. Any publicly owned park, playground, parkway, greenbelt, or roadway within the 
jurisdiction and control of the city. 
Recreation area. A privately owned park, playground, or open space maintained by a community 
club, property owners' association, or similar organization. 
 
Refueling station. Any building or premises used for the dispensing, sale, or offering for sale at 
retail any automobile fuels, oils, propane, natural gas, or electrical recharging. If the dispensing, 
sale, or offering for sale is incidental to a public garage, the premises shall be classified as a public 
garage. 
 
Registered family home. 
 

(1)     A home that is registered with the Texas Department of Family Protective 
Services (“TDFPS”) and that provides regular care in the caretaker's own residence for 
not more than six children under 14 years of age, excluding children who are related to 
the caretaker, and that provides care after school hours for not more than six additional 



City of Lucas 
Ordinance # 2022-08-00535 Amending Chapter 14 “Zoning” 
Approved:  September 1, 2022  -12- 

elementary school children, but the total number of children, including children who 
are related to the caretaker, does not exceed 12 at any given time. 
 
(2)     The term does not include a home that provides care exclusively for any number 
of children who are related to the caretaker. For purposes of this definition regular care 
means care that is provided at least: 
 

(A)     Four hours a day, three or more days a week, for three or more consecutive 
weeks; or 
(B)     Four hours a day for 40 or more days in a period of 12 months. 
 

Residence. Same as a dwelling; also, when used with “district,” an area of residential regulations. 
 
Restaurant or cafeteria. An eating establishment where service is provided to customers at tables 
and not involving service of food to customers in automobiles. 
 
Retail sales establishment. An establishment or place of business primarily engaged in selling 
goods directly to the consumer, where such goods are generally available for immediate purchase 
and removal from the premises by the purchaser. 
 
Retirement home/senior independent living facility. A multifamily dwelling complex or similar 
living arrangements that is age restricted for senior citizens but which is not an assisted-living 
center or long-term care facility. (Ordinance 2016-03-0832 adopted 3/3/16) 
 
School, private. A school under the sponsorship of a private agency or corporation other than a 
public agency. 
 
School, public or parochial. A school under the sponsorship of a public or religious agency having 
a curriculum generally equivalent to public elementary or secondary schools, but not including 
private, trade, or commercial schools. 
 
Schools, trade and commercial. Establishments, other than public or parochial schools, private 
primary or secondary schools, or colleges, offering training or instruction in a trade, art, or 
occupation. 
 
Screening device. A barrier of stone, brick, pierced brick or block, uniformly colored wood, or 
other permanent material of equal character, density, and acceptable design at least four (4) feet in 
height, where the solid area equals at least sixty-five percent (65%) of the wall surface, including 
an entrance gate or gates; or foliage of an acceptable type with a density that will not permit 
through passage; or an acceptable combination of these materials. Such screening device shall be 
continuously maintained. 
 
Servant's quarters. An accessory building or portion of a main residential building located on the 
same lot as the principal residential building, occupied only by such persons and their families as 
are employed fulltime by the occupants of the principal residence. 
 



City of Lucas 
Ordinance # 2022-08-00535 Amending Chapter 14 “Zoning” 
Approved:  September 1, 2022  -13- 

Shopping center. A grouping of two (2) or more commercial units built primarily for retailing 
purposes on common property planned, developed, owned or managed as a unit with common off-
street parking provided on the same site. For purposes of this chapter, a neighborhood shopping 
center shall be considered to be a shopping center primarily serving adjacent residential area. 
 
Specific use. A means for developing certain designated uses in a manner in which the specific use 
will be compatible with the adjacent property and consistent with the character of the 
neighborhood. 
 
Stadium or playfield, public. An athletic field or stadium owned and operated by a public agency 
for the general public including a baseball field, football field or stadium. 
 
Street. An area for vehicular traffic whether designated as a street, highway, thoroughfare, 
parkway, throughway, road, avenue, boulevard, lane, place or otherwise designated. 
 
Street line. A dividing line between a lot, tract, or parcel of land and contiguous street. 
 
Structural alterations. Any change in the supporting member of a building, such as a bearing wall, 
column, beams, or girders. 
 
Toxic materials. Those materials which are capable of causing injury to living organisms by 
chemical means when present in relatively small amounts. 
 
Use. The purpose or activity for which the land, or building thereon, is designed, arranged, or 
intended, or for which it is occupied and maintained, and shall include any manner of such activity 
with respect to the standards of this chapter. 
 
Use, principal. The main use of land or buildings as distinguished from a subordinate or accessory 
use. 
 
Utility facilities, private or franchised. A nonpublic utility requiring specific facilities in residential 
areas or on public property such as heating, cooling, or communications not customarily provided 
by the municipality or the normal franchised utilities. 
 
Yard. An open space other than a courtyard, on the lot on which a building is situated and which 
is open and not unobstructed from a point forty (40) inches above the general ground level of the 
graded lot to the sky, except as provided for roof overhang, and similar special building features 
and other accessory structures as provided for in this code. 
 
Yard, front. An open, unoccupied space on a lot facing a street extending across the front of the 
lot between the side lot lines and from the main front building line to the front lot or street line and 
the main building line as specified for the district in which it is located. 
 
 
 



City of Lucas 
Ordinance # 2022-08-00535 Amending Chapter 14 “Zoning” 
Approved:  September 1, 2022  -14- 

Yard, rear. An open, unoccupied space, except for accessory building as herein permitted, from 
the rear building line extending across the rear of a lot from one side lot line to the other side lot 
line to the rear property line. and having a depth between the buildings and the rear lot line as 
specified in the district in which the lot is located.  
 
Yard, side. An open, unoccupied space or spaces between the property line and the side building 
line that would not be consider front yard or rear yard on that one or two sides of a main building 
and on the same lot with the building, situated extends between the front building line and the rear 
building line and a side line of the lot and extending through from the front yard to the rear. Any 
lot line not the rear line or a front line shall be deemed a side line. 
 

Yard & Building Line Illustrations 
 

 
 



City of Lucas 
Ordinance # 2022-08-00535 Amending Chapter 14 “Zoning” 
Approved:  September 1, 2022  -15- 

Zoning district map. The official certified map upon which the boundaries of the various districts 
are drawn and which is an integral part of the zoning ordinance. 
 
Section 2. The Code of Ordinances of the City of Lucas, Texas, is hereby amended by 
amending Chapter 14 titled, “Zoning,” Article 14.01 titled “General Provisions,” Division 1 titled 
“Generally” by amending Section 14.01.005, titled “Compliance with regulations” to add the 
following: 
 
Except as herein specifically provided: 
 

(1)     No land shall be used except for a purpose permitted in the district in which it is 
located. 
 
(2)     No building shall be erected, converted, enlarged, reconstructed, moved, or 
structurally altered, nor shall any building be used, except for a use permitted in the 
district in which such building is located. 
 
(3)     No building shall be erected, converted, enlarged, reconstructed, or structurally 
altered to exceed the height limit herein established for the district in which such 
building is located. 
 
(4)     No building shall be erected, converted, enlarged, reconstructed, or structurally 
altered except in conformity with the area regulations of the district in which such 
building is located. 
 
(5)     No building shall be erected, converted, enlarged, reconstructed, or structurally 
altered to the extent specifically provided herein except in conformity with the off-
street parking and loading regulations provided herein for the use for which the building 
is intended. 
 
(6)     The minimum yards, parking spaces, and open area, including lot area per 
dwelling unit, required by this chapter for each and every building existing at the time 
of passage of this chapter or for any building hereafter erected, shall not be encroached 
upon or considered as part of the yard or parking, nor shall any lot area be reduced 
below the requirements of this chapter for the district in which such lot is located. 
 
(7)     Every building hereafter erected or structurally altered shall be located on a 
building lot as herein defined and, except as specifically provided herein, there shall 
not be more than one main building on one (1) lot. 
 
(8)     No construction of any sewer system, sanitary landfill, public utility, or facility 
for the treatment of wastewater in any part of the city or its extraterritorial jurisdiction 
and within 2,000 feet (2000') of Lake Lavon shall be permitted. 
 
(9)      All lots shall front on a street and all lots shall have street frontage of not less 
than 50% of the required width at the front building line.  No lot shall be landlocked. 



City of Lucas 
Ordinance # 2022-08-00535 Amending Chapter 14 “Zoning” 
Approved:  September 1, 2022  -16- 

 
Section 3. The Code of Ordinances of the City of Lucas, Texas, is hereby amended by 
amending Chapter 14 titled, “Zoning,” Article 14.03, titled “Districts,” Division 3, titled, “R2 
Single-Family Residential District” by amending Section 14.03.113, titled “Area regulations” to 
read as follows: 
 
Sec. 14.03.113  Area Regulations 
 
(a) Size of yards. 
 

(1)      Front yard. The building line adjacent to a street shall be established at seventy-five 
feet (75’) from the centerline of the street right-of-way or street reflected as type C or D 
roadway on the Master Thoroughfare Plan. (85’ for type B, and 110’ for Type A). There 
shall be a front yard having a depth of not less than fifty feet (50'). Where lots have double 
frontage, running through from one street to another, the required front yard shall be 
provided on both streets. Where a building line is established on a plat, which is not 
consistent with this ordinance, the building line that is a greater distance from the front 
property line shall be observed. No required parking shall be allowed within the required 
front yard. 

 
(2)      Side yard. The building line adjacent to the side property line(s) there shall be a side 
yard on each side of the lot having a width of not less than ten percent (10%) of the lot 
width, [or] twenty feet (20'), whichever is less. A side yard adjacent to a side street shall 
not be less than twenty-five feet (25'). No side yard for allowable nonresidential uses shall 
be less than twenty-five feet (25'). 

 
(3)      Rear yard. The building line adjacent to the rear property line There shall be a rear 
yard having a depth of not less than fifty feet (50'). 

 
(b) Size of lot. 
 

(1)     Lot area. No building shall be constructed on any lot of less than two (2) acres (87,120 
square feet). 

 
(2)      Lot width. The width of the lot shall be not less than two hundred feet (200') at the 
front street property building line, nor shall its average width be less than two hundred feet 
(200'). The minimum width of a lot on a cul-de-sac shall be not less than forty feet (40') at 
the property line, nor shall its average width be less than two hundred feet (200'). The 
minimum width of a lot on a curve exceeding thirty degrees shall be not less than one 
hundred feet (100') at the property line, nor shall its average width be less than two hundred 
feet (200'). 

 
(3)     Lot depth. The average depth of the lot shall not be less than one hundred eighty feet 
(180'). 

 



City of Lucas 
Ordinance # 2022-08-00535 Amending Chapter 14 “Zoning” 
Approved:  September 1, 2022  -17- 

(4)    Where a lot having less area, width, and/or depth than herein required exists in 
separate ownership upon the effective date of this chapter, the above regulations shall not 
prohibit the erection of a one-family dwelling thereon. 

 
(c)     Minimum dwelling size. The minimum floor area of any dwelling shall be two thousand 
square feet (2,000 sq. ft.), exclusive of garages, breezeways, and porches. Dwellings shall have a 
minimum seventy-five percent (75%) of the exterior walls of masonry construction or the 
heartwood of a natural decay resistance wood, cementitious siding, stucco, cultured stone exterior 
or combination of these materials. Alternate materials may be approved by the DRC so as to 
maintain the architectural compatibility with existing structures. 
 
(d)     Lot coverage. In no case shall more than thirty percent (30%) of the total lot area be covered 
by the combined area of the main buildings and accessory buildings. 
 
(e)     Roof pitch. Residential dwelling structures shall have a roof pitch of not less than 6" vertical 
for each 12" horizontal (6:12). Alternative roof design and roof pitches may be considered and 
approved by the design review committee (DRC). 
 
(f)     Exterior walls and foundation. The exterior walls of residential dwellings shall be supported 
on a continuous solid concrete beam or slab; or on a fully grouted masonry foundation designed 
to carry the imposed loads. Exterior and load bearing walls shall be secured to the foundation as 
required by the adopted residential building code. 
 
(g)     A specific use permit shall be required when the total square footage of the main building 
and/or any accessory buildings exceeds 50,000 square feet. 
 
Section 4. The Code of Ordinances of the City of Lucas, Texas, is hereby amended by 
amending Chapter 14 titled, “Zoning,” Article 14.03 titled “Districts,” Division 4, titled, “R1.5 
Single-Family Residential District” by amending Section 14.03.173, titled “Area regulations” to 
read as follows: 
 
Sec. 14.03.173  Area Regulations 
 
(a) Size of yards. 
 

(1)      Front yard. The building line adjacent to a street shall be established at seventy-five 
feet (75’) from the centerline of the street right-of-way or street reflected as type C or D 
roadway on the Master Thoroughfare Plan. (85’ for type B, and 110’ for Type A). Where 
a building line is established on a plat, which is not consistent with this ordinance, the 
building line is a greater distance from the front property line shall be observed. No 
required parking shall be allowed within the required front yard. 

 
(2)      Side yard. The building line adjacent to the side property line(s) shall be not less 
than ten percent (10%) of the lot width, [or] twenty feet (20'), whichever is less. No side 
yard for allowable nonresidential uses shall be less than twenty-five feet (25'). 

 



City of Lucas 
Ordinance # 2022-08-00535 Amending Chapter 14 “Zoning” 
Approved:  September 1, 2022  -18- 

(3)      Rear yard. The building line adjacent to the rear property line shall be not less than 
fifty feet (50'). 

 
(a) Size of yards. See Error! Hyperlink reference not valid. 
 
(b) Size of lot. 
 

(1)     Lot area. No building shall be constructed on any lot of less than one and one-half 
(1-1/2) acres (65,340 square feet). 

 
(2)      Lot width. The width of the lot shall be not less than one hundred sixty feet (160') 
at the front street property building line, nor shall its average width be less than one hundred 
seventy-five feet (175'). The minimum width of a lot on a cul-de-sac shall be not less than 
thirty-five feet (35') at the property line, nor shall its average width be less than one hundred 
seventy-five feet (175'). The minimum width of a lot on curve exceeding thirty degrees 
shall be not less than thirty-five feet (35') at the property line, nor shall its average width 
be less than one hundred seventy-five feet (175'). 

 
(3)     Lot depth. The average depth of the lot shall not be less one hundred eighty feet 
(180'). 

 
(4)     Where a lot having less area, width, and/or depth than herein required exists in 
separate ownership upon the effective date of this chapter, the above regulations shall not 
prohibit the erection of a one-family dwelling thereon. 

 
(c)     Minimum dwelling size. The minimum floor area of any dwelling shall be eighteen hundred 
square feet (1,800 sq. ft.), exclusive of garages, breezeways, and porches. Dwellings shall have a 
minimum seventy-five percent (75%) of the exterior walls of masonry construction or the 
heartwood of a natural decay resistance wood, cementitious siding, stucco, cultured stone exterior 
or combination of these materials. Alternate materials may be approved by the DRC so as to 
maintain the architectural compatibility with existing structures. 
 
(d)     Lot coverage. In no case shall more than thirty percent (30%) of the total lot area be covered 
by the combined area of the main buildings and accessory buildings. 
 
(e)     A specific use permit shall be required when the total square footage of the main building 
and/or any accessory buildings exceeds 50,000 square feet. 
 
(f)     Accessory building and structures shall comply with article 14.04, division 8, of this chapter. 
 
(g)     Roof pitch. Residential dwelling structures shall have a roof pitch of not less than 6" vertical 
for each 12" horizontal (6:12). Alternative roof design and roof pitches may be considered and 
approved by the design review committee (DRC). 
 
(h)     Exterior walls and foundation. The exterior walls of residential dwellings shall be supported 
on a continuous solid concrete beam or slab; or on a fully grouted masonry foundation designed 

https://z2codes.franklinlegal.net/franklin/DocViewer.jsp?doccode=z20000081&z2collection=lucas#JD_14.04%20Div%208


City of Lucas 
Ordinance # 2022-08-00535 Amending Chapter 14 “Zoning” 
Approved:  September 1, 2022  -19- 

to carry the imposed loads. Exterior and load bearing walls shall be secured to the foundation as 
required by the adopted residential building code. 
 
Section 5. The Code of Ordinances of the City of Lucas, Texas, is hereby amended by 
amending Chapter 14 titled, “Zoning,” Article 14.03 titled “Districts,” Division 5, titled, “R1 
Single-Family Residential District” by amending Section 14.03.233, titled “Area regulations” to 
read as follows: 
 
Sec. 14.03.233  Area Regulations 
 
(a) Size of yards. 
 

(1)      Front yard. The building line adjacent to a street shall be established at seventy-five 
feet (75’) from the centerline of the street right-of-way or street reflected as type C or D 
roadway on the Master Thoroughfare Plan. (85’ for type B, and 110’ for Type A). Where 
a building line is established on a plat, which is not consistent with this ordinance, the 
building line is a greater distance from the front property line shall be observed. No 
required parking shall be allowed within the required front yard. 

 
(2)      Side yard. The building line adjacent to the side property line(s) shall be not less 
than ten percent (10%) of the lot width, [or] twenty feet (20'), whichever is less. No side 
yard for allowable nonresidential uses shall be less than twenty-five feet (25'). 

 
(3)      Rear yard. The building line adjacent to the rear property line shall be not less than 
fifty feet (50'). 

 
(a) Size of yards. See Error! Hyperlink reference not valid.adopted 2/4/16) 
 
(b) Size of lot. 
 

(1)     Lot area. No building shall be constructed on any lot of less than one (1) acre (43,560 
square feet). 

 
(2)     Lot width. The width of the lot shall be not less than one hundred forty feet (140') at 
the front street property building line, nor shall its average width be less than one hundred 
sixty feet (160'). The minimum width of a lot on a cul-de-sac shall be not less than thirty 
feet (30') at the property line, nor shall its average width be less than one hundred sixty feet 
(160'). The minimum width of a lot on a curve exceeding 30 degrees shall be not less than 
thirty feet (30') at the property line, nor shall its average width be less than one hundred 
sixty feet (160'). 

 
(3)     Lot depth. The average depth of the lot shall not be less than one hundred eighty feet 
(180'). 
 



City of Lucas 
Ordinance # 2022-08-00535 Amending Chapter 14 “Zoning” 
Approved:  September 1, 2022  -20- 

(4)    Where a lot having less area, width, and/or depth than herein required exists in 
separate ownership upon the effective date of this chapter, the above regulations shall not 
prohibit the erection of a one-family dwelling thereon. 

 
(c)     Minimum dwelling size. The minimum floor area of any dwelling shall be eighteen hundred 
square feet (1,800 sq. ft.), exclusive of garages, breezeways, and porches. Dwellings shall have a 
minimum eighty-five percent (85%) of the exterior walls of masonry construction, stucco, cultured 
stone exterior or combination of these materials. Alternate materials may be approved by the DRC 
so as to maintain the architectural compatibility with existing structures.  
 
(d)     Lot coverage. In no case shall more than thirty percent (30%) of the total lot area be covered 
by the combined area of the main buildings and accessory buildings. 
 
(e)     A specific use permit shall be required when the total square footage of the main building 
and/or any accessory buildings exceeds 50,000 square feet. 
 
(f)     Accessory building and structures shall comply with article 14.04, division 8, of this chapter. 
 
(g)     Roof pitch. Residential dwelling structures shall have a roof pitch of not less than 6" vertical 
for each 12" horizontal (6:12). Alternative roof design and roof pitches may be considered and 
approved by the design review committee (DRC). 
 
(h)     Exterior walls and foundation. The exterior walls of residential dwellings shall be supported 
on a continuous solid concrete beam or slab; or on a fully grouted masonry foundation designed 
to carry the imposed loads. Exterior and load bearing walls shall be secured to the foundation as 
required by the adopted residential building code. 
 
Section 6. To the extent of any irreconcilable conflict with the provisions of this ordinance 
and other ordinances of the City of Lucas governing the use and development of the Property and 
which are not expressly amended by this ordinance, the provisions of this ordinance shall be 
controlling.  
 
Section 7. That all ordinances of the City of Lucas in conflict with the provisions of this 
Ordinance shall be, and same are hereby, repealed, provided, however, that all other provisions of 
said Ordinances are not in conflict herewith shall remain in full force and effect. 
 
Section 8. That should any word, sentence, paragraph, subdivision, clause, phrase or section 
of this Ordinance or of the City of Lucas Code of Ordinances, as amended hereby, be adjudged or 
held to be voided or unconstitutional, the same shall not affect the validity of the remaining 
portions of said Ordinances or the City of Lucas Code of Ordinances, as amended hereby, which 
shall remain in full force and effect. 
 
Section 9. An offense committed before the effective date of the Ordinance is governed by 
prior law and the provisions of the City of Lucas Code of Ordinances in effect when the offense 
was committed and the former law is continued in effect for this purpose. 
 

https://z2codes.franklinlegal.net/franklin/DocViewer.jsp?doccode=z20000081&z2collection=lucas#JD_14.04%20Div%208


City of Lucas 
Ordinance # 2022-08-00535 Amending Chapter 14 “Zoning” 
Approved:  September 1, 2022  -21- 

Section 10. Any person violating any of the provisions of this ordinance shall be deemed guilty 
of a misdemeanor and upon conviction thereof shall be fined in a sum not to exceed Two Thousand 
Dollars ($2,000) and a separate offense shall be deemed committed upon each day during or on 
which a violation occurs or continues. 
 
Section 11. That this Ordinance shall take effect immediately from and after its passage and 
publication in accordance with the provisions of the Charter of the City of Lucas, and it is 
accordingly so ordained 
 
DULY PASSED AND APPROVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF LUCAS, 
COLLIN COUNTY, TEXAS, ON THIS 1ST DAY OF SEPTEMBER, 2022. 
 

APPROVED: 
 
 
      __________________________________________ 
      Kathleen Peele, Mayor Pro Tem  
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM:   ATTEST: 
 
 
______________________________ __________________________________________ 
Joseph J. Gorfida, Jr., City Attorney  Kevin Becker, Management Analyst 



City of Lucas 
Ordinance # 2022-08-00957 Amending Chapter 5 “Fire Prevention and Protection”, Chapter 6 “Health and Sanitation”, 
and Chapter 8 “Offenses and Nuisances” 
Approved:  September 1, 2022 
  1 

 

 
 

ORDINANCE # 2022-08-00957 
[AMENDING CODE OF ORDINANCES, AMENDING CHAPTER 5 TITLED “FIRE 

PREVENTION AND PROTECTION”, BY AMENDING PROVISIONS RELATED TO 
ACCUMULATIONS OF COMBUSTIBLE DEBRIS, WEEDS, GRASS OR BRUSH; 

AMENDING CHAPTER 6 TITLED “HEALTH AND SANITATION” BY AMENDING 
PROVISIONS RELATED TO GRASS AND WEEDS AND AMENDING CHAPTER 8 

TITLED “OFFENSES AND NUISANCES” RELATING TO OBSTRUCTIONS IN RIGHT-
OF-WAY] 

 
AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF LUCAS, 
TEXAS, AMENDING LUCAS CODE OF ORDINANCES BY AMENDING 
CHAPTER 5 TITLED “FIRE PREVENTION AND PROTECTION”, 
ARTICLE 5.05 ACCUMULATIONS OF COMBUSTIBLE DEBRIS, WEEDS, 
GRASS AND BRUSH, SECTION 5.05.001, 5.05.002 AND 5.05.003 TITLED 
“PROHIBITED CONDITIONS,” “ABATEMENT,” AND “ISSUANCE OF 
CITATION; PENALTY; VIOLATIONS DECLARED NUISANCE,” 
RESPECTIVELY, BY EXPANDING CERTAIN PROVISIONS AND 
PROVIDING CERTAIN EXCEPTIONS; AMENDING  CHAPTER 6 TITLED 
“HEALTH AND SANITATION” ARTICLE 6.03 TITLED “HIGH GRASS 
AND WEEDS,” SECTIONS 6.03.001 AND 6.03.005, TITLED 
“PROHIBITED,” AND “PENALTY,” RESPECTIVELY TO CONFORM TO 
THE AMENDMENTS IN CHAPTER 5 HEREIN; AND AMENDING 
CHAPTER 8 TITLED “OFFENSES AND NUISANCES” ARTICLE 8.01 
TITLED “GENERAL PROVISIONS,” SECTION 8.01.001 TITLED 
“OBSTRUCTION IN RIGHT-OF-WAY,” BY EXPANDING CERTAIN 
PROVISIONS AND PROVIDING CERTAIN EXCEPTIONS; PROVIDING A 
CONFLICTS CLAUSE; PROVIDING A REPEALING CLAUSE; 
PROVIDING A SEVERABILITY CLAUSE; PROVIDING A SAVINGS 
CLAUSE; PROVIDING A PENALTY OF FINE NOT TO EXCEED THE SUM 
OF TWO THOUSAND DOLLARS ($2,000) FOR EACH OFFENSE AND 
PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

  
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 
OF LUCAS, TEXAS, THAT: 
 
Section 1. The Code of Ordinances of the City of Lucas, Texas, is hereby amended by amending 
Chapter 5 titled “Fire Prevention and Protection,” Article 5.05 titled “Accumulations of 



City of Lucas 
Ordinance # 2022-08-00957 Amending Chapter 5 “Fire Prevention and Protection”, Chapter 6 “Health and Sanitation”, 
and Chapter 8 “Offenses and Nuisances” 
Approved:  September 1, 2022 
  2 

 

Combustible Debris, Weeds, Grass, or Brush,” Section 5.05.001 titled “Prohibited conditions” to 
read as follows: 

 
Sec. 5.05.001 Prohibited conditions 
 
It shall be unlawful for any person owning, claiming, occupying or having supervision or control 
of any real property, including adjacent right-of-way or easements to permit weeds, grass, or brush 
to grow to a greater height then twelve (12) inches (unless such property is currently being used 
for: agricultural purposes, such as the raising of crops, including hay, or the grazing of cattle) upon 
any such real property or adjacent easements or rights-of-way, or to permit the accumulation of any 
other debris which creates a fire hazard, including but not limited to dead grass, tree limbs and 
stumps, wastepaper, scrap wood or lumber, or discarded or abandoned construction material. All 
grass and weeds which exceed twelve (12) inches in height shall be presumed to be a fire hazard, 
and all wood, paper, and construction materials shall be presumed to be discarded and abandoned 
after remaining as such for ten (10) days after first notice of the noncompliance with the provisions 
of this article. 
 
(1) Agricultural crops; 
 
(2) Hay that is grown for the specific purpose of cultivation, provided that the property is cut and 
baled at least twice per season; 
 
(3) Cultivated trees or shrubs; 
 
(4) Wildflowers, but only until such time as seeds have matured following the final blooming of 
the majority of the plants, but no later than July 1.  
 
For the purposes of this article, the above-referenced exemptions from maximum height of twelve 
(12) inches, does not include the “obstruction free zone” which is defined as an area from one to 
five feet in width from the edge of pavement that must be maintained at a height of twelve (12) 
inches or less.  The width of the obstruction free zone is based on the topography of the area, safety 
conditions and is determined by the city manager or designee.   
 
It shall be unlawful for any person owning, claiming, occupying, or having supervision or control 
of any real property, including adjacent right-of-way easements, to permit the accumulation of any 
other debris which creates a fire hazard, including but not limited to dead grass, tree limbs and 
stumps, wastepaper, scrap wood or lumber, or discarded or abandoned construction material.  
 
For purposes of this section, an agricultural crop is defined as a plant or plant product that can be 
grown and harvested extensively for profit or subsistence. 
 
All trees on private property encroaching into a public street, right of way, or easement at a height 
less than the local tree canopy of fourteen (14) feet shall be presumed to be a safety hazard and 
require trimming or removal.  



City of Lucas 
Ordinance # 2022-08-00957 Amending Chapter 5 “Fire Prevention and Protection”, Chapter 6 “Health and Sanitation”, 
and Chapter 8 “Offenses and Nuisances” 
Approved:  September 1, 2022 
  3 

 

 
The City requires a one to five foot “obstruction free zone” to be maintained from the edge of 
pavement based on safety conditions (e.g. maintain sight triangle for the traveling public, limb 
obstructions into the roadway, etc.).  The preservation of trees greater than three inches in diameter 
(measured at breast height) will be observed within the obstruction free zone. 
 
All grass and weeds which exceed twelve (12) inches in height shall be presumed to be a fire 
hazard, and all wood, paper, and construction materials shall be presumed to be discarded and 
abandoned after remaining as such for ten (10) days after first notice of the noncompliance with 
the provisions of this article. 
 
Section 2. The Code of Ordinances of the City of Lucas, Texas, is hereby amended by 
amending Chapter 5 titled “Fire Prevention and Protection,” Article 5.05 titled “Accumulations of 
Combustible Debris, Weeds, Grass, or Brush,” Section 5.05.002 titled “Abatement” to read as 
follows: 
 
Sec. 5.05.002 Abatement 
 
(a) In the event that any person owning, claiming, occupying, or having supervision or control 
of a lot, tract, or parcel of land or portion thereof shall fail to comply with section 5.05.001, then 
said person may be charged with violation of this article and/or be given notice by the city code 
official to comply with the same. The notice shall be given: 
 

1) Personally to the owner in writing; 
 

2) By letter addressed to the owner at the owner's address as recorded in the appraisal district 
records of the appraisal district in which the property is located; or 

 
3) If personal service cannot be obtained: 

 
(A) By publication at least once;  

 
(B) By posting the notice on or near the front door of each building on the property 

to which the violation relates; or 
 

(C) By posting the notice on a placard attached to a stake driven into the ground on 
the property to which the violation relates. 

 
(b) If the city mails a notice to a property owner in accordance with subsection (a), and the 
United States Postal Service returns the notice as “refused” or “unclaimed,” the validity of the 
notice is not affected, and the notice is considered as delivered. 
 
Section 3. The Code of Ordinances of the City of Lucas, Texas, is hereby amended by 
amending Chapter 5 titled “Fire Prevention and Protection,” Article 5.05 titled “Accumulations 



City of Lucas 
Ordinance # 2022-08-00957 Amending Chapter 5 “Fire Prevention and Protection”, Chapter 6 “Health and Sanitation”, 
and Chapter 8 “Offenses and Nuisances” 
Approved:  September 1, 2022 
  4 

 

of Combustible Debris, Weeds, Grass, or Brush,” Section 5.05.003 titled “Issuance of citation; 
penalty; violations declared nuisance” to read as follows: 
 
Sec. 5.05.003 Issuance of citation; penalty; violations declared nuisance 
 
In addition to the abatement procedures provided in section 5.05.002, the city code official may 
issue a citation for violation of this article. A violation of this article shall be punishable by a fine 
as provided in section 5.05.002 of this code. Each day a prohibited act of this article is violated 
shall be a separate offense, and each violation shall constitute a common nuisance which may be 
abated by the city in any manner authorized herein or by law, including injunction and action for 
damages. 
 
Section 4. The Code of Ordinances of the City of Lucas, Texas, is hereby amended by 
amending Chapter 6 titled “Health and Sanitation,” Article 6.03 titled “High Grass and Weeds,” 
Section 6.03.001 titled “Prohibited” to read as follows:  
 
Sec. 6.03.001 Prohibited 
 
(a) It shall be unlawful for any person owning, claiming, occupying or having supervision or control 
of any real property, occupied or unoccupied, within the city, to permit weeds or grass, save and 
except crops that are regularly cultivated, to grow to a greater height than twelve (12) inches upon 
any such real property within one hundred fifty (150) feet of any property line which abuts street 
rights-of way, developed property or any buildings or other structures. who owns, occupies, or is 
in control of occupied or unoccupied premises in the city to permit weeds, grass, or other vegetation 
located on the premises to grow to a height greater than twelve (12) inches. 
 
(b) The following shall be exempt from the requirement 6.03.001(a):  
 
(1) Agricultural crops;  
 
(2) Hay that is grown for the specific purpose of cultivation, provided that the property is cut and 
baled at least twice every season; 
 
(3) Cultivated trees or shrubs;  
 
(4) Wildflowers, but only until such time as seeds have matured following the final blooming of 
the majority of the plants, but not later than July 1. 
 
(c) Persons owning, occupying or in control of occupied or unoccupied premises in the city shall 
maintain an “obstruction free zone” to maintain safe and unobstructed driving conditions for the 
traveling public.  An “obstruction free zone” is defined as an area from one to five feet in width 
from the edge of pavement that must be maintained at a height of twelve (12) inches or less for the 



City of Lucas 
Ordinance # 2022-08-00957 Amending Chapter 5 “Fire Prevention and Protection”, Chapter 6 “Health and Sanitation”, 
and Chapter 8 “Offenses and Nuisances” 
Approved:  September 1, 2022 
  5 

 

purpose of maintaining a sight triangle for the traveling public and removing tree and shrub limbs 
obstructing the right-of-way. 
 

(1) The exemptions in subparagraph (b) from maximum height of twelve (12) inches, does 
not include the “obstruction free zone.”   
 
(2)  The width of the “obstruction free zone” is based on the topography of the area and 
safety conditions.  The city manager or designee shall determine the width of “obstruction 
free zones.”   
 
(3) Trees on private property greater than three inches in diameter (measured at breast 
height) may be preserved in the “obstruction free zone.”  However, all trees on private 
property encroaching into the public right-of-way or easement at a height less than the local 
tree canopy of fourteen (14) feet shall be presumed to be a safety hazard and require 
trimming or removal. 
 

(d)  For purposes of this section, an agricultural crop is defined as a plant or plant product that can 
be grown and harvested extensively for profit or subsistence. 
 
Section 5. The Code of Ordinances of the City of Lucas, Texas, is hereby amended by 
amending Chapter 6 titled “Health and Sanitation,” Article 6.03 titled “High Grass and Weeds,” 
Section 6.03.005 titled “Penalty” to read as follows:  
 
Sec. 6.03.005 Penalty 
 
Any person firm, partnership, corporation or association violating any of the provisions of this 
article shall be deemed guilty of a misdemeanor and, upon conviction thereof, shall be fined in the 
sum of not more than two thousand dollars ($2,000.00) for each subject to a fine, upon conviction 
in the municipal court, of up to one hundred dollars ($100.00) for the first offense, two hundred 
fifty dollars ($250.00) for the second offense, and five hundred dollars ($500.00) for any 
subsequent offense; and each day such violation continues shall constitute a separate and distinct 
offense. Upon a first conviction, the fine shall not be less than one hundred dollars ($100.00). The 
minimum fine established in this section shall be doubled for the second conviction of the same 
offense within any twenty-four-month period and trebled for the third and subsequent convictions 
of the same offense within any twenty-four-month period. At no time shall the minimum fine 
exceed the maximum fine established in this section. Each and every day that the premises shall 
remain in a condition in violation of the terms of this article shall constitute a separate offense.  
 
Section 6. The Code of Ordinances of the City of Lucas, Texas, is hereby amended by 
amending Chapter 8 titled “Offenses and Nuisances,” Article 8.01 titled “General Provisions,” 
Section 8.01.001 titled “Obstructions in right-of-way” to read as follows:  
 



City of Lucas 
Ordinance # 2022-08-00957 Amending Chapter 5 “Fire Prevention and Protection”, Chapter 6 “Health and Sanitation”, 
and Chapter 8 “Offenses and Nuisances” 
Approved:  September 1, 2022 
  6 

 

 
Sec. 8.01.001 Obstructions in right-of-way. 
 
(a)     Duty of abutting property owners. All owners of real property abutting a public street or 
roadway within the city shall keep all rights-of-way or easements along, adjacent or contiguous to 
the public street or roadway clear of all obstructions that are a hazard to the operation of a motor 
vehicle or to pedestrians, including but not limited to weeds, tall grass, trees, shrubs or other 
vegetation more than eighteen (18) inches in height. It shall be unlawful and constitute an offense 
of a public nuisance for any person, firm, partnership, association, or corporation who shall own or 
occupy any lot or premises to suffer or permit weeds, grass or uncultivated plants other than trees 
and shrubs to grow to a greater height than twelve (12) inches on that portion of right-of-way which 
abuts such lot from the edge of the pavement to the property line. Except, however, rights-of-way 
meeting any of the following definitions shall not be the responsibility of the abutting owner or 
occupants: 
 
(1) Ditches with a slope greater than 3 to 1 as determined by the city manager or designee; 
 
(2) Rights-of-way which governmental entities other than the city have a contractual obligation to 
maintain; 
 
(3) Major arterial streets as determined by the city manager or designee; 
 
(4) Street medians; 
 
(5) Property owned in fee by the city. 
 
(b) Order to remove: removal by city. In addition to any other penalties provided in this code, 
upon a finding by the municipal court that any person, individual, corporation, firm or other 
property owner has violated a provision of subsection (a) of this section, said person, in lieu of a 
fine, may be ordered to remove the obstruction as specified in the foregoing subsection. In addition, 
the city may, at its option, give notice to a landowner in violation of this section that, if the 
obstructions are not removed within ten (10) days after the date the notice is served upon the 
landowner, the city will remove the obstructions at its cost and expense plus an administrative fee 
established in the master fee schedule shall be levied against said landowner, for which a lien may 
be attached in accordance with statutes of the state. 
 
Section 7. To the extent of any irreconcilable conflict with the provisions of this ordinance and 
other ordinances of the City of Lucas governing the use and development of the Property and which 
are not expressly amended by this ordinance, the provisions of this ordinance shall be controlling.  
 
Section 8. That all ordinances of the City of Lucas in conflict with the provisions of this 
Ordinance shall be, and same are hereby, repealed, provided, however, that all other provisions of 
said Ordinances are not in conflict herewith shall remain in full force and effect. 



City of Lucas 
Ordinance # 2022-08-00957 Amending Chapter 5 “Fire Prevention and Protection”, Chapter 6 “Health and Sanitation”, 
and Chapter 8 “Offenses and Nuisances” 
Approved:  September 1, 2022 
  7 

 

 
Section 9. That should any word, sentence, paragraph, subdivision, clause, phrase or section of 
this Ordinance or of the City of Lucas Code of Ordinances, as amended hereby, be adjudged or held 
to be voided or unconstitutional, the same shall not affect the validity of the remaining portions of 
said Ordinances or the City of Lucas Code of Ordinances, as amended hereby, which shall remain 
in full force and effect. 
 
Section 10. An offense committed before the effective date of the Ordinance is governed by prior 
law and the provisions of the City of Lucas Code of Ordinances in effect when the offense was 
committed and the former law is continued in effect for this purpose. 
 
Section 11. Any person violating any of the provisions of this ordinance shall be deemed guilty 
of a misdemeanor and upon conviction thereof shall be fined in a sum not to exceed Two Thousand 
Dollars ($2,000) and a separate offense shall be deemed committed upon each day during or on 
which a violation occurs or continues. 
 
Section 12. That this Ordinance shall take effect immediately from and after its passage and 
publication in accordance with the provisions of the Charter of the City of Lucas, and it is 
accordingly so ordained 
 
DULY PASSED AND APPROVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF LUCAS, 
COLLIN COUNTY, TEXAS, ON THIS 1ST DAY OF SEPTEMBER, 2022. 
 

APPROVED: 
 
 
      __________________________________________ 
      Kathleen Peele, Mayor Pro Tem Peele  
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM:   ATTEST: 
 
 
______________________________ __________________________________________ 
Joseph J. Gorfida, Jr., City Attorney  Kevin Becker, Management Analyst 
 
 



Item No. 04  
 
 
 

 

City of Lucas 
City Council Agenda Request 

September 1, 2022 
 

Requester: Finance Director Liz Exum 
 
Agenda Item Request  
 
Public hearing to consider the budget for Fiscal Year 2022-2023. 
 
Background Information  
 
The proposed budget was presented and discussed at the Budget Workshop on July 21, 2022 and 
City Council meeting on August 18, 2022. This budget was prepared using the certified assessed 
valuation from Collin County Appraisal District and the calculated De Minimis tax rate of 
$0.268016 from the Collin County Tax Assessor-Collector. The proposed budget for fiscal year 
2022-2023 shows the total operating excess revenues over expenditures in the amount of $12,615 
($1,422 in General Fund and $11,193 in Water Fund). 
 
The adoption of Ordinance 2022-09-00958 approving the budget for fiscal year 2022-2023 is 
during Agenda Item 7 in this City Council agenda packet. 
  
Attachments/Supporting Documentation  
 
1. Detailed Proposed Budget for Fiscal Year 2022-2023 
2. Notice of Public Hearing 
 
Budget/Financial Impact  
 
The financial impact for the proposed budget is varied and is outlined in detail to be reviewed 
and discussed.  
 
Recommendation  
 
NA 
 
Motion  
 
NA 



City of Lucas, Texas 

Annual Operating Budget for 

   Fiscal Year 2022-2023 

This budget will raise more revenue from property taxes than 
last year's budget by an amount of $393,833,  which is a 9.76%
percent increase from last year's budget. The property tax 

revenue to be raised from new property added to the tax roll this 
year is $222,124.

The members of the governing body voted on the budget as follows: 

FOR: 

AGAINST: 

PRESENT and not voting: 

ABSENT:  

Property Tax Rate Comparison 2022-2023 2021-2022 

  Proposed property tax rate: $0.268016/100 $0.288397/100 

  No-new-revenue tax rate: $0.255432/100 $0.288397/100 

  No-new revenue maintenance & operations tax rate: $0.165560/100 $0.184558/100 

  Voter-approval tax rate: $0.248823/100 $0.293671/100 

  Debt rate: $0.072195/100 $0.102654/100 

Total debt obligation for City of Lucas secured by property taxes: $1,360,608



City of Lucas 

Annual Operating Budget 
Fiscal Year 2022-2023 

 
 

 
 

 
 
City Councilmembers 
 
Mayor Jim Olk 
Mayor Pro Tem Kathleen Peele  
Councilmember David Keer 
Councilmember Tim Baney 
Councilmember Tim Johnson 
Councilmember Phil Lawrence 
Councilmember Debbie Fisher  
 
 

 
 
City Manager Joni Clarke 
Finance Director Liz Exum 



OVERVIEW

Organizational Chart Page 1

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

Total Funds Budget Overview Pages 2-3
General Fund Balance Summary Page 4
Water Fund Balance Summary Page 5
Capital Fund Summary Page 6
Impact/Development Fee Summary Page 7
Tax Revenue Comparisons Page 8

OPERATING BUDGET

GENERAL FUND:

General Fund Revenue Summary Chart Page 9
General Fund Departmental Expenditures Chart Page 10
Revenue Pages 11-12
City Council Page 13
City Secretary Page 14
Administration/Finance Page 15
Public Works - Engineering Page 16
Public Works - Operations Page 17
Parks Page 18
Development Services Page 19
Fire Department Page 20-21
Non-Departmental Page 22

CAPITAL FUND:

Capital Improvements Revenue Summary Page 23
Capital Improvements - Water and General Fund Page 24

WATER FUND:

Water Fund Revenue Summary Chart Page 25
Water Fund Expenditures Summary Chart Page 26
Revenue Page 27
Water Page 28-29
Water  - Engineering Page 30
Water Debt Service Page 31

DEBT SERVICE FUND:

Debt Service Summary Page 32

Tax Rate Calculation Page 33-41

TABLE OF CONTENTS



City Council

City Manager
City Secretary 

• Municipal Court

Legal
• City Attorney
• Municipal Judge

Finance
• Purchasing
• Accounting
• Budget
• Auditing
• Financial

Reporting
• Utility Billing

Administration 
• Human Resource
• Payroll/Benefits
• Employment Law
• Executive Admin

Support
• Special Projects/

Events

Development 
Services 

• Building Services
• Code Enforcement
• Facility

Maintenance
• Permitting

Fire-Rescue
• Fire Suppression
• EMS
• Prevention /

Outreach
• Emergency

Management

Public 
Works/Engineering
• Water
• Streets
• Drainage
• CIP
• GIS
• Public Works

Operations

City of Lucas
Organizational Chart

Citizens of Lucas

Page 1



2020-2021 2021-2022 2021-2022 2022-2023
FISCAL YEAR ORIGINAL AMENDED FISCAL YEAR

ACTUAL BUDGET BUDGET BUDGET

GENERAL FUND
PROPERTY TAXES 2,797,218      2,850,032 2,925,353           3,526,440         
OTHER TAXES 1,899,336      1,801,200 2,158,015           2,168,642         
FINES & FORFEITURES 1,430 1,430 672 91 
LICENSES & PERMITS 855,059         599,370 696,132 660,860            
FIRE DEPARTMENT REVENUE 1,054,296      1,011,330 1,140,484           1,181,462         
FEES & SERVICE CHARGES 13,021           72,800 32,706 46,800 
MISCELLANEOUS REVENUES 726,111         564,989 564,014 432,735            
GF RESERVE FUNDING (USE OF) (215,000)        50,000 1,144,712           250,000            

TOTAL GENERAL FUND REVENUE 7,131,470      6,951,151 8,662,088           8,267,030         

WATER UTILITIES FUND
FEES & SERVICE CHARGES 5,276,530      5,253,061 6,418,450           5,526,295         
MISCELLANEOUS REVENUES 71,427           17,600 77,212 17,600 

TOTAL WATER UTILITIES FUND REVENUE 5,347,957      5,270,661 6,495,662           5,543,895         

DEBT SERVICE FUND
PROPERTY TAXES/RESERVE FUNDING 1,813,338      1,595,226 1,620,375           1,360,608         

TOTAL DEBT SERVICE FUND REVENUE 1,813,338      1,595,226 1,620,375           1,360,608         

COMBINED REVENUE OPERATIONS 14,292,765    13,817,038            16,778,125         15,171,533      

EXPENDITURES

GENERAL FUND
CITY COUNCIL 22,936           33,580 33,580 33,580 
CITY SEC 158,603         176,685 232,408 267,127            
ADMIN/FINANCE 630,970         697,841 723,459 727,417            
DEVELOPMENT SERVICES 420,317         470,984 520,867 511,605            
PUBLIC WORKS - ENGINEERING 873,611         1,203,633 2,209,676           1,248,219         
PUBLIC WORKS 281,595         394,069 398,442 692,448            
PARKS 190,303         213,560 206,760 230,000            
FIRE 2,280,639      3,096,049 3,268,230           3,088,888         
NON-DEPARTMENTAL 584,148         640,091 868,615 1,466,324         

TOTAL  GENERAL FUND EXPENDITURES 5,443,124      6,926,492 8,462,037           8,265,608         

WATER UTILITIES FUND
WATER UTILITIES 3,818,249      4,123,499 4,225,105           4,766,550         
WATER - ENGINEERING 235,324         255,843 321,191 196,003            

TOTAL  WATER FUND EXPENDITURES 4,053,574      4,379,342 4,546,296           4,962,553         

DEBT SERVICE
 WATER UTILITIES 834,893         672,736 672,681 570,149            
 GENERAL FUND 1,812,057      1,595,227 1,595,098           1,360,608         

TOTAL DEBT SERVICE 2,646,950      2,267,963 2,267,779           1,930,756         

TOTAL EXPENDITURES OPERATING 12,143,647    13,573,797            15,276,112         15,158,917      

NET REVENUE LESS EXPENDITURES - OPERATING 2,149,118      243,242 1,502,013            12,615

REVENUE SUMMARY

Page 2 8/19/2022



2020-2021 2021-2022 2021-2022 2022-2023
FISCAL YEAR ORIGINAL AMENDED FISCAL YEAR

ACTUAL BUDGET BUDGET BUDGET

REVENUE SUMMARYSUMMARY BY FUND

  GENERAL FUND
     REVENUE 7,131,470      6,951,151              8,662,088           8,267,030         
     EXPENDITURES 5,443,124      6,926,492              8,462,037           8,265,608         
NET REVENUE LESS EXPENDITURES 1,688,346      24,659                   200,051              1,422                 

WATER UTILITIES FUND
     REVENUE 5,347,957      5,270,661              6,495,662           5,543,895         
     EXPENDITURES 4,053,574      4,379,342              4,546,296           4,962,553         
     DEBT SERVICE 834,893         672,736                 672,681              570,149            
NET REVENUE LESS EXPENDITURES 459,490         218,583                 1,276,685           11,193              

DEBT SERVICE FUND-GENERAL
     REVENUE 1,813,338      1,595,226              1,620,375           1,360,608         
     EXPENDITURES 1,812,057      1,595,226              1,595,098           1,360,608         
NET REVENUE LESS EXPENDITURES 1,281              -                              25,277                -                         

NET REVENUE LESS EXPENDITURES - OPERATING 2,149,118      243,242                 1,502,013           12,615              

Page 3 8/19/2022



CITY OF LUCAS ANNUAL BUDGET
FISCAL YEAR 2022-2023

FUND SUMMARIES - GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

COMBINED SUMMARY OF REVENUES AND EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE

DEVELOPERS
DEBT CAPITAL BROCKDALE IMPACT FEES IMPACT TOTAL

GENERAL SERVICE IMPROVEMENTS ROAD IMPROV (LOGAN FORD/5 OAKS) FEES GOVERNMENTAL 

9,285,496                   1,178,589                   5,919,500                    -                                    127,600                             1,359,253                    17,870,438                   

PROPERTY TAXES 3,526,440                   1,192,849                   4,719,289                     
OTHER TAXES 2,168,642                   2,168,642                     
FINES & FORFEITURES 91                                91                                  
LICENSES & PERMITS 660,860                       660,860                         
FIRE DEPARTMENT REVENUE 1,181,462                   1,181,462                     
FEES & SERVICE CHARGES 46,800                         46,800                           
MISCELLANEOUS REVENUES 432,735                       6,000                           -                                    438,735                         
IMPACT FEE REVENUE (11-4500) 404,400                       404,400                         
TRANSFER IN CAPTIAL OUTLAY RESERVE 250,000                       -                                    250,000                         

TOTAL REVENUES 8,267,030                   1,192,849                   6,000                           -                                    404,400                       9,870,279                     

EXPENDITURES

CITY COUNCIL 33,580                         33,580                           
CITY SEC 267,127                       267,127                         
ADMIN/FINANCE 727,417                       727,417                         
DEVELOPMENT SERVICES 511,605                       511,605                         
PUBLIC WORKS 692,448                       692,448                         
PUBLIC WORKS - ENGINEERING 1,248,219                   1,248,219                     
PARKS 230,000                       230,000                         
FIRE 3,088,888                   3,088,888                     
NON-DEPARTMENTAL 1,466,324                   1,466,324                     
DEBT SERVICE PRINCIPAL 920,000                       920,000                         
DEBT SERVICE INTEREST/BOND EXP 440,608                       440,608                         
BROCKDALE ROAD MAINT. -                                    -                                     
CAPITAL ROADWAY PROJECTS -                                    -                                    -                                     

TOTAL  EXPENDITURES 8,265,608                   1,360,608                   -                                    -                                    -                                    9,626,216                     

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE 1,422                           (167,759)                     6,000                           -                                    404,400                       244,064                         

ENDING FUND BALANCE 9,286,918                   1,010,830                   5,925,500                    -                                    127,600                             1,763,653                    18,114,502                   
 
MINUS RESTRICTIONS AND TRANSFERS

IMPACT FEES (1,763,653)                   (1,763,653)                    

BROCKDALE ROAD IMPROVEMENTS -                                     

RESTRICTED FOR CAPITAL - GENERAL FUND -                                     
DEBT SERVICE PAYMENTS (1,010,830)                  (1,010,830)                    
3RD PARTY (DEVELOPER) IMPACT FEES RESTRICTED (LOGAN FORD/5 OAKS) (127,600)                            (127,600)                       
CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PROJECTS (5,925,500)                   (5,925,500)                    

UNASSIGNED FUND BALANCE 9,286,918                   -                                   -                                    -                                    -                                          -                                    9,286,918                     

TOTAL AMOUNT OF RESERVES PRIOR TO GASB 54 REQUIREMENT 9,286,918                   -                                   -                                    -                                    -                                          -                                    9,286,918                     

AMOUNT IN DAYS OPERATING COST 404                              404                                
AMOUNT IN MONTHS OPERATING COST 13.5 13.5

RESERVES FOR GASB 54 FUND BALANCE POLICY 
(50% OF CURRENT YR EXPENDITURES IN GENERAL FUND) (4,132,804)                  (4,132,804)                    

TOTAL RESERVES AFTER GASB 54 REQUIREMENTS 5,154,114                   5,154,114                     

AMOUNT IN DAYS OPERATING COST 224                              224                                
AMOUNT IN MONTHS OPERATING COST 7.5 7.5

Page 4 8/19/2022



CITY OF LUCAS ANNUAL BUDGET
FISCAL YEAR 2022-2023

FUND SUMMARIES - PROPRIETARY 

COMBINED SUMMARY OF REVENUES AND EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE

CAPITAL IMPACT /DEVELOP TOTAL
WATER IMPROVEMENTS FEES PROPRIETARY

BEGINNING BALANCE RESTRICTED/UNRESTRICTED 7,364,656$                  1,473,025                    -                                     8,837,681                      

WATER REVENUE 4,601,061                    4,601,061                      
WASTE WATER REVENUE 66,000                         66,000                            
TRASH REVENUE 859,234                       859,234                         
MISCELLANEOUS REVENUES 17,600                         17,600                            
REFUND NTMWD CAPITAL -                                      
DEVELOPERS FEES - SEWER -                                    -                                      
IMPACT FEES 250,000                        250,000                         
TRANSFER IN IMPACT FEES 250,000                        250,000                         
TRANSFER IN FUND BALANCE - WATER -                                      

TOTAL REVENUES 5,543,895                    250,000                        250,000                        6,043,895                      

EXPENDITURES

WATER 3,970,690                    3,970,690                      
TRASH 747,160                       747,160                         
WASTEWATER 48,700                         48,700                            
DEBT SERVICE PRINCIPAL 410,000                       410,000                         
DEBT SERVICE INTEREST/BOND EXP 160,149                       160,149                         
WATER - ENGINEERING 196,003                       196,003                         
TRANSFER OUT TO FUND WATER PROJECT -                                     -                                      
TRANSFER OUT TO FUND WATER PROJECT 250,000                        250,000                         
CAPITAL PROJECTS WF -                                      

-                                      

TOTAL  EXPENDITURES 5,532,702                    -                                     250,000                        5,782,702                      

NET CHANGE IN BALANCE 11,193                         250,000                        -                                     261,193                         

ENDING BALANCE 7,375,849                    1,723,025                    -                                     9,098,874                      
 
MINUS RESTRICTED FOR:

CAPITAL IMPROVEMENTS - PROJECTS (1,723,025)                   (1,723,025)                     
TRSF TO CAPITAL FROM RESERVES APPROVED WITH 2017 CO FUNDING (63,483)                        (63,483)                          
UNASSIGNED FUND BALANCE 7,312,366                    -                                -                                     7,312,366                      

TOTAL AMOUNT OF RESERVES PRIOR TO GASB 54 REQUIREMENT 7,312,366                    -                                     -                                     7,312,366                      

AMOUNT IN DAYS OPERATING COST 514                               514                                 
AMOUNT IN MONTHS OPERATING COST 17.1 17.1426,891.81                                                                                                                       

RESERVES FOR GASB 54 FUND BALANCE POLICY
(50% OF CURRENT YR EXPENDITURES IN WATER FUND) (2,561,351)                   (2,561,351)                     

TOTAL RESERVES AFTER  GASB 54 REQUIREMENTS 4,751,015                    -                                     -                                     4,751,015                      

AMOUNT IN DAYS OPERATING COST 334                               334                                 
AMOUNT IN MONTHS OPERATING COST 11.1 11.1

Page 5 8/19/2022



2022-2023

CAPITAL WATER PROJECTS:

TOTAL WF PROJECTS FY 21/22 0

PROJECT FUNDING - WATER:

TOTAL WATER PROJECT FUNDING 0

CAPITAL ROADWAY AND GF PROJECTS:

WEST LUCAS ROAD PROJECT (21-8210-491-136) 0
TOTAL GF PROJECTS FY 22/23** 0

PROJECT FUNDING - GENERAL FUND:

TOTAL GENERAL FUND PROJECT FUNDING 0

TOTAL CAPITAL PROJECTS FY 22/23** 0

                Ongoing Capital Project Budget Balances from FY 2021-2022 will be brought to Council for
                reallocation after the completion of the FY 2021-2022 audit to properly reflect outstanding budget 
                balances to carry forward for FY 2022-2023.

FISCAL YEAR BUDGET
CAPITAL FUND SUMMARY

**NOTE:

Page 6 8/19/2022



2021-2022 2022-2023
2020-2021 AMENDED FISCAL YEAR

ACTUAL BUDGET BUDGET

GENERAL FUND:

Beginning Balance General Fund (Restricted) 2,501,330                          1,417,318                  1,486,853                

Revenue

Roadway Impact Fees(11-4500) 459,118                              470,000                     400,000                   
Roadway Fees Improv Brockdale(11-4989) 153,999                              61,562                       4,400                        
Contrib. Roadway Maint. Brockdale(11-4990) -                                           -                                  -                                 
Total Revenues 613,117                              531,562                     404,400                   

Expenditures

Capital Projects Roadways 1,157,602                          400,465                     -                                 
Brockdale Road Rehabilitation 539,527                              61,562                       -                                 
Brockdale Road Maint. -                                           -                                 
Total Expenditures 1,697,129                          462,027                     -                                 
Total General Fund Restricted Impact Fees & 3rd Party 1,417,318                          1,486,853                  1,891,253                

Restricted for Devel Logan Ford/Five Oaks/Lakeview Downs 127,600                              127,600                     127,600                   
Restricted for Brockdale Road Maint. -                                 
Restricted for Brockdale Capital Improvements -                                           -                                  

Total 3rd Party Restricted 127,600                              127,600                     127,600                   

General Fund Ending Bal Impact Fees (Restricted for Roads) 1,289,718                          1,359,253                  1,763,653                

Total General Fund Restricted Impact Fees & 3rd Party 1,417,318                          1,486,853                  1,891,253                

WATER FUND:

Beginning Balance - Water Fund (5,646,196)                         (5,646,196)                

Revenue

Water Impact Fees (51-4500) 385,448                              250,000                     250,000                   
-                                  

Total Revenues 385,448                              250,000                     250,000                   

Expenditures

Capital Projects- Water -                                 

Total Expenditures -                                           -                                  -                                 

Revenues less Expenditures 385,448                              250,000                     250,000                   

Water Fund ending balance to apply toward impact fees (5,646,196)                         (5,396,196)                250,000                   

Impact/Development Fee Summary

Page 7 8/19/2022



Property tax is by far the largest source of revenue in the City of Lucas General Fund.

Property tax is collected by Collin County and distributed to the City. The City's property 

tax is budgeted at a rate of .268016 for 2022. This tax rate is the "De Minimis" Rate

 - below is a table depicting the recent history of the City of Lucas property tax rate.

Tax Year M&O I&S Total

2006 0.248146 0.126854 0.375000

2007 0.244260 0.130740 0.375000

2008 0.250509 0.123668 0.374177

2009 0.252040 0.122137 0.374177

2010 0.247231 0.126946 0.374177

2011 0.257723 0.116454 0.374177

2012 0.261218 0.112959 0.374177

2013 0.254005 0.101611 0.355616

2014 0.233068 0.087593 0.320661

2015 0.215514 0.105147 0.320661

2016 0.230371 0.087577 0.317948

2017 0.198695 0.119253 0.317948

2018 0.202346 0.100870 0.303216

2019 0.184515 0.118701 0.303216

2020 0.190846 0.108949 0.299795

2021 0.185743 0.102654 0.288397

2022 0.195821 0.072195 0.268016 Projected

As you can see in the chart below, the property tax rate for the City of Lucas 

is very favorable in comparison to other cities within the area.

City M&O I&S Total

Sachse 0.506527 0.194207 0.700734

Farmersville 0.464574 0.247470 0.712044

Wylie 0.491864 0.151887 0.643751

Princeton 0.377315 0.225234 0.602549

Celina 0.429385 0.215615 0.645000

Melissa 0.431031 0.137126 0.568157

Anna 0.452631 0.116869 0.569500

Prosper 0.328000 0.182000 0.510000

Murphy 0.310185 0.184815 0.495000

Allen 0.368756 0.101244 0.470000

Parker 0.331870 0.034114 0.365984

Fairview 0.245536 0.100044 0.345580

Lucas 0.185743 0.102654 0.288397

Fiscal Year 2021 Tax Rates

CITY OF LUCAS PROPERTY TAX RATES

Page 8 8/19/2022



Page 9 8/19/2022



Page 10 8/19/2022



11 -GENERAL FUND 2020-2021 2021-2022 2021-2022 2022-2023
FISCAL YEAR ORIGINAL AMENDED FISCAL YEAR

REVENUE ACTUAL BUDGET BUDGET BUDGET DESCRIPTION

4011         PROPERTY TAXES 2,776,667         2,835,032        2,911,146         3,511,440         (DeMinimis rate M&O .195821)
4012         PROPERTY TAXES-DEL. 5,968                 5,000                2,757                 5,000                 
4015         PROPERTY TAXES-P&I 14,583              10,000              11,450               10,000              

TOTAL PROPERTY TAXES 2,797,218         2,850,032        2,925,353         3,526,440         

OTHER TAXES

4101         SALES TAX 1,006,902         960,000           1,160,000         1,180,000                                      
4101-100 SALES TAX  STREETS 504,963            450,000           575,000             590,000            
4102         FRANCHISE-ELECTRICAL 320,757            330,000           343,842             330,000            
4103         FRANCHISE-TELEPHONE 471                    -                         -                          
4104         FRANCHISE-CABLE 26,787              28,000              23,145               20,442              
4105         FRANCHISE-GAS 36,583              30,000              53,507               45,000              

4106         FRANCHISE-CABLE PEG 2,873                 3,200                2,521                 3,200                 

TOTAL OTHER TAXES 1,899,336         1,801,200        2,158,015         2,168,642         

FINES & FORFEITURES

4202         COURT TECHNOLOGY FUND 20                      20                     8                         4                        
4203         COURT SECURITY FUND 15                      15                     10                       5                        
4204         COURT COST-CITY 20                      20                     10                       5                        
4205         FINES 1,160                 1,160                510                     10                      
4206         COURT COST-STATE 160                    160                   124                     62                      
4208         STATE JURY FEE 20                      20                     
4212         JUDICIAL FEES-STATE 25                      25                     
4213         JUDICIAL FEES-CITY 2                        2                        
4218         INDIGENT DEFENSE FEE 8                        8                        
4220         OTHER COURT FINES & FEES 10                       5                        

TOTAL FINES & FORFEITURES 1,430                 1,430                672                     91                      

LICENSES & PERMITS

4301         GEN CONTRACTOR REG. 18,000              20,000              14,220               20,000              
4361         ZONING REQUEST 1,350                 1,200                700                     1,200                 
4362         SPECIFIC USE PERMITS 1,800                 1,350                2,250                 1,350                 
4363         VARIANCE REQUEST 1,350                 900                   900                     900                    
4365         BLDG PERMITS-RESIDENTIAL 572,587            380,000           415,568             405,000            
4367         BLDG PERMITS-ACC. 24,255              20,000              28,018               20,000              
4368         BLDG PERMITS-REMODEL 7,711                 7,500                15,125               7,500                 
4369         BLDG PERMITS-COMM. 33,576              20,000              36,215               35,000              
4371         ELECTRICAL PERMITS 5,300                 2,200                8,300                 4,000                 
4372         PLUMBING PERMITS 6,510                 5,000                7,210                 5,000                 
4373         HEATING & A/C PERMITS 2,350                 1,200                2,520                 1,800                 
4374         FENCE PERMITS 4,950                 6,000                4,800                 6,000                 
4375         SWIMMING POOL PERMITS 30,145              25,000              28,250               25,000              
4376         WEIGHT LIMIT PERMITS 89,900              60,000              77,800               70,000              
4377         ROOF PERMITS 900                    -                         -                          2,100                 
4378         SPRINKLER SYST PERMITS 6,325                 1,000                6,500                 7,000                 
4379         DRIVEWAY PERMIT 1,440                 1,000                840                     490                    
4380         SIGN PERMIT 2,045                 2,000                755                     2,000                 
4382         STORM WATER MGMT PERMIT 8,210                 6,500                8,058                 7,000                 
4384         SOLICITATION PERMIT -                         120                   30                       120                    
4390         PLANNED DEVELOPMENT 810                    -                         
4395         HEALTH SERVICE PERMITS 5,000                 7,200                6,300                 8,200                 
4398         MISC LICENSES & PERMITS 1,550                 1,200                1,750                 1,200                 
4611         FIRE SPRINKLER PERMIT 28,995              30,000              30,023               30,000              

TOTAL LICENSES & PERMITS 855,059            599,370           696,132             660,860            

FIRE DEPARTMENT REVENUE
4612         COUNTY FIRE DISTRICT 3,687                 -                         4,003                 
4613         SEIS LAGOS INTERLOCAL 442,955            453,230           453,230             489,812            
4614         AMBULANCE SERVICES 107,271            100,000           106,515             100,000            
4615         LISD EMS SERVICE 2,184                 8,100                1,736                 1,650                 

Page 11 8/19/2022



11 -GENERAL FUND 2020-2021 2021-2022 2021-2022 2022-2023
FISCAL YEAR ORIGINAL AMENDED FISCAL YEAR

REVENUE ACTUAL BUDGET BUDGET BUDGET DESCRIPTION

4999         FIRE DISTRICT TRANSFER IN 498,199            450,000           575,000             590,000            

TOTAL FIRE DEPARTMENT REVENUE 1,054,296         1,011,330        1,140,484         1,181,462         

FEES & SERVICE CHARGES

4424         PLAT & REPLAT FEES 6,761                 8,500                7,556                 8,500                 

4425         RE-INSPECTION FEES 5,950                 4,000                6,200                 6,000                 

4426         FEES-BUILDING PROJECTS 310                    7,300                6,650                 7,300                 

4427         PUBLIC IMPRV/3% INSPEC -                         53,000              12,300               25,000              
4497         PUBLIC INFO. REQUESTS -                         -                          
4498         MISC. FEES & CHARGES -                         

TOTAL FEES & SERVICE CHARGES 13,021              72,800              32,706               46,800              

MISCELLANEOUS REVENUE
4911         INTEREST INCOME 16,942              18,000              40,049               24,000              
4914         INSURANCE CLAIM REIMB 3,995                 -                         5,817                 
4915         CHILD SAFETY INCOME 7,978                 6,900                6,900                 8,000                 
4916         CREDIT CARD REVENUE 36,537              30,000              50,000               48,000              Increase in credit card payments
4917         CERT APP FEE BERR $ WINE 60                      -                         -                          
4918         PERMIT FEE BEER & WINE -                         -                         145                     145                    
4920         FARMER MARKET EVENT FEE 4,100                 -                         5,200                 5,200                 
4931         RENTAL INCOME 93,120              85,800              86,374               
4980         PARK DEDICATION FEES -                         134,000           8,000                 55,000              
4981         FACILITY RENTAL 1,625                 -                         1,650                 800                    

4985         GRANT REVENUES 17,380              12,500              18,483               12,500              FD Training Grants
4986         DONATIONS -                         -                         -                          
4987         AMERICAN RESCUE PLAN ACT (ARPA)* -                         -                          ARPA Revenue recognition requires funding

to remain in deferred revenue until eligible

expenditures have been incurred - GASB 33

4990         BROCKDALE RD MAINT -                         -                         

4991         STREET ASSESSMENTS 2,750                 -                         2,100                 
4992         SALE OF ASSETS 250,914            -                         -                          
4995         REIMBURSEMENTS -                         -                         -                          
4997         MISCELLANEOUS 6,355                 -                         -                          
4998         PILOT TRANSFER IN 284,355            277,789           339,296             279,090            

TOTAL MISCELLANEOUS REVENUE 726,111            564,989           564,014             432,735            

4996        GF RESERVES (USE OF) (215,000)           50,000              1,144,712         250,000 Capital Outlay Reserve funding for
P Works Backhoe/Vactron/Truck

***TOTAL REVENUES*** 7,131,470         6,951,151        8,662,088         8,267,030         

Page 12 8/19/2022



11 -GENERAL FUND 2020-2021 2021-2022 2021-2022 2022-2023
CITY COUNCIL FISCAL YEAR ORIGINAL AMENDED FISCAL YEAR
DEPARTMENTAL EXPENDITURES ACTUAL BUDGET BUDGET BUDGET

PERSONNEL SERVICES
6100-112     WORKERS' COMPENSATION 46                             70                     70                     70                 
6100-127     MEDICARE 135                           220                   220                   220               
6100-468     CITY COUNCIL FEES 9,340                        9,000               9,000                9,000           

TOTAL PERSONNEL SERVICES 9,521                        9,290               9,290                9,290           

MATERIALS & SUPPLIES

6100-201     OFFICE SUPPLIES -                                1,000               1,000                1,000           
6100-204     FOOD/BEVERAGE 1,716                        1,500               1,500                1,500           
6100-205     LOGO/UNIFORM -                                -                        -                         
6100-210     COMPUTER SUPPLIES 299                           350                   350                   350               
6100-222     AUDIO/VISUAL 4,256                        1,000               1,000                1,000           

TOTAL MATERIALS & SUPPLIES 6,272                        3,850               3,850                3,850           

PURCHASED SERVICES:
6100-307     TRAINING & TRAVEL 395                           3,500               3,500                3,500           
6100-309     PROFESSIONAL SERVICES -                                -                        -                         

TOTAL PURCHASED SERVICES 395                           3,500               3,500                3,500           

GENERAL & ADMINISTRATIVE SERVICES
6100-441     APPRECIATION/AWARDS 6,730                        5,000               5,000                5,000           See Detail Listing

TOTAL GENERAL & ADMIN SERVICES 6,730                        5,000               5,000                5,000           

NON-CAPITAL EXPENSE
6100-451    SOFTWARE, BOOKS, & CDS 18                             11,940             11,940              11,940         See Comprehensive IT Schedule
6100-452    HARDWARE & TELECOM -                        
6100-411    FURNITURE & EQUIPMENT -                        

TOTAL NON-CAPITAL EXPENSE 18                             11,940             11,940              11,940         

TOTAL CITY COUNCIL 22,936                     33,580             33,580              33,580         

DESCRIPTION

Page 13 8/19/2022



11 -GENERAL FUND 2020-2021 2021-2022 2021-2022 2022-2023
CITY SECRETARY FISCAL YEAR ORIGINAL AMENDED FISCAL YEAR
DEPARTMENTAL EXPENDITURES ACTUAL BUDGET BUDGET BUDGET

PERSONNEL SERVICES
6110-101     SALARIES - EXEMPT 80,994             81,921             104,778         135,824       Includes Management Analyst Position
6110-105     SALARIES - COLA -                        1,868               -                      
6110-112     WORKERS' COMPENSATION 181                  275                  341                 416               Includes Management Analyst Position
6110-113     LONGEVITY PAY 276                  328                  348                 420               Includes Management Analyst Position
6110-122     TMRS 10,410             10,358             13,300           16,800         Includes Management Analyst Position

Rate Decrease 12.57% to 12.24%
6110-123     GROUP INSURANCE 9,872               10,716             15,181           23,760         Includes Management Analyst Position
6110-127     MEDICARE 1,179               1,190               1,508             1,970            Includes Management Analyst Position
6110-129     LT DISABILITY 139                  250                  316                 407               Includes Management Analyst Position
6110-133     TELEPHONE ALLOWANCE 590                  600                  850                 1,200            

TOTAL PERSONNEL SERVICES 103,640          107,506          136,622         180,797       

MATERIALS & SUPPLIES
6110-201     OFFICE SUPPLIES 1,004               1,100               1,100             1,700            

6110-204     FOOD/BEVERAGE -                        100                  100                 100               

6110-210     COMPUTER SUPPLIES -                        50                    50                   100               

6110-238     PRINTING & COPYING 13,467             22,800             22,800           22,800         
6110-239     RECORDS MANAGEMENT 3,209               4,500               31,107           1,500            

TOTAL MATERIALS & SUPPLIES 17,679             28,550             55,157           26,200         

PURCHASED SERVICES
6110-305     SOFTWARE SUPPORT & MAINT. 7,532               9,594               9,594             24,200         See Detail Listing
6110-306     ADVERTISING/PUBLIC NOTICES 15,569             14,300             14,300           14,300         
6110-307     TRAINING & TRAVEL 390                  1,750               1,750             2,510            See Travel & Training Plan
6110-309     PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 5,265               5,500               5,500             6,000            Codification - Franklin
6110-323     CELL PHONE -                        -                        -                      

6110-349     FILING FEES 1,320               2,200               2,200             2,200            

TOTAL PURCHASED SERVICES 30,076             33,344             33,344           49,210         

GENERAL & ADMINISTRATIVE SERVICES
6110-443     DUES/LICENSES 175                  185                  185                 820               See Detail Listing
6110-445     ELECTIONS 6,979               6,000               6,000             6,000            See Detail Listing
6110-451     SOFTWARE, BOOKS & CD'S 54                    1,100               1,100             1,100            

TOTAL GENERAL & ADMIN SERVICES 7,208               7,285               7,285             7,920            

NON-CAPITAL EXPENSE
6110-411 FURNITURE & FIXTURES -                        -                      3,000            See Detail Listing
6110-452 HARDWARE  TELECOM -                        -                      

TOTAL NON-CAPITAL EXPENSE -                        -                        -                      3,000            

TOTAL CITY SECRETARY 158,603          176,685          232,408         267,127       

DESCRIPTION

Page 14 8/19/2022



11 -GENERAL FUND 2020-2021 2021-2022 2021-2022 2022-2023
ADMINISTRATION & FINANCE FISCAL YEAR ORIGINAL AMENDED FISCAL YEAR
DEPARTMENTAL EXPENDITURES ACTUAL BUDGET BUDGET BUDGET

PERSONNEL SERVICES
6200-101     SALARIES - EXEMPT  269,277        278,250                291,891           294,168           City Manager & Finance Director

Split 50/50 with Water Fund
6200-102     SALARIES - NON-EXEMPT 90,308          93,963                  98,782             98,786              
6200-105     SALARIES - COLA -                     6,664                    -                        
6200-111     OVERTIME 702                1,900                    1,900               1,900                
6200-112     WORKERS' COMP  740                1,125                    1,125               1,233                
6200-113     LONGEVITY PAY  1,540            1,964                    1,964               2,028                
6200-122     TMRS   46,397          47,600                  49,982             48,842              Rate Decrease 12.57% to 12.24%
6200-123     GROUP INSURANCE   52,799          53,630                  53,630             59,400              
6200-127     MEDICARE  5,259            5,450                    5,719               5,870                
6200-129     LT DISABILITY 540                1,000                    1,000               1,209                
6200-133     TELEPHONE ALLOWANCE 2,040            2,100                    2,100               2,100                
6200-141     CAR ALLOWANCE  2,400            2,400                    2,400               2,400                

TOTAL PERSONNEL SERVICES 472,001        496,046               510,493          517,936           

MATERIALS & SUPPLIES
6200-201     OFFICE SUPPLIES 4,343            6,000                    6,000               6,000                
6200-202     POSTAGE 1,398            1,700                    1,700               1,700                Split between water and general funds
6200-204     FOOD/BEVERAGE 2,151            2,200                    2,200               2,200                
6200-205     LOGO/UNIFORM ALLOWANCE 153                800                        800                   800                   
6200-210     COMPUTER SUPPLIES 350                        350                   350                   

TOTAL MATERIALS & SUPPLIES 8,044            11,050                  11,050             11,050             

PURCHASED SERVICES:
6200-302     AUDITING & ACCOUNTING 10,806          13,000                  13,000             14,000              Split 50/50 with Water Fund
6200-305     SOFTWARE SUPPORT/MAINT 15,494          19,110                  19,110             20,066              Incode Maintenance
6200-307     TRAINING & TRAVEL 8,625            10,795                  10,795             13,375              See Travel & Training Plan
6200-309     PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 2,759            3,000                    3,000               3,000                $3K Debt Disclosure SAMCO
6200-313     MAINTENANCE AGREEMENTS 5,981            6,160                    6,160               6,660                Konica Copier(Split 50/50 water fund)

Increase in copy usage
6200-318     TAX COLLECTION 2,368            3,000                    3,000               3,000                Increase in properties for tax collecting
6200-319     CENTRAL APPRAISAL FEE 29,258          36,000                  32,171             34,137              Increase in properties appraised
6200-321     STATE COMPTROLLER (COURT FEES) -                     300                        300                   300                   
6200-322     CONTRACTS 2,700            7,600                    7,600               7,600                Cost of municipal judge
6200-323     CELL PHONE 522                600                        600                   600                   
6200-324     INMATE BOARDING 750                        750                   750                   
6200-325     LIABILITY INSURANCE 30,000          33,000                  33,000             36,300              Increase in rates

TOTAL PURCHASED SERVICES 108,512        133,315               129,486          139,788           

GENERAL & ADMINISTRATIVE SERVICES
6200-441     APPRECIATION/AWARDS 4,328            4,400                    4,400               4,400                See Detail Listing
6200-442     TML MEMBERSHIP DUES 1,977            2,200                    2,200               2,200                TML annual dues
6200-443     DUES/LICENSES 3,842            4,530                    4,530               4,543                See Detail Listing
6200-444     EMPLOYMENT SCREENING 4,689            2,500                    2,500               2,500                CareNow Physicals/Drug Screening
6200-445     CHILD SAFETY EXPENSE -                     -                             -                        
6200-497     CREDIT CARD FEES 27,577          28,800                  43,800             45,000              Increase in credit card payments

TOTAL GENERAL & ADMIN SERVICES 42,412          42,430                  57,430             58,643             

CAPITAL OUTLAY
8200-451     SOFTWARE -                     15,000                  15,000             

TOTAL CAPITAL OUTLAY -                     15,000                  15,000             -                         

TOTAL ADMINISTRATION 630,970        697,841               723,459          727,417           

DESCRIPTION

Page 15 8/19/2022



11 -GENERAL FUND 2020-2021 2021-2022 2021-2022 2022-2023
PUBLIC WORKS - ENGINEERING FISCAL YEAR ORIGINAL AMENDED FISCAL YEAR

DEPARTMENTAL EXPENDITURES ACTUAL BUDGET BUDGET BUDGET

PERSONNEL SERVICES
6209-101     SALARIES - EXEMPT 70,168             84,770         87,814           88,813            P Works Director & Mgmt Analyst 

positions Split 50/50 with Water Fund
6209-103     SALARIES - TEMPORARY 18,320             15,600         12,711           15,600            20 hrs per wk @$15 per hour (intern)
6209-105     SALARIES - COLA -                       2,289            -                      
6209-112     WORKERS' COMPENSATION 191                  315               315                320                 
6209-113     LONGEVITY 180                  48                 48                   74                    
6209-122     TMRS 8,874               12,750         13,144           12,915            Rate Decrease 12.57% to 12.24%
6209-123     GROUP INSURANCE 6,690               10,716         10,716           11,880            
6209-127     MEDICARE 1,324               1,475            1,519             1,519              
6209-129     LT DISABILITY 108                  265               265                266                 
6209-131      UNEMPLOYMENT  COMPENSAT 748                  -                    821                
6209-133     TELEPHONE ALLOWANCE 225                  600               600                300                 

TOTAL PERSONNEL SERVICES 106,827          128,828       127,953        131,687          

MATERIALS & SUPPLIES
6209-201     OFFICE SUPPLIES 249                  250               250                250                 
6209-204     FOOD/BEVERAGE 689                  -                    -                      
6209-208     MINOR APPARATUS 293                  500               500                500                 
6209-209     PROTECTIVE CLOTHING/UNIFORMS 931                  1,920            1,920             1,980              See Detail Listing
6209-210     COMPUTER SUPPLIES 129                  500               500                500                 

-                       

TOTAL MATERIALS & SUPPLIES 2,292               3,170           3,170             3,230              

MAINTENANCE & REPAIR

6209-232     VEHICLE MAINTENANCE 3,629               1,000            1,000             1,000              See Detail Listing/Annual maintenance

TOTAL MAINTENANCE & REPAIR 3,629               1,000           1,000             1,000              

PURCHASED SERVICES
6209-307     TRAVEL/TRAINING 1,274               2,350            2,350             3,025              See Travel & Training Plan
6209-313     MAINTENANCE AGREEMENTS -                       1,500            1,500             1,500              Maint. for Plotter/Scanner
6209-309     PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 205,941          195,000       291,075         230,400          See Detail Listing
6209-323     CELL PHONE 705                  1,200            1,200             1,200              
6209-333     UTILITIES - WATER -                       -                    
6209-334     STREET LIGHTING 1,485               5,000            5,000             5,000              

TOTAL PURCHASED SERVICES 209,406          205,050       301,125        241,125          

GENERAL & ADMINISTRATIVE SERVICES
6209-443     DUES/LICENSES 299                  575               575                472                 See Detail Listing

TOTAL GENERAL & ADMIN SERVICES 299                  575               575                472                 

NON-CAPITAL EXPENSE

6209-411     FURNITURE & FIXTURES -                       500               500                6,000              Office Furniture

6209-416     IMPLEMENTS & APPARATUS -                       500               500                500                 

6209-433     SIGNS & MARKINGS 10,000            Regulatory Signage

6209-451     SOFTWARE 2,549               3,510            3,510             3,705              See Comprehensive IT Schedule

6209-452     HARDWARE -                       500               500                500                 

TOTAL NON-CAPITAL EXPENSE 2,549               5,010           5,010             20,705            

CAPITAL OUTLAY
8209-301     IMPROVEMENTS ROADS 344,124          650,000       871,982         650,000          FY 21-22 LIT to Drainage $14,500
8209-302     CULVERT MAINTENANCE 145,000          100,000       146,918         100,000          FY 21-22 LIT to Drainage $63,840
8209-303     DRAINAGE 22,187             100,000       741,943         100,000          CC Approved 8-4-22 Farmstead Estates

FY 21-22 LIT Request $14,500 from acct
8209-420     EQUIPMENT -                       -                    -                      301 and $63,840 from acct 302
8209-421     VEHICLES 35,608             -                    -                      
8209-433     SIGNS & MARKINGS 1,691               10,000         10,000           -                       Reclass to Non-Cap Acct. 6209-433
8209-452     HARDWARE & TELECOM -                       -                    -                      

TOTAL CAPITAL OUTLAY 548,610          860,000       1,770,843     850,000          

TOTAL PUBLIC WORKS - ENGINEERING 873,611          1,203,633    2,209,676     1,248,219      

DESCRIPTION

Page16 8/19/2022



11 -GENERAL FUND 2020-2021 2021-2022 2021-2022 2022-2023
PUBLIC WORKS - OPERATIONS FISCAL YEAR ORIGINAL AMENDED FISCAL YEAR

DEPARTMENTAL EXPENDITURES ACTUAL BUDGET BUDGET BUDGET

PERSONNEL SERVICES
6210-102     SALARIES - NON-EXEMPT 113,266          118,206         124,752         167,282         Changed PT position to full-time
6210-104     SALARIES - NON-EXEMPT PT 8,859               18,720           18,720           Reallocated to FT P works position
6210-105     SALARIES - COLA -                        3,122              -                      
6210-111     OVERTIME 1,899               4,500              4,500             4,500             
6210-112     WORKERS' COMPENSATION 3,403               5,175              5,175             5,824             Changed PT position to full-time
6210-113     LONGEVITY 756                  920                 920                 1,056             Changed PT position to full-time
6210-122     TMRS 15,902             17,900           18,738           21,248           Changed PT position to full-time

Rate Decrease 12.57% to 12.24%
6210-123     GROUP INSURANCE 26,895             32,148           32,148           47,520           Changed PT position to full-time
6210-127     MEDICARE 1,870               2,631              2,742             2,742             Changed PT position to full-time
6210-129     LT DISABILITY 175                  337                 337                 502                 Changed PT position to full-time

TOTAL PERSONNEL SERVICES 173,024          203,659         208,032         250,674        

MATERIALS & SUPPLIES
6210-201     OFFICE SUPPLIES 416                  550                 550                 700                 
6210-204     FOOD/BEVERAGE 368                  800                 800                 1,000             
6210-206     FUEL & LUBRICANTS 7,658               11,000           11,000           22,000           Increase in Fuel Costs
6210-208     MINOR APPARATUS 4,740               5,000              5,000             5,000             
6210-209     PROTECTIVE CLOTHING/UNIFORMS 5,981               9,560              9,560             8,975             See Detail Listing
6210-210     COMPUTER SUPPLIES 184                  250                 250                 250                 
6210-211     MEDICAL SUPPLIES -                        250                 250                 250                 
6210-214     CLEANING SUPPLIES -                        1,500              1,500             1,500             
6210-223     SAND/DIRT 162                  1,500              1,500             3,000             
6210-224     ASPHALT/BASE/CONC/CULVERT 15,167             32,000           32,000           32,000           Street Maintenance Program

TOTAL MATERIALS & SUPPLIES 34,677            62,410           62,410           74,675           

MAINTENANCE & REPAIR

6210-231     FACILITY MAINTENANCE 7,048               7,500              7,500             7,500             See Detail Listing
6210-232     VEHICLE MAINTENANCE 4,103               5,750              5,750             7,700             See Detail Listing
6210-233     EQUIPMENT MAINTENANCE 9,189               9,450              9,450             9,600             See Detail Listing
6210-234     WASTE DISPOSAL 2,931               4,000              4,000             5,100             
6210-298     MAINTENANCE & PARTS - MISC 2,714               3,000              3,000             3,000             

TOTAL MAINTENANCE & REPAIR 25,985            29,700           29,700           32,900           

PURCHASED SERVICES
6210-307     TRAVEL/TRAINING 270                  5,500              5,500             5,100             See Travel & Training Plan
6210-309     PROFESSIONAL SERVICES -                        5,000              5,000             30,000           $5 K - Surveying Easements/$25 K Tree Trimming
6210-323     CELL PHONE 1,515               3,500              3,500             3,500             
6210-331     UTILITIES, ELECTRIC 4,346               6,000              6,000             6,000             
6210-346     EQUIPMENT RENTAL 764                  4,000              4,000             4,000             

TOTAL PURCHASED SERVICES 6,895               24,000           24,000           48,600           

GENERAL & ADMINISTRATIVE SERVICES
6210-443     DUES/LICENSES 40                     200                 200                 462                 See Detail Listing

TOTAL GENERAL & ADMIN SERVICES 40                    200                 200                 462                

NON-CAPITAL EXPENSE

6210-411     FURNITURE & FIXTURES -                        -                       -                      2,000             Office Furniture

6210-416     IMPLEMENTS & APPARATUS -                        -                       -                      -                      

6210-420     EQUIPMENT -                        4,100              4,100             
6210-433     SIGNS & MARKINGS 9,975               12,000           12,000           12,000           

TOTAL NON-CAPITAL EXPENSE 9,975               16,100           16,100           14,000           

CAPITAL OUTLAY
8210-420     EQUIPMENT 31,000             13,000           13,000           216,137         $14.5K Scag Mower/$123,787 backhoe

$77,850 vactron 
8210-421     VEHICLES 45,000           45,000           55,000           Truck for Public Works

TOTAL CAPITAL OUTLAY 31,000            58,000           58,000           271,137        

TOTAL PUBLIC WORKS 281,595          394,069         398,442         692,448        

DESCRIPTION

Page 17 8/19/2022



11 -GENERAL FUND 2020-2021 2021-2022 2021-2022 2022-2023
PARKS DEPARTMENT FISCAL YEAR ORIGINAL AMENDED FISCAL YEAR
DEPARTMENTAL EXPENDITURES ACTUAL BUDGET BUDGET BUDGET

PERSONNEL SERVICES

6211-103     SALARIES - NON-EXMPT TEMP 16,708                20,160             20,160                 Reallocated to FT P works position
6211-112     WORKERS COMP 395                      600                  600                      Reallocated to FT P works position
6211-127     MEDICARE 242                      300                  300                      Reallocated to FT P works position

TOTAL PERSONNEL SERVICES 17,345                21,060             21,060                 -                          

MAINTENANCE & REPAIR

6211-231     FACILITIES MAINTENANCE 4,262                  4,500               4,500                   4,500                 See Detail Listing
6211-233     EQUIPMENT MAINTENANCE 4,341                  4,500               4,500                   4,500                 Small Landscaping Equipment

TOTAL MAINTENANCE & REPAIR 8,603                  9,000               9,000                   9,000                 

PURCHASED SERVICES
6211-322     CONTRACTS 54,300                74,500             74,500                 82,000               See Detail Listing 
6211-331     UTILITIES, ELECTRIC 1,566                  2,000               2,000                   2,000                 
6211-333     UTILITIES, WATER 8,698                  10,000             10,000                 10,000               

TOTAL PURCHASED SERVICES 64,563                86,500             86,500                 94,000               

SPECIAL EVENTS
6211-444 FOUNDERS DAY 24,287                30,000             23,200                 30,000               
6211-445 SERVICE TREE PROGRAM 3,410                  7,000               7,000                   7,000                 
6211-446 KEEP LUCAS BEAUTIFUL 2,199                  5,000               5,000                   5,000                 See Detail Listing
6211-447 COUNTRY CHRISTMAS 9,448                  10,000             10,000                 10,000               
6211-448 PARK EVENTS 13,469                15,000             15,000                 15,000               See Detail Listing

TOTAL SPECIAL EVENTS 52,812                67,000             60,200                 67,000               

NON-CAPITAL OUTLAY
6211-417 PARK IMPROVEMENTS 46,981                30,000             30,000                 30,000               
6211-418 PARK IMPROVEMENTS- USACE -                           

TOTAL NON- CAPITAL OUTLAY 46,981                30,000             30,000                 30,000               

CAPITAL OUTLAY
8211-417     PARK IMPROVEMENTS -                           30,000               Foundation repairs Kenneth R Lewis

TOTAL CAPITAL OUTLAY -                           -                        -                            30,000               

TOTAL PARKS 190,303              213,560           206,760              230,000             

DESCRIPTION

Page 18 8/19/2022



11 -GENERAL FUND 2020-2021 2021-2022 2021-2022 2022-2023
DEVELOPMENT SERVICES FISCAL YEAR ORIGINAL AMENDED FISCAL YEAR
DEPARTMENTAL EXPENDITURES ACTUAL BUDGET BUDGET BUDGET

PERSONNEL SERVICES
6212-101     SALARIES - EXEMPT 52,372               56,727           58,929              58,927          Development Services Director split 

50/50 with Water Fund
6212-102     SALARIES - NON-EXEMPT 217,955             224,420         235,036           235,036        
6212-105     SALARIES - COLA -                          6,411             -                         
6212-111     OVERTIME 8,137                  11,200           11,200              11,200          
6212-112     WORKERS' COMPENSATION 1,447                  2,200             2,200                2,200             
6212-113     LONGEVITY PAY 1,454                  1,682             1,682                1,898             
6212-122     TMRS 35,487               37,000           38,647              37,519          Rate Decrease 12.57% to 12.24%
6212-123     GROUP INSURANCE 43,681               48,222           48,222              53,460          
6212-127     MEDICARE 4,174                  4,300             4,486                4,486             
6212-129     LT DISABILITY 482                     850                 850                   876                
6212-131     UNEMPLOYMENT -                          

TOTAL PERSONNEL SERVICES 365,188             393,012         401,252           405,602        

MATERIALS & SUPPLIES

6212-201     OFFICE SUPPLIES 3,826                  5,500             5,500                5,500             
6212-203     SUBSCRIPTIONS -                          350                 350                   350                
6212-204     FOOD/BEVERAGE 58                       600                 600                   600                
6212-205     LOGO/UNIFORM ALLOWANCE 2,231                  2,600             2,600                2,700             
6212-206     FUEL & LUBRICANTS 9,125                  5,500             5,500                12,000          Increase in fuel costs for four vehicles
6212-210     COMPUTER SUPPLIES 417                     250                 250                   500                

TOTAL MATERIALS & SUPPLIES 15,657               14,800           14,800              21,650          

MAINTENANCE & REPAIR

6212-232    VEHICLE MAINTENANCE 9,111                  6,300             6,300                6,300             See Detail Listing

TOTAL MAINTENANCE & REPAIR 9,111                  6,300             6,300                6,300             

PURCHASED SERVICES:

6212-305     SOFTWARE SUPPORT/MAINT. 445                     12,674           19,474              24,278          See Comprehensive IT Schedule
Energov $11,227/Incode $2,081
Insite online bill pay $10,970

6212-307     TRAINING & TRAVEL 1,701                  13,109           13,109              13,656          See Travel & Training Plan
6212-309     PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 5,884                  14,600           14,600              16,000          See Detail Listing
6212-313     MAINTENANCE AGREEMENTS -                          100                 100                   
6212-323     CELL PHONE 2,297                  3,200             3,200                6,400             4 cellular lines for ipads/inspections

TOTAL PURCHASED SERVICES 10,327               43,683           50,483              60,334          

GENERAL & ADMINISTRATIVE SERVICES

6212-443     DUES/LICENSES 563                     3,089             3,089                3,119             See Detail Listing
6212-450     COMPUTER HARDWARE -                          5,150                -                     
6212-451     SOFTWARE, BOOKS & CD'S 1,987                  1,600             1,600                5,600             $1.6K See Comprehensive IT Schedule 

$4K - See Detail Listing
6212-452     STORM WATER MGMT EXPENSE 6,224                  8,500             8,500                9,000             Includes $6.5K supplies/eqp for two

cleanup events/$2.5K Education exp

TOTAL GENERAL & ADMINISTRATION SERVICES 8,774                  13,189           18,339              17,719          

CAPITAL OUTLAY
8212-420     EQUIPMENT -                          -                      
8212-451     COMPUTER SOFTWARE 11,260               -                      29,693              
8212-452     COMPUTERS -                          -                      
8212-421     VEHICLES -                          -                      

TOTAL CAPITAL OUTLAY 11,260               -                      29,693              -                     

TOTAL DEVELOPMENT SERVICES 420,317             470,984         520,867           511,605        

DESCRIPTION

Page 19 8/19/2022



11 -GENERAL FUND 2020-2021 2021-2022 2021-2022 2022-2023
FIRE DEPARTMENT FISCAL YEAR ORIGINAL AMENDED FISCAL YEAR
DEPARTMENTAL EXPENDITURES ACTUAL BUDGET BUDGET BUDGET DESCRIPTION

PERSONNEL SERVICES
6300-101     SALARIES - EXEMPT 281,302                      309,364             333,939          333,939      
6300-102     SALARIES - NON EXEMPT FF/EMS 786,362                      1,060,266          1,114,288       1,108,609   Includes 3 reclassifications to driver
6300-103     SAL - NON EXEMPT TEMP 7,571                          3,600                  3,600               3,600           Emerg. Mgt. Intern
6300-105     SALARIES - COLA -                                   31,550                -                        
6300-106     CERTIFICATION FEES 4,750                          15,120                15,120             12,120        See Detail Listing
6300-110     SAL - MARKET/RETENTION -                                   63,153                31,088             
6300-111     SALARIES - OVERTIME 176,838                      194,300             194,300          230,304      See Detail Listing - 5070 hours
6300-112     WORKERS' COMPENSATION 35,841                        49,500                49,500             49,500        
6300-113     LONGEVITY PAY 3,380                          4,104                  4,104               4,228           
6300-122     TMRS 159,541                      199,900             209,856          208,417      Rate Decrease 12.57% to 12.24%
6300-123     GROUP INSURANCE 147,876                      203,604             203,604          225,720      
6300-127     MEDICARE 18,317                        22,950                24,090             24,484        
6300-128     OTHER RETIREMENT 71,834                        20,000                20,000             13,000        LOSAP - approximately 10 volunteers
6300-129     LT DISABILITY 1,672                          4,170 4,170               4,328           
6300-133     TELEPHONE ALLOWANCE 600                              600                     600                  600              

TOTAL PERSONNEL SERVICES 1,695,885                  2,182,181          2,208,259       2,218,849   

MATERIALS & SUPPLIES
6300-201     OFFICE SUPPLIES 1,867                          2,100                  2,100               2,100           
6300-202     POSTAGE 346                              375                     375                  375              
6300-203     SUBSCRIPTIONS -                                   -                           -                        
6300-204     FOOD/BEVERAGE 5,212                          5,550                  5,550               5,950           See Detail Listing
6300-205     LOGO/UNIFORM ALLOWANCE 18,293                        20,550                20,550             32,215        See Detail Listing
6300-206     FUEL & LUBRICANTS 13,545                        18,600                18,600             36,180        See Detail Listing
6300-207     FUEL - PROPANE/(natural gas) 1,442                          1,700                  1,700               2,100           
6300-208     MINOR APPARATUS 5,559                          9,315                  9,315               10,780        See Detail Listing
6300-209     PROTECTIVE CLOTHING 10,401                        35,640                40,640             26,800        See Detail Listing
6300-210     COMPUTER SUPPLIES 1,082                          1,720                  1,720               1,900           See Detail Listing
6300-211     MEDICAL & SURGICAL SUPPL 22,225                        32,200                32,200             36,800        See Detail Listing
6300-214     SUPPLIES - FD 4,166                          8,055                  8,055               9,320           See Detail Listing
6300-215     DISPOSABLE MATERIALS 2,621                          5,850                  5,850               7,555           See Detail Listing
6300-227     PREVENTION ACTIVITIES 4,422                          5,650                  5,650               5,600           See Detail Listing

TOTAL MATERIALS & SUPPLIES 91,182                        147,305             152,305          177,675      

MAINTENANCE & REPAIR
6300-231     FACILITY MAINTENANCE 22,389                        22,100                22,100             28,790        See Detail Listing
6300-232     VEHICLE MAINTENANCE 39,055                        37,229                37,229             57,076        See Detail Listing
6300-233     EQUIPMENT MAINT 9,001                          12,900                12,900             14,365        See Detail Listing

TOTAL MAINTENANCE & REPAIR 70,445                        72,229                72,229            100,231      

PURCHASED SERVICES
6300-302     FIRE DEPT RUN REIMBURS. 59,290                        78,000                78,000             51,100        See Detail Listing

Approximately 15 volunteers
6300-302.1  LISD GAME COVERAGE 1,360                          6,210                  6,210               1,000           See Detail Listing
6300-303     TELEPHONE 5,091                          5,160                  5,160               5,160           
6300-304     INTERNET 5,700                          6,600                  6,600               6,600           
6300-307     TRAINING & TRAVEL 23,154                        46,514                46,514             47,125        See Detail Listing

6300-309     PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 98,468                        143,731             143,731          135,367      See Detail Listing and Comprehensive

IT Schedule

6300-310     SCBA 17,661                        36,350                52,729             10,770        See Detail Listing
6300-312     PARAMEDIC SCHOOL 1,000                          1,200                  1,200               

6300-313     MAINTENANCE AGREEMENTS 15,719                        16,705                16,705             16,993        See Detail Listing and Comprehensive

IT Schedule

6300-316     911 DISPATCH 79,939                        83,500                83,500             90,449        Wylie Dispatch
6300-323     CELL PHONE 9,215                          10,000                10,000             10,600        See Detail Listing

6300-325     LIABILITY INSURANCE 20,000                        22,000                22,000             24,200        Increase in rates

6300-331     UTILITIES, ELECTRIC 23,851                        27,000                27,000             27,000        

6300-333     UTILITIES, WATER 4,403                          4,750                  4,750               4,750           
6300-337     PAGER SERVICE 625                              700                     700                  815              Active 911 notification of emergencies

6300-346     EQUIPMENT RENTAL 441                              470                     470                  500              

TOTAL PURCHASED SERVICES 365,916                      488,890             505,269          432,429      

Page 20 8/19/2022



11 -GENERAL FUND 2020-2021 2021-2022 2021-2022 2022-2023
FIRE DEPARTMENT FISCAL YEAR ORIGINAL AMENDED FISCAL YEAR
DEPARTMENTAL EXPENDITURES ACTUAL BUDGET BUDGET BUDGET DESCRIPTION

GENERAL & ADMINISTRATIVE SERVICES
6300-441     APPRECIATION/AWARDS 3,235                          4,000                  4,000               2,700           See Detail Listing
6300-443     DUES/LICENSES 5,838                          7,055                  7,055               6,325           See Detail Listing

6300-445     CHILD SAFETY 10,045                        -                           -                        
6300-447     EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT SERV 7,720                          8,689                  8,689               9,689           See Detail Listing
6300-448     REHAB TRAINING & EQUIPMENT 1,397                          950                     950                  950              See Detail Listing
6300-451     SOFTWARE, BOOKS & CD'S 2,444                          3,500                  3,500               4,100           See Detail Listing and Comprehensive

 IT Schedule

TOTAL GENERAL & ADMINISTRATIVE SERVICES 30,679                        24,194                24,194            23,764        
NON-CAPITALIZED EXPENSE
6300-420 EQUIPMENT 8,469                          7,500                  7,500               6,300           See Detail Listing
6300-452 HARDWARE & TELECOM 10,604                        12,150                16,874             11,050        See Detail Listing

and Comprehensive IT Schedule

TOTAL NON-CAPITALIZED EXPENSE 19,073                        19,650                24,374            17,350        

CAPITAL OUTLAY
8300-200     BUILDING IMPROVEMENTS -                                   -                           
8300-411     FURNITURE & FIXTURES -                                   -                           
8300-416     IMPLEMENTS & APPARATUS -                                   -                           
8300-420     EQUIPMENT -                                   50,000                50,000             86,090        See Detail Listing
8300-421     VEHICLES -                                   80,600                200,600          
8300-452     HARDWARE & TELECOM 7,458                          31,000                31,000             32,500        See Detail Listing and

Comprehensive IT Schedule

TOTAL CAPITAL OUTLAY 7,458                          161,600             281,600          118,590      

TOTAL FIRE 2,280,639                  3,096,049          3,268,230       3,088,888   

Page 21 8/19/2022



11 -GENERAL FUND 2020-2021 2021-2022 2021-2022 2022-2023
GENERAL ADMINISTRATION - NON-DEPT. FISCAL YEAR ORIGINAL AMENDED FISCAL YEAR
DEPARTMENTAL EXPENDITURES ACTUAL BUDGET BUDGET BUDGET

PERSONNEL SERVICES
6999-110     PERFORMANCE/INCENTIVE -                      50,455            -                        280,054          

TOTAL PERSONNEL SERVICES -                      50,455            -                        280,054          

MAINT & SUPPLIES

6999-214   CLEANING SUPPLIES 1,500              1,500              1,500               1,500              
6999-231   FACILITY MAINT 36,765           28,800            28,800             28,800            Includes $300 Security Monitoring

Comprehensive IT Schedule

TOTAL MAINT & SUPPLIES 38,264           30,300            30,300             30,300            

PURCHASED SERVICES
6999-303     TELEPHONE 10,888           12,000            12,000             12,000            
6999-305     IT SUPPORT/MAINT 72,292           72,292            72,292             74,446            See Comprehensive IT Schedule
6999-306     SOFTWARE MAINTENANCE 17,156           17,484            17,484             20,405            See Comprehensive IT Schedule
6999-308     CLEANING & PEST CONTROL 17,294           18,300            18,300             27,400            $25K Cleaning $2.4K Pest Control
6999-309      PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 5,759              4,560              4,560               4,560              See Comprehensive IT Schedule
6999-310     LEGAL SERVICES 109,998         100,000          100,000           100,000          
6999-323     STREAKER RESTORATION 30,800           10,000            -                        

6999-326     LAW ENFORCEMENT 212,449         250,000          237,414           811,905          Enhanced law enforcement
6999-331     ELECTRICITY 7,051              8,400              8,400               8,400              
6999-333     WATER 971                 1,200              1,200               1,200              
6999-336     ANIMAL CONTROL 34,000           35,000            35,000             35,000            

TOTAL PURCHASED SERVICES 518,659         529,236          506,650           1,095,316      

NON-CAPITAL EXPENSE
6999-411    FURNITURE -                      -                       -                        
6999-451    SOFTWARE 5,712              7,500              10,000             23,275            See Comprehensive IT Schedule
6999-452    HARDWARE, TELECOM 3,802              11,600            24,186             11,500            See Comprehensive IT Schedule
6999-499    COVID-19 EXPENSES 17,711           -                       

TOTAL NON-CAPITALIZED EXPENSE 27,225           19,100            34,186             34,775            

CAPITAL OUTLAY
8999-200     BUILDING IMPROVEMENTS -                      -                       286,479           12,000            FY 21-22 Mid-Year Budget Adj for

Office space for Eng/PW/Cust Serv.
FY 22-23 Community Center Rehab

8999-420      EQUIPMENT -                      -                       -                        6,879              See Comprehensive IT Schedule
8999-451      SOFTWARE -                      -                       -                        7,000              See Comprehensive IT Schedule
8999-452      HARDWARE, TELECOM -                      11,000            11,000             

-                        

TOTAL CAPITAL OUTLAY -                      11,000            297,479           25,879            

TOTAL NON-DEPARTMENTAL 584,148         640,091          868,615           1,466,324      

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES(USES)

6999-998 TRANSFER OUT TO CAPITAL FUND 441,814 Restricted Reserves and Impact
Fees for Capital Projects FY 21-22

TOTAL FINANCING SOURCES (USES) -$                    -$                     441,814$         -$                     

 DESCRIPTION

Page 22 8/19/2022



21 - CAPITAL IMPROVEMENTS 2020-2021 2021-2022 2021-2022 2022-2023
 FISCAL YEAR ORIGINAL AMENDED FISCAL YEAR
REVENUES ACTUAL BUDGET BUDGET BUDGET

FEES & SERVICE CHARGES

4404 INTERGOV/3RD PARTY REV 4,182,590              -                        -                     50 % of Collin County
Funding West Lucas Rd
Remaining 30 days 
after bids for construction

TOTAL FEES & SERVICE CHARGES 4,182,590              -                        -                         -                     

MISCELLANEOUS REVENUE

4911  INTEREST INCOME 9,896                     6,000               37,607              6,000            
4914  INSURANCE PROCEEDS -                              -                        -                         

TOTAL MISCELLANEOUS REV 9,896                     6,000               37,607              6,000            

***TOTAL OPERATING REVENUE*** 4,192,486              6,000               37,607              6,000            

OTHER FINANCIAL SOURCES (USES)

4800  BOND PROCEEDS
4810  BOND ISSUE PREMIUM
4996  TRANSFER IN FROM GF RESTRICTED RESERVES 441,814 Restricted Reserves and Impact

Fees for Capital Projects FY 21-22

TOTAL  OTHER FIN. SOURCES (USES) -                              -                        441,814           -                     

 DESCRIPTION

Page 23 8/19/2022



21 - CAPITAL IMPROVEMENTS 2020-2021 2021-2022 2021-2022 2022-2023
PUBLIC WORKS FISCAL YEAR ORIGINAL AMENDED FISCAL YEAR
DEPARTMENTAL EXPENDITURES ACTUAL BUDGET BUDGET BUDGET**

CAPITAL OUTLAY

7900-298          BOND ISSUE COSTS -                         -                      

8210-490-122  PARKER RD PHASE TWO

8210-490-124  PROJ MGMT 125 -ELEV WATER TWR 17,486              -                      

8210-490-125  ELEVATED WATER TOWER 33,250              1,116,461     

8210-490-127  SCADA SYSTEM PROJECT 81,741              

8210-490-128  NORTH PUMP STATION PROJECT 1,170,796        20,800           

8210-490-129  BAIT SHOP WATERLINE RELOCATION 76,758              1,165,663     

8210-490-130   MCGARITY STEM REPLECEMENT -                         57,300           

8210-491-127   WINNINGKOFF RD(REVERSE C TO SNIDER LN) 1,771,192        2,730             

8210-491-131   PROJ MGMT 127 - WINNINGKOFF RD 70,853              -                      

8210-491-134   STISON RD / MUDDY CREEK BRIDGE 264,438           262,600         

8210-491-135   SNIDER LANE/WHITE ROCK ROCK CREEK BRIDGE 373,285           47,858           

8210-491-136   WEST LUCAS RD PROJECT 789,256           3,395,564     

8210-491-300    BLONDY JHUNE RD ALIGNMENT -                         306,489         

8210-491-500   BROCKDALE RD REHABILITATION 603,651           41,349           

TOTAL CAPITAL OUTLAY 5,252,707        -                     6,416,814     -                        

TOTAL PUBLIC WORKS 5,252,707 0 6,416,814 0

                Ongoing Capital Project Budget Balances from FY 2021-2022 will be brought to Council for
                reallocation after the completion of the FY 2021-2022 audit to properly reflect outstanding budget 
                balances to carry forward for FY 2022-2023.

DESCRIPTION

**NOTE:

Page 24 8/19/2022



Page 25 8/19/2022



Page 26 8/19/2022



51 - WATER UTILITIES FUND 2020-2021 2021-2022 2021-2022 2022-2023
 FISCAL YEAR ORIGINAL AMENDED FISCAL YEAR
 REVENUES ACTUAL BUDGET BUDGET BUDGET  DESCRIPTION

FEES & SERVICE CHARGES

4461         WATER REVENUE 4,277,983         4,353,461         5,407,588          4,353,461         
4462         WATER TAPS & BORES -                          3,000                 -                          3,000                 
4463         PENALTY & INTEREST 31,025               35,000               35,000               35,000              
4467         WATER METER 233,500            150,000            190,000             200,000            
4468         WATER METER REPAIRS 3,000                 6,000                 3,600                  6,000                 
4469         WASTEWATER FEES 63,539               54,000               88,000               66,000              
4470         REREAD/CHARTING 75                       100                    225                     100                    
4478         TRASH SERVICE 664,408            648,000            689,287             859,234            New trash provider - CWD

FY 22-23 Rate $26.09 trash/recyle
4497         FH METER RENTAL INC 3,000                 3,500                 4,750                  3,500                 
4498         MISC. FEE AND CHARGES -                          -                          -                          
4499         WATER LINES/FEES DEVEL -                          -                          -                          

TOTAL FEES & SERVICE CHARGES 5,276,530         5,253,061         6,418,450          5,526,295         

MISCELLANEOUS REVENUE

4911         INTEREST INCOME 9,968                 7,200                 48,955               7,200                 
4912         RETURN CHECK CHARGE 125                    400                    250                     400                    
4913         NTMWD REFUND 52,427               10,000               10,000              
4914         INSURANCE CLAIM REIMB 8,671                 -                          -             
4915         MISC REV -SALES TAX DISC 236                    -                          
4992         SALE OF ASSETS -                          -                          -             
4995         REIMBURSEMENTS -                          -                          5,000                  
4996         WF RESERVE FUNDING (USE OF) -                          
4997         MISCELLANEOUS -                          -                          23,007               

TOTAL MISCELLANEOUS REVENUE 71,427              17,600              77,212               17,600              

***TOTAL OPERATING REVENUE*** 5,347,957         5,270,661         6,495,662          5,543,895         

Page 27 8/19/2022



51 - WATER  FUND- Public Works 2020-2021 2021-2022 2021-2022 2022-2023
 FISCAL YEAR ORIGINAL AMENDED FISCAL YEAR
DEPARTMENTAL EXPENDITURES ACTUAL BUDGET BUDGET BUDGET DESCRIPTION

PERSONNEL SERVICES

6400-101     SALARIES - EXEMPT  186,945             193,453               203,151            205,356            City Manager, Finance Director, Development
Services Director Split 50/50 with General Fund

6400-102     SALARIES - NON-EXEMPT 265,761             278,605               292,962            294,963            
6400-105     SALARIES - COLA -                          10,765                 -                          
6400-106     CERTIFICATION FEES       4,695                 6,300                   6,300                 6,300                 
6400-110     PERFORMANCE/INCENTIVE PAY -                          12,698                 472                    67,152               
6400-111     OVERTIME 42,200               51,726                 51,726               51,726               
6400-112     WORKERS' COMPENSATION  7,037                 10,700                 10,700               10,700               
6400-113     LONGEVITY PAY  2,630                 3,138                   3,138                 3,370                 
6400-122     TMRS   63,828               68,000                 71,084               69,063               Rate Decrease 12.57% to 12.24%
6400-123     GROUP INSURANCE  75,553               80,370                 80,370               89,100               
6400-127     MEDICARE   7,299                 7,700                   8,050                 8,096                 
6400-129     LT DISABILITY 725                     1,425                   1,425                 1,501                 
6400-141     CAR ALLOWANCE 2,400                 2,400                   2,400                 2,400                 

TOTAL PERSONNEL SERVICES 659,074             727,280              731,778            809,727            

MATERIALS & SUPPLIES

6400-201     OFFICE SUPPLIES 781                     800                       800                    800                    
6400-202     POSTAGE 605                     2,000                   2,000                 2,000                 
6400-204     FOOD/BEVERAGE 682                     800                       800                    1,000                 

6400-206     FUEL & LUBRICANTS 13,910               15,500                 15,500               30,000               Increase in Fuel Costs

6400-207     FUEL - PROPANE/(NATURALGAS) -                          -                            15,101               14,000               
6400-208     MINOR APPARATUS 1,453                 2,700                   2,700                 3,500                 Small tools/generator
6400-209     PROTEC CLOTHING/UNIFORMS 5,052                 8,775                   8,775                 8,975                 See Detail Listing
6400-210     COMPUTER SUPPLIES -                          450                       450                    450                    
6400-211     MEDICAL SUPPLIES -                          250                       250                    250                    
6400-212     CHEMICALS 3,218                 6,000                   6,000                 6,000                 Water Testing Materials
6400-222     OTHER SUPPLIES -                          -                            -                          
6400-223     SAND/DIRT -                          2,000                   2,000                 3,000                 
6400-224     ASPHALT/FLEXBASE/CONCRETE -                          6,500                   6,500                 6,500                 

TOTAL MATERIALS & SUPPLIES 25,701               45,775                 60,876               76,475               

MAINTENANCE & REPAIR

6400-230     REPAIRS & MAINT. - EQUIP. 181                     2,500                   2,500                 2,500                 
6400-231     FACILITY MAINTENANCE 3,630                 4,500                   4,500                 6,000                 See Detail Listing
6400-232     VEHICLE/EQP MAINT. 4,958                 7,550                   7,550                 8,650                 See Detail Listing
6400-233     REPAIR & MAINT WTR FACILITIES 148,188             263,000               263,000            295,000            See Detail Listing - Includes $100K

for Valve and Hydrant Maintenance

TOTAL MAINTENANCE & REPAIR 156,957             277,550              277,550            312,150            

PURCHASED SERVICES:

6400-237     TRASH SERVICES 574,236             576,000               594,000            747,160            New trash provider - CWD
FY 22-23 Rate $26.09 trash/recyle

6400-302     AUDITING & ACCOUNTING 10,346               13,000                 13,000               14,000               Split 50/50 with General Fund
6400-303     TELEPHONE 7,084                 7,200                   7,200                 7,200                 
6400-304     UB PROCESSING 26,462               27,000                 27,000               30,000               
6400-305     SOFTWARE SUPPORT/MAINT 22,492               29,400                 29,400               30,870               $14.8K Incode annual maint/$16K online bill

pay (increase in customer transactions)
6400-306     METER SOFTWARE/HARDWARE MAINT -                          6,180                   6,180                 8,540                 Neptune software and hardware maintenance
6400-307     TRAINING & TRAVEL 3,709                 7,718                   7,718                 8,722                 See Travel & Training Plan
6400-309     PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 23,179               46,600                 46,600               38,800               See Detail Listing 
6400-310     LEGAL SERVICES 1,081                 900                       900                    900                    
6400-313     MAINTENANCE AGREEMENTS 6,000                 6,160                   6,160                 6,660                 Konica Copier/Split with water fund/inc copies
6400-315     WATER - NTMWD 1,910,914         1,910,914           1,910,914         2,230,648         13 percent price increase/$3.44 per 1,000 gallons

Volume increase from 628,590 to 648,444 (1,000 Gal)
6400-316     WASTEWATER   NTMWD 6,713                 54,000                 54,000               48,700               Upper East Fork Interceptor $3.1057/Regional 

Wastewater System $2.1210 (1,000 Gal)
6400-323     CELL PHONE 6,786                 8,700                   8,700                 8,700                 
6400-325     LIABILITY INSURANCE 20,200               22,000                 22,000               24,200               Increase in rates
6400-331     ELECTRICITY 72,963               75,000                 75,000               75,000               
6400-346     EQUIPMENT RENTAL -                          4,000                   4,000                 4,000                 

TOTAL PURCHASED SERVICES 2,692,163         2,794,772           2,812,772         3,284,100         

GENERAL & ADMIN SERVICES/TRANSFERS

Page 28 8/19/2022



51 - WATER  FUND- Public Works 2020-2021 2021-2022 2021-2022 2022-2023
 FISCAL YEAR ORIGINAL AMENDED FISCAL YEAR
DEPARTMENTAL EXPENDITURES ACTUAL BUDGET BUDGET BUDGET DESCRIPTION

6400-443     DUES/LICENSES -                          333                       333                    333                    Three water license renewals
6400-999     PILOT TRANSFER OUT 284,355             277,789               339,296            279,090            

TOTAL GENERAL & ADMIN SERVICES/TRANSFERS 284,355             278,122              339,629            279,423            

NON-CAPITAL EXPENSE

6400-411     FURNITURE -                          -                          2,000                 Office Furniture
6400-416     IMPLEMENTS & APPARATUS -                          -                          
6400-420     EQUIPMENT - WATER -                          -                          
6400-451     SOFTWARE -                          2,500                 2,675                 See Comprehensive IT Schedule

TOTAL NON-CAPITAL EXPENSE -                          -                            2,500                 4,675                 -                                                                                                   

CAPITAL OUTLAY

8400-420     EQUIPMENT - WATER -                          -                            -                          -                          

8400-452     HARDWARE -                          -                            -                          

TOTAL CAPITAL OUTLAY -                          -                            -                          -                          

TOTAL WATER UTILITIES 3,818,249         4,123,499           4,225,105         4,766,550         

Page 29 8/19/2022



51 - WATER  FUND- Engineering 2020-2021 2021-2022 2021-2022 2022-2023
 FISCAL YEAR ORIGINAL AMENDED FISCAL YEAR
DEPARTMENTAL EXPENDITURES ACTUAL BUDGET BUDGET BUDGET DESCRIPTION

PERSONNEL SERVICES

6409-101     SALARIES - EXEMPT  70,198                 84,770              87,814            88,813           P Works Director & Mgmt Analyst 
positions Split 50/50 with Water Fund

6409-105     SALARIES - COLA -                            1,934                -                       
6409-112     WORKERS' COMPENSATION  191                       290                   290                  290                 
6409-113     LONGEVITY PAY  180                       48                      48                    74                   
6409-122     TMRS   8,874                   11,000              11,394            10,986           
6409-123     GROUP INSURANCE  7,119                   10,716              10,716            11,880           Rate Decrease 12.57% to 12.24%
6409-127     MEDICARE   1,030                   1,250                1,294              1,294              
6409-129     LT DISABILITY 108                       265                   265                  266                 
6409-133     TELEPHONE ALLOWANCE 225                       600                   600                  300                 

TOTAL PERSONNEL SERVICES 87,925                 110,873           112,421          113,903         

MATERIALS & SUPPLIES

6409-201     OFFICE SUPPLIES 613                       1,000                800                  1,000              $500 Plotter Ink/Paper/$500 Other
6409-204     FOOD/BEVERAGE -                            250                   250                  500                 
6409-208     MINOR APPARATUS -                            500                   500                  500                 
6409-209     PROTEC CLOTHING/UNIFORMS 213                       1,355                1,355              1,415              See Detail Listing
6409-210     COMPUTER SUPPLIES -                            500                   -                       500                 

TOTAL MATERIALS & SUPPLIES 826                      3,605                2,905              3,915              

MAINTENANCE & REPAIR

6409-232     VEHICLE MAINTENANCE -                            2,000                2,000              500                 See Detail Listing

TOTAL MAINTENANCE & REPAIR -                            2,000                2,000              500                 

PURCHASED SERVICES:

6409-305     SOFTWARE SUPPORT & MAINT -                            1,050                1,050              1,050              See Detail Listing- Scada software maint
See Comprehensive IT Schedule $50

6409-307     TRAINING & TRAVEL -                            1,740                1,740              2,300              See Travel & Training Plan
6409-309     PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 145,838               132,800           196,600          72,000           See Detail Listing 
6409-323     CELL PHONE 60                         1,200                1,200              1,200              

TOTAL PURCHASED SERVICES 145,898              136,790           200,590          76,550           

GENERAL & ADMIN SERVICES/TRANSFERS

6409-443     DUES/LICENSES 675                       1,075                1,075              1,135              See Detail Listing

TOTAL GENERAL & ADMIN SERVICES/TRANSFERS 675                      1,075                1,075              1,135              

NON-CAPITAL EXPENSE

6409-411     FURNITURE -                            500                   
6409-416     IMPLEMENTS & APPARATUS -                            500                   
6409-452      HARDWARE & TELECOM -                            500                   2,200              

TOTAL NON-CAPITAL EXPENSE -                            1,500                2,200              -                       -                                                                           

CAPITAL OUTLAY

8409-452     HARDWARE & TELECOMM

TOTAL CAPITAL OUTLAY -                            -                         -                       -                       

TOTAL WATER UTILITIES 235,324              255,843           321,191          196,003         

Page 30 8/19/2022



51 - WATER  FUND- Debt Service 2020-2021 2021-2022 2021-2022 2022-2023
 FISCAL YEAR ORIGINAL AMENDED FISCAL YEAR
DEPARTMENTAL EXPENDITURES ACTUAL BUDGET BUDGET BUDGET

DEBT SERVICE
7900-214    2007 CERT OF OBLIG-PRINCIPAL 125,000                125,000                         125,000                125,000                
7900-215    2007 CERT OF OBLIG-INTEREST 34,290                  29,219                           29,219                  23,906                  
7900-216    2007 GO REFUNDING- PRINCIPAL 105,000                105,000                         105,000                
7900-217    2007 GO REFUNDING- INTEREST 5,922                    1,974                              1,919                    
7900-218    2011 CERT OF OBLIG-PRINCIPAL 212,754                -                                      
7900-219    2011 CERT OF OBLIG-INTEREST 1,725                    -                                      
7900-222     2017 CERT OF OBLIG-PRINCIPAL 120,000                120,000                         120,000                125,000                
7900-223     2017 CERT OF OBLIG-INTEREST 75,750                  72,150                           72,150                  68,475                  
7900-224     2019 CERT OF OBLIG-PRINCIPAL 50,000                  50,000                           50,000                  55,000                  
7900-225     2019 CERT OF OBLIG-INTEREST 43,793                  41,293                           41,293                  38,668                  
7900-226     2020 CERT OF OBLIG-PRINCIPAL -                             95,000                           95,000                  105,000                
7900-227     2020 CERT OF OBLIG-INTEREST 24,462                  32,500                           32,500                  28,500                  
7900-298    BOND ISSUE COSTS 36,197                  600                                 600                        600                        

TOTAL DEBT SERVICE 834,893                672,736                         672,681                570,149                

TOTAL DEBT SERVICE 834,893                672,736                         672,681                570,149                

DESCRIPTION

Page 31 8/19/2022



59 - DEBT SERVICES FUND 2020-2021 2021-2022 2021-2022 2022-2023
 FISCAL YEAR ORIGINAL AMENDED FISCAL YEAR
DEPARTMENTAL EXPENDITURES ACTUAL BUDGET BUDGET BUDGET

REVENUES

PROPERTY TAXES
4011      PROPERTY TAXES 1,585,243                    1,439,715            1,608,904                  1,192,849                  
4012      PROPERTY TAXES-DELINQUENT 2,269                            -                             1,469                          
4015      PROPERTY TAXES-P&I 7,774                            5,000                    5,953                          
4911      INTEREST INCOME 3,052                            3,000                    4,049                          

TOTAL PROPERTY TAXES 1,598,338                    1,447,715            1,620,375                  1,192,849                  

4996      RESERVE FUNDING (USE OF) 215,000                        147,511                167,759                      

TOTAL REVENUES 1,813,338                    1,595,226            1,620,375                  1,360,608                  

EXPENDITURES

DEBT SERVICE

7900-214    2007 CERT OF OBLIG-PRINCIPAL 90,000                          90,000                  90,000                        100,000                      
7900-215    2007 CERT OF OBLIG-INTEREST 26,746                          23,163                  23,163                        19,125                        
7900-216    2007 GO REFUNDING- PRINCIPAL 235,000                        245,000                245,000                      
7900-217    2007 GO REFUNDING- INTEREST 13,630                          4,606                    4,478                          
7900-218    2011 CERT OF OBLIG-PRINCIPAL 392,793                        -                             -                                   
7900-219    2011 CERT OF OBLIG-INTEREST 2,475                            -                             -                                   
7900-220    2015 CERT OF OBLIG-PRINCIPAL 120,000                        125,000                125,000                      130,000                      
7900-221    2015 CERT OF OBLIG-INTEREST 39,900                          36,225                  36,225                        32,400                        
7900-222     2017 CERT OF OBLIG-PRINCIPAL 235,000                        245,000                245,000                      250,000                      
7900-223     2017 CERT OF OBLIG-INTEREST 151,725                        144,525                144,525                      137,100                      
7900-224     2019 CERT OF OBLIG-PRINCIPAL 175,000                        260,000                260,000                      285,000                      
7900-225     2019 CERT OF OBLIG-INTEREST 232,783                        221,908                221,908                      208,283                      
7900-226     2020 GO REFUNDING-PRINCIPAL -                                     150,000                150,000                      155,000                      
7900-227     2020 GO REFUNDING-INTEREST 36,836                          48,800                  48,800                        42,700                        
7900-298     BOND ISSUE COSTS 60,170                          1,000                    1,000                          1,000                          

TOTAL DEBT SERVICE 1,812,057                    1,595,227            1,595,099                  1,360,608                  

DESCRIPTION

Page 32 8/19/2022



Form developed by: Texas Comptroller of Public Accounts, Property Tax Assistance Division For additional copies, visit: comptroller.texas.gov/taxes/property-tax
50-856 • 5-22/9

Form 50-8562022 Tax Rate Calculation Worksheet
Taxing Units Other Than School Districts or Water Districts

____________________________________________________________________________   ________________________________
Taxing Unit Name Phone (area code and number)

____________________________________________________________________________   ________________________________
Taxing Unit’s Address, City, State, ZIP Code Taxing Unit’s Website Address

GENERAL INFORMATION: Tax Code Section 26.04(c) requires an officer or employee designated by the governing body to calculate the no-new-revenue (NNR) tax rate and 
voter-approval tax rate for the taxing unit. These tax rates are expressed in dollars per $100 of taxable value calculated. The calculation process starts after the chief appraiser 
delivers to the taxing unit the certified appraisal roll and the estimated values of properties under protest. The designated officer or employee shall certify that the officer or 
employee has accurately calculated the tax rates and used values shown for the certified appraisal roll or certified estimate. The officer or employee submits the rates to the 
governing body by Aug. 7 or as soon thereafter as practicable.

School districts do not use this form, but instead use Comptroller Form 50-859 Tax Rate Calculation Worksheet, School District without Chapter 313 Agreements or Comptroller Form 
50-884 Tax Rate Calculation Worksheet, School District with Chapter 313 Agreements.

Water districts as defined under Water Code Section 49.001(1) do not use this form, but instead use Comptroller Form 50-858 Water District Voter-Approval Tax Rate Worksheet for 
Low Tax Rate and Developing Districts or Comptroller Form 50-860 Developed Water District Voter-Approval Tax Rate Worksheet.

The Comptroller’s office provides this worksheet to assist taxing units in determining tax rates. The information provided in this worksheet is offered as technical assistance and not 
legal advice. Taxing units should consult legal counsel for interpretations of law regarding tax rate preparation and adoption.

SECTION 1: No-New-Revenue Tax Rate
The NNR tax rate enables the public to evaluate the relationship between taxes for the prior year and for the current year based on a tax rate that would produce the same amount 
of taxes (no new taxes) if applied to the same properties that are taxed in both years. When appraisal values increase, the NNR tax rate should decrease.

The NNR tax rate for a county is the sum of the NNR tax rates calculated for each type of tax the county levies.

While uncommon, it is possible for a taxing unit to provide an exemption for only maintenance and operations taxes. In this case, the taxing unit will need to calculate the NNR tax 
rate separately for the maintenance and operations tax and the debt tax, then add the two components together.

Line No-New-Revenue Tax Rate Worksheet Amount/Rate

1. 2021 total taxable value. Enter the amount of 2021 taxable value on the 2021 tax roll today. Include any adjustments since last year’s certification;
exclude Tax Code Section 25.25(d) one-fourth and one-third over-appraisal corrections from these adjustments. Exclude any property value subject 
to an appeal under Chapter 42 as of July 25 (will add undisputed value in Line 6). This total includes the taxable value of homesteads with tax ceil-
ings (will deduct in Line 2) and the captured value for tax increment financing (adjustment is made by deducting TIF taxes, as reflected in Line 17).1 $ _____________

2. 2021 tax ceilings. Counties, cities and junior college districts. Enter 2021 total taxable value of homesteads with tax ceilings. These include the 
homesteads of homeowners age 65 or older or disabled. Other taxing units enter 0. If your taxing unit adopted the tax ceiling provision in 
2021 or a prior year for homeowners age 65 or older or disabled, use this step.2

$ _____________

3. Preliminary 2021 adjusted taxable value. Subtract Line 2 from Line 1. $ _____________

4. 2021 total adopted tax rate. $ __________/$100

5.

A. Original 2021 ARB values:. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $ _____________

B. 2021 values resulting from final court decisions:. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   - $ _____________

C. 2021 value loss. Subtract B from A.3
$ _____________

6.

A. 2021 ARB certified value: . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $ _____________

B. 2021 disputed value:. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   - $ _____________

C. 2021 undisputed value. Subtract B from A. 4
$ _____________

7. 2021 Chapter 42 related adjusted values. Add Line 5C and Line 6C. $ _____________

2021 taxable value lost because court appeals of ARB decisions reduced 2021 appraised value.

2021 taxable value subject to an appeal under Chapter 42, as of July 25.

1  Tex. Tax Code § 26.012(14)
2  Tex. Tax Code § 26.012(14)
3  Tex. Tax Code § 26.012(13)
4  Tex. Tax Code § 26.012(13)

City of Lucas 972-727-8999

665 Country Club Road, Lucas, TX  75002 https://lucastexas.us

1,615,999,139

221,591,794

1,394,407,345

0.288397

16,783,499

16,209,770

573,729

350,000

53,235

296,765

870,494

                                           Page 33

comptroller.texas.gov/taxes/property-tax


2022 Tax Rate Calculation Worksheet – Taxing Units Other Than School Districts or Water Districts Form 50-856

Line No-New-Revenue Tax Rate Worksheet Amount/Rate

8. 2021 taxable value, adjusted for actual and potential court-ordered adjustments. Add Line 3 and Line 7. $ _____________

9. 2021 taxable value of property in territory the taxing unit deannexed after Jan. 1, 2021.  Enter the 2021 value of property in deannexed 
territory. 5

$ _____________

10.

A. Absolute exemptions. Use 2021 market value: . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $ _____________

B. Partial exemptions. 2022 exemption amount or 2022 percentage exemption 
times 2021 value:. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   + $ _____________

C. Value loss. Add A and B. 6
$ _____________

11.

A. 2021 market value:. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $ _____________

B. 2022 productivity or special appraised value:. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   - $ _____________

C. Value loss. Subtract B from A. 7
$ _____________

12. Total adjustments for lost value. Add Lines 9, 10C and 11C. $ _____________

13. 2021 captured value of property in a TIF. Enter the total value of 2021 captured appraised value of property taxable by a taxing unit in a tax 
increment financing zone for which 2021 taxes were deposited into the tax increment fund. 8 If the taxing unit has no captured appraised 
value in line 18D, enter 0. $ _____________

14. 2021 total value. Subtract Line 12 and Line 13 from Line 8. $ _____________

15. Adjusted 2021 total levy. Multiply Line 4 by Line 14 and divide by $100. $ _____________

16. Taxes refunded for years preceding tax year 2021. Enter the amount of taxes refunded by the taxing unit for tax years preceding tax year 
2021. Types of refunds include court decisions, Tax Code Section 25.25(b) and (c) corrections and Tax Code Section 31.11 payment errors. 
Do not include refunds for tax year 2021. This line applies only to tax years preceding tax year 2021. 9

$ _____________

17. Adjusted 2021 levy with refunds and TIF adjustment. Add Lines 15 and 16. 10
$ _____________

18.

A. Certified values:. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $ _____________

B. Counties: Include railroad rolling stock values certified by the Comptroller’s office: . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   + $ _____________

C. Pollution control and energy storage system exemption: Deduct the value of property exempted 
for the current tax year for the first time as pollution control or energy storage system property: . . . . . . . . . . .   - $ _____________

D. Tax increment financing: Deduct the 2022 captured appraised value of property taxable by a taxing 
unit in a tax increment financing zone for which the 2022 taxes will be deposited into the tax increment
fund. Do not include any new property value that will be included in Line 23 below. 12 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   - $ _____________

E. Total 2022 value. Add A and B, then subtract C and D. $ _____________

2021 taxable value lost because property first qualified for an exemption in 2022. If the taxing unit increased an original exemption, use 
the difference between the original exempted amount and the increased exempted amount. Do not include value lost due to freeport, goods-
in-transit, temporary disaster exemptions. Note that lowering the amount or percentage of an existing exemption in 2022 does not create a 
new exemption or reduce taxable value.

2021 taxable value lost because property first qualified for agricultural appraisal (1-d or 1-d-1), timber appraisal, recreational/
scenic appraisal or public access airport special appraisal in 2022. Use only properties that qualified in 2022 for the first time; do not use 
properties that qualified in 2021.

Total 2022 taxable value on the 2022 certified appraisal roll today. This value includes only certified values or certified estimate of 
values and includes the total taxable value of homesteads with tax ceilings (will deduct in Line 20). These homesteads include homeowners 
age 65 or older or disabled. 11

5  Tex. Tax Code § 26.012(15)
6  Tex. Tax Code § 26.012(15)
7  Tex. Tax Code § 26.012(15)
8  Tex. Tax Code § 26.03(c)
9  Tex. Tax Code § 26.012(13)
10  Tex. Tax Code § 26.012(13)
11  Tex. Tax Code § 26.012, 26.04(c-2)
12  Tex. Tax Code § 26.03(c)

For additional copies, visit: comptroller.texas.gov/taxes/property-tax Page 34

1,395,277,839

0

506,631

8,429,427

8,936,058

0

0

0

8,936,058

0

1,386,341,781

3,998,168

10,506

4,008,674

1,837,535,103

0

0

1,837,535,103

https://comptroller.texas.gov/taxes/property-tax


2022 Tax Rate Calculation Worksheet – Taxing Units Other Than School Districts or Water Districts Form 50-856

20. 2022 tax ceilings. Counties, cities and junior colleges enter 2022 total taxable value of homesteads with tax ceilings. These include the home- 
steads of homeowners age 65 or older or disabled. Other taxing units enter 0. If your taxing unit adopted the tax ceiling provision in 2021 or 
a prior year for homeowners age 65 or older or disabled, use this step.16

$ _____________

21. 2022 total taxable value. Add Lines 18E and 19C. Subtract Line 20. 17
$ _____________

22. Total 2022 taxable value of properties in territory annexed after Jan. 1, 2021.  Include both real and personal property. Enter the 2022 
value of property in territory annexed. 18

$ _____________

23. Total 2022 taxable value of new improvements and new personal property located in new improvements. New means the item was 
not on the appraisal roll in 2021. An improvement is a building, structure, fixture or fence erected on or affixed to land. New additions to 
exist-ing improvements may be included if the appraised value can be determined. New personal property in a new improvement must have 
been brought into the taxing unit after Jan. 1, 2021 and be located in a new improvement. New improvements do include property on which 
a tax abatement agreement has expired for 2022. 19

$ _____________

24. Total adjustments to the 2022 taxable value. Add Lines 22 and 23. $ _____________

25. Adjusted 2022 taxable value. Subtract Line 24 from Line 21. $ _____________

26. 2022 NNR tax rate. Divide Line 17 by Line 25 and multiply by $100. 20
$ __________/$100

27. COUNTIES ONLY. Add together the NNR tax rates for each type of tax the county levies. The total is the 2022 county NNR tax rate. 21
$ __________/$100

Line No-New-Revenue Tax Rate Worksheet Amount/Rate

19.

A. 2022 taxable value of properties under protest. The chief appraiser certifies a list of properties still
under ARB protest. The list shows the appraisal district’s value and the taxpayer’s claimed value, if any, 
or an estimate of the value if the taxpayer wins. For each of the properties under protest, use the lowest
of these values. Enter the total value under protest. 14. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $ _____________

B. 2022 value of properties not under protest or included on certified appraisal roll. The chief 
appraiser gives taxing units a list of those taxable properties that the chief appraiser knows about but 
are not included in the appraisal roll certification. These properties also are not on the list of properties 
that are still under protest. On this list of properties, the chief appraiser includes the market value, 
appraised value and exemptions for the preceding year and a reasonable estimate of the market value, 
appraised value and exemptions for the current year. Use the lower market, appraised or taxable value 
(as appropriate). Enter the total value of property not on the certified roll. 15 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   + $ _____________

C. Total value under protest or not certified. Add A and B. $ _____________

Total value of properties under protest or not included on certified appraisal roll. 13

Line Voter-Approval Tax Rate Worksheet Amount/Rate

28. 2021 M&O tax rate. Enter the 2021 M&O tax rate. $ __________/$100

29. 2021 taxable value, adjusted for actual and potential court-ordered adjustments. Enter the amount in Line 8 of the No-New-Revenue 
Tax Rate Worksheet. $ _____________

SECTION 2: Voter-Approval Tax Rate
The voter-approval tax rate is the highest tax rate that a taxing unit may adopt without holding an election to seek voter approval of the rate. The voter-approval tax rate is split 
into two separate rates:

1. Maintenance and Operations (M&O) Tax Rate: The M&O portion is the tax rate that is needed to raise the same amount of taxes that the taxing unit levied in the prior year 
plus the applicable percentage allowed by law. This rate accounts for such things as salaries, utilities and day-to-day operations.

2. Debt Rate: The debt rate includes the debt service necessary to pay the taxing unit’s debt payments in the coming year. This rate accounts for principal and interest on bonds 
and other debt secured by property tax revenue.

The voter-approval tax rate for a county is the sum of the voter-approval tax rates calculated for each type of tax the county levies. In most cases the voter-approval tax rate 
exceeds the no-new-revenue tax rate, but occasionally decreases in a taxing unit’s debt service will cause the NNR tax rate to be higher than the voter-approval tax rate.

13  Tex. Tax Code § 26.01(c) and (d)
14  Tex. Tax Code § 26.01(c)
15  Tex. Tax Code § 26.01(d)
16  Tex. Tax Code § 26.012(6)(B)
17  Tex. Tax Code § 26.012(6)
18  Tex. Tax Code § 26.012(17)
19  Tex. Tax Code § 26.012(17)
20  Tex. Tax Code § 26.04(c)
21  Tex. Tax Code § 26.04(d)

For additional copies, visit: comptroller.texas.gov/taxes/property-tax Page 35

68,908,445

0

68,908,445

254,199,805

1,652,243,743

0

82,877,072

82,877,072

1,569,366,671

0.255432

0.185743

1,395,277,839

https://comptroller.texas.gov/taxes/property-tax


2022 Tax Rate Calculation Worksheet – Taxing Units Other Than School Districts or Water Districts Form 50-856

Line Voter-Approval Tax Rate Worksheet Amount/Rate

30. Total 2021 M&O levy. Multiply Line 28 by Line 29 and divide by $100 $ _____________ 

31.

A. M&O taxes refunded for years preceding tax year 2021. Enter the amount of M&O taxes
refunded in the preceding year for taxes before that year. Types of refunds include court decisions,
Tax Code Section 25.25(b) and (c) corrections and Tax Code Section 31.11 payment errors. Do not 
include refunds for tax year 2021. This line applies only to tax years preceding tax year 2021. . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  + $ _____________

B. 2021 taxes in TIF. Enter the amount of taxes paid into the tax increment fund for a reinvestment
zone as agreed by the taxing unit. If the taxing unit has no 2022 captured appraised value in 
Line 18D, enter 0. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  – $ _____________

C. 2021 transferred function. If discontinuing all of a department, function or activity and
transferring it to another taxing unit by written contract, enter the amount spent by the taxing 
unit discontinuing the function in the 12 months preceding the month of this calculation. If the 
taxing unit did not operate this function for this 12-month period, use the amount spent in the last 
full fiscal year in which the taxing unit operated the function. The taxing unit discontinuing the function
will subtract this amount in D below. The taxing unit receiving the function will add this amount in 
D below. Other taxing units enter 0. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  +/- $ _____________

D. 2021 M&O levy adjustments. Subtract B from A. For taxing unit with C, subtract if
discontinuing function and add if receiving function. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $ _____________

E. Add Line 30 to 31D. $ _____________

32. Adjusted 2022 taxable value. Enter the amount in Line 25 of the No-New-Revenue Tax Rate Worksheet. $ _____________

33. 2022 NNR M&O rate (unadjusted). Divide Line 31E by Line 32 and multiply by $100. $ __________/$100

34.

A. 2022 state criminal justice mandate. Enter the amount spent by a county in the previous 12 months
providing for the maintenance and operation cost of keeping inmates in county-paid facilities after they 
have been sentenced. Do not include any state reimbursement received by the county for the same purpose. $ _____________

B. 2021 state criminal justice mandate. Enter the amount spent by a county in the 12 months prior to
the previous 12 months providing for the maintenance and operation cost of keeping inmates in 
county-paid facilities after they have been sentenced. Do not include any state reimbursement received 
by the county for the same purpose. Enter zero if this is the first time the mandate applies. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  – $ _____________

C. Subtract B from A and divide by Line 32 and multiply by $100. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $ __________/$100

D. Enter the rate calculated in C. If not applicable, enter 0. $ __________/$100

35.

A. 2022 indigent health care expenditures. Enter the amount paid by a taxing unit providing for the
maintenance and operation cost of providing indigent health care for the period beginning on 
July 1, 2021 and ending on June 30, 2022, less any state assistance received for the same purpose. . . .  . . . . .   $ _____________

B. 2021 indigent health care expenditures. Enter the amount paid by a taxing unit providing for
the maintenance and operation cost of providing indigent health care for the period 
beginning on July 1, 2020 and ending on June 30, 2021, less any state assistance received 
for the same purpose.. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  – $ _____________

C. Subtract B from A and divide by Line 32 and multiply by $100. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $ __________/$100

D. Enter the rate calculated in C. If not applicable, enter 0. $ __________/$100

Adjusted 2021 levy for calculating NNR M&O rate.

Rate adjustment for state criminal justice mandate. 23

Rate adjustment for indigent health care expenditures. 24

22  [Reserved for expansion]
23  Tex. Tax Code § 26.044
24  Tex. Tax Code § 26.0441

For additional copies, visit: comptroller.texas.gov/taxes/property-tax Page 36

2,591,630

6,618

0

0

6,618

2,598,248

1,569,366,671

0.165560

0

0

0

0

0

0

0.000000

0

https://comptroller.texas.gov/taxes/property-tax


2022 Tax Rate Calculation Worksheet – Taxing Units Other Than School Districts or Water Districts Form 50-856

Line Voter-Approval Tax Rate Worksheet Amount/Rate

36. Rate adjustment for county indigent defense compensation. 25

A. 2022 indigent defense compensation expenditures. Enter the amount paid by a county to provide 
appointed counsel for indigent individuals and fund the operations of a public defender's office under 
Article 26.044, Code of Criminal Procedure for the period beginning on July 1, 2021 and ending on 
June 30, 2022, less any state grants received by the county for the same purpose . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 

B. 2021 indigent defense compensation expenditures. Enter the amount paid by a county to provide
appointed counsel for indigent individuals and fund the operations of a public defender's office under
Article 26.044, Code of Criminal Procedure for the period beginning on July 1, 2020 and ending on
June 30, 2021, less any state grants received by the county for the same purpose. .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 

C. Subtract B from A and divide by Line 32 and multiply by $100. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

D. Multiply B by 0.05 and divide by Line 32 and multiply by $100.. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

$ _____________

$ _____________

$ __________/$100

$ __________/$100

E. Enter the lesser of C and D. If not applicable, enter 0. $ __________/$100

37. Rate adjustment for county hospital expenditures. 26

A. 2022 eligible county hospital expenditures. Enter the amount paid by the county or municipality 
to maintain and operate an eligible county hospital for the period beginning on July 1, 2021 and 
ending on June 30, 2022. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $ _____________

B. 2021 eligible county hospital expenditures. Enter the amount paid by the county or municipality
to maintain and operate an eligible county hospital for the period beginning on July 1, 2020 and 
ending on June 30, 2021. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $ _____________

C. Subtract B from A and divide by Line 32 and multiply by $100. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $ __________/$100

D. Multiply B by 0.08 and divide by Line 32 and multiply by $100.. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $ __________/$100

E. Enter the lesser of C and D, if applicable. If not applicable, enter 0. $ __________/$100

40.

A. Enter the amount of additional sales tax collected and spent on M&O expenses in 2021, if any. 
Counties must exclude any amount that was spent for economic development grants from the amount
of sales tax spent . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $ _____________

B. Divide Line 40A by Line 32 and multiply by $100 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $ __________/$100

C. Add Line 40B to Line 39. $ __________/$100

39. Adjusted 2022 NNR M&O rate. Add Lines 33, 34D, 35D, 36E, and 37E. Subtract Line 38D. $ __________/$100

38.

A. Amount appropriated for public safety in 2021. Enter the amount of money appropriated for public 
safety in the budget adopted by the municipality for the preceding fiscal year . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $ _____________

B. Expenditures for public safety in 2021. Enter the amount of money spent by the municipality for public
safety during the preceding fiscal year . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $ _____________

C. Subtract B from A and divide by Line 32 and multiply by $100 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $ __________/$100

D. Enter the rate calculated in C. If not applicable, enter 0. $ __________/$100

41. 2022 voter-approval M&O rate. Enter the rate as calculated by the appropriate scenario below. $ __________/$100

Rate adjustment for defunding municipality. This adjustment only applies to a municipality that is considered to be a defunding municipality 
for the current tax year under Chapter 109, Local Government Code. Chapter 109, Local Government Code only applies to municipalities with a 
population of more than 250,000 and includes a written determination by the Office of the Governor. See Tax Code 26.0444 for more information.

Adjustment for 2021 sales tax specifically to reduce property values. Cities, counties and hospital districts that collected and spent addi-
tional sales tax on M&O expenses in 2021 should complete this line. These entities will deduct the sales tax gain rate for 2022 in Section 3. 
Other taxing units, enter zero.

Special Taxing Unit. If the taxing unit qualifies as a special taxing unit, multiply Line 40C by 1.08.
- or -
Other Taxing Unit. If the taxing unit does not qualify as a special taxing unit, multiply Line 40C by 1.035.

25  Tex. Tax Code § 26.0442
26  Tex. Tax Code § 26.0443

For additional copies, visit: comptroller.texas.gov/taxes/property-tax Page 37

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0.165560

0

0

0.165560

0.171354

https://comptroller.texas.gov/taxes/property-tax


2022 Tax Rate Calculation Worksheet – Taxing Units Other Than School Districts or Water Districts Form 50-856

Line Voter-Approval Tax Rate Worksheet Amount/Rate

D41. Disaster Line 41 (D41): 2022 voter-approval M&O rate for taxing unit affected by disaster declaration. If the taxing unit is located in an 
area declared a disaster area and at least one person is granted an exemption under Tax Code Section 11.35 for property located in the taxing 
unit, the governing body may direct the person calculating the voter-approval tax rate to calculate in the manner provided for a special taxing 
unit. The taxing unit shall continue to calculate the voter-approval tax rate in this manner until the earlier of 

If the taxing unit qualifies under this scenario, multiply Line 40C by 1.08. 27  If the taxing unit does not qualify, do not complete
Disaster Line 41 (Line D41). $ __________/$100

42.

A. Debt also includes contractual payments to other taxing units that have incurred debts on behalf of this taxing unit, if those debts 
meet the four conditions above. Include only amounts that will be paid from property tax revenue. Do not include appraisal district 
budget payments. If the governing body of a taxing unit authorized or agreed to authorize a bond, warrant, certificate of obligation, or 
other evidence of indebtedness on or after Sept. 1, 2022, verify if it meets the amended definition of debt before including it here. 28 

Enter debt amount . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $ _____________
B. Subtract unencumbered fund amount used to reduce total debt. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  – $ _____________

C. Subtract certified amount spent from sales tax to reduce debt (enter zero if none) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  – $ _____________

D. Subtract amount paid from other resources . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  – $ _____________

E. Adjusted debt. Subtract B, C and D from A. $ _____________

43. Certified 2021 excess debt collections. Enter the amount certified by the collector. 29
$ _____________

44. Adjusted 2022 debt. Subtract Line 43 from Line 42E. $ _____________

45.

A. Enter the 2022 anticipated collection rate certified by the collector. 30 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  ____________%

B. Enter the 2021 actual collection rate. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  ____________%

C. Enter the 2020 actual collection rate. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  ____________%

D. Enter the 2019 actual collection rate. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  ____________%

E. If the anticipated collection rate in A is lower than actual collection rates in B, C and D, enter the lowest
collection rate from B, C and D. If the anticipated rate in A is higher than at least one of the rates in the 
prior three years, enter the rate from A. Note that the rate can be greater than 100%. 31

____________%

46. 2022 debt adjusted for collections. Divide Line 44 by Line 45E. $ _____________

47. 2022 total taxable value. Enter the amount on Line 21 of the No-New-Revenue Tax Rate Worksheet. $ _____________

48. 2022 debt rate. Divide Line 46 by Line 47 and multiply by $100. $ __________/$100

49. 2022 voter-approval tax rate. Add Lines 41 and 48. $ __________/$100

D49. Disaster Line 49 (D49): 2022 voter-approval tax rate for taxing unit affected by disaster declaration. Complete this line if the taxing 
unit calculated the voter-approval tax rate in the manner provided for a special taxing unit on Line D41. 
Add Line D41 and 48. $ __________/$100

1) the first year in which total taxable value on the certified appraisal roll exceeds the total taxable value of
the tax year in which the disaster occurred, or 

2) the third tax year after the tax year in which the disaster occurred

Total 2022 debt to be paid with property taxes and additional sales tax revenue. Debt means the interest and principal that will be 
paid on debts that:

(1) are paid by property taxes,
(2) are secured by property taxes,
(3) are scheduled for payment over a period longer than one year, and
(4) are not classified in the taxing unit’s budget as M&O expenses.

2022 anticipated collection rate.

27  Tex. Tax Code § 26.042(a)
28  Tex. Tax Code § 26.012(7)
29  Tex. Tax Code § 26.012(10) and 26.04(b)
30  Tex. Tax Code § 26.04(b)
31  Tex. Tax Code §§ 26.04(h), (h-1) and (h-2)

For additional copies, visit: comptroller.texas.gov/taxes/property-tax Page 38

0

1,360,608

0

0

0

1,360,608

167,162

1,193,446

100.00

100.90

100.05

102.13

100.05

1,192,849

1,652,243,743

0.072195

0.243549

https://comptroller.texas.gov/taxes/property-tax


2022 Tax Rate Calculation Worksheet – Taxing Units Other Than School Districts or Water Districts Form 50-856

Line Voter-Approval Tax Rate Worksheet Amount/Rate

50. COUNTIES ONLY. Add together the voter-approval tax rates for each type of tax the county levies. The total is the 2022 county voter-approval 
tax rate. $ __________/$100

Line Additional Sales and Use Tax Worksheet Amount/Rate

51. Taxable Sales. For taxing units that adopted the sales tax in November 2021 or May 2022, enter the Comptroller’s estimate of taxable sales for 
the previous four quarters. 32 Estimates of taxable sales may be obtained through the Comptroller’s Allocation Historical Summary webpage. 
Taxing units that adopted the sales tax before November 2021, enter 0. $ _____________

52. Estimated sales tax revenue. Counties exclude any amount that is or will be spent for economic development grants from the amount of esti-
mated sales tax revenue. 33

$ _____________

53. 2022 total taxable value. Enter the amount from Line 21 of the No-New-Revenue Tax Rate Worksheet. $ _____________

54. Sales tax adjustment rate. Divide Line 52 by Line 53 and multiply by $100. $ __________/$100

55. 2022 NNR tax rate, unadjusted for sales tax.35 Enter the rate from Line 26 or 27, as applicable, on the No-New-Revenue Tax Rate Worksheet. $ __________/$100

56. 2022 NNR tax rate, adjusted for sales tax.
Taxing units that adopted the sales tax in November 2021 or in May 2022. Subtract Line 54 from Line 55. Skip to Line 57 if 
you adopted the additional sales tax before November 2021. $ __________/$100

57. 2022 voter-approval tax rate, unadjusted for sales tax.36 Enter the rate from Line 49, Line D49 (disaster) or Line 50 (counties) as applicable, 
of the Voter-Approval Tax Rate Worksheet. $ __________/$100

58. 2022 voter-approval tax rate, adjusted for sales tax. Subtract Line 54 from Line 57. $ __________/$100

Line Voter-Approval Rate Adjustment for Pollution Control Requirements Worksheet Amount/Rate

59. Certified expenses from the Texas Commission on Environmental Quality (TCEQ). Enter the amount certified in the determination letter 
from TCEQ. 37 The taxing unit shall provide its tax assessor-collector with a copy of the letter. 38 $ _____________

60. 2022 total taxable value. Enter the amount from Line 21 of the No-New-Revenue Tax Rate Worksheet. $ _____________

61. Additional rate for pollution control. Divide Line 59 by Line 60 and multiply by $100. $ __________/$100

62. 2022 voter-approval tax rate, adjusted for pollution control. Add Line 61 to one of the following lines (as applicable): Line 49, Line 
D49 (disaster), Line 50 (counties) or Line 58 (taxing units with the additional sales tax). $ __________/$100

SECTION 3: NNR Tax Rate and Voter-Approval Tax Rate Adjustments for Additional Sales Tax to Reduce Property Taxes
Cities, counties and hospital districts may levy a sales tax specifically to reduce property taxes. Local voters by election must approve imposing or abolishing the additional sales 
tax. If approved, the taxing unit must reduce its NNR and voter-approval tax rates to offset the expected sales tax revenue.
This section should only be completed by a county, city or hospital district that is required to adjust its NNR tax rate and/or voter-approval tax rate because it adopted the 
additional sales tax.

Taxing units that adopted the sales tax in November 2021 or in May 2022. Multiply the amount on Line 51 by the sales tax rate 
(.01, .005 or .0025, as applicable) and multiply the result by .95. 34

- or -
Taxing units that adopted the sales tax before November 2021. Enter the sales tax revenue for the previous four quarters. Do not
multiply by .95.

SECTION 4: Voter-Approval Tax Rate Adjustment for Pollution Control
A taxing unit may raise its rate for M&O funds used to pay for a facility, device or method for the control of air, water or land pollution. This includes any land, structure, building, 
installation, excavation, machinery, equipment or device that is used, constructed, acquired or installed wholly or partly to meet or exceed pollution control requirements. The 
taxing unit’s expenses are those necessary to meet the requirements of a permit issued by the Texas Commission on Environmental Quality (TCEQ). The taxing unit must provide 
the tax assessor with a copy of the TCEQ letter of determination that states the portion of the cost of the installation for pollution control.

This section should only be completed by a taxing unit that uses M&O funds to pay for a facility, device or method for the control of air, water or land pollution.

32  Tex. Tax Code § 26.041(d)
33  Tex. Tax Code § 26.041(i)
34  Tex. Tax Code § 26.041(d)
35  Tex. Tax Code § 26.04(c)
36  Tex. Tax Code § 26.04(c)
37  Tex. Tax Code § 26.045(d)
38  Tex. Tax Code § 26.045(i)

For additional copies, visit: comptroller.texas.gov/taxes/property-tax Page 39

0.243549

0.243549

0

1,652,243,743

0

0.243549

0

0

0

1,652,243,743

0

0.255432

0.255432

https://comptroller.texas.gov/taxes/property-tax


2022 Tax Rate Calculation Worksheet – Taxing Units Other Than School Districts or Water Districts Form 50-856

SECTION 5: Voter-Approval Tax Rate Adjustment for Unused Increment Rate

Line Unused Increment Rate Worksheet Amount/Rate

63. 2021 unused increment rate. Subtract the 2021 actual tax rate and the 2021 unused increment rate from the 2021 voter-approval tax rate. If 
the number is less than zero, enter zero. $ __________/$100

64. 2020 unused increment rate. Subtract the 2020 actual tax rate and the 2020 unused increment rate from the 2020 voter-approval tax rate. If 
the number is less than zero, enter zero. $ __________/$100

65. 2019 unused increment rate. Subtract the 2019 actual tax rate and the 2019 unused increment rate from the 2019 voter-approval tax rate. If 
the number is less than zero, enter zero. If the year is prior to 2020, enter zero. $ __________/$100

66. 2022 unused increment rate. Add Lines 63, 64 and 65. $ __________/$100

67. 2022 voter-approval tax rate, adjusted for unused increment rate. Add Line 66 to one of the following lines (as applicable): Line 49, Line 
D49 (disaster), Line 50 (counties), Line 58 (taxing units with the additional sales tax) or Line 62 (taxing units with pollution control). $ __________/$100

Line De Minimis Rate Worksheet Amount/Rate

68. Adjusted 2022 NNR M&O tax rate. Enter the rate from Line 39 of the Voter-Approval Tax Rate Worksheet $ __________/$100

69. 2022 total taxable value. Enter the amount on Line 21 of the No-New-Revenue Tax Rate Worksheet. $ _____________

70. Rate necessary to impose $500,000 in taxes. Divide $500,000 by Line 69 and multiply by $100. $ __________/$100

71. 2022 debt rate. Enter the rate from Line 48 of the Voter-Approval Tax Rate Worksheet. $ __________/$100

72. De minimis rate. Add Lines 68, 70 and 71. $ __________/$100

The unused increment rate is the rate equal to the difference between the adopted tax rate and voter-approval tax rate before the unused increment rate for the prior three years. 39 In 
a year where a taxing unit adopts a rate by applying any portion of the unused increment rate, the unused increment rate for that year would be zero.

The difference between the adopted tax rate and voter-approval tax rate is considered zero in the following scenarios:

• a tax year before 2020; 40

• a tax year in which the municipality is a defunding municipality, as defined by Tax Code Section 26.0501(a); 41 or

• after Jan. 1, 2022, a tax year in which the comptroller determines that the county implemented a budget reduction or reallocation described by Local Government 
Code Section 120.002(a) without the required voter approval. 42

This section should only be completed by a taxing unit that does not meet the definition of a special taxing unit. 43

SECTION 6: De Minimis Rate
The de minimis rate is the rate equal to the sum of the no-new-revenue maintenance and operations rate, the rate that will raise $500,000, and the current debt rate for a taxing unit. 44

This section should only be completed by a taxing unit that is a municipality of less than 30,000 or a taxing unit that does not meet the definition of a special taxing unit. 45

SECTION 7: Voter-Approval Tax Rate Adjustment for Emergency Revenue Rate
In the tax year after the end of the disaster calculation time period detailed in Tax Code Section 26.042(a), a taxing unit that calculated its voter-approval tax rate in the manner 
provided for a special taxing unit due to a disaster must calculate its emergency revenue rate and reduce its voter-approval tax rate for that year.46

Similarly, if a taxing unit adopted a tax rate that exceeded its voter-approval tax rate, calculated normally, without holding an election to respond to a disaster, as allowed by Tax 
Code Section 26.042(d), in the prior year, it must also reduce its voter-approval tax rate for the current tax year. 47

This section will apply to a taxing unit other than a special taxing unit that:

• directed the designated officer or employee to calculate the voter-approval tax rate of the taxing unit in the manner provided for a special taxing unit in the prior year; and

• the current year is the first tax year in which the total taxable value of property taxable by the taxing unit as shown on the appraisal roll for the taxing unit submitted by the 
assessor for the taxing unit to the governing body exceeds the total taxable value of property taxable by the taxing unit on January 1 of the tax year in which the disaster 
occurred or the disaster occurred four years ago.

39  Tex. Tax Code § 26.013(a)
40  Tex. Tax Code § 26.013(c)
41  Tex. Tax Code §§ 26.0501(a) and (c)
42  Tex. Local Gov’t Code § 120.007(d), effective Jan. 1, 2022
43  Tex. Tax Code § 26.063(a)(1)
44  Tex. Tax Code § 26.012(8-a)
45  Tex. Tax Code § 26.063(a)(1)
46  Tex. Tax Code §26.042(b)
47  Tex. Tax Code §26.042(f )

For additional copies, visit: comptroller.texas.gov/taxes/property-tax Page 40

0.005274

0.000000

0

0.005274

0.248823

0.165560

1,652,243,743

0.030261

0.072195

0.268016

https://comptroller.texas.gov/taxes/property-tax


2022 Tax Rate Calculation Worksheet – Taxing Units Other Than School Districts or Water Districts Form 50-856

This section will apply to a taxing unit in a disaster area that adopted a tax rate greater than its voter-approval tax rate without holding an election in the prior year.

Note: This section does not apply if a taxing unit is continuing to calculate its voter-approval tax rate in the manner provided for a special taxing unit because it is still within 
the disaster calculation time period detailed in Tax Code Section 26.042(a) because it has not met the conditions in Tax Code Section 26.042(a)(1) or (2).

Line Emergency Revenue Rate Worksheet Amount/Rate

73. 2021 adopted tax rate. Enter the rate in Line 4 of the No-New-Revenue Tax Rate Worksheet. $ __________/$100

75. Increase in 2021 tax rate due to disaster. Subtract Line 74 from Line 73. $ __________/$100

76. Adjusted 2021 taxable value. Enter the amount in Line 14 of the No-New-Revenue Tax Rate Worksheet. $ _____________

77. Emergency revenue. Multiply Line 75 by Line 76 and divide by $100. $ _____________

78. Adjusted 2022 taxable value. Enter the amount in Line 25 of the No-New-Revenue Tax Rate Worksheet. $ _____________

79. Emergency revenue rate. Divide Line 77 by Line 78 and multiply by $100. 49
$ __________/$100

80. 2022 voter-approval tax rate, adjusted for emergency revenue. Subtract Line 79 from one of the following lines (as applicable): Line 49, 
Line D49 (disaster), Line 50 (counties), Line 58 (taxing units with the additional sales tax), Line 62 (taxing units with pollution control) or Line 67 
(taxing units with the unused increment rate). $ __________/$100

74.

$ __________/$100

Adjusted 2021 voter-approval tax rate. Use the taxing unit’s Tax Rate Calculation Worksheets from the prior year(s) to complete this line.

If a disaster occurred in 2021 and the taxing unit calculated its 2021 voter-approval tax rate using a multiplier of 1.08 on Disaster Line 41 
(D41) of the 2021 worksheet due to a disaster, enter the 2021 voter-approval tax rate as calculated using a multiplier of 1.035 from Line 49.
-  or -
If a disaster occurred prior to 2021 for which the taxing unit continued to calculate its voter-approval tax rate using a multiplier of 1.08 on 
Disaster Line 41 (D41) in 2021, complete the separate Adjusted Voter-Approval Tax Rate for Taxing Units in Disaster Area Calculation Worksheet to 
recalculate the voter-approval tax rate the taxing unit would have calculated in 2021 if it had generated revenue based on an adopted tax rate 
using a multiplier of 1.035 in the year(s) following the disaster. 48 Enter the final adjusted 2021 voter-approval tax rate from the worksheet.
-  or -
If the taxing unit adopted a tax rate above the 2021 voter-approval tax rate without calculating a disaster tax rate or holding an election due 
to a disaster, no recalculation is necessary. Enter the voter-approval tax rate from the prior year’s worksheet.

SECTION 8: Total Tax Rate

Indicate the applicable total tax rates as calculated above.

No-new-revenue tax rate. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ __________/$100 
As applicable, enter the 2022 NNR tax rate from: Line 26, Line 27 (counties), or Line 56 (adjusted for sales 
tax). Indicate the line number used: ______

Vot over-appr al tax rate . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ __________/$100 
As applicable, enter the 2022 voter-approval tax rate from: Line 49, Line D49 (disaster), Line 50 (counties), Line 58 (adjusted for sales 
tax), Line 62 (adjusted for pollution control), Line 67 (adjusted for unused increment), or Line 80 (adjusted for emergency revenue). 
Indicate the line number used: ______

De minimis rate. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ __________/$100 
If applicable, enter the 2022 de minimis rate from Line 72.

SECTION 9: Taxing Unit Representative Name and Signature

Enter the name of the person preparing the tax rate as authorized by the governing body of the taxing unit. By signing below, you certify that you are the designated officer or 
employee of the taxing unit and have accurately calculated the tax rates using values that are the same as the values shown in the taxing unit’s certified appraisal roll or certified 
estimate of taxable value, in accordance with requirements in Tax Code. 50

 ____________________________________________________________
Printed Name of Taxing Unit Representative

 ____________________________________________________________  ________________________________________
Taxing Unit Representative Date

48  Tex. Tax Code §26.042(c)
49  Tex. Tax Code §26.042(b)
50  Tex. Tax Code §§ 26.04(c-2) and (d-2)

For additional copies, visit: comptroller.texas.gov/taxes/property-tax Page 41

0.255432

0.248823

0.268016

0.288397

1,386,341,781

0

0.288397

3,998,168

1,569,366,671

0

0.248823

26

67

Jayna Dean

7/21/2022

https://comptroller.texas.gov/taxes/property-tax


 
 

CITY OF LUCAS 
NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING 

PROPOSED OPERATING BUDGET  
FISCAL YEAR 2022-2023 

 
The City of Lucas will conduct a public hearing for the proposed operating budget for fiscal year 2022-2023 on 
Thursday, September 1, 2022 at 6:35 pm (or immediately following the Lucas Fire Control, Prevention and 
EMS District meeting to be held at 6:30 pm). The adoption of the ordinance approving the budget will occur 
following the public hearing. The meeting will take place at City Hall, located at 665 Country Club, Lucas, 
Texas 75002. 

 
THIS BUDGET WILL RAISE MORE TOTAL PROPERTY TAXES 
THAN LAST YEAR’S BUDGET BY $393,833 OR 9.76%, AND OF 
THAT AMOUNT, $222,124 IS TAX REVENUE TO BE RAISED 
FROM NEW PROPERTY ADDED TO THE TAX ROLL THIS 
YEAR. 

 
You may attend this public hearing and make your views known.  A copy of the proposed budget is on file with 
the City Secretary’s office located at 665 Country Club, Lucas, Texas 75002.  It is also available on the City’s 
website at www.lucastexas.us. 

 

http://www.lucastexas.us/


Item No. 05  
 
 
 

 

City of Lucas 
City Council Agenda Request 

September 1, 2022 
 

Requester:  Finance Director Liz Exum 
 
Agenda Item Request  
 
Public hearing to consider the tax rate for Fiscal Year 2022-2023. 
 
Background Information  
 
At the City Council meeting on August 18, 2022, City Council approved placing a public notice 
in the City’s official newspaper, the Allen American, using a proposed tax rate of $0.268016 
($0.195821 M&O and $0.072195 Debt) per $100 of valuation. The City Council can adopt a rate 
that is lower than the published proposed rate but cannot exceed it. 
 
This is the one required public hearing. Consideration and action by the City Council will occur 
during Agenda Item 8 following the public hearing. 
 
For reference, the tax calculations for the 2022-2023 tax year from the Collin County Tax 
Assessor-Collector are: 
 

• Voter-Approval tax rate - $0.248823 ($0.176628 M&O and $0.072195 Debt)      
• No-New-Revenue tax rate - $0.255432 ($0.183237 M&O and $0.072195 Debt) 
• De Minimis tax rate - $0.268016 ($0.195821 M&O and $0.072195 Debt) 

 
The adoption of Ordinance 2022-09-00959 approving the tax rate for fiscal year 2022-2023 is 
during Agenda Item 8 in this City Council agenda packet. 
 
Attachments/Supporting Documentation  
 
1. Notice of Public Hearing 
 
Budget/Financial Impact  
 
The proposed property tax rate is included in the proposed budget for fiscal year 2022-2023. 
 
Recommendation  
 
NA 
 
Motion  
 
NA 



NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING 
ON TAX INCREASE 

A tax rate of $0.268016 per $100 valuation has been proposed by the governing body of City of Lucas. 
PROPOSED TAX RATE $0.268016 per $100
NO-NEW-REVENUE TAX RATE $0.255432 per $100
VOTER-APPROVAL TAX RATE $0.248823 per $100
DE MINIMIS RATE $0.268016 per $100

The no-new-revenue tax rate is the tax rate for the 2022 tax year that will raise the same amount of property 
tax revenue for City of Lucas from the same properties in both the 2021 tax year and the 2022 tax year.

The voter-approval rate is the highest tax rate that City of Lucas may adopt without holding an election to 
seek voter approval of the rate, unless the de minimis rate for City of Lucas exceeds the voter-approval rate 
for City of Lucas.

The de minimis rate is the rate equal to the sum of the no-new-revenue maintenance and operations rate for 
City of Lucas, the rate that will raise $500,000, and the current debt rate for City of Lucas.

The proposed tax rate is greater than the no-new-revenue tax rate. This means that City of Lucas is proposing 
to increase property taxes for the 2022 tax year.

A PUBLIC HEARING ON THE PROPOSED TAX RATE WILL BE HELD ON September 1, 2022 AT 
6:35 PM AT City of Lucas City Hall, 665 Country Club Road, Lucas, TX 75002.

The proposed tax rate is greater than the voter-approval tax rate but not greater than the de minimis rate. 
However, the proposed tax rate exceeds the rate that allows voters to petition for an election under Section 
26.075, Tax Code. If City of Lucas adopts the proposed tax rate, the qualified voters of the City of Lucas 
may petition the City of Lucas to require an election to be held to determine whether to reduce the proposed 
tax rate. If a majority of the voters reject the proposed tax rate, the tax rate of the City of Lucas will be the 
voter-approval tax rate of the City of Lucas.
YOUR TAXES OWED UNDER ANY OF THE RATES MENTIONED ABOVE CAN BE CALCULATED 

AS FOLLOWS:

Property tax amount= (tax rate) x (taxable value of your property)/100 

FOR the proposal: Jim Olk, Mayor Kathleen Peele, Mayor Pro Tem 
Tim Baney, Council Member Philip Lawrence, Council Member 
David Keer, Council Member Tim Johnson, Council Member 

AGAINST the proposal: Debbie Fisher, Council Member 

PRESENT and not voting: 

ABSENT: 

Visit Texas.gov/PropertyTaxes to find a link to your local property tax database on which you can easily 
access information regarding your property taxes, including information about proposed tax rates and 
scheduled public hearings of each entity that taxes your property.

The 86th Texas Legislature modified the manner in which the voter-approval tax rate is calculated to limit 



the rate of growth of property taxes in the state.

The following table compares the taxes imposed on the average residence homestead by City of Lucas last 
year to the taxes proposed to be imposed on the average residence homestead by City of Lucas this year.

2021 2022 Change

Total tax rate (per 
$100 of value) 

$0.288397 $0.268016 decrease of -0.020381, or 
-7.07% 

Average homestead 
taxable value 

$637,234 $842,488 increase of 205,254, or 
32.21% 

Tax on average 
homestead 

$1,837.76 $2,258.00 increase of 420.24, or 
22.87% 

Total tax levy on all 
properties 

$4,034,445 $4,428,278 increase of 393,833, or 
9.76% 

For assistance with tax calculations, please contact the tax assessor for City of Lucas at 972-547-5020 or 
taxassessor@collincountytx.gov, or visit www.lucastexas.us for more information.



Item No. 06  
 
 
 

 

City of Lucas 
City Council Agenda Request 

September 1, 2022 
 

Requester:  Councilmember Tim Johnson 
 
Agenda Item Request  
 
Presentation by the Friends of Lucas Fire-Rescue to donate a barn quilt for the City of Lucas. 
 
Background Information  
 
The Friends of Lucas Fire-Rescue has completed the barn quilt to be donated and displayed on 
the pavilion at the Community Park for the City of Lucas. 
 
At the City Council meeting on April 21, 2022, Friends of Lucas Fire-Rescue informed City 
Council they would like to donate a four-foot by four-foot barn quilt to display on the pavilion at 
the Community Park. City Council requested that the Parks and Open Space Board work with the 
vendor on a barn quilt design. 
 
At the Parks and Open Space Board meeting on May 24, 2022, the Parks and Open Space Board 
reviewed several designs and selected a barn quilt design to be displayed on the pavilion. 
 
Attachments/Supporting Documentation  
 
1. Barn Quilt Design 
 
Budget/Financial Impact  
 
NA 
 
Recommendation  
 
NA 
 
Motion  
 
There is no motion required. 



Barn Quilt Design by Friends of Lucas Fire-Rescue 
 

 



Item No. 07  
 
 
 

 

City of Lucas 
City Council Agenda Request 

September 1, 2022 
 

Requester: Finance Director Liz Exum 
 
Agenda Item Request  
 
Consider adopting Ordinance 2022-09-00958 approving the budget for the fiscal year beginning 
October 1, 2022 and ending September 30, 2023. 
 
Background Information  
 
Prior to this meeting, the City of Lucas followed public notice requirements, held a public 
hearing on September 1, 2022 (Agenda Item 4) where the proposed budget was considered, and 
interested taxpayers were given the opportunity to be heard by City Council.   
 
The proposed budget was presented at the Budget Workshop on July 21, 2022 and City Council 
meeting on August 18, 2022. This proposed budget is prepared using the certified assessed 
valuation from the Collin County Appraisal District and the proposed calculated De Minimis tax 
rate of $0.268016. The proposed budget for fiscal year 2022-2023 shows the total operating 
excess revenues over expenditures in the amount of $12,615 ($1,422 in General Fund and 
$11,193 in Water Fund). 
 
During the 2007 legislative session, House Bill 3195 was passed amending Section 102.007 of 
the Local Government Code. Subsection C was added to state that the adoption of a budget that 
requires raising more revenue from property taxes than in the previous year requires a separate 
vote of the governing body to ratify the property tax increase reflected in the budget. A vote 
under this subsection is in addition to, and separate from, the vote to adopt the budget or vote to 
set the tax rate as required by Chapter 26 of the Tax Code. 
 
Attachments/Supporting Documentation  
 
1. Ordinance 2022-09-00958 City of Lucas Budget for Fiscal Year 2022-2023 
 
Budget/Financial Impact  
 
The financial impact for the proposed budget is varied and is outlined in detail in the attached 
budget. 
 
Recommendation  
 
Staff recommends approval of the Fiscal Year 2022-2023 budget. This item requires a record 
vote. 
  



Item No. 07  
 
 
 

 

City of Lucas 
City Council Agenda Request 

September 1, 2022 
 

Motion  
 
I make a motion to adopt Ordinance 2022-09-00958 approving the budget for the fiscal year 
beginning October 1, 2022 and ending September 30, 2023. (Record Vote). 
 
Second motion to comply with state law: 
 
“I move to ratify the property tax revenue increase reflected in the Fiscal Year 2022-2023 
adopted budget.” (Record Vote). 
 
 



City of Lucas 
Ordinance # 2022-09-00958 Adoption of Budget for FY 2022-2023 
Approved:  September 1, 2022  -1- 

 
ORDINANCE 2022-09-00958 

[Adoption of Budget for FY 2022-2023] 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF LUCAS, 
TEXAS, ADOPTING THE BUDGET FOR FISCAL YEAR BEGINNING 
OCTOBER 1, 2022 AND ENDING SEPTEMBER 30, 2023; PROVIDING 
THAT EXPENDITURES FOR SAID FISCAL YEAR SHALL BE MADE IN 
ACCORDANCE WITH SAID BUDGET; APPROPRIATING AND 
SETTING ASIDE THE NECESSARY FUNDS OUT OF THE GENERAL 
AND OTHER REVENUES FOR SAID FISCAL YEAR FOR THE 
MAINTENANCE AND OPERATION OF THE  VARIOUS 
DEPARTMENTS AND FOR VARIOUS ACTIVITIES AND 
IMPROVEMENTS OF THE CITY; PROVIDING A REPEALING 
CLAUSE; PROVIDING A SEVERABILITY CLAUSE; AND PROVIDING 
AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
WHEREAS, an annual budget for the fiscal year beginning October 1, 2022, and ending 
September 30, 2023, has been duly created by the financial office of the City of Lucas, Texas, in 
accordance with Chapter 102.002 of the Local Government Code; and 
 
WHEREAS, as required by Section 6.02 of the City Charter, the City Manager has prepared and 
submitted to the City Council a proposed budget of all City expenditures and revenues for the 
fiscal year beginning October 1, 2022 and ending September 30, 2023; and 
 
WHEREAS, the financial office for the City of Lucas has filed the proposed budget in the 
office of the City Secretary and the proposed budget was made available for public inspection 
in accordance with Chapter 102.005 of the Local Government Code; and 
 
WHEREAS, a public hearing was held by the City in accordance with Chapter 102.006 of 
the Local Government Code, following due publication of notice thereof, at which time all 
citizens and parties of interest were given the opportunity to be heard regarding the 
proposed budget; and 
 
WHEREAS, after full and final consideration, it is the opinion of the Lucas City Council that 
the 2022-2023 fiscal year budget as hereinafter set forth should be adopted. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
LUCAS, TEXAS: 
 
SECTION 1. That the proposed budget of the revenue and expenditures necessary for 
conducting the affairs of the City of Lucas, Texas for the fiscal year beginning October 1, 2022 
and ending September 30, 2023 as submitted to the City Council by the City Manager, attached 



City of Lucas 
Ordinance # 2022-09-00958 Adoption of Budget for FY 2022-2023 
Approved:  September 1, 2022  -2- 

hereto as Exhibit “A”, be and the same is hereby adopted as the budget of the City of Lucas for 
the fiscal year beginning October 1, 2022 and ending September 30, 2023. 
 
SECTION 2. That the expenditures during the fiscal year beginning October 1, 2022 and 
ending September 30, 2023 shall be made in accordance with the budget approved by this 
ordinance unless otherwise authorized by a duly enacted ordinance of the City of Lucas, Texas. 
 
SECTION 3. That all budget amendments and transfers of appropriations budgeted from one 
account or activity to another within any individual activity for the fiscal year 2021-2022 are 
hereby ratified, and the budget approval for fiscal year 2021–2022, heretofore enacted by the 
City Council, be and the same is hereby amended to the extent of such transfers and amendments 
for all purposes. 
 
SECTION 4. Upon approval of the budget the budget office shall file a true and certified copy 
thereof with the County Clerk of Collin County, Texas. 
 
SECTION 5. All ordinances of the City of Lucas, Texas, in conflict with the provisions of this 
ordinance be, and the same are hereby, repealed; provided, however, that all other provisions of 
said ordinances not in conflict with the provisions of this ordinance shall remain in full force and 
effect. 
 
SECTION 6.  Should any word, sentence, paragraph, subdivision, clause, phrase or section 
of this ordinance, be adjudged or held to be void or unconstitutional, the same shall not affect 
the validity of the remaining portions of said ordinance which shall remain in full force and effect. 
 
SECTION 7.     This Ordinance shall take effect on October 1, 2022.  
 
DULY PASSED AND APPROVED BY THE CITY COUNSEL OF THE CITY OF 
LUCAS, COLLIN COUNTY, TEXAS, ON THIS 1ST DAY OF SEPTEMBER, 2022. 
 
APPROVED: 
 
 
 
 
    

 

Kathleen Peele, Mayor Pro Tem 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: ATTEST: 
 
 
 
 

  

Joseph J. Gorfida, Jr., City Attorney Kevin Becker, Management Analyst 
 
 
 
 



City of Lucas 
Ordinance # 2022-09-00958 Adoption of Budget for FY 2022-2023 
Approved:  September 1, 2022  -3- 

Exhibit A 
 



City of Lucas, Texas 

Annual Operating Budget for 

   Fiscal Year 2022-2023 

This budget will raise more revenue from property taxes than 
last year's budget by an amount of $393,833,  which is a 9.76%
percent increase from last year's budget. The property tax 

revenue to be raised from new property added to the tax roll this 
year is $222,124.

The members of the governing body voted on the budget as follows: 

FOR: 

AGAINST: 

PRESENT and not voting: 

ABSENT:  

Property Tax Rate Comparison 2022-2023 2021-2022 

  Proposed property tax rate: $0.268016/100 $0.288397/100 

  No-new-revenue tax rate: $0.255432/100 $0.288397/100 

  No-new revenue maintenance & operations tax rate: $0.165560/100 $0.184558/100 

  Voter-approval tax rate: $0.248823/100 $0.293671/100 

  Debt rate: $0.072195/100 $0.102654/100 

Total debt obligation for City of Lucas secured by property taxes: $1,360,608

Exhibit A



City of Lucas 

Annual Operating Budget 
Fiscal Year 2022-2023 

 
 

 
 

 
 
City Councilmembers 
 
Mayor Jim Olk 
Mayor Pro Tem Kathleen Peele  
Councilmember David Keer 
Councilmember Tim Baney 
Councilmember Tim Johnson 
Councilmember Phil Lawrence 
Councilmember Debbie Fisher  
 
 

 
 
City Manager Joni Clarke 
Finance Director Liz Exum 



OVERVIEW

Organizational Chart Page 1

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

Total Funds Budget Overview Pages 2-3
General Fund Balance Summary Page 4
Water Fund Balance Summary Page 5
Capital Fund Summary Page 6
Impact/Development Fee Summary Page 7
Tax Revenue Comparisons Page 8

OPERATING BUDGET

GENERAL FUND:

General Fund Revenue Summary Chart Page 9
General Fund Departmental Expenditures Chart Page 10
Revenue Pages 11-12
City Council Page 13
City Secretary Page 14
Administration/Finance Page 15
Public Works - Engineering Page 16
Public Works - Operations Page 17
Parks Page 18
Development Services Page 19
Fire Department Page 20-21
Non-Departmental Page 22

CAPITAL FUND:

Capital Improvements Revenue Summary Page 23
Capital Improvements - Water and General Fund Page 24

WATER FUND:

Water Fund Revenue Summary Chart Page 25
Water Fund Expenditures Summary Chart Page 26
Revenue Page 27
Water Page 28-29
Water  - Engineering Page 30
Water Debt Service Page 31

DEBT SERVICE FUND:

Debt Service Summary Page 32

Tax Rate Calculation Page 33-41

TABLE OF CONTENTS



City Council

City Manager
City Secretary 

• Municipal Court

Legal
• City Attorney
• Municipal Judge

Finance
• Purchasing
• Accounting
• Budget
• Auditing
• Financial

Reporting
• Utility Billing

Administration 
• Human Resource
• Payroll/Benefits
• Employment Law
• Executive Admin

Support
• Special Projects/

Events

Development 
Services 

• Building Services
• Code Enforcement
• Facility

Maintenance
• Permitting

Fire-Rescue
• Fire Suppression
• EMS
• Prevention /

Outreach
• Emergency

Management

Public 
Works/Engineering
• Water
• Streets
• Drainage
• CIP
• GIS
• Public Works

Operations

City of Lucas
Organizational Chart

Citizens of Lucas

Page 1



2020-2021 2021-2022 2021-2022 2022-2023
FISCAL YEAR ORIGINAL AMENDED FISCAL YEAR

ACTUAL BUDGET BUDGET BUDGET

GENERAL FUND
PROPERTY TAXES 2,797,218      2,850,032 2,925,353           3,526,440         
OTHER TAXES 1,899,336      1,801,200 2,158,015           2,168,642         
FINES & FORFEITURES 1,430 1,430 672 91 
LICENSES & PERMITS 855,059         599,370 696,132 660,860            
FIRE DEPARTMENT REVENUE 1,054,296      1,011,330 1,140,484           1,181,462         
FEES & SERVICE CHARGES 13,021           72,800 32,706 46,800 
MISCELLANEOUS REVENUES 726,111         564,989 564,014 432,735            
GF RESERVE FUNDING (USE OF) (215,000)        50,000 1,144,712           250,000            

TOTAL GENERAL FUND REVENUE 7,131,470      6,951,151 8,662,088           8,267,030         

WATER UTILITIES FUND
FEES & SERVICE CHARGES 5,276,530      5,253,061 6,418,450           5,526,295         
MISCELLANEOUS REVENUES 71,427           17,600 77,212 17,600 

TOTAL WATER UTILITIES FUND REVENUE 5,347,957      5,270,661 6,495,662           5,543,895         

DEBT SERVICE FUND
PROPERTY TAXES/RESERVE FUNDING 1,813,338      1,595,226 1,620,375           1,360,608         

TOTAL DEBT SERVICE FUND REVENUE 1,813,338      1,595,226 1,620,375           1,360,608         

COMBINED REVENUE OPERATIONS 14,292,765    13,817,038            16,778,125         15,171,533      

EXPENDITURES

GENERAL FUND
CITY COUNCIL 22,936           33,580 33,580 33,580 
CITY SEC 158,603         176,685 232,408 267,127            
ADMIN/FINANCE 630,970         697,841 723,459 727,417            
DEVELOPMENT SERVICES 420,317         470,984 520,867 511,605            
PUBLIC WORKS - ENGINEERING 873,611         1,203,633 2,209,676           1,248,219         
PUBLIC WORKS 281,595         394,069 398,442 692,448            
PARKS 190,303         213,560 206,760 230,000            
FIRE 2,280,639      3,096,049 3,268,230           3,088,888         
NON-DEPARTMENTAL 584,148         640,091 868,615 1,466,324         

TOTAL  GENERAL FUND EXPENDITURES 5,443,124      6,926,492 8,462,037           8,265,608         

WATER UTILITIES FUND
WATER UTILITIES 3,818,249      4,123,499 4,225,105           4,766,550         
WATER - ENGINEERING 235,324         255,843 321,191 196,003            

TOTAL  WATER FUND EXPENDITURES 4,053,574      4,379,342 4,546,296           4,962,553         

DEBT SERVICE
 WATER UTILITIES 834,893         672,736 672,681 570,149            
 GENERAL FUND 1,812,057      1,595,227 1,595,098           1,360,608         

TOTAL DEBT SERVICE 2,646,950      2,267,963 2,267,779           1,930,756         

TOTAL EXPENDITURES OPERATING 12,143,647    13,573,797            15,276,112         15,158,917      

NET REVENUE LESS EXPENDITURES - OPERATING 2,149,118      243,242 1,502,013            12,615

REVENUE SUMMARY

Page 2 8/19/2022



2020-2021 2021-2022 2021-2022 2022-2023
FISCAL YEAR ORIGINAL AMENDED FISCAL YEAR

ACTUAL BUDGET BUDGET BUDGET

REVENUE SUMMARYSUMMARY BY FUND

  GENERAL FUND
     REVENUE 7,131,470      6,951,151              8,662,088           8,267,030         
     EXPENDITURES 5,443,124      6,926,492              8,462,037           8,265,608         
NET REVENUE LESS EXPENDITURES 1,688,346      24,659                   200,051              1,422                 

WATER UTILITIES FUND
     REVENUE 5,347,957      5,270,661              6,495,662           5,543,895         
     EXPENDITURES 4,053,574      4,379,342              4,546,296           4,962,553         
     DEBT SERVICE 834,893         672,736                 672,681              570,149            
NET REVENUE LESS EXPENDITURES 459,490         218,583                 1,276,685           11,193              

DEBT SERVICE FUND-GENERAL
     REVENUE 1,813,338      1,595,226              1,620,375           1,360,608         
     EXPENDITURES 1,812,057      1,595,226              1,595,098           1,360,608         
NET REVENUE LESS EXPENDITURES 1,281              -                              25,277                -                         

NET REVENUE LESS EXPENDITURES - OPERATING 2,149,118      243,242                 1,502,013           12,615              

Page 3 8/19/2022



CITY OF LUCAS ANNUAL BUDGET
FISCAL YEAR 2022-2023

FUND SUMMARIES - GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

COMBINED SUMMARY OF REVENUES AND EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE

DEVELOPERS
DEBT CAPITAL BROCKDALE IMPACT FEES IMPACT TOTAL

GENERAL SERVICE IMPROVEMENTS ROAD IMPROV (LOGAN FORD/5 OAKS) FEES GOVERNMENTAL 

9,285,496                   1,178,589                   5,919,500                    -                                    127,600                             1,359,253                    17,870,438                   

PROPERTY TAXES 3,526,440                   1,192,849                   4,719,289                     
OTHER TAXES 2,168,642                   2,168,642                     
FINES & FORFEITURES 91                                91                                  
LICENSES & PERMITS 660,860                       660,860                         
FIRE DEPARTMENT REVENUE 1,181,462                   1,181,462                     
FEES & SERVICE CHARGES 46,800                         46,800                           
MISCELLANEOUS REVENUES 432,735                       6,000                           -                                    438,735                         
IMPACT FEE REVENUE (11-4500) 404,400                       404,400                         
TRANSFER IN CAPTIAL OUTLAY RESERVE 250,000                       -                                    250,000                         

TOTAL REVENUES 8,267,030                   1,192,849                   6,000                           -                                    404,400                       9,870,279                     

EXPENDITURES

CITY COUNCIL 33,580                         33,580                           
CITY SEC 267,127                       267,127                         
ADMIN/FINANCE 727,417                       727,417                         
DEVELOPMENT SERVICES 511,605                       511,605                         
PUBLIC WORKS 692,448                       692,448                         
PUBLIC WORKS - ENGINEERING 1,248,219                   1,248,219                     
PARKS 230,000                       230,000                         
FIRE 3,088,888                   3,088,888                     
NON-DEPARTMENTAL 1,466,324                   1,466,324                     
DEBT SERVICE PRINCIPAL 920,000                       920,000                         
DEBT SERVICE INTEREST/BOND EXP 440,608                       440,608                         
BROCKDALE ROAD MAINT. -                                    -                                     
CAPITAL ROADWAY PROJECTS -                                    -                                    -                                     

TOTAL  EXPENDITURES 8,265,608                   1,360,608                   -                                    -                                    -                                    9,626,216                     

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE 1,422                           (167,759)                     6,000                           -                                    404,400                       244,064                         

ENDING FUND BALANCE 9,286,918                   1,010,830                   5,925,500                    -                                    127,600                             1,763,653                    18,114,502                   
 
MINUS RESTRICTIONS AND TRANSFERS

IMPACT FEES (1,763,653)                   (1,763,653)                    

BROCKDALE ROAD IMPROVEMENTS -                                     

RESTRICTED FOR CAPITAL - GENERAL FUND -                                     
DEBT SERVICE PAYMENTS (1,010,830)                  (1,010,830)                    
3RD PARTY (DEVELOPER) IMPACT FEES RESTRICTED (LOGAN FORD/5 OAKS) (127,600)                            (127,600)                       
CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PROJECTS (5,925,500)                   (5,925,500)                    

UNASSIGNED FUND BALANCE 9,286,918                   -                                   -                                    -                                    -                                          -                                    9,286,918                     

TOTAL AMOUNT OF RESERVES PRIOR TO GASB 54 REQUIREMENT 9,286,918                   -                                   -                                    -                                    -                                          -                                    9,286,918                     

AMOUNT IN DAYS OPERATING COST 404                              404                                
AMOUNT IN MONTHS OPERATING COST 13.5 13.5

RESERVES FOR GASB 54 FUND BALANCE POLICY 
(50% OF CURRENT YR EXPENDITURES IN GENERAL FUND) (4,132,804)                  (4,132,804)                    

TOTAL RESERVES AFTER GASB 54 REQUIREMENTS 5,154,114                   5,154,114                     

AMOUNT IN DAYS OPERATING COST 224                              224                                
AMOUNT IN MONTHS OPERATING COST 7.5 7.5

Page 4 8/19/2022



CITY OF LUCAS ANNUAL BUDGET
FISCAL YEAR 2022-2023

FUND SUMMARIES - PROPRIETARY 

COMBINED SUMMARY OF REVENUES AND EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE

CAPITAL IMPACT /DEVELOP TOTAL
WATER IMPROVEMENTS FEES PROPRIETARY

BEGINNING BALANCE RESTRICTED/UNRESTRICTED 7,364,656$                  1,473,025                    -                                     8,837,681                      

WATER REVENUE 4,601,061                    4,601,061                      
WASTE WATER REVENUE 66,000                         66,000                            
TRASH REVENUE 859,234                       859,234                         
MISCELLANEOUS REVENUES 17,600                         17,600                            
REFUND NTMWD CAPITAL -                                      
DEVELOPERS FEES - SEWER -                                    -                                      
IMPACT FEES 250,000                        250,000                         
TRANSFER IN IMPACT FEES 250,000                        250,000                         
TRANSFER IN FUND BALANCE - WATER -                                      

TOTAL REVENUES 5,543,895                    250,000                        250,000                        6,043,895                      

EXPENDITURES

WATER 3,970,690                    3,970,690                      
TRASH 747,160                       747,160                         
WASTEWATER 48,700                         48,700                            
DEBT SERVICE PRINCIPAL 410,000                       410,000                         
DEBT SERVICE INTEREST/BOND EXP 160,149                       160,149                         
WATER - ENGINEERING 196,003                       196,003                         
TRANSFER OUT TO FUND WATER PROJECT -                                     -                                      
TRANSFER OUT TO FUND WATER PROJECT 250,000                        250,000                         
CAPITAL PROJECTS WF -                                      

-                                      

TOTAL  EXPENDITURES 5,532,702                    -                                     250,000                        5,782,702                      

NET CHANGE IN BALANCE 11,193                         250,000                        -                                     261,193                         

ENDING BALANCE 7,375,849                    1,723,025                    -                                     9,098,874                      
 
MINUS RESTRICTED FOR:

CAPITAL IMPROVEMENTS - PROJECTS (1,723,025)                   (1,723,025)                     
TRSF TO CAPITAL FROM RESERVES APPROVED WITH 2017 CO FUNDING (63,483)                        (63,483)                          
UNASSIGNED FUND BALANCE 7,312,366                    -                                -                                     7,312,366                      

TOTAL AMOUNT OF RESERVES PRIOR TO GASB 54 REQUIREMENT 7,312,366                    -                                     -                                     7,312,366                      

AMOUNT IN DAYS OPERATING COST 514                               514                                 
AMOUNT IN MONTHS OPERATING COST 17.1 17.1426,891.81                                                                                                                       

RESERVES FOR GASB 54 FUND BALANCE POLICY
(50% OF CURRENT YR EXPENDITURES IN WATER FUND) (2,561,351)                   (2,561,351)                     

TOTAL RESERVES AFTER  GASB 54 REQUIREMENTS 4,751,015                    -                                     -                                     4,751,015                      

AMOUNT IN DAYS OPERATING COST 334                               334                                 
AMOUNT IN MONTHS OPERATING COST 11.1 11.1

Page 5 8/19/2022



2022-2023

CAPITAL WATER PROJECTS:

TOTAL WF PROJECTS FY 21/22 0

PROJECT FUNDING - WATER:

TOTAL WATER PROJECT FUNDING 0

CAPITAL ROADWAY AND GF PROJECTS:

WEST LUCAS ROAD PROJECT (21-8210-491-136) 0
TOTAL GF PROJECTS FY 22/23** 0

PROJECT FUNDING - GENERAL FUND:

TOTAL GENERAL FUND PROJECT FUNDING 0

TOTAL CAPITAL PROJECTS FY 22/23** 0

                Ongoing Capital Project Budget Balances from FY 2021-2022 will be brought to Council for
                reallocation after the completion of the FY 2021-2022 audit to properly reflect outstanding budget 
                balances to carry forward for FY 2022-2023.

FISCAL YEAR BUDGET
CAPITAL FUND SUMMARY

**NOTE:

Page 6 8/19/2022



2021-2022 2022-2023
2020-2021 AMENDED FISCAL YEAR

ACTUAL BUDGET BUDGET

GENERAL FUND:

Beginning Balance General Fund (Restricted) 2,501,330                          1,417,318                  1,486,853                

Revenue

Roadway Impact Fees(11-4500) 459,118                              470,000                     400,000                   
Roadway Fees Improv Brockdale(11-4989) 153,999                              61,562                       4,400                        
Contrib. Roadway Maint. Brockdale(11-4990) -                                           -                                  -                                 
Total Revenues 613,117                              531,562                     404,400                   

Expenditures

Capital Projects Roadways 1,157,602                          400,465                     -                                 
Brockdale Road Rehabilitation 539,527                              61,562                       -                                 
Brockdale Road Maint. -                                           -                                 
Total Expenditures 1,697,129                          462,027                     -                                 
Total General Fund Restricted Impact Fees & 3rd Party 1,417,318                          1,486,853                  1,891,253                

Restricted for Devel Logan Ford/Five Oaks/Lakeview Downs 127,600                              127,600                     127,600                   
Restricted for Brockdale Road Maint. -                                 
Restricted for Brockdale Capital Improvements -                                           -                                  

Total 3rd Party Restricted 127,600                              127,600                     127,600                   

General Fund Ending Bal Impact Fees (Restricted for Roads) 1,289,718                          1,359,253                  1,763,653                

Total General Fund Restricted Impact Fees & 3rd Party 1,417,318                          1,486,853                  1,891,253                

WATER FUND:

Beginning Balance - Water Fund (5,646,196)                         (5,646,196)                

Revenue

Water Impact Fees (51-4500) 385,448                              250,000                     250,000                   
-                                  

Total Revenues 385,448                              250,000                     250,000                   

Expenditures

Capital Projects- Water -                                 

Total Expenditures -                                           -                                  -                                 

Revenues less Expenditures 385,448                              250,000                     250,000                   

Water Fund ending balance to apply toward impact fees (5,646,196)                         (5,396,196)                250,000                   

Impact/Development Fee Summary

Page 7 8/19/2022



Property tax is by far the largest source of revenue in the City of Lucas General Fund.

Property tax is collected by Collin County and distributed to the City. The City's property 

tax is budgeted at a rate of .268016 for 2022. This tax rate is the "De Minimis" Rate

 - below is a table depicting the recent history of the City of Lucas property tax rate.

Tax Year M&O I&S Total

2006 0.248146 0.126854 0.375000

2007 0.244260 0.130740 0.375000

2008 0.250509 0.123668 0.374177

2009 0.252040 0.122137 0.374177

2010 0.247231 0.126946 0.374177

2011 0.257723 0.116454 0.374177

2012 0.261218 0.112959 0.374177

2013 0.254005 0.101611 0.355616

2014 0.233068 0.087593 0.320661

2015 0.215514 0.105147 0.320661

2016 0.230371 0.087577 0.317948

2017 0.198695 0.119253 0.317948

2018 0.202346 0.100870 0.303216

2019 0.184515 0.118701 0.303216

2020 0.190846 0.108949 0.299795

2021 0.185743 0.102654 0.288397

2022 0.195821 0.072195 0.268016 Projected

As you can see in the chart below, the property tax rate for the City of Lucas 

is very favorable in comparison to other cities within the area.

City M&O I&S Total

Sachse 0.506527 0.194207 0.700734

Farmersville 0.464574 0.247470 0.712044

Wylie 0.491864 0.151887 0.643751

Princeton 0.377315 0.225234 0.602549

Celina 0.429385 0.215615 0.645000

Melissa 0.431031 0.137126 0.568157

Anna 0.452631 0.116869 0.569500

Prosper 0.328000 0.182000 0.510000

Murphy 0.310185 0.184815 0.495000

Allen 0.368756 0.101244 0.470000

Parker 0.331870 0.034114 0.365984

Fairview 0.245536 0.100044 0.345580

Lucas 0.185743 0.102654 0.288397

Fiscal Year 2021 Tax Rates

CITY OF LUCAS PROPERTY TAX RATES

Page 8 8/19/2022



Page 9 8/19/2022



Page 10 8/19/2022



11 -GENERAL FUND 2020-2021 2021-2022 2021-2022 2022-2023
FISCAL YEAR ORIGINAL AMENDED FISCAL YEAR

REVENUE ACTUAL BUDGET BUDGET BUDGET DESCRIPTION

4011         PROPERTY TAXES 2,776,667         2,835,032        2,911,146         3,511,440         (DeMinimis rate M&O .195821)
4012         PROPERTY TAXES-DEL. 5,968                 5,000                2,757                 5,000                 
4015         PROPERTY TAXES-P&I 14,583              10,000              11,450               10,000              

TOTAL PROPERTY TAXES 2,797,218         2,850,032        2,925,353         3,526,440         

OTHER TAXES

4101         SALES TAX 1,006,902         960,000           1,160,000         1,180,000                                      
4101-100 SALES TAX  STREETS 504,963            450,000           575,000             590,000            
4102         FRANCHISE-ELECTRICAL 320,757            330,000           343,842             330,000            
4103         FRANCHISE-TELEPHONE 471                    -                         -                          
4104         FRANCHISE-CABLE 26,787              28,000              23,145               20,442              
4105         FRANCHISE-GAS 36,583              30,000              53,507               45,000              

4106         FRANCHISE-CABLE PEG 2,873                 3,200                2,521                 3,200                 

TOTAL OTHER TAXES 1,899,336         1,801,200        2,158,015         2,168,642         

FINES & FORFEITURES

4202         COURT TECHNOLOGY FUND 20                      20                     8                         4                        
4203         COURT SECURITY FUND 15                      15                     10                       5                        
4204         COURT COST-CITY 20                      20                     10                       5                        
4205         FINES 1,160                 1,160                510                     10                      
4206         COURT COST-STATE 160                    160                   124                     62                      
4208         STATE JURY FEE 20                      20                     
4212         JUDICIAL FEES-STATE 25                      25                     
4213         JUDICIAL FEES-CITY 2                        2                        
4218         INDIGENT DEFENSE FEE 8                        8                        
4220         OTHER COURT FINES & FEES 10                       5                        

TOTAL FINES & FORFEITURES 1,430                 1,430                672                     91                      

LICENSES & PERMITS

4301         GEN CONTRACTOR REG. 18,000              20,000              14,220               20,000              
4361         ZONING REQUEST 1,350                 1,200                700                     1,200                 
4362         SPECIFIC USE PERMITS 1,800                 1,350                2,250                 1,350                 
4363         VARIANCE REQUEST 1,350                 900                   900                     900                    
4365         BLDG PERMITS-RESIDENTIAL 572,587            380,000           415,568             405,000            
4367         BLDG PERMITS-ACC. 24,255              20,000              28,018               20,000              
4368         BLDG PERMITS-REMODEL 7,711                 7,500                15,125               7,500                 
4369         BLDG PERMITS-COMM. 33,576              20,000              36,215               35,000              
4371         ELECTRICAL PERMITS 5,300                 2,200                8,300                 4,000                 
4372         PLUMBING PERMITS 6,510                 5,000                7,210                 5,000                 
4373         HEATING & A/C PERMITS 2,350                 1,200                2,520                 1,800                 
4374         FENCE PERMITS 4,950                 6,000                4,800                 6,000                 
4375         SWIMMING POOL PERMITS 30,145              25,000              28,250               25,000              
4376         WEIGHT LIMIT PERMITS 89,900              60,000              77,800               70,000              
4377         ROOF PERMITS 900                    -                         -                          2,100                 
4378         SPRINKLER SYST PERMITS 6,325                 1,000                6,500                 7,000                 
4379         DRIVEWAY PERMIT 1,440                 1,000                840                     490                    
4380         SIGN PERMIT 2,045                 2,000                755                     2,000                 
4382         STORM WATER MGMT PERMIT 8,210                 6,500                8,058                 7,000                 
4384         SOLICITATION PERMIT -                         120                   30                       120                    
4390         PLANNED DEVELOPMENT 810                    -                         
4395         HEALTH SERVICE PERMITS 5,000                 7,200                6,300                 8,200                 
4398         MISC LICENSES & PERMITS 1,550                 1,200                1,750                 1,200                 
4611         FIRE SPRINKLER PERMIT 28,995              30,000              30,023               30,000              

TOTAL LICENSES & PERMITS 855,059            599,370           696,132             660,860            

FIRE DEPARTMENT REVENUE
4612         COUNTY FIRE DISTRICT 3,687                 -                         4,003                 
4613         SEIS LAGOS INTERLOCAL 442,955            453,230           453,230             489,812            
4614         AMBULANCE SERVICES 107,271            100,000           106,515             100,000            
4615         LISD EMS SERVICE 2,184                 8,100                1,736                 1,650                 

Page 11 8/19/2022



11 -GENERAL FUND 2020-2021 2021-2022 2021-2022 2022-2023
FISCAL YEAR ORIGINAL AMENDED FISCAL YEAR

REVENUE ACTUAL BUDGET BUDGET BUDGET DESCRIPTION

4999         FIRE DISTRICT TRANSFER IN 498,199            450,000           575,000             590,000            

TOTAL FIRE DEPARTMENT REVENUE 1,054,296         1,011,330        1,140,484         1,181,462         

FEES & SERVICE CHARGES

4424         PLAT & REPLAT FEES 6,761                 8,500                7,556                 8,500                 

4425         RE-INSPECTION FEES 5,950                 4,000                6,200                 6,000                 

4426         FEES-BUILDING PROJECTS 310                    7,300                6,650                 7,300                 

4427         PUBLIC IMPRV/3% INSPEC -                         53,000              12,300               25,000              
4497         PUBLIC INFO. REQUESTS -                         -                          
4498         MISC. FEES & CHARGES -                         

TOTAL FEES & SERVICE CHARGES 13,021              72,800              32,706               46,800              

MISCELLANEOUS REVENUE
4911         INTEREST INCOME 16,942              18,000              40,049               24,000              
4914         INSURANCE CLAIM REIMB 3,995                 -                         5,817                 
4915         CHILD SAFETY INCOME 7,978                 6,900                6,900                 8,000                 
4916         CREDIT CARD REVENUE 36,537              30,000              50,000               48,000              Increase in credit card payments
4917         CERT APP FEE BERR $ WINE 60                      -                         -                          
4918         PERMIT FEE BEER & WINE -                         -                         145                     145                    
4920         FARMER MARKET EVENT FEE 4,100                 -                         5,200                 5,200                 
4931         RENTAL INCOME 93,120              85,800              86,374               
4980         PARK DEDICATION FEES -                         134,000           8,000                 55,000              
4981         FACILITY RENTAL 1,625                 -                         1,650                 800                    

4985         GRANT REVENUES 17,380              12,500              18,483               12,500              FD Training Grants
4986         DONATIONS -                         -                         -                          
4987         AMERICAN RESCUE PLAN ACT (ARPA)* -                         -                          ARPA Revenue recognition requires funding

to remain in deferred revenue until eligible

expenditures have been incurred - GASB 33

4990         BROCKDALE RD MAINT -                         -                         

4991         STREET ASSESSMENTS 2,750                 -                         2,100                 
4992         SALE OF ASSETS 250,914            -                         -                          
4995         REIMBURSEMENTS -                         -                         -                          
4997         MISCELLANEOUS 6,355                 -                         -                          
4998         PILOT TRANSFER IN 284,355            277,789           339,296             279,090            

TOTAL MISCELLANEOUS REVENUE 726,111            564,989           564,014             432,735            

4996        GF RESERVES (USE OF) (215,000)           50,000              1,144,712         250,000 Capital Outlay Reserve funding for
P Works Backhoe/Vactron/Truck

***TOTAL REVENUES*** 7,131,470         6,951,151        8,662,088         8,267,030         

Page 12 8/19/2022



11 -GENERAL FUND 2020-2021 2021-2022 2021-2022 2022-2023
CITY COUNCIL FISCAL YEAR ORIGINAL AMENDED FISCAL YEAR
DEPARTMENTAL EXPENDITURES ACTUAL BUDGET BUDGET BUDGET

PERSONNEL SERVICES
6100-112     WORKERS' COMPENSATION 46                             70                     70                     70                 
6100-127     MEDICARE 135                           220                   220                   220               
6100-468     CITY COUNCIL FEES 9,340                        9,000               9,000                9,000           

TOTAL PERSONNEL SERVICES 9,521                        9,290               9,290                9,290           

MATERIALS & SUPPLIES

6100-201     OFFICE SUPPLIES -                                1,000               1,000                1,000           
6100-204     FOOD/BEVERAGE 1,716                        1,500               1,500                1,500           
6100-205     LOGO/UNIFORM -                                -                        -                         
6100-210     COMPUTER SUPPLIES 299                           350                   350                   350               
6100-222     AUDIO/VISUAL 4,256                        1,000               1,000                1,000           

TOTAL MATERIALS & SUPPLIES 6,272                        3,850               3,850                3,850           

PURCHASED SERVICES:
6100-307     TRAINING & TRAVEL 395                           3,500               3,500                3,500           
6100-309     PROFESSIONAL SERVICES -                                -                        -                         

TOTAL PURCHASED SERVICES 395                           3,500               3,500                3,500           

GENERAL & ADMINISTRATIVE SERVICES
6100-441     APPRECIATION/AWARDS 6,730                        5,000               5,000                5,000           See Detail Listing

TOTAL GENERAL & ADMIN SERVICES 6,730                        5,000               5,000                5,000           

NON-CAPITAL EXPENSE
6100-451    SOFTWARE, BOOKS, & CDS 18                             11,940             11,940              11,940         See Comprehensive IT Schedule
6100-452    HARDWARE & TELECOM -                        
6100-411    FURNITURE & EQUIPMENT -                        

TOTAL NON-CAPITAL EXPENSE 18                             11,940             11,940              11,940         

TOTAL CITY COUNCIL 22,936                     33,580             33,580              33,580         

DESCRIPTION

Page 13 8/19/2022



11 -GENERAL FUND 2020-2021 2021-2022 2021-2022 2022-2023
CITY SECRETARY FISCAL YEAR ORIGINAL AMENDED FISCAL YEAR
DEPARTMENTAL EXPENDITURES ACTUAL BUDGET BUDGET BUDGET

PERSONNEL SERVICES
6110-101     SALARIES - EXEMPT 80,994             81,921             104,778         135,824       Includes Management Analyst Position
6110-105     SALARIES - COLA -                        1,868               -                      
6110-112     WORKERS' COMPENSATION 181                  275                  341                 416               Includes Management Analyst Position
6110-113     LONGEVITY PAY 276                  328                  348                 420               Includes Management Analyst Position
6110-122     TMRS 10,410             10,358             13,300           16,800         Includes Management Analyst Position

Rate Decrease 12.57% to 12.24%
6110-123     GROUP INSURANCE 9,872               10,716             15,181           23,760         Includes Management Analyst Position
6110-127     MEDICARE 1,179               1,190               1,508             1,970            Includes Management Analyst Position
6110-129     LT DISABILITY 139                  250                  316                 407               Includes Management Analyst Position
6110-133     TELEPHONE ALLOWANCE 590                  600                  850                 1,200            

TOTAL PERSONNEL SERVICES 103,640          107,506          136,622         180,797       

MATERIALS & SUPPLIES
6110-201     OFFICE SUPPLIES 1,004               1,100               1,100             1,700            

6110-204     FOOD/BEVERAGE -                        100                  100                 100               

6110-210     COMPUTER SUPPLIES -                        50                    50                   100               

6110-238     PRINTING & COPYING 13,467             22,800             22,800           22,800         
6110-239     RECORDS MANAGEMENT 3,209               4,500               31,107           1,500            

TOTAL MATERIALS & SUPPLIES 17,679             28,550             55,157           26,200         

PURCHASED SERVICES
6110-305     SOFTWARE SUPPORT & MAINT. 7,532               9,594               9,594             24,200         See Detail Listing
6110-306     ADVERTISING/PUBLIC NOTICES 15,569             14,300             14,300           14,300         
6110-307     TRAINING & TRAVEL 390                  1,750               1,750             2,510            See Travel & Training Plan
6110-309     PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 5,265               5,500               5,500             6,000            Codification - Franklin
6110-323     CELL PHONE -                        -                        -                      

6110-349     FILING FEES 1,320               2,200               2,200             2,200            

TOTAL PURCHASED SERVICES 30,076             33,344             33,344           49,210         

GENERAL & ADMINISTRATIVE SERVICES
6110-443     DUES/LICENSES 175                  185                  185                 820               See Detail Listing
6110-445     ELECTIONS 6,979               6,000               6,000             6,000            See Detail Listing
6110-451     SOFTWARE, BOOKS & CD'S 54                    1,100               1,100             1,100            

TOTAL GENERAL & ADMIN SERVICES 7,208               7,285               7,285             7,920            

NON-CAPITAL EXPENSE
6110-411 FURNITURE & FIXTURES -                        -                      3,000            See Detail Listing
6110-452 HARDWARE  TELECOM -                        -                      

TOTAL NON-CAPITAL EXPENSE -                        -                        -                      3,000            

TOTAL CITY SECRETARY 158,603          176,685          232,408         267,127       

DESCRIPTION

Page 14 8/19/2022



11 -GENERAL FUND 2020-2021 2021-2022 2021-2022 2022-2023
ADMINISTRATION & FINANCE FISCAL YEAR ORIGINAL AMENDED FISCAL YEAR
DEPARTMENTAL EXPENDITURES ACTUAL BUDGET BUDGET BUDGET

PERSONNEL SERVICES
6200-101     SALARIES - EXEMPT  269,277        278,250                291,891           294,168           City Manager & Finance Director

Split 50/50 with Water Fund
6200-102     SALARIES - NON-EXEMPT 90,308          93,963                  98,782             98,786              
6200-105     SALARIES - COLA -                     6,664                    -                        
6200-111     OVERTIME 702                1,900                    1,900               1,900                
6200-112     WORKERS' COMP  740                1,125                    1,125               1,233                
6200-113     LONGEVITY PAY  1,540            1,964                    1,964               2,028                
6200-122     TMRS   46,397          47,600                  49,982             48,842              Rate Decrease 12.57% to 12.24%
6200-123     GROUP INSURANCE   52,799          53,630                  53,630             59,400              
6200-127     MEDICARE  5,259            5,450                    5,719               5,870                
6200-129     LT DISABILITY 540                1,000                    1,000               1,209                
6200-133     TELEPHONE ALLOWANCE 2,040            2,100                    2,100               2,100                
6200-141     CAR ALLOWANCE  2,400            2,400                    2,400               2,400                

TOTAL PERSONNEL SERVICES 472,001        496,046               510,493          517,936           

MATERIALS & SUPPLIES
6200-201     OFFICE SUPPLIES 4,343            6,000                    6,000               6,000                
6200-202     POSTAGE 1,398            1,700                    1,700               1,700                Split between water and general funds
6200-204     FOOD/BEVERAGE 2,151            2,200                    2,200               2,200                
6200-205     LOGO/UNIFORM ALLOWANCE 153                800                        800                   800                   
6200-210     COMPUTER SUPPLIES 350                        350                   350                   

TOTAL MATERIALS & SUPPLIES 8,044            11,050                  11,050             11,050             

PURCHASED SERVICES:
6200-302     AUDITING & ACCOUNTING 10,806          13,000                  13,000             14,000              Split 50/50 with Water Fund
6200-305     SOFTWARE SUPPORT/MAINT 15,494          19,110                  19,110             20,066              Incode Maintenance
6200-307     TRAINING & TRAVEL 8,625            10,795                  10,795             13,375              See Travel & Training Plan
6200-309     PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 2,759            3,000                    3,000               3,000                $3K Debt Disclosure SAMCO
6200-313     MAINTENANCE AGREEMENTS 5,981            6,160                    6,160               6,660                Konica Copier(Split 50/50 water fund)

Increase in copy usage
6200-318     TAX COLLECTION 2,368            3,000                    3,000               3,000                Increase in properties for tax collecting
6200-319     CENTRAL APPRAISAL FEE 29,258          36,000                  32,171             34,137              Increase in properties appraised
6200-321     STATE COMPTROLLER (COURT FEES) -                     300                        300                   300                   
6200-322     CONTRACTS 2,700            7,600                    7,600               7,600                Cost of municipal judge
6200-323     CELL PHONE 522                600                        600                   600                   
6200-324     INMATE BOARDING 750                        750                   750                   
6200-325     LIABILITY INSURANCE 30,000          33,000                  33,000             36,300              Increase in rates

TOTAL PURCHASED SERVICES 108,512        133,315               129,486          139,788           

GENERAL & ADMINISTRATIVE SERVICES
6200-441     APPRECIATION/AWARDS 4,328            4,400                    4,400               4,400                See Detail Listing
6200-442     TML MEMBERSHIP DUES 1,977            2,200                    2,200               2,200                TML annual dues
6200-443     DUES/LICENSES 3,842            4,530                    4,530               4,543                See Detail Listing
6200-444     EMPLOYMENT SCREENING 4,689            2,500                    2,500               2,500                CareNow Physicals/Drug Screening
6200-445     CHILD SAFETY EXPENSE -                     -                             -                        
6200-497     CREDIT CARD FEES 27,577          28,800                  43,800             45,000              Increase in credit card payments

TOTAL GENERAL & ADMIN SERVICES 42,412          42,430                  57,430             58,643             

CAPITAL OUTLAY
8200-451     SOFTWARE -                     15,000                  15,000             

TOTAL CAPITAL OUTLAY -                     15,000                  15,000             -                         

TOTAL ADMINISTRATION 630,970        697,841               723,459          727,417           

DESCRIPTION

Page 15 8/19/2022



11 -GENERAL FUND 2020-2021 2021-2022 2021-2022 2022-2023
PUBLIC WORKS - ENGINEERING FISCAL YEAR ORIGINAL AMENDED FISCAL YEAR

DEPARTMENTAL EXPENDITURES ACTUAL BUDGET BUDGET BUDGET

PERSONNEL SERVICES
6209-101     SALARIES - EXEMPT 70,168             84,770         87,814           88,813            P Works Director & Mgmt Analyst 

positions Split 50/50 with Water Fund
6209-103     SALARIES - TEMPORARY 18,320             15,600         12,711           15,600            20 hrs per wk @$15 per hour (intern)
6209-105     SALARIES - COLA -                       2,289            -                      
6209-112     WORKERS' COMPENSATION 191                  315               315                320                 
6209-113     LONGEVITY 180                  48                 48                   74                    
6209-122     TMRS 8,874               12,750         13,144           12,915            Rate Decrease 12.57% to 12.24%
6209-123     GROUP INSURANCE 6,690               10,716         10,716           11,880            
6209-127     MEDICARE 1,324               1,475            1,519             1,519              
6209-129     LT DISABILITY 108                  265               265                266                 
6209-131      UNEMPLOYMENT  COMPENSAT 748                  -                    821                
6209-133     TELEPHONE ALLOWANCE 225                  600               600                300                 

TOTAL PERSONNEL SERVICES 106,827          128,828       127,953        131,687          

MATERIALS & SUPPLIES
6209-201     OFFICE SUPPLIES 249                  250               250                250                 
6209-204     FOOD/BEVERAGE 689                  -                    -                      
6209-208     MINOR APPARATUS 293                  500               500                500                 
6209-209     PROTECTIVE CLOTHING/UNIFORMS 931                  1,920            1,920             1,980              See Detail Listing
6209-210     COMPUTER SUPPLIES 129                  500               500                500                 

-                       

TOTAL MATERIALS & SUPPLIES 2,292               3,170           3,170             3,230              

MAINTENANCE & REPAIR

6209-232     VEHICLE MAINTENANCE 3,629               1,000            1,000             1,000              See Detail Listing/Annual maintenance

TOTAL MAINTENANCE & REPAIR 3,629               1,000           1,000             1,000              

PURCHASED SERVICES
6209-307     TRAVEL/TRAINING 1,274               2,350            2,350             3,025              See Travel & Training Plan
6209-313     MAINTENANCE AGREEMENTS -                       1,500            1,500             1,500              Maint. for Plotter/Scanner
6209-309     PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 205,941          195,000       291,075         230,400          See Detail Listing
6209-323     CELL PHONE 705                  1,200            1,200             1,200              
6209-333     UTILITIES - WATER -                       -                    
6209-334     STREET LIGHTING 1,485               5,000            5,000             5,000              

TOTAL PURCHASED SERVICES 209,406          205,050       301,125        241,125          

GENERAL & ADMINISTRATIVE SERVICES
6209-443     DUES/LICENSES 299                  575               575                472                 See Detail Listing

TOTAL GENERAL & ADMIN SERVICES 299                  575               575                472                 

NON-CAPITAL EXPENSE

6209-411     FURNITURE & FIXTURES -                       500               500                6,000              Office Furniture

6209-416     IMPLEMENTS & APPARATUS -                       500               500                500                 

6209-433     SIGNS & MARKINGS 10,000            Regulatory Signage

6209-451     SOFTWARE 2,549               3,510            3,510             3,705              See Comprehensive IT Schedule

6209-452     HARDWARE -                       500               500                500                 

TOTAL NON-CAPITAL EXPENSE 2,549               5,010           5,010             20,705            

CAPITAL OUTLAY
8209-301     IMPROVEMENTS ROADS 344,124          650,000       871,982         650,000          FY 21-22 LIT to Drainage $14,500
8209-302     CULVERT MAINTENANCE 145,000          100,000       146,918         100,000          FY 21-22 LIT to Drainage $63,840
8209-303     DRAINAGE 22,187             100,000       741,943         100,000          CC Approved 8-4-22 Farmstead Estates

FY 21-22 LIT Request $14,500 from acct
8209-420     EQUIPMENT -                       -                    -                      301 and $63,840 from acct 302
8209-421     VEHICLES 35,608             -                    -                      
8209-433     SIGNS & MARKINGS 1,691               10,000         10,000           -                       Reclass to Non-Cap Acct. 6209-433
8209-452     HARDWARE & TELECOM -                       -                    -                      

TOTAL CAPITAL OUTLAY 548,610          860,000       1,770,843     850,000          

TOTAL PUBLIC WORKS - ENGINEERING 873,611          1,203,633    2,209,676     1,248,219      

DESCRIPTION

Page16 8/19/2022



11 -GENERAL FUND 2020-2021 2021-2022 2021-2022 2022-2023
PUBLIC WORKS - OPERATIONS FISCAL YEAR ORIGINAL AMENDED FISCAL YEAR

DEPARTMENTAL EXPENDITURES ACTUAL BUDGET BUDGET BUDGET

PERSONNEL SERVICES
6210-102     SALARIES - NON-EXEMPT 113,266          118,206         124,752         167,282         Changed PT position to full-time
6210-104     SALARIES - NON-EXEMPT PT 8,859               18,720           18,720           Reallocated to FT P works position
6210-105     SALARIES - COLA -                        3,122              -                      
6210-111     OVERTIME 1,899               4,500              4,500             4,500             
6210-112     WORKERS' COMPENSATION 3,403               5,175              5,175             5,824             Changed PT position to full-time
6210-113     LONGEVITY 756                  920                 920                 1,056             Changed PT position to full-time
6210-122     TMRS 15,902             17,900           18,738           21,248           Changed PT position to full-time

Rate Decrease 12.57% to 12.24%
6210-123     GROUP INSURANCE 26,895             32,148           32,148           47,520           Changed PT position to full-time
6210-127     MEDICARE 1,870               2,631              2,742             2,742             Changed PT position to full-time
6210-129     LT DISABILITY 175                  337                 337                 502                 Changed PT position to full-time

TOTAL PERSONNEL SERVICES 173,024          203,659         208,032         250,674        

MATERIALS & SUPPLIES
6210-201     OFFICE SUPPLIES 416                  550                 550                 700                 
6210-204     FOOD/BEVERAGE 368                  800                 800                 1,000             
6210-206     FUEL & LUBRICANTS 7,658               11,000           11,000           22,000           Increase in Fuel Costs
6210-208     MINOR APPARATUS 4,740               5,000              5,000             5,000             
6210-209     PROTECTIVE CLOTHING/UNIFORMS 5,981               9,560              9,560             8,975             See Detail Listing
6210-210     COMPUTER SUPPLIES 184                  250                 250                 250                 
6210-211     MEDICAL SUPPLIES -                        250                 250                 250                 
6210-214     CLEANING SUPPLIES -                        1,500              1,500             1,500             
6210-223     SAND/DIRT 162                  1,500              1,500             3,000             
6210-224     ASPHALT/BASE/CONC/CULVERT 15,167             32,000           32,000           32,000           Street Maintenance Program

TOTAL MATERIALS & SUPPLIES 34,677            62,410           62,410           74,675           

MAINTENANCE & REPAIR

6210-231     FACILITY MAINTENANCE 7,048               7,500              7,500             7,500             See Detail Listing
6210-232     VEHICLE MAINTENANCE 4,103               5,750              5,750             7,700             See Detail Listing
6210-233     EQUIPMENT MAINTENANCE 9,189               9,450              9,450             9,600             See Detail Listing
6210-234     WASTE DISPOSAL 2,931               4,000              4,000             5,100             
6210-298     MAINTENANCE & PARTS - MISC 2,714               3,000              3,000             3,000             

TOTAL MAINTENANCE & REPAIR 25,985            29,700           29,700           32,900           

PURCHASED SERVICES
6210-307     TRAVEL/TRAINING 270                  5,500              5,500             5,100             See Travel & Training Plan
6210-309     PROFESSIONAL SERVICES -                        5,000              5,000             30,000           $5 K - Surveying Easements/$25 K Tree Trimming
6210-323     CELL PHONE 1,515               3,500              3,500             3,500             
6210-331     UTILITIES, ELECTRIC 4,346               6,000              6,000             6,000             
6210-346     EQUIPMENT RENTAL 764                  4,000              4,000             4,000             

TOTAL PURCHASED SERVICES 6,895               24,000           24,000           48,600           

GENERAL & ADMINISTRATIVE SERVICES
6210-443     DUES/LICENSES 40                     200                 200                 462                 See Detail Listing

TOTAL GENERAL & ADMIN SERVICES 40                    200                 200                 462                

NON-CAPITAL EXPENSE

6210-411     FURNITURE & FIXTURES -                        -                       -                      2,000             Office Furniture

6210-416     IMPLEMENTS & APPARATUS -                        -                       -                      -                      

6210-420     EQUIPMENT -                        4,100              4,100             
6210-433     SIGNS & MARKINGS 9,975               12,000           12,000           12,000           

TOTAL NON-CAPITAL EXPENSE 9,975               16,100           16,100           14,000           

CAPITAL OUTLAY
8210-420     EQUIPMENT 31,000             13,000           13,000           216,137         $14.5K Scag Mower/$123,787 backhoe

$77,850 vactron 
8210-421     VEHICLES 45,000           45,000           55,000           Truck for Public Works

TOTAL CAPITAL OUTLAY 31,000            58,000           58,000           271,137        

TOTAL PUBLIC WORKS 281,595          394,069         398,442         692,448        

DESCRIPTION

Page 17 8/19/2022



11 -GENERAL FUND 2020-2021 2021-2022 2021-2022 2022-2023
PARKS DEPARTMENT FISCAL YEAR ORIGINAL AMENDED FISCAL YEAR
DEPARTMENTAL EXPENDITURES ACTUAL BUDGET BUDGET BUDGET

PERSONNEL SERVICES

6211-103     SALARIES - NON-EXMPT TEMP 16,708                20,160             20,160                 Reallocated to FT P works position
6211-112     WORKERS COMP 395                      600                  600                      Reallocated to FT P works position
6211-127     MEDICARE 242                      300                  300                      Reallocated to FT P works position

TOTAL PERSONNEL SERVICES 17,345                21,060             21,060                 -                          

MAINTENANCE & REPAIR

6211-231     FACILITIES MAINTENANCE 4,262                  4,500               4,500                   4,500                 See Detail Listing
6211-233     EQUIPMENT MAINTENANCE 4,341                  4,500               4,500                   4,500                 Small Landscaping Equipment

TOTAL MAINTENANCE & REPAIR 8,603                  9,000               9,000                   9,000                 

PURCHASED SERVICES
6211-322     CONTRACTS 54,300                74,500             74,500                 82,000               See Detail Listing 
6211-331     UTILITIES, ELECTRIC 1,566                  2,000               2,000                   2,000                 
6211-333     UTILITIES, WATER 8,698                  10,000             10,000                 10,000               

TOTAL PURCHASED SERVICES 64,563                86,500             86,500                 94,000               

SPECIAL EVENTS
6211-444 FOUNDERS DAY 24,287                30,000             23,200                 30,000               
6211-445 SERVICE TREE PROGRAM 3,410                  7,000               7,000                   7,000                 
6211-446 KEEP LUCAS BEAUTIFUL 2,199                  5,000               5,000                   5,000                 See Detail Listing
6211-447 COUNTRY CHRISTMAS 9,448                  10,000             10,000                 10,000               
6211-448 PARK EVENTS 13,469                15,000             15,000                 15,000               See Detail Listing

TOTAL SPECIAL EVENTS 52,812                67,000             60,200                 67,000               

NON-CAPITAL OUTLAY
6211-417 PARK IMPROVEMENTS 46,981                30,000             30,000                 30,000               
6211-418 PARK IMPROVEMENTS- USACE -                           

TOTAL NON- CAPITAL OUTLAY 46,981                30,000             30,000                 30,000               

CAPITAL OUTLAY
8211-417     PARK IMPROVEMENTS -                           30,000               Foundation repairs Kenneth R Lewis

TOTAL CAPITAL OUTLAY -                           -                        -                            30,000               

TOTAL PARKS 190,303              213,560           206,760              230,000             

DESCRIPTION

Page 18 8/19/2022



11 -GENERAL FUND 2020-2021 2021-2022 2021-2022 2022-2023
DEVELOPMENT SERVICES FISCAL YEAR ORIGINAL AMENDED FISCAL YEAR
DEPARTMENTAL EXPENDITURES ACTUAL BUDGET BUDGET BUDGET

PERSONNEL SERVICES
6212-101     SALARIES - EXEMPT 52,372               56,727           58,929              58,927          Development Services Director split 

50/50 with Water Fund
6212-102     SALARIES - NON-EXEMPT 217,955             224,420         235,036           235,036        
6212-105     SALARIES - COLA -                          6,411             -                         
6212-111     OVERTIME 8,137                  11,200           11,200              11,200          
6212-112     WORKERS' COMPENSATION 1,447                  2,200             2,200                2,200             
6212-113     LONGEVITY PAY 1,454                  1,682             1,682                1,898             
6212-122     TMRS 35,487               37,000           38,647              37,519          Rate Decrease 12.57% to 12.24%
6212-123     GROUP INSURANCE 43,681               48,222           48,222              53,460          
6212-127     MEDICARE 4,174                  4,300             4,486                4,486             
6212-129     LT DISABILITY 482                     850                 850                   876                
6212-131     UNEMPLOYMENT -                          

TOTAL PERSONNEL SERVICES 365,188             393,012         401,252           405,602        

MATERIALS & SUPPLIES

6212-201     OFFICE SUPPLIES 3,826                  5,500             5,500                5,500             
6212-203     SUBSCRIPTIONS -                          350                 350                   350                
6212-204     FOOD/BEVERAGE 58                       600                 600                   600                
6212-205     LOGO/UNIFORM ALLOWANCE 2,231                  2,600             2,600                2,700             
6212-206     FUEL & LUBRICANTS 9,125                  5,500             5,500                12,000          Increase in fuel costs for four vehicles
6212-210     COMPUTER SUPPLIES 417                     250                 250                   500                

TOTAL MATERIALS & SUPPLIES 15,657               14,800           14,800              21,650          

MAINTENANCE & REPAIR

6212-232    VEHICLE MAINTENANCE 9,111                  6,300             6,300                6,300             See Detail Listing

TOTAL MAINTENANCE & REPAIR 9,111                  6,300             6,300                6,300             

PURCHASED SERVICES:

6212-305     SOFTWARE SUPPORT/MAINT. 445                     12,674           19,474              24,278          See Comprehensive IT Schedule
Energov $11,227/Incode $2,081
Insite online bill pay $10,970

6212-307     TRAINING & TRAVEL 1,701                  13,109           13,109              13,656          See Travel & Training Plan
6212-309     PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 5,884                  14,600           14,600              16,000          See Detail Listing
6212-313     MAINTENANCE AGREEMENTS -                          100                 100                   
6212-323     CELL PHONE 2,297                  3,200             3,200                6,400             4 cellular lines for ipads/inspections

TOTAL PURCHASED SERVICES 10,327               43,683           50,483              60,334          

GENERAL & ADMINISTRATIVE SERVICES

6212-443     DUES/LICENSES 563                     3,089             3,089                3,119             See Detail Listing
6212-450     COMPUTER HARDWARE -                          5,150                -                     
6212-451     SOFTWARE, BOOKS & CD'S 1,987                  1,600             1,600                5,600             $1.6K See Comprehensive IT Schedule 

$4K - See Detail Listing
6212-452     STORM WATER MGMT EXPENSE 6,224                  8,500             8,500                9,000             Includes $6.5K supplies/eqp for two

cleanup events/$2.5K Education exp

TOTAL GENERAL & ADMINISTRATION SERVICES 8,774                  13,189           18,339              17,719          

CAPITAL OUTLAY
8212-420     EQUIPMENT -                          -                      
8212-451     COMPUTER SOFTWARE 11,260               -                      29,693              
8212-452     COMPUTERS -                          -                      
8212-421     VEHICLES -                          -                      

TOTAL CAPITAL OUTLAY 11,260               -                      29,693              -                     

TOTAL DEVELOPMENT SERVICES 420,317             470,984         520,867           511,605        

DESCRIPTION

Page 19 8/19/2022



11 -GENERAL FUND 2020-2021 2021-2022 2021-2022 2022-2023
FIRE DEPARTMENT FISCAL YEAR ORIGINAL AMENDED FISCAL YEAR
DEPARTMENTAL EXPENDITURES ACTUAL BUDGET BUDGET BUDGET DESCRIPTION

PERSONNEL SERVICES
6300-101     SALARIES - EXEMPT 281,302                      309,364             333,939          333,939      
6300-102     SALARIES - NON EXEMPT FF/EMS 786,362                      1,060,266          1,114,288       1,108,609   Includes 3 reclassifications to driver
6300-103     SAL - NON EXEMPT TEMP 7,571                          3,600                  3,600               3,600           Emerg. Mgt. Intern
6300-105     SALARIES - COLA -                                   31,550                -                        
6300-106     CERTIFICATION FEES 4,750                          15,120                15,120             12,120        See Detail Listing
6300-110     SAL - MARKET/RETENTION -                                   63,153                31,088             
6300-111     SALARIES - OVERTIME 176,838                      194,300             194,300          230,304      See Detail Listing - 5070 hours
6300-112     WORKERS' COMPENSATION 35,841                        49,500                49,500             49,500        
6300-113     LONGEVITY PAY 3,380                          4,104                  4,104               4,228           
6300-122     TMRS 159,541                      199,900             209,856          208,417      Rate Decrease 12.57% to 12.24%
6300-123     GROUP INSURANCE 147,876                      203,604             203,604          225,720      
6300-127     MEDICARE 18,317                        22,950                24,090             24,484        
6300-128     OTHER RETIREMENT 71,834                        20,000                20,000             13,000        LOSAP - approximately 10 volunteers
6300-129     LT DISABILITY 1,672                          4,170 4,170               4,328           
6300-133     TELEPHONE ALLOWANCE 600                              600                     600                  600              

TOTAL PERSONNEL SERVICES 1,695,885                  2,182,181          2,208,259       2,218,849   

MATERIALS & SUPPLIES
6300-201     OFFICE SUPPLIES 1,867                          2,100                  2,100               2,100           
6300-202     POSTAGE 346                              375                     375                  375              
6300-203     SUBSCRIPTIONS -                                   -                           -                        
6300-204     FOOD/BEVERAGE 5,212                          5,550                  5,550               5,950           See Detail Listing
6300-205     LOGO/UNIFORM ALLOWANCE 18,293                        20,550                20,550             32,215        See Detail Listing
6300-206     FUEL & LUBRICANTS 13,545                        18,600                18,600             36,180        See Detail Listing
6300-207     FUEL - PROPANE/(natural gas) 1,442                          1,700                  1,700               2,100           
6300-208     MINOR APPARATUS 5,559                          9,315                  9,315               10,780        See Detail Listing
6300-209     PROTECTIVE CLOTHING 10,401                        35,640                40,640             26,800        See Detail Listing
6300-210     COMPUTER SUPPLIES 1,082                          1,720                  1,720               1,900           See Detail Listing
6300-211     MEDICAL & SURGICAL SUPPL 22,225                        32,200                32,200             36,800        See Detail Listing
6300-214     SUPPLIES - FD 4,166                          8,055                  8,055               9,320           See Detail Listing
6300-215     DISPOSABLE MATERIALS 2,621                          5,850                  5,850               7,555           See Detail Listing
6300-227     PREVENTION ACTIVITIES 4,422                          5,650                  5,650               5,600           See Detail Listing

TOTAL MATERIALS & SUPPLIES 91,182                        147,305             152,305          177,675      

MAINTENANCE & REPAIR
6300-231     FACILITY MAINTENANCE 22,389                        22,100                22,100             28,790        See Detail Listing
6300-232     VEHICLE MAINTENANCE 39,055                        37,229                37,229             57,076        See Detail Listing
6300-233     EQUIPMENT MAINT 9,001                          12,900                12,900             14,365        See Detail Listing

TOTAL MAINTENANCE & REPAIR 70,445                        72,229                72,229            100,231      

PURCHASED SERVICES
6300-302     FIRE DEPT RUN REIMBURS. 59,290                        78,000                78,000             51,100        See Detail Listing

Approximately 15 volunteers
6300-302.1  LISD GAME COVERAGE 1,360                          6,210                  6,210               1,000           See Detail Listing
6300-303     TELEPHONE 5,091                          5,160                  5,160               5,160           
6300-304     INTERNET 5,700                          6,600                  6,600               6,600           
6300-307     TRAINING & TRAVEL 23,154                        46,514                46,514             47,125        See Detail Listing

6300-309     PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 98,468                        143,731             143,731          135,367      See Detail Listing and Comprehensive

IT Schedule

6300-310     SCBA 17,661                        36,350                52,729             10,770        See Detail Listing
6300-312     PARAMEDIC SCHOOL 1,000                          1,200                  1,200               

6300-313     MAINTENANCE AGREEMENTS 15,719                        16,705                16,705             16,993        See Detail Listing and Comprehensive

IT Schedule

6300-316     911 DISPATCH 79,939                        83,500                83,500             90,449        Wylie Dispatch
6300-323     CELL PHONE 9,215                          10,000                10,000             10,600        See Detail Listing

6300-325     LIABILITY INSURANCE 20,000                        22,000                22,000             24,200        Increase in rates

6300-331     UTILITIES, ELECTRIC 23,851                        27,000                27,000             27,000        

6300-333     UTILITIES, WATER 4,403                          4,750                  4,750               4,750           
6300-337     PAGER SERVICE 625                              700                     700                  815              Active 911 notification of emergencies

6300-346     EQUIPMENT RENTAL 441                              470                     470                  500              

TOTAL PURCHASED SERVICES 365,916                      488,890             505,269          432,429      

Page 20 8/19/2022



11 -GENERAL FUND 2020-2021 2021-2022 2021-2022 2022-2023
FIRE DEPARTMENT FISCAL YEAR ORIGINAL AMENDED FISCAL YEAR
DEPARTMENTAL EXPENDITURES ACTUAL BUDGET BUDGET BUDGET DESCRIPTION

GENERAL & ADMINISTRATIVE SERVICES
6300-441     APPRECIATION/AWARDS 3,235                          4,000                  4,000               2,700           See Detail Listing
6300-443     DUES/LICENSES 5,838                          7,055                  7,055               6,325           See Detail Listing

6300-445     CHILD SAFETY 10,045                        -                           -                        
6300-447     EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT SERV 7,720                          8,689                  8,689               9,689           See Detail Listing
6300-448     REHAB TRAINING & EQUIPMENT 1,397                          950                     950                  950              See Detail Listing
6300-451     SOFTWARE, BOOKS & CD'S 2,444                          3,500                  3,500               4,100           See Detail Listing and Comprehensive

 IT Schedule

TOTAL GENERAL & ADMINISTRATIVE SERVICES 30,679                        24,194                24,194            23,764        
NON-CAPITALIZED EXPENSE
6300-420 EQUIPMENT 8,469                          7,500                  7,500               6,300           See Detail Listing
6300-452 HARDWARE & TELECOM 10,604                        12,150                16,874             11,050        See Detail Listing

and Comprehensive IT Schedule

TOTAL NON-CAPITALIZED EXPENSE 19,073                        19,650                24,374            17,350        

CAPITAL OUTLAY
8300-200     BUILDING IMPROVEMENTS -                                   -                           
8300-411     FURNITURE & FIXTURES -                                   -                           
8300-416     IMPLEMENTS & APPARATUS -                                   -                           
8300-420     EQUIPMENT -                                   50,000                50,000             86,090        See Detail Listing
8300-421     VEHICLES -                                   80,600                200,600          
8300-452     HARDWARE & TELECOM 7,458                          31,000                31,000             32,500        See Detail Listing and

Comprehensive IT Schedule

TOTAL CAPITAL OUTLAY 7,458                          161,600             281,600          118,590      

TOTAL FIRE 2,280,639                  3,096,049          3,268,230       3,088,888   

Page 21 8/19/2022



11 -GENERAL FUND 2020-2021 2021-2022 2021-2022 2022-2023
GENERAL ADMINISTRATION - NON-DEPT. FISCAL YEAR ORIGINAL AMENDED FISCAL YEAR
DEPARTMENTAL EXPENDITURES ACTUAL BUDGET BUDGET BUDGET

PERSONNEL SERVICES
6999-110     PERFORMANCE/INCENTIVE -                      50,455            -                        280,054          

TOTAL PERSONNEL SERVICES -                      50,455            -                        280,054          

MAINT & SUPPLIES

6999-214   CLEANING SUPPLIES 1,500              1,500              1,500               1,500              
6999-231   FACILITY MAINT 36,765           28,800            28,800             28,800            Includes $300 Security Monitoring

Comprehensive IT Schedule

TOTAL MAINT & SUPPLIES 38,264           30,300            30,300             30,300            

PURCHASED SERVICES
6999-303     TELEPHONE 10,888           12,000            12,000             12,000            
6999-305     IT SUPPORT/MAINT 72,292           72,292            72,292             74,446            See Comprehensive IT Schedule
6999-306     SOFTWARE MAINTENANCE 17,156           17,484            17,484             20,405            See Comprehensive IT Schedule
6999-308     CLEANING & PEST CONTROL 17,294           18,300            18,300             27,400            $25K Cleaning $2.4K Pest Control
6999-309      PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 5,759              4,560              4,560               4,560              See Comprehensive IT Schedule
6999-310     LEGAL SERVICES 109,998         100,000          100,000           100,000          
6999-323     STREAKER RESTORATION 30,800           10,000            -                        

6999-326     LAW ENFORCEMENT 212,449         250,000          237,414           811,905          Enhanced law enforcement
6999-331     ELECTRICITY 7,051              8,400              8,400               8,400              
6999-333     WATER 971                 1,200              1,200               1,200              
6999-336     ANIMAL CONTROL 34,000           35,000            35,000             35,000            

TOTAL PURCHASED SERVICES 518,659         529,236          506,650           1,095,316      

NON-CAPITAL EXPENSE
6999-411    FURNITURE -                      -                       -                        
6999-451    SOFTWARE 5,712              7,500              10,000             23,275            See Comprehensive IT Schedule
6999-452    HARDWARE, TELECOM 3,802              11,600            24,186             11,500            See Comprehensive IT Schedule
6999-499    COVID-19 EXPENSES 17,711           -                       

TOTAL NON-CAPITALIZED EXPENSE 27,225           19,100            34,186             34,775            

CAPITAL OUTLAY
8999-200     BUILDING IMPROVEMENTS -                      -                       286,479           12,000            FY 21-22 Mid-Year Budget Adj for

Office space for Eng/PW/Cust Serv.
FY 22-23 Community Center Rehab

8999-420      EQUIPMENT -                      -                       -                        6,879              See Comprehensive IT Schedule
8999-451      SOFTWARE -                      -                       -                        7,000              See Comprehensive IT Schedule
8999-452      HARDWARE, TELECOM -                      11,000            11,000             

-                        

TOTAL CAPITAL OUTLAY -                      11,000            297,479           25,879            

TOTAL NON-DEPARTMENTAL 584,148         640,091          868,615           1,466,324      

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES(USES)

6999-998 TRANSFER OUT TO CAPITAL FUND 441,814 Restricted Reserves and Impact
Fees for Capital Projects FY 21-22

TOTAL FINANCING SOURCES (USES) -$                    -$                     441,814$         -$                     

 DESCRIPTION

Page 22 8/19/2022



21 - CAPITAL IMPROVEMENTS 2020-2021 2021-2022 2021-2022 2022-2023
 FISCAL YEAR ORIGINAL AMENDED FISCAL YEAR
REVENUES ACTUAL BUDGET BUDGET BUDGET

FEES & SERVICE CHARGES

4404 INTERGOV/3RD PARTY REV 4,182,590              -                        -                     50 % of Collin County
Funding West Lucas Rd
Remaining 30 days 
after bids for construction

TOTAL FEES & SERVICE CHARGES 4,182,590              -                        -                         -                     

MISCELLANEOUS REVENUE

4911  INTEREST INCOME 9,896                     6,000               37,607              6,000            
4914  INSURANCE PROCEEDS -                              -                        -                         

TOTAL MISCELLANEOUS REV 9,896                     6,000               37,607              6,000            

***TOTAL OPERATING REVENUE*** 4,192,486              6,000               37,607              6,000            

OTHER FINANCIAL SOURCES (USES)

4800  BOND PROCEEDS
4810  BOND ISSUE PREMIUM
4996  TRANSFER IN FROM GF RESTRICTED RESERVES 441,814 Restricted Reserves and Impact

Fees for Capital Projects FY 21-22

TOTAL  OTHER FIN. SOURCES (USES) -                              -                        441,814           -                     

 DESCRIPTION

Page 23 8/19/2022



21 - CAPITAL IMPROVEMENTS 2020-2021 2021-2022 2021-2022 2022-2023
PUBLIC WORKS FISCAL YEAR ORIGINAL AMENDED FISCAL YEAR
DEPARTMENTAL EXPENDITURES ACTUAL BUDGET BUDGET BUDGET**

CAPITAL OUTLAY

7900-298          BOND ISSUE COSTS -                         -                      

8210-490-122  PARKER RD PHASE TWO

8210-490-124  PROJ MGMT 125 -ELEV WATER TWR 17,486              -                      

8210-490-125  ELEVATED WATER TOWER 33,250              1,116,461     

8210-490-127  SCADA SYSTEM PROJECT 81,741              

8210-490-128  NORTH PUMP STATION PROJECT 1,170,796        20,800           

8210-490-129  BAIT SHOP WATERLINE RELOCATION 76,758              1,165,663     

8210-490-130   MCGARITY STEM REPLECEMENT -                         57,300           

8210-491-127   WINNINGKOFF RD(REVERSE C TO SNIDER LN) 1,771,192        2,730             

8210-491-131   PROJ MGMT 127 - WINNINGKOFF RD 70,853              -                      

8210-491-134   STISON RD / MUDDY CREEK BRIDGE 264,438           262,600         

8210-491-135   SNIDER LANE/WHITE ROCK ROCK CREEK BRIDGE 373,285           47,858           

8210-491-136   WEST LUCAS RD PROJECT 789,256           3,395,564     

8210-491-300    BLONDY JHUNE RD ALIGNMENT -                         306,489         

8210-491-500   BROCKDALE RD REHABILITATION 603,651           41,349           

TOTAL CAPITAL OUTLAY 5,252,707        -                     6,416,814     -                        

TOTAL PUBLIC WORKS 5,252,707 0 6,416,814 0

                Ongoing Capital Project Budget Balances from FY 2021-2022 will be brought to Council for
                reallocation after the completion of the FY 2021-2022 audit to properly reflect outstanding budget 
                balances to carry forward for FY 2022-2023.

DESCRIPTION

**NOTE:

Page 24 8/19/2022



Page 25 8/19/2022



Page 26 8/19/2022



51 - WATER UTILITIES FUND 2020-2021 2021-2022 2021-2022 2022-2023
 FISCAL YEAR ORIGINAL AMENDED FISCAL YEAR
 REVENUES ACTUAL BUDGET BUDGET BUDGET  DESCRIPTION

FEES & SERVICE CHARGES

4461         WATER REVENUE 4,277,983         4,353,461         5,407,588          4,353,461         
4462         WATER TAPS & BORES -                          3,000                 -                          3,000                 
4463         PENALTY & INTEREST 31,025               35,000               35,000               35,000              
4467         WATER METER 233,500            150,000            190,000             200,000            
4468         WATER METER REPAIRS 3,000                 6,000                 3,600                  6,000                 
4469         WASTEWATER FEES 63,539               54,000               88,000               66,000              
4470         REREAD/CHARTING 75                       100                    225                     100                    
4478         TRASH SERVICE 664,408            648,000            689,287             859,234            New trash provider - CWD

FY 22-23 Rate $26.09 trash/recyle
4497         FH METER RENTAL INC 3,000                 3,500                 4,750                  3,500                 
4498         MISC. FEE AND CHARGES -                          -                          -                          
4499         WATER LINES/FEES DEVEL -                          -                          -                          

TOTAL FEES & SERVICE CHARGES 5,276,530         5,253,061         6,418,450          5,526,295         

MISCELLANEOUS REVENUE

4911         INTEREST INCOME 9,968                 7,200                 48,955               7,200                 
4912         RETURN CHECK CHARGE 125                    400                    250                     400                    
4913         NTMWD REFUND 52,427               10,000               10,000              
4914         INSURANCE CLAIM REIMB 8,671                 -                          -             
4915         MISC REV -SALES TAX DISC 236                    -                          
4992         SALE OF ASSETS -                          -                          -             
4995         REIMBURSEMENTS -                          -                          5,000                  
4996         WF RESERVE FUNDING (USE OF) -                          
4997         MISCELLANEOUS -                          -                          23,007               

TOTAL MISCELLANEOUS REVENUE 71,427              17,600              77,212               17,600              

***TOTAL OPERATING REVENUE*** 5,347,957         5,270,661         6,495,662          5,543,895         

Page 27 8/19/2022



51 - WATER  FUND- Public Works 2020-2021 2021-2022 2021-2022 2022-2023
 FISCAL YEAR ORIGINAL AMENDED FISCAL YEAR
DEPARTMENTAL EXPENDITURES ACTUAL BUDGET BUDGET BUDGET DESCRIPTION

PERSONNEL SERVICES

6400-101     SALARIES - EXEMPT  186,945             193,453               203,151            205,356            City Manager, Finance Director, Development
Services Director Split 50/50 with General Fund

6400-102     SALARIES - NON-EXEMPT 265,761             278,605               292,962            294,963            
6400-105     SALARIES - COLA -                          10,765                 -                          
6400-106     CERTIFICATION FEES       4,695                 6,300                   6,300                 6,300                 
6400-110     PERFORMANCE/INCENTIVE PAY -                          12,698                 472                    67,152               
6400-111     OVERTIME 42,200               51,726                 51,726               51,726               
6400-112     WORKERS' COMPENSATION  7,037                 10,700                 10,700               10,700               
6400-113     LONGEVITY PAY  2,630                 3,138                   3,138                 3,370                 
6400-122     TMRS   63,828               68,000                 71,084               69,063               Rate Decrease 12.57% to 12.24%
6400-123     GROUP INSURANCE  75,553               80,370                 80,370               89,100               
6400-127     MEDICARE   7,299                 7,700                   8,050                 8,096                 
6400-129     LT DISABILITY 725                     1,425                   1,425                 1,501                 
6400-141     CAR ALLOWANCE 2,400                 2,400                   2,400                 2,400                 

TOTAL PERSONNEL SERVICES 659,074             727,280              731,778            809,727            

MATERIALS & SUPPLIES

6400-201     OFFICE SUPPLIES 781                     800                       800                    800                    
6400-202     POSTAGE 605                     2,000                   2,000                 2,000                 
6400-204     FOOD/BEVERAGE 682                     800                       800                    1,000                 

6400-206     FUEL & LUBRICANTS 13,910               15,500                 15,500               30,000               Increase in Fuel Costs

6400-207     FUEL - PROPANE/(NATURALGAS) -                          -                            15,101               14,000               
6400-208     MINOR APPARATUS 1,453                 2,700                   2,700                 3,500                 Small tools/generator
6400-209     PROTEC CLOTHING/UNIFORMS 5,052                 8,775                   8,775                 8,975                 See Detail Listing
6400-210     COMPUTER SUPPLIES -                          450                       450                    450                    
6400-211     MEDICAL SUPPLIES -                          250                       250                    250                    
6400-212     CHEMICALS 3,218                 6,000                   6,000                 6,000                 Water Testing Materials
6400-222     OTHER SUPPLIES -                          -                            -                          
6400-223     SAND/DIRT -                          2,000                   2,000                 3,000                 
6400-224     ASPHALT/FLEXBASE/CONCRETE -                          6,500                   6,500                 6,500                 

TOTAL MATERIALS & SUPPLIES 25,701               45,775                 60,876               76,475               

MAINTENANCE & REPAIR

6400-230     REPAIRS & MAINT. - EQUIP. 181                     2,500                   2,500                 2,500                 
6400-231     FACILITY MAINTENANCE 3,630                 4,500                   4,500                 6,000                 See Detail Listing
6400-232     VEHICLE/EQP MAINT. 4,958                 7,550                   7,550                 8,650                 See Detail Listing
6400-233     REPAIR & MAINT WTR FACILITIES 148,188             263,000               263,000            295,000            See Detail Listing - Includes $100K

for Valve and Hydrant Maintenance

TOTAL MAINTENANCE & REPAIR 156,957             277,550              277,550            312,150            

PURCHASED SERVICES:

6400-237     TRASH SERVICES 574,236             576,000               594,000            747,160            New trash provider - CWD
FY 22-23 Rate $26.09 trash/recyle

6400-302     AUDITING & ACCOUNTING 10,346               13,000                 13,000               14,000               Split 50/50 with General Fund
6400-303     TELEPHONE 7,084                 7,200                   7,200                 7,200                 
6400-304     UB PROCESSING 26,462               27,000                 27,000               30,000               
6400-305     SOFTWARE SUPPORT/MAINT 22,492               29,400                 29,400               30,870               $14.8K Incode annual maint/$16K online bill

pay (increase in customer transactions)
6400-306     METER SOFTWARE/HARDWARE MAINT -                          6,180                   6,180                 8,540                 Neptune software and hardware maintenance
6400-307     TRAINING & TRAVEL 3,709                 7,718                   7,718                 8,722                 See Travel & Training Plan
6400-309     PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 23,179               46,600                 46,600               38,800               See Detail Listing 
6400-310     LEGAL SERVICES 1,081                 900                       900                    900                    
6400-313     MAINTENANCE AGREEMENTS 6,000                 6,160                   6,160                 6,660                 Konica Copier/Split with water fund/inc copies
6400-315     WATER - NTMWD 1,910,914         1,910,914           1,910,914         2,230,648         13 percent price increase/$3.44 per 1,000 gallons

Volume increase from 628,590 to 648,444 (1,000 Gal)
6400-316     WASTEWATER   NTMWD 6,713                 54,000                 54,000               48,700               Upper East Fork Interceptor $3.1057/Regional 

Wastewater System $2.1210 (1,000 Gal)
6400-323     CELL PHONE 6,786                 8,700                   8,700                 8,700                 
6400-325     LIABILITY INSURANCE 20,200               22,000                 22,000               24,200               Increase in rates
6400-331     ELECTRICITY 72,963               75,000                 75,000               75,000               
6400-346     EQUIPMENT RENTAL -                          4,000                   4,000                 4,000                 

TOTAL PURCHASED SERVICES 2,692,163         2,794,772           2,812,772         3,284,100         

GENERAL & ADMIN SERVICES/TRANSFERS

Page 28 8/19/2022



51 - WATER  FUND- Public Works 2020-2021 2021-2022 2021-2022 2022-2023
 FISCAL YEAR ORIGINAL AMENDED FISCAL YEAR
DEPARTMENTAL EXPENDITURES ACTUAL BUDGET BUDGET BUDGET DESCRIPTION

6400-443     DUES/LICENSES -                          333                       333                    333                    Three water license renewals
6400-999     PILOT TRANSFER OUT 284,355             277,789               339,296            279,090            

TOTAL GENERAL & ADMIN SERVICES/TRANSFERS 284,355             278,122              339,629            279,423            

NON-CAPITAL EXPENSE

6400-411     FURNITURE -                          -                          2,000                 Office Furniture
6400-416     IMPLEMENTS & APPARATUS -                          -                          
6400-420     EQUIPMENT - WATER -                          -                          
6400-451     SOFTWARE -                          2,500                 2,675                 See Comprehensive IT Schedule

TOTAL NON-CAPITAL EXPENSE -                          -                            2,500                 4,675                 -                                                                                                   

CAPITAL OUTLAY

8400-420     EQUIPMENT - WATER -                          -                            -                          -                          

8400-452     HARDWARE -                          -                            -                          

TOTAL CAPITAL OUTLAY -                          -                            -                          -                          

TOTAL WATER UTILITIES 3,818,249         4,123,499           4,225,105         4,766,550         

Page 29 8/19/2022



51 - WATER  FUND- Engineering 2020-2021 2021-2022 2021-2022 2022-2023
 FISCAL YEAR ORIGINAL AMENDED FISCAL YEAR
DEPARTMENTAL EXPENDITURES ACTUAL BUDGET BUDGET BUDGET DESCRIPTION

PERSONNEL SERVICES

6409-101     SALARIES - EXEMPT  70,198                 84,770              87,814            88,813           P Works Director & Mgmt Analyst 
positions Split 50/50 with Water Fund

6409-105     SALARIES - COLA -                            1,934                -                       
6409-112     WORKERS' COMPENSATION  191                       290                   290                  290                 
6409-113     LONGEVITY PAY  180                       48                      48                    74                   
6409-122     TMRS   8,874                   11,000              11,394            10,986           
6409-123     GROUP INSURANCE  7,119                   10,716              10,716            11,880           Rate Decrease 12.57% to 12.24%
6409-127     MEDICARE   1,030                   1,250                1,294              1,294              
6409-129     LT DISABILITY 108                       265                   265                  266                 
6409-133     TELEPHONE ALLOWANCE 225                       600                   600                  300                 

TOTAL PERSONNEL SERVICES 87,925                 110,873           112,421          113,903         

MATERIALS & SUPPLIES

6409-201     OFFICE SUPPLIES 613                       1,000                800                  1,000              $500 Plotter Ink/Paper/$500 Other
6409-204     FOOD/BEVERAGE -                            250                   250                  500                 
6409-208     MINOR APPARATUS -                            500                   500                  500                 
6409-209     PROTEC CLOTHING/UNIFORMS 213                       1,355                1,355              1,415              See Detail Listing
6409-210     COMPUTER SUPPLIES -                            500                   -                       500                 

TOTAL MATERIALS & SUPPLIES 826                      3,605                2,905              3,915              

MAINTENANCE & REPAIR

6409-232     VEHICLE MAINTENANCE -                            2,000                2,000              500                 See Detail Listing

TOTAL MAINTENANCE & REPAIR -                            2,000                2,000              500                 

PURCHASED SERVICES:

6409-305     SOFTWARE SUPPORT & MAINT -                            1,050                1,050              1,050              See Detail Listing- Scada software maint
See Comprehensive IT Schedule $50

6409-307     TRAINING & TRAVEL -                            1,740                1,740              2,300              See Travel & Training Plan
6409-309     PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 145,838               132,800           196,600          72,000           See Detail Listing 
6409-323     CELL PHONE 60                         1,200                1,200              1,200              

TOTAL PURCHASED SERVICES 145,898              136,790           200,590          76,550           

GENERAL & ADMIN SERVICES/TRANSFERS

6409-443     DUES/LICENSES 675                       1,075                1,075              1,135              See Detail Listing

TOTAL GENERAL & ADMIN SERVICES/TRANSFERS 675                      1,075                1,075              1,135              

NON-CAPITAL EXPENSE

6409-411     FURNITURE -                            500                   
6409-416     IMPLEMENTS & APPARATUS -                            500                   
6409-452      HARDWARE & TELECOM -                            500                   2,200              

TOTAL NON-CAPITAL EXPENSE -                            1,500                2,200              -                       -                                                                           

CAPITAL OUTLAY

8409-452     HARDWARE & TELECOMM

TOTAL CAPITAL OUTLAY -                            -                         -                       -                       

TOTAL WATER UTILITIES 235,324              255,843           321,191          196,003         

Page 30 8/19/2022



51 - WATER  FUND- Debt Service 2020-2021 2021-2022 2021-2022 2022-2023
 FISCAL YEAR ORIGINAL AMENDED FISCAL YEAR
DEPARTMENTAL EXPENDITURES ACTUAL BUDGET BUDGET BUDGET

DEBT SERVICE
7900-214    2007 CERT OF OBLIG-PRINCIPAL 125,000                125,000                         125,000                125,000                
7900-215    2007 CERT OF OBLIG-INTEREST 34,290                  29,219                           29,219                  23,906                  
7900-216    2007 GO REFUNDING- PRINCIPAL 105,000                105,000                         105,000                
7900-217    2007 GO REFUNDING- INTEREST 5,922                    1,974                              1,919                    
7900-218    2011 CERT OF OBLIG-PRINCIPAL 212,754                -                                      
7900-219    2011 CERT OF OBLIG-INTEREST 1,725                    -                                      
7900-222     2017 CERT OF OBLIG-PRINCIPAL 120,000                120,000                         120,000                125,000                
7900-223     2017 CERT OF OBLIG-INTEREST 75,750                  72,150                           72,150                  68,475                  
7900-224     2019 CERT OF OBLIG-PRINCIPAL 50,000                  50,000                           50,000                  55,000                  
7900-225     2019 CERT OF OBLIG-INTEREST 43,793                  41,293                           41,293                  38,668                  
7900-226     2020 CERT OF OBLIG-PRINCIPAL -                             95,000                           95,000                  105,000                
7900-227     2020 CERT OF OBLIG-INTEREST 24,462                  32,500                           32,500                  28,500                  
7900-298    BOND ISSUE COSTS 36,197                  600                                 600                        600                        

TOTAL DEBT SERVICE 834,893                672,736                         672,681                570,149                

TOTAL DEBT SERVICE 834,893                672,736                         672,681                570,149                

DESCRIPTION

Page 31 8/19/2022



59 - DEBT SERVICES FUND 2020-2021 2021-2022 2021-2022 2022-2023
 FISCAL YEAR ORIGINAL AMENDED FISCAL YEAR
DEPARTMENTAL EXPENDITURES ACTUAL BUDGET BUDGET BUDGET

REVENUES

PROPERTY TAXES
4011      PROPERTY TAXES 1,585,243                    1,439,715            1,608,904                  1,192,849                  
4012      PROPERTY TAXES-DELINQUENT 2,269                            -                             1,469                          
4015      PROPERTY TAXES-P&I 7,774                            5,000                    5,953                          
4911      INTEREST INCOME 3,052                            3,000                    4,049                          

TOTAL PROPERTY TAXES 1,598,338                    1,447,715            1,620,375                  1,192,849                  

4996      RESERVE FUNDING (USE OF) 215,000                        147,511                167,759                      

TOTAL REVENUES 1,813,338                    1,595,226            1,620,375                  1,360,608                  

EXPENDITURES

DEBT SERVICE

7900-214    2007 CERT OF OBLIG-PRINCIPAL 90,000                          90,000                  90,000                        100,000                      
7900-215    2007 CERT OF OBLIG-INTEREST 26,746                          23,163                  23,163                        19,125                        
7900-216    2007 GO REFUNDING- PRINCIPAL 235,000                        245,000                245,000                      
7900-217    2007 GO REFUNDING- INTEREST 13,630                          4,606                    4,478                          
7900-218    2011 CERT OF OBLIG-PRINCIPAL 392,793                        -                             -                                   
7900-219    2011 CERT OF OBLIG-INTEREST 2,475                            -                             -                                   
7900-220    2015 CERT OF OBLIG-PRINCIPAL 120,000                        125,000                125,000                      130,000                      
7900-221    2015 CERT OF OBLIG-INTEREST 39,900                          36,225                  36,225                        32,400                        
7900-222     2017 CERT OF OBLIG-PRINCIPAL 235,000                        245,000                245,000                      250,000                      
7900-223     2017 CERT OF OBLIG-INTEREST 151,725                        144,525                144,525                      137,100                      
7900-224     2019 CERT OF OBLIG-PRINCIPAL 175,000                        260,000                260,000                      285,000                      
7900-225     2019 CERT OF OBLIG-INTEREST 232,783                        221,908                221,908                      208,283                      
7900-226     2020 GO REFUNDING-PRINCIPAL -                                     150,000                150,000                      155,000                      
7900-227     2020 GO REFUNDING-INTEREST 36,836                          48,800                  48,800                        42,700                        
7900-298     BOND ISSUE COSTS 60,170                          1,000                    1,000                          1,000                          

TOTAL DEBT SERVICE 1,812,057                    1,595,227            1,595,099                  1,360,608                  

DESCRIPTION

Page 32 8/19/2022



Form developed by: Texas Comptroller of Public Accounts, Property Tax Assistance Division For additional copies, visit: comptroller.texas.gov/taxes/property-tax
50-856 • 5-22/9

Form 50-8562022 Tax Rate Calculation Worksheet
Taxing Units Other Than School Districts or Water Districts

____________________________________________________________________________   ________________________________
Taxing Unit Name Phone (area code and number)

____________________________________________________________________________   ________________________________
Taxing Unit’s Address, City, State, ZIP Code Taxing Unit’s Website Address

GENERAL INFORMATION: Tax Code Section 26.04(c) requires an officer or employee designated by the governing body to calculate the no-new-revenue (NNR) tax rate and 
voter-approval tax rate for the taxing unit. These tax rates are expressed in dollars per $100 of taxable value calculated. The calculation process starts after the chief appraiser 
delivers to the taxing unit the certified appraisal roll and the estimated values of properties under protest. The designated officer or employee shall certify that the officer or 
employee has accurately calculated the tax rates and used values shown for the certified appraisal roll or certified estimate. The officer or employee submits the rates to the 
governing body by Aug. 7 or as soon thereafter as practicable.

School districts do not use this form, but instead use Comptroller Form 50-859 Tax Rate Calculation Worksheet, School District without Chapter 313 Agreements or Comptroller Form 
50-884 Tax Rate Calculation Worksheet, School District with Chapter 313 Agreements.

Water districts as defined under Water Code Section 49.001(1) do not use this form, but instead use Comptroller Form 50-858 Water District Voter-Approval Tax Rate Worksheet for 
Low Tax Rate and Developing Districts or Comptroller Form 50-860 Developed Water District Voter-Approval Tax Rate Worksheet.

The Comptroller’s office provides this worksheet to assist taxing units in determining tax rates. The information provided in this worksheet is offered as technical assistance and not 
legal advice. Taxing units should consult legal counsel for interpretations of law regarding tax rate preparation and adoption.

SECTION 1: No-New-Revenue Tax Rate
The NNR tax rate enables the public to evaluate the relationship between taxes for the prior year and for the current year based on a tax rate that would produce the same amount 
of taxes (no new taxes) if applied to the same properties that are taxed in both years. When appraisal values increase, the NNR tax rate should decrease.

The NNR tax rate for a county is the sum of the NNR tax rates calculated for each type of tax the county levies.

While uncommon, it is possible for a taxing unit to provide an exemption for only maintenance and operations taxes. In this case, the taxing unit will need to calculate the NNR tax 
rate separately for the maintenance and operations tax and the debt tax, then add the two components together.

Line No-New-Revenue Tax Rate Worksheet Amount/Rate

1. 2021 total taxable value. Enter the amount of 2021 taxable value on the 2021 tax roll today. Include any adjustments since last year’s certification;
exclude Tax Code Section 25.25(d) one-fourth and one-third over-appraisal corrections from these adjustments. Exclude any property value subject 
to an appeal under Chapter 42 as of July 25 (will add undisputed value in Line 6). This total includes the taxable value of homesteads with tax ceil-
ings (will deduct in Line 2) and the captured value for tax increment financing (adjustment is made by deducting TIF taxes, as reflected in Line 17).1 $ _____________

2. 2021 tax ceilings. Counties, cities and junior college districts. Enter 2021 total taxable value of homesteads with tax ceilings. These include the 
homesteads of homeowners age 65 or older or disabled. Other taxing units enter 0. If your taxing unit adopted the tax ceiling provision in 
2021 or a prior year for homeowners age 65 or older or disabled, use this step.2

$ _____________

3. Preliminary 2021 adjusted taxable value. Subtract Line 2 from Line 1. $ _____________

4. 2021 total adopted tax rate. $ __________/$100

5.

A. Original 2021 ARB values:. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $ _____________

B. 2021 values resulting from final court decisions:. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   - $ _____________

C. 2021 value loss. Subtract B from A.3
$ _____________

6.

A. 2021 ARB certified value: . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $ _____________

B. 2021 disputed value:. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   - $ _____________

C. 2021 undisputed value. Subtract B from A. 4
$ _____________

7. 2021 Chapter 42 related adjusted values. Add Line 5C and Line 6C. $ _____________

2021 taxable value lost because court appeals of ARB decisions reduced 2021 appraised value.

2021 taxable value subject to an appeal under Chapter 42, as of July 25.

1  Tex. Tax Code § 26.012(14)
2  Tex. Tax Code § 26.012(14)
3  Tex. Tax Code § 26.012(13)
4  Tex. Tax Code § 26.012(13)

City of Lucas 972-727-8999

665 Country Club Road, Lucas, TX  75002 https://lucastexas.us

1,615,999,139

221,591,794

1,394,407,345

0.288397

16,783,499

16,209,770

573,729

350,000

53,235

296,765

870,494

                                           Page 33

comptroller.texas.gov/taxes/property-tax


2022 Tax Rate Calculation Worksheet – Taxing Units Other Than School Districts or Water Districts Form 50-856

Line No-New-Revenue Tax Rate Worksheet Amount/Rate

8. 2021 taxable value, adjusted for actual and potential court-ordered adjustments. Add Line 3 and Line 7. $ _____________

9. 2021 taxable value of property in territory the taxing unit deannexed after Jan. 1, 2021.  Enter the 2021 value of property in deannexed 
territory. 5

$ _____________

10.

A. Absolute exemptions. Use 2021 market value: . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $ _____________

B. Partial exemptions. 2022 exemption amount or 2022 percentage exemption 
times 2021 value:. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   + $ _____________

C. Value loss. Add A and B. 6
$ _____________

11.

A. 2021 market value:. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $ _____________

B. 2022 productivity or special appraised value:. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   - $ _____________

C. Value loss. Subtract B from A. 7
$ _____________

12. Total adjustments for lost value. Add Lines 9, 10C and 11C. $ _____________

13. 2021 captured value of property in a TIF. Enter the total value of 2021 captured appraised value of property taxable by a taxing unit in a tax 
increment financing zone for which 2021 taxes were deposited into the tax increment fund. 8 If the taxing unit has no captured appraised 
value in line 18D, enter 0. $ _____________

14. 2021 total value. Subtract Line 12 and Line 13 from Line 8. $ _____________

15. Adjusted 2021 total levy. Multiply Line 4 by Line 14 and divide by $100. $ _____________

16. Taxes refunded for years preceding tax year 2021. Enter the amount of taxes refunded by the taxing unit for tax years preceding tax year 
2021. Types of refunds include court decisions, Tax Code Section 25.25(b) and (c) corrections and Tax Code Section 31.11 payment errors. 
Do not include refunds for tax year 2021. This line applies only to tax years preceding tax year 2021. 9

$ _____________

17. Adjusted 2021 levy with refunds and TIF adjustment. Add Lines 15 and 16. 10
$ _____________

18.

A. Certified values:. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $ _____________

B. Counties: Include railroad rolling stock values certified by the Comptroller’s office: . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   + $ _____________

C. Pollution control and energy storage system exemption: Deduct the value of property exempted 
for the current tax year for the first time as pollution control or energy storage system property: . . . . . . . . . . .   - $ _____________

D. Tax increment financing: Deduct the 2022 captured appraised value of property taxable by a taxing 
unit in a tax increment financing zone for which the 2022 taxes will be deposited into the tax increment
fund. Do not include any new property value that will be included in Line 23 below. 12 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   - $ _____________

E. Total 2022 value. Add A and B, then subtract C and D. $ _____________

2021 taxable value lost because property first qualified for an exemption in 2022. If the taxing unit increased an original exemption, use 
the difference between the original exempted amount and the increased exempted amount. Do not include value lost due to freeport, goods-
in-transit, temporary disaster exemptions. Note that lowering the amount or percentage of an existing exemption in 2022 does not create a 
new exemption or reduce taxable value.

2021 taxable value lost because property first qualified for agricultural appraisal (1-d or 1-d-1), timber appraisal, recreational/
scenic appraisal or public access airport special appraisal in 2022. Use only properties that qualified in 2022 for the first time; do not use 
properties that qualified in 2021.

Total 2022 taxable value on the 2022 certified appraisal roll today. This value includes only certified values or certified estimate of 
values and includes the total taxable value of homesteads with tax ceilings (will deduct in Line 20). These homesteads include homeowners 
age 65 or older or disabled. 11

5  Tex. Tax Code § 26.012(15)
6  Tex. Tax Code § 26.012(15)
7  Tex. Tax Code § 26.012(15)
8  Tex. Tax Code § 26.03(c)
9  Tex. Tax Code § 26.012(13)
10  Tex. Tax Code § 26.012(13)
11  Tex. Tax Code § 26.012, 26.04(c-2)
12  Tex. Tax Code § 26.03(c)

For additional copies, visit: comptroller.texas.gov/taxes/property-tax Page 34

1,395,277,839

0

506,631

8,429,427

8,936,058

0

0

0

8,936,058

0

1,386,341,781

3,998,168

10,506

4,008,674

1,837,535,103

0

0

1,837,535,103

https://comptroller.texas.gov/taxes/property-tax


2022 Tax Rate Calculation Worksheet – Taxing Units Other Than School Districts or Water Districts Form 50-856

20. 2022 tax ceilings. Counties, cities and junior colleges enter 2022 total taxable value of homesteads with tax ceilings. These include the home- 
steads of homeowners age 65 or older or disabled. Other taxing units enter 0. If your taxing unit adopted the tax ceiling provision in 2021 or 
a prior year for homeowners age 65 or older or disabled, use this step.16

$ _____________

21. 2022 total taxable value. Add Lines 18E and 19C. Subtract Line 20. 17
$ _____________

22. Total 2022 taxable value of properties in territory annexed after Jan. 1, 2021.  Include both real and personal property. Enter the 2022 
value of property in territory annexed. 18

$ _____________

23. Total 2022 taxable value of new improvements and new personal property located in new improvements. New means the item was 
not on the appraisal roll in 2021. An improvement is a building, structure, fixture or fence erected on or affixed to land. New additions to 
exist-ing improvements may be included if the appraised value can be determined. New personal property in a new improvement must have 
been brought into the taxing unit after Jan. 1, 2021 and be located in a new improvement. New improvements do include property on which 
a tax abatement agreement has expired for 2022. 19

$ _____________

24. Total adjustments to the 2022 taxable value. Add Lines 22 and 23. $ _____________

25. Adjusted 2022 taxable value. Subtract Line 24 from Line 21. $ _____________

26. 2022 NNR tax rate. Divide Line 17 by Line 25 and multiply by $100. 20
$ __________/$100

27. COUNTIES ONLY. Add together the NNR tax rates for each type of tax the county levies. The total is the 2022 county NNR tax rate. 21
$ __________/$100

Line No-New-Revenue Tax Rate Worksheet Amount/Rate

19.

A. 2022 taxable value of properties under protest. The chief appraiser certifies a list of properties still
under ARB protest. The list shows the appraisal district’s value and the taxpayer’s claimed value, if any, 
or an estimate of the value if the taxpayer wins. For each of the properties under protest, use the lowest
of these values. Enter the total value under protest. 14. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $ _____________

B. 2022 value of properties not under protest or included on certified appraisal roll. The chief 
appraiser gives taxing units a list of those taxable properties that the chief appraiser knows about but 
are not included in the appraisal roll certification. These properties also are not on the list of properties 
that are still under protest. On this list of properties, the chief appraiser includes the market value, 
appraised value and exemptions for the preceding year and a reasonable estimate of the market value, 
appraised value and exemptions for the current year. Use the lower market, appraised or taxable value 
(as appropriate). Enter the total value of property not on the certified roll. 15 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   + $ _____________

C. Total value under protest or not certified. Add A and B. $ _____________

Total value of properties under protest or not included on certified appraisal roll. 13

Line Voter-Approval Tax Rate Worksheet Amount/Rate

28. 2021 M&O tax rate. Enter the 2021 M&O tax rate. $ __________/$100

29. 2021 taxable value, adjusted for actual and potential court-ordered adjustments. Enter the amount in Line 8 of the No-New-Revenue 
Tax Rate Worksheet. $ _____________

SECTION 2: Voter-Approval Tax Rate
The voter-approval tax rate is the highest tax rate that a taxing unit may adopt without holding an election to seek voter approval of the rate. The voter-approval tax rate is split 
into two separate rates:

1. Maintenance and Operations (M&O) Tax Rate: The M&O portion is the tax rate that is needed to raise the same amount of taxes that the taxing unit levied in the prior year 
plus the applicable percentage allowed by law. This rate accounts for such things as salaries, utilities and day-to-day operations.

2. Debt Rate: The debt rate includes the debt service necessary to pay the taxing unit’s debt payments in the coming year. This rate accounts for principal and interest on bonds 
and other debt secured by property tax revenue.

The voter-approval tax rate for a county is the sum of the voter-approval tax rates calculated for each type of tax the county levies. In most cases the voter-approval tax rate 
exceeds the no-new-revenue tax rate, but occasionally decreases in a taxing unit’s debt service will cause the NNR tax rate to be higher than the voter-approval tax rate.

13  Tex. Tax Code § 26.01(c) and (d)
14  Tex. Tax Code § 26.01(c)
15  Tex. Tax Code § 26.01(d)
16  Tex. Tax Code § 26.012(6)(B)
17  Tex. Tax Code § 26.012(6)
18  Tex. Tax Code § 26.012(17)
19  Tex. Tax Code § 26.012(17)
20  Tex. Tax Code § 26.04(c)
21  Tex. Tax Code § 26.04(d)

For additional copies, visit: comptroller.texas.gov/taxes/property-tax Page 35

68,908,445

0

68,908,445

254,199,805

1,652,243,743

0

82,877,072

82,877,072

1,569,366,671

0.255432

0.185743

1,395,277,839

https://comptroller.texas.gov/taxes/property-tax


2022 Tax Rate Calculation Worksheet – Taxing Units Other Than School Districts or Water Districts Form 50-856

Line Voter-Approval Tax Rate Worksheet Amount/Rate

30. Total 2021 M&O levy. Multiply Line 28 by Line 29 and divide by $100 $ _____________ 

31.

A. M&O taxes refunded for years preceding tax year 2021. Enter the amount of M&O taxes
refunded in the preceding year for taxes before that year. Types of refunds include court decisions,
Tax Code Section 25.25(b) and (c) corrections and Tax Code Section 31.11 payment errors. Do not 
include refunds for tax year 2021. This line applies only to tax years preceding tax year 2021. . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  + $ _____________

B. 2021 taxes in TIF. Enter the amount of taxes paid into the tax increment fund for a reinvestment
zone as agreed by the taxing unit. If the taxing unit has no 2022 captured appraised value in 
Line 18D, enter 0. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  – $ _____________

C. 2021 transferred function. If discontinuing all of a department, function or activity and
transferring it to another taxing unit by written contract, enter the amount spent by the taxing 
unit discontinuing the function in the 12 months preceding the month of this calculation. If the 
taxing unit did not operate this function for this 12-month period, use the amount spent in the last 
full fiscal year in which the taxing unit operated the function. The taxing unit discontinuing the function
will subtract this amount in D below. The taxing unit receiving the function will add this amount in 
D below. Other taxing units enter 0. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  +/- $ _____________

D. 2021 M&O levy adjustments. Subtract B from A. For taxing unit with C, subtract if
discontinuing function and add if receiving function. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $ _____________

E. Add Line 30 to 31D. $ _____________

32. Adjusted 2022 taxable value. Enter the amount in Line 25 of the No-New-Revenue Tax Rate Worksheet. $ _____________

33. 2022 NNR M&O rate (unadjusted). Divide Line 31E by Line 32 and multiply by $100. $ __________/$100

34.

A. 2022 state criminal justice mandate. Enter the amount spent by a county in the previous 12 months
providing for the maintenance and operation cost of keeping inmates in county-paid facilities after they 
have been sentenced. Do not include any state reimbursement received by the county for the same purpose. $ _____________

B. 2021 state criminal justice mandate. Enter the amount spent by a county in the 12 months prior to
the previous 12 months providing for the maintenance and operation cost of keeping inmates in 
county-paid facilities after they have been sentenced. Do not include any state reimbursement received 
by the county for the same purpose. Enter zero if this is the first time the mandate applies. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  – $ _____________

C. Subtract B from A and divide by Line 32 and multiply by $100. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $ __________/$100

D. Enter the rate calculated in C. If not applicable, enter 0. $ __________/$100

35.

A. 2022 indigent health care expenditures. Enter the amount paid by a taxing unit providing for the
maintenance and operation cost of providing indigent health care for the period beginning on 
July 1, 2021 and ending on June 30, 2022, less any state assistance received for the same purpose. . . .  . . . . .   $ _____________

B. 2021 indigent health care expenditures. Enter the amount paid by a taxing unit providing for
the maintenance and operation cost of providing indigent health care for the period 
beginning on July 1, 2020 and ending on June 30, 2021, less any state assistance received 
for the same purpose.. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  – $ _____________

C. Subtract B from A and divide by Line 32 and multiply by $100. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $ __________/$100

D. Enter the rate calculated in C. If not applicable, enter 0. $ __________/$100

Adjusted 2021 levy for calculating NNR M&O rate.

Rate adjustment for state criminal justice mandate. 23

Rate adjustment for indigent health care expenditures. 24

22  [Reserved for expansion]
23  Tex. Tax Code § 26.044
24  Tex. Tax Code § 26.0441

For additional copies, visit: comptroller.texas.gov/taxes/property-tax Page 36

2,591,630

6,618

0

0

6,618

2,598,248

1,569,366,671

0.165560

0

0

0

0

0

0

0.000000

0

https://comptroller.texas.gov/taxes/property-tax


2022 Tax Rate Calculation Worksheet – Taxing Units Other Than School Districts or Water Districts Form 50-856

Line Voter-Approval Tax Rate Worksheet Amount/Rate

36. Rate adjustment for county indigent defense compensation. 25

A. 2022 indigent defense compensation expenditures. Enter the amount paid by a county to provide 
appointed counsel for indigent individuals and fund the operations of a public defender's office under 
Article 26.044, Code of Criminal Procedure for the period beginning on July 1, 2021 and ending on 
June 30, 2022, less any state grants received by the county for the same purpose . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 

B. 2021 indigent defense compensation expenditures. Enter the amount paid by a county to provide
appointed counsel for indigent individuals and fund the operations of a public defender's office under
Article 26.044, Code of Criminal Procedure for the period beginning on July 1, 2020 and ending on
June 30, 2021, less any state grants received by the county for the same purpose. .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 

C. Subtract B from A and divide by Line 32 and multiply by $100. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

D. Multiply B by 0.05 and divide by Line 32 and multiply by $100.. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

$ _____________

$ _____________

$ __________/$100

$ __________/$100

E. Enter the lesser of C and D. If not applicable, enter 0. $ __________/$100

37. Rate adjustment for county hospital expenditures. 26

A. 2022 eligible county hospital expenditures. Enter the amount paid by the county or municipality 
to maintain and operate an eligible county hospital for the period beginning on July 1, 2021 and 
ending on June 30, 2022. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $ _____________

B. 2021 eligible county hospital expenditures. Enter the amount paid by the county or municipality
to maintain and operate an eligible county hospital for the period beginning on July 1, 2020 and 
ending on June 30, 2021. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $ _____________

C. Subtract B from A and divide by Line 32 and multiply by $100. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $ __________/$100

D. Multiply B by 0.08 and divide by Line 32 and multiply by $100.. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $ __________/$100

E. Enter the lesser of C and D, if applicable. If not applicable, enter 0. $ __________/$100

40.

A. Enter the amount of additional sales tax collected and spent on M&O expenses in 2021, if any. 
Counties must exclude any amount that was spent for economic development grants from the amount
of sales tax spent . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $ _____________

B. Divide Line 40A by Line 32 and multiply by $100 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $ __________/$100

C. Add Line 40B to Line 39. $ __________/$100

39. Adjusted 2022 NNR M&O rate. Add Lines 33, 34D, 35D, 36E, and 37E. Subtract Line 38D. $ __________/$100

38.

A. Amount appropriated for public safety in 2021. Enter the amount of money appropriated for public 
safety in the budget adopted by the municipality for the preceding fiscal year . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $ _____________

B. Expenditures for public safety in 2021. Enter the amount of money spent by the municipality for public
safety during the preceding fiscal year . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $ _____________

C. Subtract B from A and divide by Line 32 and multiply by $100 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $ __________/$100

D. Enter the rate calculated in C. If not applicable, enter 0. $ __________/$100

41. 2022 voter-approval M&O rate. Enter the rate as calculated by the appropriate scenario below. $ __________/$100

Rate adjustment for defunding municipality. This adjustment only applies to a municipality that is considered to be a defunding municipality 
for the current tax year under Chapter 109, Local Government Code. Chapter 109, Local Government Code only applies to municipalities with a 
population of more than 250,000 and includes a written determination by the Office of the Governor. See Tax Code 26.0444 for more information.

Adjustment for 2021 sales tax specifically to reduce property values. Cities, counties and hospital districts that collected and spent addi-
tional sales tax on M&O expenses in 2021 should complete this line. These entities will deduct the sales tax gain rate for 2022 in Section 3. 
Other taxing units, enter zero.

Special Taxing Unit. If the taxing unit qualifies as a special taxing unit, multiply Line 40C by 1.08.
- or -
Other Taxing Unit. If the taxing unit does not qualify as a special taxing unit, multiply Line 40C by 1.035.

25  Tex. Tax Code § 26.0442
26  Tex. Tax Code § 26.0443

For additional copies, visit: comptroller.texas.gov/taxes/property-tax Page 37

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0.165560

0

0

0.165560

0.171354

https://comptroller.texas.gov/taxes/property-tax


2022 Tax Rate Calculation Worksheet – Taxing Units Other Than School Districts or Water Districts Form 50-856

Line Voter-Approval Tax Rate Worksheet Amount/Rate

D41. Disaster Line 41 (D41): 2022 voter-approval M&O rate for taxing unit affected by disaster declaration. If the taxing unit is located in an 
area declared a disaster area and at least one person is granted an exemption under Tax Code Section 11.35 for property located in the taxing 
unit, the governing body may direct the person calculating the voter-approval tax rate to calculate in the manner provided for a special taxing 
unit. The taxing unit shall continue to calculate the voter-approval tax rate in this manner until the earlier of 

If the taxing unit qualifies under this scenario, multiply Line 40C by 1.08. 27  If the taxing unit does not qualify, do not complete
Disaster Line 41 (Line D41). $ __________/$100

42.

A. Debt also includes contractual payments to other taxing units that have incurred debts on behalf of this taxing unit, if those debts 
meet the four conditions above. Include only amounts that will be paid from property tax revenue. Do not include appraisal district 
budget payments. If the governing body of a taxing unit authorized or agreed to authorize a bond, warrant, certificate of obligation, or 
other evidence of indebtedness on or after Sept. 1, 2022, verify if it meets the amended definition of debt before including it here. 28 

Enter debt amount . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $ _____________
B. Subtract unencumbered fund amount used to reduce total debt. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  – $ _____________

C. Subtract certified amount spent from sales tax to reduce debt (enter zero if none) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  – $ _____________

D. Subtract amount paid from other resources . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  – $ _____________

E. Adjusted debt. Subtract B, C and D from A. $ _____________

43. Certified 2021 excess debt collections. Enter the amount certified by the collector. 29
$ _____________

44. Adjusted 2022 debt. Subtract Line 43 from Line 42E. $ _____________

45.

A. Enter the 2022 anticipated collection rate certified by the collector. 30 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  ____________%

B. Enter the 2021 actual collection rate. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  ____________%

C. Enter the 2020 actual collection rate. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  ____________%

D. Enter the 2019 actual collection rate. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  ____________%

E. If the anticipated collection rate in A is lower than actual collection rates in B, C and D, enter the lowest
collection rate from B, C and D. If the anticipated rate in A is higher than at least one of the rates in the 
prior three years, enter the rate from A. Note that the rate can be greater than 100%. 31

____________%

46. 2022 debt adjusted for collections. Divide Line 44 by Line 45E. $ _____________

47. 2022 total taxable value. Enter the amount on Line 21 of the No-New-Revenue Tax Rate Worksheet. $ _____________

48. 2022 debt rate. Divide Line 46 by Line 47 and multiply by $100. $ __________/$100

49. 2022 voter-approval tax rate. Add Lines 41 and 48. $ __________/$100

D49. Disaster Line 49 (D49): 2022 voter-approval tax rate for taxing unit affected by disaster declaration. Complete this line if the taxing 
unit calculated the voter-approval tax rate in the manner provided for a special taxing unit on Line D41. 
Add Line D41 and 48. $ __________/$100

1) the first year in which total taxable value on the certified appraisal roll exceeds the total taxable value of
the tax year in which the disaster occurred, or 

2) the third tax year after the tax year in which the disaster occurred

Total 2022 debt to be paid with property taxes and additional sales tax revenue. Debt means the interest and principal that will be 
paid on debts that:

(1) are paid by property taxes,
(2) are secured by property taxes,
(3) are scheduled for payment over a period longer than one year, and
(4) are not classified in the taxing unit’s budget as M&O expenses.

2022 anticipated collection rate.

27  Tex. Tax Code § 26.042(a)
28  Tex. Tax Code § 26.012(7)
29  Tex. Tax Code § 26.012(10) and 26.04(b)
30  Tex. Tax Code § 26.04(b)
31  Tex. Tax Code §§ 26.04(h), (h-1) and (h-2)

For additional copies, visit: comptroller.texas.gov/taxes/property-tax Page 38

0

1,360,608

0

0

0

1,360,608

167,162

1,193,446

100.00

100.90

100.05

102.13

100.05

1,192,849

1,652,243,743

0.072195

0.243549

https://comptroller.texas.gov/taxes/property-tax


2022 Tax Rate Calculation Worksheet – Taxing Units Other Than School Districts or Water Districts Form 50-856

Line Voter-Approval Tax Rate Worksheet Amount/Rate

50. COUNTIES ONLY. Add together the voter-approval tax rates for each type of tax the county levies. The total is the 2022 county voter-approval 
tax rate. $ __________/$100

Line Additional Sales and Use Tax Worksheet Amount/Rate

51. Taxable Sales. For taxing units that adopted the sales tax in November 2021 or May 2022, enter the Comptroller’s estimate of taxable sales for 
the previous four quarters. 32 Estimates of taxable sales may be obtained through the Comptroller’s Allocation Historical Summary webpage. 
Taxing units that adopted the sales tax before November 2021, enter 0. $ _____________

52. Estimated sales tax revenue. Counties exclude any amount that is or will be spent for economic development grants from the amount of esti-
mated sales tax revenue. 33

$ _____________

53. 2022 total taxable value. Enter the amount from Line 21 of the No-New-Revenue Tax Rate Worksheet. $ _____________

54. Sales tax adjustment rate. Divide Line 52 by Line 53 and multiply by $100. $ __________/$100

55. 2022 NNR tax rate, unadjusted for sales tax.35 Enter the rate from Line 26 or 27, as applicable, on the No-New-Revenue Tax Rate Worksheet. $ __________/$100

56. 2022 NNR tax rate, adjusted for sales tax.
Taxing units that adopted the sales tax in November 2021 or in May 2022. Subtract Line 54 from Line 55. Skip to Line 57 if 
you adopted the additional sales tax before November 2021. $ __________/$100

57. 2022 voter-approval tax rate, unadjusted for sales tax.36 Enter the rate from Line 49, Line D49 (disaster) or Line 50 (counties) as applicable, 
of the Voter-Approval Tax Rate Worksheet. $ __________/$100

58. 2022 voter-approval tax rate, adjusted for sales tax. Subtract Line 54 from Line 57. $ __________/$100

Line Voter-Approval Rate Adjustment for Pollution Control Requirements Worksheet Amount/Rate

59. Certified expenses from the Texas Commission on Environmental Quality (TCEQ). Enter the amount certified in the determination letter 
from TCEQ. 37 The taxing unit shall provide its tax assessor-collector with a copy of the letter. 38 $ _____________

60. 2022 total taxable value. Enter the amount from Line 21 of the No-New-Revenue Tax Rate Worksheet. $ _____________

61. Additional rate for pollution control. Divide Line 59 by Line 60 and multiply by $100. $ __________/$100

62. 2022 voter-approval tax rate, adjusted for pollution control. Add Line 61 to one of the following lines (as applicable): Line 49, Line 
D49 (disaster), Line 50 (counties) or Line 58 (taxing units with the additional sales tax). $ __________/$100

SECTION 3: NNR Tax Rate and Voter-Approval Tax Rate Adjustments for Additional Sales Tax to Reduce Property Taxes
Cities, counties and hospital districts may levy a sales tax specifically to reduce property taxes. Local voters by election must approve imposing or abolishing the additional sales 
tax. If approved, the taxing unit must reduce its NNR and voter-approval tax rates to offset the expected sales tax revenue.
This section should only be completed by a county, city or hospital district that is required to adjust its NNR tax rate and/or voter-approval tax rate because it adopted the 
additional sales tax.

Taxing units that adopted the sales tax in November 2021 or in May 2022. Multiply the amount on Line 51 by the sales tax rate 
(.01, .005 or .0025, as applicable) and multiply the result by .95. 34

- or -
Taxing units that adopted the sales tax before November 2021. Enter the sales tax revenue for the previous four quarters. Do not
multiply by .95.

SECTION 4: Voter-Approval Tax Rate Adjustment for Pollution Control
A taxing unit may raise its rate for M&O funds used to pay for a facility, device or method for the control of air, water or land pollution. This includes any land, structure, building, 
installation, excavation, machinery, equipment or device that is used, constructed, acquired or installed wholly or partly to meet or exceed pollution control requirements. The 
taxing unit’s expenses are those necessary to meet the requirements of a permit issued by the Texas Commission on Environmental Quality (TCEQ). The taxing unit must provide 
the tax assessor with a copy of the TCEQ letter of determination that states the portion of the cost of the installation for pollution control.

This section should only be completed by a taxing unit that uses M&O funds to pay for a facility, device or method for the control of air, water or land pollution.

32  Tex. Tax Code § 26.041(d)
33  Tex. Tax Code § 26.041(i)
34  Tex. Tax Code § 26.041(d)
35  Tex. Tax Code § 26.04(c)
36  Tex. Tax Code § 26.04(c)
37  Tex. Tax Code § 26.045(d)
38  Tex. Tax Code § 26.045(i)

For additional copies, visit: comptroller.texas.gov/taxes/property-tax Page 39

0.243549

0.243549

0

1,652,243,743

0

0.243549

0

0

0

1,652,243,743

0

0.255432

0.255432

https://comptroller.texas.gov/taxes/property-tax


2022 Tax Rate Calculation Worksheet – Taxing Units Other Than School Districts or Water Districts Form 50-856

SECTION 5: Voter-Approval Tax Rate Adjustment for Unused Increment Rate

Line Unused Increment Rate Worksheet Amount/Rate

63. 2021 unused increment rate. Subtract the 2021 actual tax rate and the 2021 unused increment rate from the 2021 voter-approval tax rate. If 
the number is less than zero, enter zero. $ __________/$100

64. 2020 unused increment rate. Subtract the 2020 actual tax rate and the 2020 unused increment rate from the 2020 voter-approval tax rate. If 
the number is less than zero, enter zero. $ __________/$100

65. 2019 unused increment rate. Subtract the 2019 actual tax rate and the 2019 unused increment rate from the 2019 voter-approval tax rate. If 
the number is less than zero, enter zero. If the year is prior to 2020, enter zero. $ __________/$100

66. 2022 unused increment rate. Add Lines 63, 64 and 65. $ __________/$100

67. 2022 voter-approval tax rate, adjusted for unused increment rate. Add Line 66 to one of the following lines (as applicable): Line 49, Line 
D49 (disaster), Line 50 (counties), Line 58 (taxing units with the additional sales tax) or Line 62 (taxing units with pollution control). $ __________/$100

Line De Minimis Rate Worksheet Amount/Rate

68. Adjusted 2022 NNR M&O tax rate. Enter the rate from Line 39 of the Voter-Approval Tax Rate Worksheet $ __________/$100

69. 2022 total taxable value. Enter the amount on Line 21 of the No-New-Revenue Tax Rate Worksheet. $ _____________

70. Rate necessary to impose $500,000 in taxes. Divide $500,000 by Line 69 and multiply by $100. $ __________/$100

71. 2022 debt rate. Enter the rate from Line 48 of the Voter-Approval Tax Rate Worksheet. $ __________/$100

72. De minimis rate. Add Lines 68, 70 and 71. $ __________/$100

The unused increment rate is the rate equal to the difference between the adopted tax rate and voter-approval tax rate before the unused increment rate for the prior three years. 39 In 
a year where a taxing unit adopts a rate by applying any portion of the unused increment rate, the unused increment rate for that year would be zero.

The difference between the adopted tax rate and voter-approval tax rate is considered zero in the following scenarios:

• a tax year before 2020; 40

• a tax year in which the municipality is a defunding municipality, as defined by Tax Code Section 26.0501(a); 41 or

• after Jan. 1, 2022, a tax year in which the comptroller determines that the county implemented a budget reduction or reallocation described by Local Government 
Code Section 120.002(a) without the required voter approval. 42

This section should only be completed by a taxing unit that does not meet the definition of a special taxing unit. 43

SECTION 6: De Minimis Rate
The de minimis rate is the rate equal to the sum of the no-new-revenue maintenance and operations rate, the rate that will raise $500,000, and the current debt rate for a taxing unit. 44

This section should only be completed by a taxing unit that is a municipality of less than 30,000 or a taxing unit that does not meet the definition of a special taxing unit. 45

SECTION 7: Voter-Approval Tax Rate Adjustment for Emergency Revenue Rate
In the tax year after the end of the disaster calculation time period detailed in Tax Code Section 26.042(a), a taxing unit that calculated its voter-approval tax rate in the manner 
provided for a special taxing unit due to a disaster must calculate its emergency revenue rate and reduce its voter-approval tax rate for that year.46

Similarly, if a taxing unit adopted a tax rate that exceeded its voter-approval tax rate, calculated normally, without holding an election to respond to a disaster, as allowed by Tax 
Code Section 26.042(d), in the prior year, it must also reduce its voter-approval tax rate for the current tax year. 47

This section will apply to a taxing unit other than a special taxing unit that:

• directed the designated officer or employee to calculate the voter-approval tax rate of the taxing unit in the manner provided for a special taxing unit in the prior year; and

• the current year is the first tax year in which the total taxable value of property taxable by the taxing unit as shown on the appraisal roll for the taxing unit submitted by the 
assessor for the taxing unit to the governing body exceeds the total taxable value of property taxable by the taxing unit on January 1 of the tax year in which the disaster 
occurred or the disaster occurred four years ago.

39  Tex. Tax Code § 26.013(a)
40  Tex. Tax Code § 26.013(c)
41  Tex. Tax Code §§ 26.0501(a) and (c)
42  Tex. Local Gov’t Code § 120.007(d), effective Jan. 1, 2022
43  Tex. Tax Code § 26.063(a)(1)
44  Tex. Tax Code § 26.012(8-a)
45  Tex. Tax Code § 26.063(a)(1)
46  Tex. Tax Code §26.042(b)
47  Tex. Tax Code §26.042(f )

For additional copies, visit: comptroller.texas.gov/taxes/property-tax Page 40

0.005274

0.000000

0

0.005274

0.248823

0.165560

1,652,243,743

0.030261

0.072195

0.268016

https://comptroller.texas.gov/taxes/property-tax


2022 Tax Rate Calculation Worksheet – Taxing Units Other Than School Districts or Water Districts Form 50-856

This section will apply to a taxing unit in a disaster area that adopted a tax rate greater than its voter-approval tax rate without holding an election in the prior year.

Note: This section does not apply if a taxing unit is continuing to calculate its voter-approval tax rate in the manner provided for a special taxing unit because it is still within 
the disaster calculation time period detailed in Tax Code Section 26.042(a) because it has not met the conditions in Tax Code Section 26.042(a)(1) or (2).

Line Emergency Revenue Rate Worksheet Amount/Rate

73. 2021 adopted tax rate. Enter the rate in Line 4 of the No-New-Revenue Tax Rate Worksheet. $ __________/$100

75. Increase in 2021 tax rate due to disaster. Subtract Line 74 from Line 73. $ __________/$100

76. Adjusted 2021 taxable value. Enter the amount in Line 14 of the No-New-Revenue Tax Rate Worksheet. $ _____________

77. Emergency revenue. Multiply Line 75 by Line 76 and divide by $100. $ _____________

78. Adjusted 2022 taxable value. Enter the amount in Line 25 of the No-New-Revenue Tax Rate Worksheet. $ _____________

79. Emergency revenue rate. Divide Line 77 by Line 78 and multiply by $100. 49
$ __________/$100

80. 2022 voter-approval tax rate, adjusted for emergency revenue. Subtract Line 79 from one of the following lines (as applicable): Line 49, 
Line D49 (disaster), Line 50 (counties), Line 58 (taxing units with the additional sales tax), Line 62 (taxing units with pollution control) or Line 67 
(taxing units with the unused increment rate). $ __________/$100

74.

$ __________/$100

Adjusted 2021 voter-approval tax rate. Use the taxing unit’s Tax Rate Calculation Worksheets from the prior year(s) to complete this line.

If a disaster occurred in 2021 and the taxing unit calculated its 2021 voter-approval tax rate using a multiplier of 1.08 on Disaster Line 41 
(D41) of the 2021 worksheet due to a disaster, enter the 2021 voter-approval tax rate as calculated using a multiplier of 1.035 from Line 49.
-  or -
If a disaster occurred prior to 2021 for which the taxing unit continued to calculate its voter-approval tax rate using a multiplier of 1.08 on 
Disaster Line 41 (D41) in 2021, complete the separate Adjusted Voter-Approval Tax Rate for Taxing Units in Disaster Area Calculation Worksheet to 
recalculate the voter-approval tax rate the taxing unit would have calculated in 2021 if it had generated revenue based on an adopted tax rate 
using a multiplier of 1.035 in the year(s) following the disaster. 48 Enter the final adjusted 2021 voter-approval tax rate from the worksheet.
-  or -
If the taxing unit adopted a tax rate above the 2021 voter-approval tax rate without calculating a disaster tax rate or holding an election due 
to a disaster, no recalculation is necessary. Enter the voter-approval tax rate from the prior year’s worksheet.

SECTION 8: Total Tax Rate

Indicate the applicable total tax rates as calculated above.

No-new-revenue tax rate. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ __________/$100 
As applicable, enter the 2022 NNR tax rate from: Line 26, Line 27 (counties), or Line 56 (adjusted for sales 
tax). Indicate the line number used: ______

Vot over-appr al tax rate . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ __________/$100 
As applicable, enter the 2022 voter-approval tax rate from: Line 49, Line D49 (disaster), Line 50 (counties), Line 58 (adjusted for sales 
tax), Line 62 (adjusted for pollution control), Line 67 (adjusted for unused increment), or Line 80 (adjusted for emergency revenue). 
Indicate the line number used: ______

De minimis rate. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ __________/$100 
If applicable, enter the 2022 de minimis rate from Line 72.

SECTION 9: Taxing Unit Representative Name and Signature

Enter the name of the person preparing the tax rate as authorized by the governing body of the taxing unit. By signing below, you certify that you are the designated officer or 
employee of the taxing unit and have accurately calculated the tax rates using values that are the same as the values shown in the taxing unit’s certified appraisal roll or certified 
estimate of taxable value, in accordance with requirements in Tax Code. 50

 ____________________________________________________________
Printed Name of Taxing Unit Representative

 ____________________________________________________________  ________________________________________
Taxing Unit Representative Date

48  Tex. Tax Code §26.042(c)
49  Tex. Tax Code §26.042(b)
50  Tex. Tax Code §§ 26.04(c-2) and (d-2)

For additional copies, visit: comptroller.texas.gov/taxes/property-tax Page 41

0.255432

0.248823

0.268016

0.288397

1,386,341,781

0

0.288397

3,998,168

1,569,366,671

0

0.248823

26

67

Jayna Dean

7/21/2022

https://comptroller.texas.gov/taxes/property-tax


Item No. 08  
 
 
 

 

City of Lucas 
City Council Agenda Request 

September 1, 2022 
 

Requester: Finance Director Liz Exum 
 
Agenda Item Request  
 
Consider adopting Ordinance 2022-09-00959 of the City of Lucas, Texas, levying Ad Valorem 
Taxes for the Tax Year 2022 (Fiscal Year 2022-2023) at a rate of $0.268016 per one hundred 
($100) assessed valuation on all taxable property within the corporate limits of the City of Lucas 
as of January 1, 2022. 
 
Background Information  
 
The purpose of this agenda item is to adopt the 2022 tax rate to generate sufficient revenues as 
required in the adopted 2022-2023 budget. The attached ordinance sets the 2022 ad valorem tax 
rate at $0.268016 cents per $100 assessed valuation, to be distributed as follows: 
 
             $0.195821 for Maintenance and Operations 
  $0.072195 for Debt Service (Interest & Sinking) 
  $0.268016 Total Tax Rate 
 
Attachments/Supporting Documentation  
 
1. Ordinance 2022-09-00959 Ad Valorem Tax Rate for Fiscal Year 2022-2023 
 
Budget/Financial Impact  
 
The rate is included in the Annual Operating Budget for Fiscal Year 2022-2023. 
 
Recommendation  
 
Staff recommends adopting Ordinance 2022-09-00959 Ad Valorem Tax Rate approving the 
2022 tax rate using the required language listed in the motion.  
 
Motion  
 
The following is the motion that must be made to adopt Ordinance 2022-09-00959 levying ad 
valorem taxes for the 2022 tax year and must be a record vote. 
 
“I move that the property tax rate be increased by the adoption of a tax rate of $0.268016, 
which is effectively a 4.93 percent increase in the tax rate.” 



City of Lucas 
Ordinance # 2022-09-00959 Ad Valorem Tax Rate for 2022 
Approved:  September 1, 2022  -1- 

 
ORDINANCE 2022-09-009589 

[Ad Valorem Tax Rate for 2022] 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF LUCAS, TEXAS, LEVYING AD 
VALOREM TAXES FOR THE TAX YEAR 2022 (FISCAL YEAR 2022-2023) 
AT A RATE OF $0.268016 PER ONE HUNDRED DOLLARS ($100) 
ASSESSED VALUATION ON ALL TAXABLE PROPERTY WITHIN THE 
CORPORATE LIMITS OF THE CITY OF LUCAS AS OF JANUARY 1, 
2022, TO PROVIDE REVENUE FOR THE PAYMENT OF CURRENT 
EXPENSES; PROVIDING FOR AN INTEREST AND SINKING FUND FOR 
ALL OUTSTANDING DEBT OF THE CITY OF LUCAS; PROVIDING FOR 
DUE AND DELINQUENT DATES TOGETHER WITH PENALTIES AND 
INTEREST; PROVIDING A SEVERABILITY CLAUSE; PROVIDING A 
REPEALING CLAUSE; AND PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
 WHEREAS, following public notice that was duly posted and published in all things as 
required by law Texas Tax Code §26.052(c) regarding the meeting to be held for the adoption of 
the proposed tax rate for the City of Lucas for Tax Year 2022, submitted by the City Manager in 
accordance with provisions of state statutes and the City of Lucas Home Rule Charter, and 
 
 WHEREAS, the City Council, upon full consideration of the matter, is of the opinion that 
the tax rate hereinafter set forth is proper and should be approved and adopted. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 
OF LUCAS, TEXAS, THAT: 

 
Section 1. There is hereby levied and shall be assessed for the tax year 2022 on all taxable 
property, real, personal and mixed, situated within the corporate limits of the City of Lucas, Texas, 
and not exempt by the Constitution of the State and valid State laws, a tax of $0.268016 on each 
One Hundred Dollars ($100) assessed valuation of taxable property apportioned and distributed as 
follows: 
 

(a) For the purpose of defraying the current expenditures of the municipal government 
of the City of Lucas, a tax of $0.195821 on each and every One Hundred Dollars 
($100) assessed value on all taxable property; and 

 
(b) For the purpose of creating a sinking fund to pay the interest and principal 

maturities of all outstanding debt of the City of Lucas, not otherwise provided for, 
a tax of $0.072195 on each One Hundred Dollars ($100) assessed value of taxable 
property within the City of Lucas and shall be applied to the payment of interest 
and maturities of all such outstanding debt of the City. 



City of Lucas 
Ordinance # 2022-09-00959 Ad Valorem Tax Rate for 2022 
Approved:  September 1, 2022  -2- 

 
THIS TAX RATE WILL RAISE MORE TAXES FOR MAINTENANCE AND 
OPERATIONS THAN LAST YEAR’S TAX RATE. 

 
THE TAX RATE WILL EFFECTIVELY BE RAISED BY 18.28 PERCENT AND 
WILL RAISE TAXES FOR MAINTENANCE AND OPERATIONS ON A $100,000 
HOME BY APPROXIMATELY $10.08. 

 
Section 2. All ad valorem taxes shall become due and payable on October 1, 2022, and all ad 
valorem taxes for the year shall become delinquent if not paid prior to February 1, 2023.  There 
shall be no discount for payment of taxes prior to February 1, 2023.  A delinquent tax shall incur 
all penalty and interest authorized by law, to wit: 
 

(a) A penalty of six percent on the amount of the tax for the first calendar month it is 
delinquent, plus one percent for each additional month or portion of a month the 
tax remains unpaid prior to July 1 of the year in which it becomes delinquent. 

 
(b) Provided, however, a tax delinquent on July 1, 2023, incurs a total penalty of twelve 

percent of the amount of delinquent tax without regard to the number of months the 
tax has been delinquent.  A delinquent tax shall also accrue interest at the rate of 
one percent for each month or portion of a month the tax remains unpaid. Taxes for 
the year 2022 and taxes for all future years that become delinquent on or after 
February 1 but not later than May 1, that remain delinquent on July 1 of the year in 
which they become delinquent, incur an additional penalty in the amount of twenty 
percent (20%) of taxes, penalty and interest due, pursuant to Texas Property Tax 
Code Section 6.30 and 33.07, as amended.  Taxes assessed against tangible personal 
property for the year 2022 and for all future years that become delinquent on or 
after February 1 of a year incur an additional penalty on the later of the date the 
personal property taxes become subject to the delinquent tax attorney’s contract, or 
60 days after the date the taxes become delinquent, such penalty to be in the amount 
of twenty percent (20%) of taxes, penalty and interest due, pursuant to Texas 
Property Tax Code Section 33.11.  Taxes for the year 2022 and taxes for all future 
years that remain delinquent on or after June 1 under Texas Property Tax Code 
Sections 26.07(f), 26.15(e), 31.03, 31.031, 31.032 or 31.04 incur an additional 
penalty in the amount of twenty percent (20%) of taxes, penalty and interest due, 
pursuant to Texas Property Tax Code Section 6.30 and Section 33.08, as amended. 

 
Section 3. The City shall have available all the rights and remedies provided by law for the 
enforcement of the collection of taxes levied under this ordinance. 
 
Section 4. The tax roll as presented to the City Council, together with any supplements thereto, 
be and the same are hereby approved. 
 
Section 5. Should any word, sentence, paragraph, subdivision, clause, phrase or section of this 
ordinance, be adjudged or held to be void or unconstitutional, the same shall not affect the validity 
of the remaining portions of said ordinance which shall remain in full force and effect. 



City of Lucas 
Ordinance # 2022-09-00959 Ad Valorem Tax Rate for 2022 
Approved:  September 1, 2022  -3- 

 
Section 6. All ordinances of the City of Lucas, Texas, in conflict with the provisions of this 
ordinance be, and the same are hereby, repealed; provided, however, that all other provisions of 
said ordinances not in conflict with the provisions of this ordinance shall remain in full force and 
effect. 
 
Section 7. This ordinance shall take effect immediately from and after its passage, as the law 
and charter in such cases provide. 

 
DULY PASSED AND APPROVED BY THE CITY COUNSEL OF THE CITY OF LUCAS, 
COLLIN COUNTY, TEXAS, ON THIS 1ST DAY OF SEPTEMBER, 2022. 
 
      APPROVED: 
 
 
 
      ____________________________________ 
      Kathleen Peele, Mayor Pro Tem  
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM:   ATTEST: 
 
 
______________________________ ____________________________________ 
Joseph J. Gorfida, Jr., City Attorney  Kevin Becker, Management Analyst 
 
 

 



City of Lucas 
City Council Agenda Request 

September 1, 2022 

Item No. 09 

Requestor: Mayor Pro Tem Kathleen Peele

Agenda Item Request 

Executive Session: An Executive Session is not scheduled for this meeting. 

As authorized by Section 551.071 of the Texas Government Code, the City Council may 
convene into closed Executive Session for the purpose of seeking confidential legal advice from 
the City Attorney regarding any item on the agenda at any time during the meeting. This meeting 
is closed to the public as provided in the Texas Government Code.  

Background Information 

NA 

Attachments/Supporting Documentation 

NA 

Budget/Financial Impact 

NA 

Recommendation 

NA 

Motion 

NA 



Item No. 10 
City of Lucas 

City Council Agenda Request 
September 1, 2022 

Requester: Mayor Pro Tem Kathleen Peele

Agenda Item Request 

Reconvene from Executive Session and take any action necessary as a result of the Executive 
Session. 

 Background Information 

NA 

 Attachments/Supporting Documentation 

NA 

 Budget/Financial Impact 

NA 

Recommendation 

NA 

Motion 

NA 


	00 - Agenda
	01 - Citizen Input
	02 - Community Interest
	03 - Consent Agenda
	04 - Public Hearing for Budget FY 22-23
	05 - Public Hearing for Tax Rate FY 22-23
	06 - Presentation of Barn Quilt
	07 - Consider Ordinance 2022-09-00958 Budget
	08 - Consider Ordinance 2022-09-00959 Ad Valorem Taxes
	09 - Executive Session
	10 - Reconvene from Executive Session



